CHARACTERIZATION OF ECTONUCLEOTIDASES IN NOCICEPTIVE CIRCUITS

Nathaniel Adam Sowa

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Curriculum of Neurobiology.

Chapel Hill 2010

Approved by:

Franck Polleux Associate Professor, Chair

Mark Zylka Assistant Professor, Advisor

> Edward Perl Professor, Reader

> Ken McCarthy Professor, Reader

> David Siderovski Professor, Reader

©2010 Nathaniel Adam Sowa ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

Nathaniel Adam Sowa: Characterization of ectonucleotidases in nociceptive circuits (Under the direction of Mark J. Zylka, Ph.D.)

Pain is one of the most common medical complaints in the United States, affecting almost a quarter of American adults. There are numerous treatments for acute and chronic pain, but none of them are completely effective and many have intolerable side effects. New treatments are needed that are safer, more efficacious, and more cost-effective. We have focused on trying to understand better the mechanisms involved in the regulation of pain (nociceptive) signaling in order to develop novel therapies. Two important compounds involved in pain signaling are adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and adenosine. ATP has pronociceptive properties, while adenosine is antinociceptive. ATP can be converted to adenosine through a step-wise process catalyzed by enzymes on the surface of cells called ectonucleotidases. These enzymes could play a pivotal role in regulation of nociception by degrading pro-nociceptive ATP while simultaneously producing antinociceptive adenosine.

Here, we identify and characterize the first two known AMP-degrading ectonucleotidases involved in nociception, prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP) and Ecto-5'nucleotidase (NT5E). Genetic deletion of these enzymes does not affect acute nociception, but leads to enhanced pain sensitivity in chronic inflammatory and neuropathic pain models. Conversely, intraspinal injection of PAP or NT5E protein has antinociceptive, antihyperalgesic, and antiallodynic effects that last longer than the opioid analgesic

iii

morphine. Both PAP and NT5E suppress pain by the production of adenosine from endogenous AMP and subsequent activation of the A₁-adenosine receptor (A₁R). Further, chronic activation of A₁R by PAP leads to depletion of cellular levels of the signaling molecule PIP₂. Depletion of PIP₂ before or after chemical or physical injury (through injection of PAP) reduces pain hypersensitivity, highlighting an important role for PIP₂ levels in the modulation of nociceptive signaling. We are the first to show this important role for PIP₂ in setting the dynamic pain threshold in nociceptors. These studies not only identify two potentially new targets for the development of chronic pain therapy, but also highlight a new model for the dynamic modulation of pain sensitivity through the regulation of neuronal PIP₂ levels.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This document summarizes an immense amount of time, energy, and effort, not just by me, but also from many individuals who may or may not know their importance in the completion of this work. First and foremost, I must thank Mark Zylka, who took a chance on me as his first graduate student. Your guidance has been vital in steering this work towards new and exciting findings. Your enthusiasm has been inspirational, and your willingness to talk, think, and explain science has made this a tremendous learning experience for me. I must also thank the various members of the Zylka lab, both past and present who have helped in various ways. Particularly, I must thank Yvette Chuang and Bonnie Taylor-Blake, whose technical assistance has been invaluable.

My dissertation committee – Franck Polleux, Ed Perl, David Siderovski, and Ken McCarthy – has been most helpful in gently guiding me and providing helpful comments and ideas that made this work significantly better. A large part of this work was conducted with the help of core facilities at UNC, including the Michael Hooker Microscopy Facility (Michael Chua, Wendy Salmon, and Neal Kramarcy), the UNC-CH Confocal Imaging Facility (Robert Peterson), and the Department of Cellular and Molecular Physiology Histology Research Core Facility (Kirk McNaughton, Carolyn Suitt, and Kim Edsel). Their assistance was vital in the timely completion of this work.

I received wonderful guidance, support, and technical assistance from numerous people in the Curriculum in Neurobiology (especially Denise Kenney, Lori Blalock, Robert Rosenberg, Aldo Rustioni, and William Snider), the Department of Cell and Molecular Physiology, the UNC Neuroscience Center (especially Denise Vandervort and Dallas Carter) and the UNC MD/PhD program (Eugene Orringer, David Siderovski, Liz Garman, and Alison Regan). Indeed, I would not have been here were it not for the MD/PhD program, and for their constant support, – especially financially – I am forever grateful. In addition to financial support from the MD/PhD program, I have been supported by grants to Mark Zylka (R01NS060725) and to myself from the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (F30NS063507).

Throughout the last 6 years I have had the unwavering support of numerous friends who have celebrated my victories, commiserated with me during my defeats, listened to my complaints, voiced your encouragements, and provided me with glorious distractions. You have been there to support me physically, financially, emotionally, and spiritually, and words are not enough to convey how much that has meant to me. Thank you!

Finally, none of this would have been possible without the constant love and support of my family. You may never understand what I do, but are always excited and proud of my accomplishments. My brother, Gabe, remains the best teacher I will ever have. You have given me your love and support, as well as a beautiful, smart, wonderful niece, Naomi. For all of those things, I am eternally grateful. Mom and Dad, nothing I can say can convey what you mean to me. Everything I have accomplished is because of your hard work, sacrifice, patience, nurturing, and love. I cannot recall a single time when you ever discouraged my hopes and dreams. Without your support, I would never have gotten this far. Thank you and I love you.

vi

PREFACE

Portions of this work have been previously published or are in submission for publication:

- CHAPTER 2: Zylka, M.J*., Sowa, N.A*., Taylor-Blake, B., Twomey, M.A., Herrala, A., Voikar, V., and Vihko, P. (2008). *Neuron* 60; 111-122.
- CHAPTER 3: Sowa, N.A., Vadakkan, K.I., and Zylka, M.J. (2009). PLoS One 4(1):e4248.
- CHAPTER 4: Sowa, N.A., Vihko, P., and Zylka, M.J. *Manuscript submitted and under review*.
- CHAPTER 5: Sowa, N.A., Taylor-Blake, B., and Zylka, MJ. Manuscript in preparation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTSviii
LIST OF TABLESXV
LIST OF FIGURESXVI
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xxi
CHAPTER 1 1
Introduction and Background1
1.1) The Burden of Chronic Pain1
1.2) The Nociceptive Nervous System
1.3) Classification of Nociceptors Based on Molecular Markers
1.4) Important Transducers and Modulators of Nociception7
1.4.1) Detection of Mechanical Stimuli7
1.4.2) Detection of Thermal Stimuli
1.4.2.1) Detection of Cold
1.4.2.2) Detection of Heat 10
1.4.2.2.1) TRPV1 11
1.4.2.2.2) Other Thermosensors
1.4.3) Modulators of Nociception
1.5) Adenine-containing Nucleotides and Nociception
1.5.1) ATP and ADP in Nociception
1.5.1.1) P2X receptors

1.5.1.2) P2Y receptors	23
1.5.2) Adenosine in Nociception	24
1.5.2.1) A ₁ Adenosine Receptors	25
1.5.2.2) A _{2A} Adenosine Receptors	28
1.5.2.3) A _{2B} and A ₃ Adenosine Receptors	29
1.5.3) Sources of Endogenous Adenosine	29
1.5.4) Ectonucleotidases in Nociception	32
1.5.4.1) Ecto-nucleoside triphosphate diphosphorylases (E-NTDPa	ises) 32
1.5.4.2) Ecto-nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterases (E-NPPs)	34
1.5.4.3) Alkaline Phosphatases (APs)	35
1.5.4.4) Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (NT5E)	36
1.5.4.5) Fluoride resistant acid phosphatase (FRAP)	39
1.6) Rationale for Dissertation Research	44
1.7) Figures and Tables	47
CHAPTER 2	55
Prostatic Acid Phosphatase Suppresses Pain by Generating Adenosine	55
2.1) Introduction	56
2.2) Materials and Methods	58
2.2.1) Molecular Biology	58
2.2.2) Tissue Preparation	59
2.2.3) Histology	59
2.2.4) Injections and Drugs	60
2.2.5) Behavior	61
2.3) Results	62

2.3.1) Prostatic Acid Phosphatase Is TMPase in Dorsal Root Ganglia Sensory Neurons
2.3.2) PAP Is Primarily Expressed in Nonpeptidergic DRG Neurons
2.3.3) Chronic Pain-Induced Thermal Hyperalgesia and Mechanical Allodynia Are Enhanced in <i>Pap</i> Knockout Mice
2.3.4) PAP Has Potent and Long-Lasting Antinociceptive Properties
2.3.5) PAP Suppresses Pain by Generating Adenosine, a Known Analgesic in Mammals
2.4) Discussion
2.4.1) PAP Has Potent and Long-Lasting Antinociceptive Effects when Compared to Opioid Analgesics
2.4.2) PAP Is an Ectonucleotidase in Nociceptive Circuits
2.4.3) PAP Is Well Localized to Modulate A ₁ -Adenosine Receptors in Spinal Cord Lamina II
2.4.4) Physiological Function of PAP throughout the Body—Insights from Pain-Sensing Neurons
2.5) Figures and Tables
CHAPTER 3 105
Recombinant Mouse PAP has pH-Dependent Ectonucleotidase Activity and Acts through A ₁ -adenosine Receptors to Mediate Antinociception
3.1) Introduction
3.2) Materials and Methods
3.2.1) Molecular Biology and Protein Purification
3.2.2) Enzyme Assays
3.2.3) Cell Culture and Histochemistry 110
3.2.4) Behavior
3.2.5) Intrathecal Injections 112
3.3) Results

3.3.1) Purification of Recombinant mPAP using the Baculovirus Expression System
3.3.2) Recombinant mPAP Dephosphorylates Purine Nucleotides in a pH- dependent Manner
3.3.3) Recombinant mPAP has Long-lasting Antinociceptive Properties 114
3.3.4) mPAP acts through A ₁ Rs to Mediate Antinociception
3.4) Discussion
3.5) Figures and Tables
CHAPTER 4
Prostatic Acid Phosphatase Reduces Pain Sensitization and TRPV1-dependent Thermal Sensitivity by Depleting PIP ₂
4.1) Introduction
4.2) Materials and Methods
4.2.1) Histology
4.2.2) Molecular Biology
4.2.3) Calcium Imaging
4.2.4) PIP ₂ Quantification
4.2.5) Injections and Drugs
4.2.6) Behavior
4.3) Results
4.3.1) PAP acts through A ₁ R to Inhibit TRPV1 Receptor Activation
4.3.2) Activation of A ₁ R by TM-PAP Depletes PIP ₂
4.3.3) TM-PAP Reduces TRPV1 Receptor Signaling by Depleting $PIP_2 \dots 141$
4.3.4) PAP Regulates PIP ₂ Levels in vivo
4.3.5) PAP Inhibits Pro-nociceptive LPA Receptor Signaling by Acting through A_1R to Deplete PIP ₂

4.3.6) TM-PAP Reduces Signaling through Several Pro-nociceptive GPCRs
4.3.7) PAP Blocks LPA-, ATP- and Nerve Injury-induced Hyperalgesia and Allodynia
4.4) Discussion
4.4.1) PAP Reduces Pro-nociceptive Receptor Signaling and Sensitization 152
4.4.2) PIP ₂ Levels Affect Responses to Nociceptive Stimuli
4.5) Figures and Tables 155
HAPTER 5
Ecto-5'-nucleotidase is Present in Nociceptive Neurons and Inhibits Pain Transmission 181
5.1) Introduction
5.2) Materials and Methods 184
5.2.1) Molecular Biology and Protein Purification
5.2.2) Tissue Preparation 185
5.2.3) Histology 186
5.2.4) Intrathecal Injections 186
5.2.5) PIP ₂ Quantification
5.2.6) Behavior
5.3) Results
5.3.1) NT5E is Expressed in DRG Sensory Neurons and Produces Adenosine
5.3.2) NT5E Protein and AMPase Activity are Reduced in the Spinal Cord Following Nerve Injury
5.3.3) Chronic Pain-induced Thermal Hyperalgesia and Mechanical Allodynia are Enhanced in $Nt5e^{-/-}$ Mice
5.3.4) $Nt5e^{-\lambda}$ Mice are Deficient in Degrading AMP in the Spinal Cord <i>in vivo</i>

5.3.5) Recombinant Mouse NT5E Protein has Long-lasting Antinociceptive Properties through Activation of A1Rs	e 194
5.4) Discussion	196
5.4.1) The Role of Multiple AMPases in Nociceptive Circuits	198
5.4.2) Therapeutic Potential of Recombinant NT5E	201
5.5) Figures and Tables	204
CHAPTER 6	219
Conclusions and Discussion	219
6.1) Summary of Findings	219
6.2) Multiple AMPases in Nociceptive Circuits	222
6.3) Regulation of Cellular PIP ₂ by Ectonucleotidases	227
6.4) PIP ₂ Modulation of TRPV1	230
6.5) Other Channels Potentially Affected by Ectonucleotidase-Mediated PIP ₂ Modulation	231
6.6) Ectonucleotidases and the Treatment of Pain in Humans	237
6.7) Other Potential Therapeutic Applications of Ectonucleotidases	241
6.8) Figures and Tables	250
APPENDIX I	255
PAP can Directly Degrade LPA in vitro but Non-competitively Decreases LPA-evoked Ca ²⁺ Responses	255
APPENDIX II	260
Inhibition of LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} Responses by NT5E Following Co-Expression of A ₁ R 2	260
APPENDIX III	263
NT5E, but not PAP, can Rapidly Convert AMP to Adenosine and Activate A _{2B} R in vitro	o 263
APPENDIX IV	267

Thiamine as an Antinociceptive Compound: Potential Development of TMP as an Antinociceptive Pro-drug	267
APPENDIX V	. 272
Expression of PAP and NT5E in Salivary Glands of Mice	272
Appendix VI	. 278
Risk Factors and Characteristics of HIV Painful Neuropathy in a South African Popul	ation 278
REFERENCES	284

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Prominent modulators of nociception
Table 2.1. Quantitative analysis of PAP and sensory neuron marker co-localization withinwild-type adult mouse L4-L6 DRG neurons.103
Table 2.2. Acute mechanical and thermal sensitivity are normal in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice
Table 4.1. No significant differences in the percentage of TRPV1 ⁺ L4-L6 DRG neurons in WT verses $Pap^{-/-}$ mice
Table 5.1. Quantitative analysis of NT5E and sensory neuron marker co-localization withinwild-type mouse L4-L6 DRG neurons216
Table 5.2. Comparison of CGRP-containing and P2X ₃ -containing populations in L4-L6 DRG from wild-type and $Nt5e^{-/2}$ mice
Table 5.3. Acute mechanical and thermal sensitivity in $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Primary afferent nerve types.	47
Figure 1.2. Nociceptive neurons and connections	48
Figure 1.3. Desensitization of TRPV1 due to depletion of PIP ₂	49
Figure 1.4. Model of PIP ₂ regulation of TRPV1	50
Figure 1.5. Intracellular and extracellular metabolism of adenosine	52
Figure 2.1. DRG neurons express the transmembrane isoform of PAP.	78
Figure 2.2. PAP dephosphorylates TMP in HEK 293 cells and nociceptive circuits	79
Figure 2.3. TM-PAP is the only phosphatase tested with TMPase activity	80
Figure 2.4. Axon terminals are anatomically normal in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice	81
Figure 2.5. TMP histochemical activity and PAP protein are co-localized in mouse DRG neurons and on axon terminals in lamina II of the spinal cord	82
Figure 2.6. PAP is primarily expressed in nonpeptidergic neurons	83
Figure 2.7. PAP protein is localized to nonpeptidergic axon terminals in lamina II of the mouse spinal cord	84
Figure 2.8 <i>Pap</i> ^{-/-} mice show enhanced nociceptive responses following inflammation and nerve injury	85
Figure 2.9. S-hPAP protein has long-lasting analgesic and antinociceptive effects when injected intraspinally	86
Figure 2.10. Dose-dependent anti-nociceptive effects of intrathecal S-hPAP	88
Figure 2.11. Bovine (b)PAP has anti-nociceptive effects on noxious thermal sensitivity, bu not mechanical sensitivity, when injected intrathecally into lumbar spinal cord	it 90
Figure 2.12. Bovine alkaline phosphatase (ALP) has no effect on noxious thermal or mechanical sensitivity when injected intrathecally into lumbar spinal cord	91

Figure 2.13. Dose-dependent anti-nociceptive effects of intrathecal morphine
Figure 2.14. Intraspinal PAP has anti-nociceptive effects in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice and rescues the chronic inflammatory pain behavioral phenotype in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice
Figure 2.15. PAP has ecto-5'-nucleotidase activity as revealed by dephosphorylation of AMP to adenosine in vitro, in cells and in nociceptive circuits
Figure 2. 16. PAP requires A ₁ -adenosine receptors for anti-nociception
Figure 2.17. A ₁ -adenosine receptors are required for bovine (b)PAP anti-nociception 99
Figure 2.18. The anti-nociceptive effects of PAP can be transiently inhibited with a selective A ₁ R antagonist
Figure 2.19. Dose-dependent anti-nociceptive effects of intrathecal N6-cyclopentyladenosine (CPA), a selective A ₁ -adenosine receptor agonist
Figure 3.1. Purification of recombinant mPAP 121
Figure 3.2. Inhibition of mPAP by L-(+)-tartrate 122
Figure 3.3. mPAP dephosphorylates purine nucleotides in a pH-dependent manner 123
Figure 3.4. TM-PAP dephosphorylates extracellular purine nucleotides in a pH-dependent manner
Figure 3.5. Dose-dependent antinociceptive effects of intrathecal mPAP 125
Figure 3.6. The antinociceptive effects of mPAP can be transiently inhibited with a selective A1R antagonist
Figure 4.1. Proposed model—PAP reduces TRPV1-dependent noxious thermal sensitivity and pain sensitization by depleting PIP ₂
Figure 4.2. PAP decreases activity of the capsaicin and noxious heat receptor TRPV1 156
Figure 4.3. TM-PAP reduces capsaicin-evoked Ca ²⁺ responses but not SDS-evoked Ca ²⁺ responses
Figure 4.4. Rat1 fibroblasts express A ₁ R

Figure 4.5. Mouse and human TM-PAP constructs dephosphorylate extracellular AMP and thiamine monophosphate (TMP) in Rat1 fibroblasts
Figure 4.6. Mouse and human TM-PAP constructs dephosphorylate extracellular AMP and TMP in HEK293 cells
Figure 4.7. Activation of protein kinase C (PKC) or inhibition of protein kinase A (PKA) does not explain TM-PAP effect on capsaicin-evoked Ca^{2+} responses and TM-PAP does not deplete intracellular Ca^{2+} stores
Figure 4.8. TM-PAP reduces capsaicin-evoked Ca^{2+} influx by decreasing PIP ₂ 164
Figure 4.9. TM-PAP reduces PIP ₂ levels in Rat1 fibroblasts
Figure 4.10. TM-PAP has no effect on capsaicin-evoked Ca^{2+} influx through TRPV1 Δ 42, a mutant version of TRPV1 that is missing a putative PIP ₂ -binding domain
Figure 4.11. PAP activity alters PIP ₂ levels in vivo
Figure 4.12. TM-PAP reduces LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} influx in Rat1 fibroblasts through activation of A ₁ R
Figure 4.13. TM-PAP inhibits LPA-evoked Ca ²⁺ responses via A ₁ R but not by other adenosine receptor subtypes
Figure 4.14. Activation of protein kinase C (PKC), inhibition of protein kinase A (PKA) or depletion of intracellular Ca ²⁺ stores does not explain TM-PAP effect on LPA-evoked Ca ²⁺ responses
Figure 4.15. TM-PAP reduces signaling through diverse pro-nociceptive receptors in an A ₁ R-dependent manner
Figure 4.16. Secretory PAP inhibits pro-nociceptive receptor signaling in vivo 175
Figure 4.17. <i>Pap</i> ^{-/-} mice show enhanced LPA- and ATP-induced thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia
Figure 4.18. Co-injection with PIP ₂ enhances LPA-induced hyperalgesia and allodynia 177
Figure 4.19. Secretory PAP partially blocks the initiation of neuropathic pain 179
Figure 5.1. NT5E is expressed primarily in nonpeptidergic DRG neurons

Figure 5.2. NT5E protein is localized primarily to nonpeptidergic and some peptidergic axon terminals in dorsal spinal cord
Figure 5.3. NT5E has AMPase activity in nociceptive circuits
Figure 5.4. Axon terminals are anatomically normal in $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice
Figure 5.5. NT5E protein and activity is reduced following peripheral nerve injury 209
Figure 5.6. <i>Nt5e^{-/-}</i> mice show enhanced nociceptive responses following inflammation and nerve injury
Figure 5.7. PIP ₂ levels are increased in $A_1 R^{-/-}$ and $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice
Figure 5.8. NT5E degrades AMP to adenosine in vivo
Figure 5.9. Injection of AMP or 5-iodotubercidin (ITU) alone has no effect on thermal sensitivity
Figure 5.10. Purification of recombinant mNT5E
Figure 5.11. mNT5E protein has long-lasting antinociceptive effects when injected intraspinally
Figure 6.1. PAP and NT5E are the main AMPases in nociceptive circuits
Figure 6.2. PAP and NT5E can degrade AMP during inflammation
Figure 6.3. Phosphoinositide tone is a dynamic modulator of nociceptor activity
Figure 6.4. PIP ₂ levels affect behavioral responses to noxious thermal and mechanical stimuli after i.t. injection of LPA or ATP
Figure 6.5. Potential therapeutic approaches targeting ectonucleotidases to treat pain 254
Figure A1.1. PAP can degrade LPA in vitro
Figure A1.2. TM-PAP non-competitively decreases LPA-evoked Ca ²⁺ responses
Figure A2.1. NT5E inhibits LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} responses when co-expressed with A ₁ R 261

Figure A3.1.	NT5E and PAP can rapidly degrade AMP to adenosine and activate $A_{2B}R$ 26	5
Figure A4.1.	Thiamine reduces acute thermal nociception in vivo	0
Figure A4.2.	Thiamine reduces LPA-evoked Ca ²⁺ responses in Rat1 fibroblasts	1
Figure A5.1.	AMPase activity in mouse salivary gland	5
Figure A5.2.	TMPase activity in mouse salivary gland	6
Figure A5.3.	NT5E protein is expressed in mouse salivary gland	7

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

A1 adenosine receptor
Adenosine deaminase
Adenosine diphosphate
Adenosine kinase
Adenosine monophosphate
Alkaline phosphatase
Adenosine triphosphate
Bradykinin
Bovine prostatic acid phosphate
Calcium
Complete Freund's adjuvant
Calcitonin gene-related peptide
N ⁶ -cyclopentyladenosine
8-cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine
Diacylglycerol
Dorsal root ganglion (ganglia)
Ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase / phosphodiesterase
Ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase
Fluoride resistant acid phosphatase
G-protein coupled receptor

hPAP	Human prostatic acid phosphatase
IB4	Isolectin B4
IP ₃	Inositol triphosphate
ITU	5-iodotubercidin
LPA	Lysophosphatidic acid
mPAP	Mouse prostatic acid phosphatase
Mrgprd	Mas-related G-protein coupled receptor D
mNT5E	Mouse recombinant ecto-5'-nucleotidase
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NT5E	Ecto-5'-nucleotidase
PAP	Prostatic acid phosphatase
PIP ₂	Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate
PIPK	Phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate-5-kinase
РКА	Protein kinase A
РКС	Protein kinase C
PLC	Phospholipase C
PTX	Pertussis toxin
S-hPAP	Secretory human prostatic acid phosphatase
SNI	Spared nerve injury
Thr	Thrombin
ТМР	Thiamine monophosphate
TMPase	Thiamine monophosphatase
TM-PAP	Transmembrane prostatic acid phosphatase

TNAP	Tissue non-specific alkaline phosphatase
TRPM8	Transient receptor potential cation channel M8
TRPA1	Transient receptor potential cation channel A1
TRPV1	Transient receptor potential cation channel V1
WT	Wild type

CHAPTER 1

Introduction and Background

1.1) The Burden of Chronic Pain

Pain – be it physical or emotional – is one of the most common medical complaints in the United States. In a recent survey, over one-quarter (26%) of all adults in the U.S. reported that they suffered from pain (of any type) that persisted for greater than 24 hours during the month prior to interview (2006). Almost one-half of these individuals (42%) reported their pain had lasted for greater than 1 year. Chronic pain can be extremely debilitating, affecting physical and mental well-being and profoundly diminishing quality of life. Patients reporting moderate to severe chronic pain describe difficulty performing everyday activities, including exercising, sleeping, doing chores, participating in social activities, working, and caring for children (1999). Moderate to severe chronic pain sufferers also report difficulty maintaining attention and focusing on important tasks, as well as emotional difficulties, including listlessness, feelings of worthlessness, anxiety, and depression (1999). All of these problems significantly worsen when pain is inadequately controlled.

The treatment of pain is extremely expensive. The direct costs of pain treatment, including medical practitioner and hospital visits, drugs, and therapies are estimated to be over \$100US billion annually (2006; Luo et al., 2004). These costs do not take into account other societal costs, including loss of work time and productivity. Together, these make pain

one of the most costly human conditions. Despite these impacts on personal and societal well-being, pain remains largely undertreated and poorly understood. These factors led the U.S. Congress to declare the decade starting in 2001 as the "Decade of Pain Control and Research." (Title VI, Sec. 1603, of H.R. 3244).

Treatments for pain – both scientifically vetted and otherwise – abound. Pharmaceutical treatments are the most common, and include non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDS; aspirin, ibuprofen, acetaminophen, naproxen), COX inhibitors (celecoxib, rofecoxib), opioids (morphine, codeine, oxycodone, fentanyl), antidepressants, anticonvulsants, and specific ion channel blockers. While they are some of the most commonly prescribed drugs on the market, pain relievers also carry significant side effects that many patients cannot tolerate, making other modes of therapy necessary. Other treatments include injections of local anesthetics (lidocaine), nerve blocks, physical therapy, electrical stimulation, psychological therapy, surgery, and acupuncture. In addition, chronic pain patients are constantly bombarded with advertisements for alternative therapies, homeopathic remedies, and natural supplements which claim to treat pain. This menagerie of treatments can be very confusing, expensive, and time consuming for patients, further raising the burden of disease. Further, no single treatment is often sufficient for many patients, leading to frustration, anger, and additional emotional challenges that often worsen the pain symptoms. Thus, while many modes of "pain relief" are available to patients, many still suffer, requiring further advances in pain therapy.

It is with this knowledge in mind that we have set out to better understand the nociceptive (pain-sensing) nervous system, in order to design better treatments for both acute and chronic pain. We have focused on understanding the endogenous mechanisms present in

the nociceptive nervous system that modulate signaling in order to identify new targets for therapy. We hope that these studies provide increased knowledge of pain signaling and pathology and will also lead to novel therapeutic approaches which are so desperately needed by millions of people.

1.2) The Nociceptive Nervous System

Every moment, the body receives a wealth of information about its surrounding environment. The task of detecting, integrating, and transmitting this information belongs to the peripheral sensory nervous system. Highly specialized nerve fibers provide information to the central nervous system about the environment and the state of the organism. In the skin alone, there are fibers that detect cooling, warmth, vibration, pressure, noxious chemicals and touch. Some fibers can detect several of these stimuli (polymodal), while others are specialized for one particular type of input (Julius and Basbaum, 2001; Meyer et al., 2006). Within these groups, there are fibers belonging to neurons that are specialized in the detection of noxious (injurious or potentially injurious) stimuli, which are called nociceptors (Sherrington, 1906). These fibers have been shown, using electrophysiological studies, to be excited by noxious heat, intense pressure, and chemical irritants, but not by innocuous warming or light touch (Burgess and Perl, 1967). It is these neurons that are responsible for protecting organisms from potentially harmful stimuli in their environment.

Fibers innervating the head and body have their cell bodies in the trigeminal and dorsal root ganglia (DRG), respectively, which lie in and along the dorsal regions of the brainstem and spinal cord. These pseudo-unipolar neurons have a very long axon that branches into two distinct processes (Meyer et al., 2006). The distal process extends into the

periphery to detect and relay information from external stimuli, while the proximal process extends into the central nervous system, synapsing with neurons in the spinal cord or brainstem. Information is then carried to higher levels of the CNS for integration and interpretation.

There are three broad classes of sensory neurons found in the trigeminal ganglia and DRG that supply the skin (Figure 1.1). Large diameter neurons give rise to relatively large diameter, myelinated A β fibers. These fibers conduct action potentials very rapidly, and are largely involved in the detection of innocuous stimuli applied to skin, muscles, and joints (Julius and Basbaum, 2001). Slightly smaller in diameter are the thinly myelinated $A\delta$ fibers. These fibers transmit action potentials more slowly than A β s and their activation is thought to lead to pricking, sharp, and perhaps aching pain (Julius and Basbaum, 2001; Meyer et al., 2006). There are two broad classes of Aδ nociceptors (Type I and Type II) that differ in their thermal thresholds, ability to respond to mechanical stimuli, and their functional firing properties (Dubner and Hu, 1977; Meyer et al., 2006; Treede et al., 1998). These fibers are thought to play some role in detection of noxious heat and in the sensitization process following burn or chemical injury (Campbell et al., 1979; Ringkamp et al., 2001; Treede et al., 1998). The smallest diameter DRG neurons give rise to small, unmyelinated C fibers. C-fiber nociceptors are mostly polymodal, responding to noxious thermal, mechanical, and chemical stimuli (Julius and Basbaum, 2001; Meyer et al., 2006). They propagate action potentials rather slowly, and are thought to give rise to a burning pain sensation when activated. C fibers have slowly adapting responses to mechanical and thermal stimuli, and are heavily involved in the sensitization (hyperalgesia) process following tissue injury (Meyer et al., 2006; Peng et al., 2003).

1.3) Classification of Nociceptors Based on Molecular Markers

In addition to their general size and firing properties, nociceptors can be further characterized by particular cellular markers that allow for study of their peripheral and central projections. These markers include cell surface receptors, peptides stored and released by the cells, and enzymes (Meyer et al., 2006). They often differ in their relative abundance between species (Zwick et al., 2002) and can change following inflammation or nerve injury (Meyer et al., 2006), but can be extremely useful in understanding general properties about classes of neurons and can even highlight functional and anatomically distinct circuits (Cavanaugh et al., 2009; Zylka et al., 2005). Large-diameter DRG neurons (A β and some myelinated A δ) are uniformly labeled with antibodies against the phosphorylated heavy chain neurofilament protein NF200. This marker can easily distinguish between these larger sensory neurons and small DRG cells, for which there are many more markers.

Small DRG neurons are broadly subdivided into peptidergic and nonpeptidergic neurons (Figure 1.2) (Julius and Basbaum, 2001; Meyer et al., 2006; Zylka, 2005). Peptidergic neurons contain neuropeptides, such as substance P, calcitonin gene-related protein (CGRP), and somatostatin. These neurons also express TrkA, the high-affinity tyrosine kinase receptor for nerve growth factor (NGF) and depend upon NGF-TrkA signaling for survival during development (Fitzgerald, 2005). Studies examining substance P or CGRP expression in rat have shown that about 40% of all DRG cells – 50% of C fibers, and 20% of Aδ fibers – are classified as peptidergic (Lawson et al., 1996; McCarthy and Lawson, 1989). Peptidergic neurons project specifically to lamiae I and II_{outer} in the dorsal

horn of the spinal cord (Hunt and Mantyh, 2001; Zylka, 2005), and they extend their axons into visceral, dermal, and epidermal targets (Perry and Lawson, 1998; Zylka et al., 2005).

Nonpeptidergic neurons contain fluoride resistant acid phosphatase (FRAP), bind the plant lectin IB4 from *Griffonia simplicifolia*, and express the ATP-gated ion channel P2X₃ (Meyer et al., 2006; Silverman and Kruger, 1988a; Silverman and Kruger, 1988b; Snider and McMahon, 1998; Vulchanova et al., 1998). Nonpeptidergic nociceptors lose expression of TrkA during development and rely on signaling through the receptor tyrosine kinase Ret for survival (Fitzgerald, 2005). While staining for IB4 or FRAP has traditionally been used to discriminate nonpeptidergic neurons from peptidergic cells, it should be noted that there is some colocalization of both of these markers with substance P and/or CGRP in DRG (Bergman et al., 1999; Carr et al., 1990; Wang et al., 1994). Nonpeptidergic neurons project specifically to lamina II_{inner} in the dorsal horn and extend their axons primarily to the skin, with some afferents projecting to muscle (Perry and Lawson, 1998; Zylka, 2005).

While these classifications are not necessarily functional in nature, they do provide some insight into broad classes of nociceptors. For example, the remarkable segregation of peptidergic and nonpeptidergic axon terminals in the dorsal horn hints at a unique central connectivity between these classes. In addition, peptidergic and nonpeptidergic neurons can also have different morphological and anatomical characteristics within a given tissue type, hinting at conserved functional differences in these regions (Zylka et al., 2005). Further, certain receptors involved in signal transduction also segregate between peptidergic and nonpeptidergic nociceptors. For example, the pro-nociceptive ATP receptor P2X₃ is found almost exclusively in IB4⁺ neurons, while the noxious heat and capsaicin receptor TRVP1 is expressed primarily in peptidergic neurons in the mouse. These segregations hint at

functional differences between these nociceptor classes and can be useful in understanding expression patterns and possible functions of newly discovered proteins and markers.

1.4) Important Transducers and Modulators of Nociception

Understanding the properties of nociception requires a basic knowledge of the important players in the detection and production of nociceptive signals from afferent neurons. Here I will outline, briefly in some cases and in detail in others, the mechanisms of noxious stimuli detection and the important channels and receptors involved in the creation and modulation of nociceptive neurotransmission.

1.4.1) Detection of Mechanical Stimuli

Nociceptors are capable of detecting noxious mechanical stimuli due to direct pressure, tissue deformation or osmotic stress. While the properties of nociceptor responses to these stimuli have been intensely studied (Meyer et al., 2006), surprisingly, the identification of the direct mechanotransducers present in mammals remains elusive. Candidates have been identified from invertebrate systems, but studies on mammalian orthologs have been inconclusive.

Studies from the worm *Caenorhabditis elegans* have shown members of the DEG/ENaC ion channel family to be important in the detection of gentle touch (Julius and McCleskey, 2006). Mammalian homologs of these channels (ASIC1, ASIC2, and ASIC3) are expressed in primary sensory neurons (Garcia-Anoveros et al., 2001), but targeted deletions of these genes produce only subtle alterations in mechanosensitivity in mice,

questioning their role in mechanotransduction (Price et al., 2000; Price et al., 2001; Roza et al., 2004).

Studies from yeast, flies, and worms have also implicated members of the transient receptor potential (TRP) family of ion channels in the detection of mechanical stimuli. However, their role in mammalian mechanotransduction remains unclear (Christensen and Corey, 2007). TRPA1 is thought to be involved in acute noxious mechanosensation and cold sensation. However, mice null for TRPA1 show normal mechanical sensitivity to most stimuli, with only a deficit in the detection of intense stimuli at high g-forces (Kwan, 2006; Petrus et al., 2007). In addition, while antagonists of TRPA1 decrease nociceptor responses to mechanical stimuli in vitro, application in vivo does not affect acute mechanosensation (Kerstein et al., 2009; Petrus et al., 2007). Thus, while TRPA1 likely plays a role in mechanosensation, possibly through indirect activation due to release of reactive compounds from damaged tissue or increases in intracellular calcium, there is no evidence for direct activation of the channel by mechanical stimuli (Christensen and Corey, 2007; Hinman et al., 2006; Macpherson et al., 2007; Zurborg et al., 2007). Another TRP channel, TRPV4, is activated in vitro by changes in osmolarity (Liedtke et al., 2000; Strotmann et al., 2000). However, targeted disruption of TRPV4 in mice leads to only minor changes in mechanosensory responses, suggesting it may not be important in mechanotransduction in vivo (Liedtke et al., 2000; Mizuno et al., 2003; Suzuki et al., 2003).

1.4.2) Detection of Thermal Stimuli

1.4.2.1) Detection of Cold

Exposure to noxious cold temperatures (< 4°C) leads to intense, burning pain. Activation of nociceptors by noxious cold has been proposed to occur through a number of mechanisms, including activation of Ca²⁺- and/or Na²⁺-permeable channels, inhibition of background K^+ channels, inhibition of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPases, or differential effects of cold on voltage-gated Na⁺ or K⁺ conductances (Julius and McCleskey, 2006). Recent work has shown the potential for specific excitatory "cold receptors." Most prominent among these is the TRP channel family member TRPM8, which is gated by both menthol (the ingredient responsible for the "cool" sensation in gum, cigarettes, and other products) and cold (McKemy et al., 2002). TRPM8 is activated by both cool (26°C-15°C) and cold (<15°C) temperatures in vitro and is responsible for detection of cool temperatures in vivo. Interestingly, while TRPM8 is upregulated following neuropathic pain (Frederick et al., 2007; Proudfoot et al., 2006), its role in mediating cold, mechanical, or thermal hypersensitivity under pathophysiological conditions is unclear. In fact, TRMP8 agonists can actually attenuate thermal and mechanical hypersensitivity in some models of neuropathic pain, highlighting a possible role for the channel in cold-mediated analgesia (Proudfoot et al., 2006; Xing et al., 2008). Mice null for TRPM8 still retain an aversion to intense cold, suggesting TRPM8 is responsible for detection of only cool and some noxious cold temperatures in vivo (Bautista et al., 2007; Colburn et al., 2007; Dhaka et al., 2007). Thus, other mechanisms must be responsible for detection of extreme cold temperatures.

Another candidate for a noxious cold sensor is the aforementioned TRPA1. When heterologously expressed in CHO cells, TRPA1 is activated by cold temperatures with a threshold that is lower than TRPM8 (Bandell et al., 2004b; Sawada et al., 2007; Story et al., 2003c). However, the role of TRPA1 in detection of noxious cold is controversial due to

discrepancies in cold activation in different heterologous expression systems (Jordt et al., 2004; Nagata et al., 2005), the possibility of indirect channel activation due to rises in intracellular Ca²⁺ release (Zurborg et al., 2007), a lack of correlation between responses of somatosensory neurons to both mustard oil (a known TRPA1 agonist) and cold (Babes et al., 2004; Bautista et al., 2006b; Jordt et al., 2004), and conflicting reports of cold-sensing deficits in TRPA1 null mice (Bautista et al., 2006b; Kwan et al., 2006). While a recent study attempted to address these concerns, showing direct cold-activation of TRPA1 in vitro, expression of the channel in a distinct subset of cold-sensitive primary sensory neurons, and a distinct noxious cold-sensing deficit in TRPA1 null mice (Karashima et al., 2009), the controversy over TRPA1's role in noxious cold sensation is likely to continue.

1.4.2.2) Detection of Heat

In cell culture, approximately 45% of small- and medium-diameter DRG neurons show heat-evoked membrane currents that initiate at an activation threshold of ~42°C (Julius and McCleskey, 2006; Nagy and Rang, 1999). Based on size and heat responsiveness, these are likely C-fiber and Type II A δ -fiber nociceptors. In addition, about 5% of the medium- to large-diameter Type I A δ fiber DRG neurons respond to heat at the higher activation threshold of ~51°C (Cesare et al., 1999b; Nagy and Rang, 1999). These different properties suggest a different mechanism of thermosensation and activation. It is now clear that the thermal sensitivity of the smaller, C-fiber and Type II A δ -fiber nociceptors is due to the expression of the capsaicin and noxious thermosensor TRPV1. Since TRPV1 plays an important role in the following studies, I will spend some time describing the characteristics of this important channel.

1.4.2.2.1) TRPV1

TRPV1 is a nonselective cation channel that responds to noxious heat at temperatures above 43°C, similar to the properties seen in small- and medium-diameter DRG neurons in culture (Caterina et al., 1997). Fittingly, TRPV1 is expressed predominantly in a subset of small- and medium-diameter DRG neurons in mice (Pingle et al., 2007). The channel has equal selectivity for the passage of most univalent cations, and is moderately selective for divalent cations (Caterina et al., 1997). In addition, it is highly permeable to protons, large polyvalent cations, polyamines, and several organic cationic dyes (Ahern et al., 2006; Meyers et al., 2003). The relative permeability and large pore size of the channel has allowed it to be used as a tool to deliver small-molecule anesthetics (Binshtok et al., 2007; Binshtok et al., 2009).

Activation of the channel by heat shows a steep temperature dependence (Liu et al., 2003), and increases in temperatures in the subthreshold range (< 43°C) can synergistically enhance currents produced by other TRPV1 agonists (Babes et al., 2002). The exact mechanism underlying heat activation of the channel is unclear, but is likely due to changes in intrinsic voltage-sensitivity of the channel as a result of changes in temperature (Nilius et al., 2005). What is clear is that cells heterologously expressing TRPV1, as well as TRPV1⁺ DRG neurons, show heat-evoked single-channel currents, indicating TRPV1 is an intrinsically heat-activated channel that underlies the native "moderate" threshold thermosensation seen in C- and A δ -fiber nociceptors (Caterina and Julius, 2001).

In addition to heat, other stimuli can activate the channel. TRPV1 was initially cloned based on its ability to respond to capsaicin, the pungent ingredient found in chili

peppers (Caterina et al., 1997). Activation by capsaicin and other vanilloids (including resiniferatoxin and olvanil) occurs following binding at intracellular regions of the channel (Pingle et al., 2007) and has similar characteristics to activation with noxious heat, explaining why ingestion or exposure to these compounds leads to an intense burning sensation. Other compounds similar in structure to vanilloids can also activate the channel, including the endocannabinoid anandamide, oleoyl-dopamine, the lipoxygenase product 12-HPETE, and *N*-acetylethanolamines (Ahern, 2003; Pingle et al., 2007; Ross, 2003). In addition, TRPV1 is activated by allicin (the pungent compound in garlic) (Macpherson et al., 2005; Macpherson et al., 2006), nitric oxide (Yoshida et al., 2006), camphor (Xu et al., 2005), spider toxins (Siemens et al., 2006), and is potentiated by ethanol (Trevisani et al., 2002).

Extracellular protons and cations can also activate or sensitize the receptor. The channel is activated directly at pH < 6 and sensitized at pH 6 – 7 or by the presence of high levels of extracellular Na⁺, Mg²⁺, or Ca²⁺ (Ahern et al., 2005; Tominaga et al., 1998). This is due to electrostatic interactions with positively charged extracellular domains (Jordt et al., 2000; Welch et al., 2000). Interestingly, responses to cations or protons are greater following TRPV1 sensitization, suggesting they play a role in inflammatory pain signaling (Ahern et al., 2005).

Sensitization of TRPV1

Numerous stimuli can lead to sensitization of TRPV1. The release of inflammatory mediators (prostaglandin E_2 , glutamate, bradykinin, nerve growth factor (NGF), and ATP) following tissue injury or inflammation can indirectly sensitize the channel through a variety of mechanisms (Levine and Alessandri-Haber, 2007). This sensitization leads to activation

of the channel at much reduced thermal thresholds, leading to the thermal hyperalgesia experienced following injury (Liang et al., 2001; Tominaga et al., 1998). Several mechanisms of sensitization have been proposed. First, NGF-receptor activation leads to downstream activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), which in turn, increases transcription and surface expression of TRPV1 (Ji et al., 2002). NGF-receptor activation can also lead to phosphorylation of the channel by Src kinase, which increases insertion of the channel into the surface membrane (Zhang et al., 2005a).

Phosphorylation of the channel by other kinases can also sensitize TRPV1. Protein kinase C (PKC) is capable of phosphorylating several sites on TRPV1 (Huang et al., 2006c), but only two residues have been shown to affect function of the channel to date (Bhave et al., 2003; Trevisani et al., 2002). Phosphorylation by PKC increases channel activity by increasing the channel's open probability time following activation (Vellani et al., 2001), leading to increased thermal hyperalgesia in vivo (Bolcskei et al., 2005; Cesare et al., 1999a). Protein kinase A (PKA) can also phosphorylate TRPV1 at multiple amino acid residues, of which three are functionally important (Huang et al., 2006c). Although PKA activation sensitizes capsaicin- and heat-evoked currents in vitro (Lopshire and Nicol, 1998; Luciano De et al., 2001), PKA-mediated phosphorylation of the channel actually leads to decreased desensitization rather than true sensitization (Mohapatra and Nau, 2003). Regardless of the exact mechanism, the ultimate effect of PKA pathway activation is increased thermal hyperalgesia in vivo (Hucho and Levine, 2007a). Interestingly, while PKC and PKA are usually activated through different signaling pathways, activity of protease-activated receptor 2 (PAR2), which is activated during inflammation, leads to activation of both PKC and PKA and subsequent TRPV1 sensitization (Amadesi et al., 2006).
Desensitization of TRPV1

One of the important physiologic properties of the channel is that upon activation, it undergoes desensitization. This is true whether the channel is activated by a long-lasting single application of agonist or by repeated short-term applications (tachyphylaxis) (Pingle et al., 2007). Desensitization ultimately requires the presence of intracellular Ca²⁺, but likely involves more than one mechanism. In one model (Rohacs, 2009; Rohacs et al., 2008), Ca²⁺ that enters the cell through the stimulated channel activates the calcium-sensitive phospholipase C (PLC) (Figure 1.3). Once activated, PLC degrades its target phospholipid phosphoinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) into inositol triphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG). PIP₂ activates TRPV1 through a direct interaction with the channel (see below). Thus, by depleting PIP₂, PLC activation decreases channel activity. This model is supported by several lines of evidence, including a requirement for PIP₂ for TRPV1 activity in excised patches (Klein et al., 2008; Lukacs et al., 2007; Stein et al., 2006), a dependence on the resynthesis of PIP₂ for removal of desensitization (Liu et al., 2005), a reduction of desensitization in the presence of PLC inhibitors (Lishko et al., 2007; Lukacs et al., 2007), and the reduction of desensitization by the application of exogenous PIP₂ in whole-cell patch clamp experiments (Lishko et al., 2007; Lukacs et al., 2007). While this data is compelling, PLC inhibition or PIP₂ application are insufficient to completely block desensitization, suggesting other mechanisms are involved (Lukacs et al., 2007). Indeed, direct interaction of the Ca²⁺ sensor calmodulin is though to be involved in desensitization, as is calmodulin dependent activation of calcineurin and subsequent channel dephosphorylation (Docherty et

al., 1996; Lishko et al., 2007; Mohapatra and Nau, 2005; Numazaki et al., 2003; Rosenbaum et al., 2004).

PIP₂ regulation of TRPV1

Regulation of TRPV1 activity by PIP₂ was first proposed by Chuang and colleagues (2001), who suggested that PIP₂ tonically inhibits the channel and this inhibition is released upon PLC activation and PIP₂ hydrolysis. They later hypothesized that PIP₂ bound to TRPV1 via a polybasic region in the C-terminus of the channel (Prescott and Julius, 2003). However, the inhibitory role of PIP₂ was later refuted by electrophysiologic studies in excised patches, which showed consistent activation of TRPV1 by PIP₂, as well as by the related phosphoinositides PI(3,4,5)P and PI(3,4)P (Klein et al., 2008; Lukacs et al., 2007). In addition, as discussed above, PIP₂ has been convincingly shown to reduce desensitization, further disputing an inhibitory role for the lipid (Rohacs, 2009). How can these seemingly contradictory results be reconciled?

One model has been proposed by Rohacs and colleagues (2008), based on the stimulus intensity placed on the channel. They point out that sensitization of TRPV1 following PIP₂ depletion occurs when the channel is moderately stimulated at low capsaicin concentrations (< 1 μ M). Further, the inhibitory effect of PIP₂ is not seen in studies conducted in excised patches, suggesting the effect is indirect in nature. They have shown that depletion of the lipid in whole cells leads to further activation of the channel when stimulated by moderate heat or capsaicin concentrations, suggesting a partial inhibition by PIP₂ in intact cells (Lukacs et al., 2007). They propose this may be due to either competition between inhibitory PIP₂ and a stimulatory cytosolic protein for a regulatory binding region

on the channel, or the presence of an inhibitory cytosolic protein that interacts with the channel only when bound to PIP_2 (Rohacs et al., 2008). However, with stimulation of high capsaicin concentrations, the channel is activated, not inhibited by PIP_2 .

Based on these results, they proposed a dual inhibitory and activating effect at low stimulus inputs that could result in a bell-shaped dependence on PIP₂ (Figure 1.4). In this model, if resting PIP₂ concentrations are high, moderate depletion of PIP₂ results in activation of the channel, while a more severe depletion results in inhibition. At high stimulus levels, they propose a simplified model where depletion of PIP₂ leads to inhibition of the channel. It should be noted, however, that another group has shown that depletion of PIP₂ at both low and high stimulus levels leads to inhibition of TRPV1, arguing against any inhibitory role for PIP₂ (Klein et al., 2008). However, differences in experimental protocols could be responsible for the discrepancies between the studies.

Further complicating the picture is the recent discovery of the PIP₂-binding protein Pirt (Kim et al., 2008a). Pirt is expressed specifically in DRG neurons and can bind to both TRPV1 and phosphoinositides. Deletion of Pirt reduces capsaicin-evoked currents, while addition of Pirt enhances these currents in vitro. It was suggested that Pirt is required for the stimulatory effect of PIP₂ on TRPV1, but this is probably not strictly true, since even low amounts of PIP₂ can enhance TRPV1 activity in excised patches where Pirt is unlikely to be present. While Pirt may not be entirely necessary for the stimulatory effect of PIP₂ on TRPV1, it clearly plays an important role in addition to the effects of direct lipid binding to the channel.

The most telling information on the role of TRPV1 in thermosensation comes from studies on TRPV1-null mice $(Trpv1^{-/-})$ (Caterina et al., 2000a; Davis et al., 2000a). These

mice show reduced pain behavior at temperatures > 48°C in hot plate and radiant heat tests, but show normal thermosensation at temperatures below 48°C. Consistent with this, electrophysiologic studies from these mice revealed the presence of heat-sensitive C fibers, indicating that other thermosensors are present besides TRPV1. Amazingly, $Trpv1^{-/-}$ mice fail to develop thermal hyperalgesia following induction of inflammation by CFA, mustard oil, or pro-algesic molecules like bradykinin (Caterina et al., 2000a; Chuang et al., 2001; Davis et al., 2000a). Thus, in addition to a role in detection of noxious thermal stimuli TRPV1 plays a vital role in the production of thermal sensitization following proinflammatory insults in vivo. However, the behavior of $Trpv1^{-/-}$ mice point to the presence of additional thermosensors involved in noxious heat sensation.

1.4.2.2.2) Other Thermosensors

TRPV2, TRPV3, and TRPV4 are all responsive to warm or hot temperatures, but their roles in thermosensation are still undetermined (Levine and Alessandri-Haber, 2007). TRPV2 has a high threshold of activation (>52°C) and is expressed in medium-diameter DRG neurons, making it a good candidate for the thermosensor in Aδ fiber nociceptors (Ahluwalia et al., 2002; Caterina et al., 1999). However, mice lacking TRPV2 have normal thermal responses, making its role unclear in vivo (Park et al., 2008). TRPV3 is activated by warm temperatures (>34°C) and is sensitized by camphor and several natural irritants (Peier et al., 2002; Xu et al., 2006). While mice null for TRPV3 show impaired thermosensation in warm preference and tail immersion tests (Moqrich et al., 2005), TRPV3 is not expressed in the DRG in mice (Peier et al., 2002), suggesting this effect is due to channel activity elsewhere. TRPV4 is activated by innocuous heat (>27°C), as well as numerous other stimuli (Guler et al., 2002; Levine and Alessandri-Haber, 2007). $Trpv4^{-/-}$ mice do not show deficits in acute thermosensation, but develop reduced thermal hyperalgesia in response to capsaicin or carrageenan (Todaka et al., 2004). However, whether these effects are due to TRPV4 activity in sensory neurons or in keratinocytes is unclear.

1.4.3) Modulators of Nociception

While the sections above highlight specific transducers of nociceptive signals, there are numerous chemical mediators that are released upon tissue injury that can sensitize nociceptors. This sensitization leads to increased or abnormal nociceptor activity and is important in the development of hyperalgesic states seen in chronic pain. An exhaustive review of all inflammatory mediators involved in nociception is beyond the scope of this dissertation. However, <u>Table 1.1</u> lists many pro-nociceptive molecules and their actions. For purposes of these studies, this dissertation will focus on the actions of adenosine and adenosine phosphates in the modulation of pain.

1.5) Adenine-containing Nucleotides and Nociception

The adenine-containing nucleotides ATP, ADP, and adenosine are important for neurotransmission and nociception (Bleehen and Keele, 1977; Burnstock, 1972). Importantly, ATP and ADP are pro-nociceptive, while adenosine is predominantly antinociceptive. These characteristics highlight the fact that ATP and ADP act through a different class of receptors (P2 receptors) than adenosine (P1 receptors) (Burnstock, 2009). Because of their prominent roles in nociception, receptors in both classes have become important therapeutic targets for acute and chronic pain. Since interconversion of these different adenosine phosphates readily occurs in both intracellular and extracellular spaces, significant attention has also been paid to the mechanisms underlying these reactions. Control of these pathways could allow for shifting of purinergic signaling from pronociceptive ATP and ADP to antinociceptive adenosine in states of hyperalgesia. Below, I will highlight the roles of these compounds in nociception and discuss the enzymes involved in their interconversion in the nervous system.

1.5.1) ATP and ADP in Nociception

Early studies with ATP established it as a potential initiator of pain when applied onto skin or infused into muscle (Bleehen and Keele, 1977; Collier et al., 1966; Mork et al., 2003). In addition, ATP potentiated pain sensation due to other pro-nociceptive stimuli, such as capsaicin or ultraviolet light (Hamilton et al., 2001; Tsuda et al., 2000). Since then, the role of ATP as a pro-nociceptive molecule has been confirmed in numerous animal models of acute, inflammatory, and neuropathic pain (see Wirkner et al., 2007). From these studies a unifying hypothesis of the role of purinergic signaling in the initiation of pain has emerged, which has been expanded in recent papers (see Burnstock, 2009).

ATP and ADP exert their effects through P2 receptors, of which there are two families – P2X and P2Y. P2X receptors are ligand-gated, cation-selective channels that are permeable to Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ (Sawynok, 2007). There are seven known P2X receptor subunits currently identified (P2X₁₋₇) (Khakh et al., 2001). Of these, only four (P2X₂, P2X₃, P2X₄, and P2X₇) are thought to be involved in nociception (Sawynok, 2007). P2Y receptors are metabotropic G-protein coupled receptors whose stimulation leads to activation of various signaling pathways, depending on the specific receptor type (Burnstock, 2009). There are

eight known P2Y receptors, of which only four (P2Y₁, P2Y₂, P2Y₄, and P2Y₆) have been potentially implicated in nociception (Wirkner et al., 2007). While P2X receptors respond predominantly to ATP or ATP analogs, some P2Y receptors respond to both pyrimidine and purine nucleosides (Burnstock, 2009). In addition, some P2Y receptors are preferentially activated by nucleoside diphosphates (Burnstock, 2009). As a result of their different agonists and signaling properties, P2X and P2Y receptors have different roles in nociception.

1.5.1.1) P2X receptors

While all seven cloned mammalian P2X receptors are present in sensory ganglia, only three have been implicated in the regulation of nociception (Khakh, 2001). Of these, P2X₃ is the most prominent. Approximately 40% of cultured rat DRG neurons show immunoreactivity for P2X₃, and the vast majority of these cells also express IB4 (Bradbury et al., 1998; Vulchanova et al., 1997). P2X₃ colocalizes extensively with other markers of nonpeptidergic neurons, including *MrgprD* and FRAP (Zylka et al., 2005; Zylka et al., 2008). P2X₃⁺ neurons project to inner lamina II in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. In addition to forming homotrimeric receptors, P2X₃ can also form heterotrimeric receptors with P2X₂, which is also expressed in some DRG neurons (Wirkner et al., 2007). While P2X_{2/3} heteromeric receptors play a role in nociception, they are not necessary for mediating acute pain responses, as P2X₂ null mice do not show changes in acute nocifensive behavior (Cockayne et al., 2005). There is no evidence that homomeric P2X₂ receptors play a role in nociception.

Numerous studies support a role for $P2X_3$ and $P2X_{2/3}$ receptors in acute, inflammatory, neuropathic, visceral, and migraine pain (see Wirkner et al., 2007 for review).

Highlights of these studies include the following. Administration of ATP or the $P2X_3$ receptor agonist $\alpha\beta$ -methylene ATP ($\alpha\beta$ -MeATP) excites C-fibers in vitro and in vivo (Dowd et al., 1998b; Hamilton et al., 2001; Hilliges et al., 2002). Peripheral administration of ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -MeATP induces spontaneous pain behaviors, thermal hyperalgesia, and mechanical allodynia, which are enhanced by inflammation (Hamilton et al., 1999; Sawynok and Reid, 1997; Tsuda et al., 2000). This is not surprising, since inflammation leads to upregulation of $P2X_3$ expression and sensitizes the receptor to ATP, possibly through phosphorylation (Dai et al., 2004a; Paukert et al., 2001; Xu and Huang, 2002). This is particularly important because inflammation leads to elevated levels of extracellular ATP (Gordon, 1986). Intrathecal administration of ATP produces long-lasting mechanical allodynia due to activation of $P2X_{2/3}$ receptors (Nakagawa et al., 2007). $P2X_3$ receptors are upregulated in DRG and spinal cord following nerve injury in regions corresponding to the inputs of the injured nerve, and administration of $P2X_3$ agonists following nerve injury increases the thermal hyperalgesia and allodynia that develops (Chen et al., 2001; Novakovic et al., 1999; Zhou et al., 2001). Knockdown of P2X₃ using spinally administered antisense oligonucleotides reduces $\alpha\beta$ -MeATP-induced hyperalgesia, inflammatory hyperalgesia, and nerve injury-induced hyperalgesia (Baumann et al., 2004; Dorn et al., 2004; Honore et al., 2002). Systemically-administered P2X₃ antagonist reduces inflammatory pain and nerveinjury induced allodynia (Jarvis et al., 2002a). While all of these studies suggest a strong pro-nociceptive role for $P2X_3$ receptors, complicating matters is the fact that $P2X_3$ null mice show normal acute thermal and mechanical sensitivity, have normal responses to carrageenan and capsaicin, but develop greater thermal hyperalgesia due to CFA (Souslova et al., 2000). The reasons for discrepancies between studies using acute inhibition of the receptor by

antagonists or antisense oligonucleotide knockdown and those in $P2X_3$ null mice could be due to developmental compensation in the knockout mice.

Recently, an important role for P2X₄ receptors has been shown in the development of neuropathic pain following nerve injury (Tsuda et al., 2003). P2X₄ receptors are expressed in both neuronal and non-neuronal tissues, but are strongly upregulated in microglia following peripheral nerve injury (Khakh et al., 2001; Tsuda et al., 2003). Intrathecal administration of ATP-activated microglia produced allodynia through P2X₄ receptors (Tsuda et al., 2003). These actions require signaling through MAPK and subsequent release of cytokines and chemokines that sensitize neighboring neurons (Tsuda et al., 2005; Tsuda et al., 2004). Administration of P2X₄ antagonists or knockdown of the receptor using antisense oligonucleotides reduces nerve-injury induced neuropathic pain (Tsuda et al., 2003). Interestingly, chronic inflammation does not lead to P2X₄ upregulation or microglial activation (Rabchevsky et al., 1999). P2X₄ knockout mice show normal acute nocifensive responses in several assays, but develop significantly less mechanical allodynia following inflammation by CFA or nerve injury (Tsuda et al., 2009). These studies show P2X₄ receptors to be important targets for the treatment of chronic pain.

Microglia and macrophages express P2X₇ receptors. Activation of these receptors leads to release of inflammatory cytokines, particularly interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), which can lead to upregulation of other pro-nociceptive compounds, such as NGF and Cox-2 (North, 2002; Wirkner et al., 2007). Systemic administration of P2X₇ antagonists significantly reduces nociception in models of inflammatory and neuropathic pain, predominantly through blockade of IL-1 β release (Honore et al., 2006; McGaraughty et al., 2007; Nelson et al., 2006). While P2X₇ knockout mice have normal acute nociception, they fail to develop

chronic inflammatory or neuropathic pain states following injection of CFA or nerve injury, respectively (Chessell et al., 2005). This, again, is due to decreased release of IL-1 β and other inflammatory mediators. Since P2X₇ seems to play a key upstream role in a transduction pathway common to several pain states, it is seen as a very promising target for the treatment of chronic pain.

1.5.1.2) P2Y receptors

Unlike P2X receptors, there have been few studies examining the role of P2Y receptors in modulation of nociception. Even the specific P2Y receptors expressed in DRG is controversial, as early studies showed mRNA expression of P2Y₂ and P2Y₄ (Okada et al., 2002), but more recent studies suggest expression of $P2Y_1$ and $P2Y_2$, but not $P2Y_4$ mRNA in DRG neurons (Kobayashi et al., 2006). Non-neuronal DRG cells express P2Y₂, P2Y₁₂, and P2Y₁₄ receptors (Wirkner et al., 2007). P2Y receptors can be studied using the agonists UTP and UDP, which avoid concomitant activation of P2X receptors. UTP evokes sustained action potential firing in some C fibers, most likely through P2Y₁ and P2Y₂ activation (Okada et al., 2002; Stucky et al., 2004). Further, $P2Y_1$ and $P2Y_2$ activation is thought to sensitize TRPV1 through phosphorylation (Moriyama et al., 2003; Tominaga et al., 2001). However, activation of excitatory $P2X_3$ and N-type calcium channels is inhibited by the $P2Y_1$ agonist ADP (Gerevich et al., 2005; Gerevich et al., 2007). In addition, intrathecal administration of UTP and UDP has antinociceptive effects in both thermal and mechanical assays (Okada et al., 2002). UTP and UDP injection also produces antiallodynic effects after sciatic nerve ligation. Thus, while activation of $P2Y_1$ and $P2Y_2$ receptors may provoke neuronal firing in vitro, it appears to have an antinociceptive effect in vivo.

Recently, $P2Y_{12}$ receptors on microglia were shown to be necessary for development of neuropathic pain following nerve injury (Haynes et al., 2006). In addition, intrathecal delivery of a $P2Y_{12}$ antagonist prevents development of tactile allodynia following nerve injury (Tozaki-Saitoh et al., 2008). The pro-nociceptive effects of $P2Y_{12}$ activation most likely occurs through activation of the p38 MAPK pathway, similar to $P2X_4$ (Kobayashi et al., 2008). Based on these data, development of selective $P2Y_{12}$ antagonists could prove helpful in treatment of neuropathic pain following nerve injury.

1.5.2) Adenosine in Nociception

Adenosine regulates nociceptive neurotransmission at spinal, supraspinal, and peripheral sites (Dickenson et al., 2000; Sawynok and Liu, 2003). This regulation is important in the initiation and maintenance of inflammatory and neuropathic pain. Adenosine exerts its effects through activation of the four subtypes of P1 receptors – A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B}, and A₃ (Abbracchio et al., 2009; Burnstock, 2009). These are seven-transmembrane domain GPCRs that couple to different types of G proteins. A₁ and A₃ receptors couple to G₁ or G₀ proteins, which inhibit cAMP production and activate or enhance phospholipase C activity (Jacobson and Gao, 2006; Murthy and Makhlouf, 1995b). A_{2A} and A_{2B} receptors couple to G_s (and occasionally G_q), and their activation stimulates production of cAMP. All four classes of receptors show a widespread distribution in the nervous system and play a role in nociception. However, not all effects of adenosine are due to receptor activation at neuronal sites. Direct modulation of signaling through nociceptors and transmission neurons occurs predominantly through activation of A₁ and A_{2A} receptors, while indirect effects on

pain transmission occur through activation of A_{2A} , A_{2B} , and A_3 receptors on glia in the CNS and inflammatory cells at peripheral sites (Sawynok and Liu, 2003).

1.5.2.1) A₁ Adenosine Receptors

Delivery of adenosine analogs via supraspinal, spinal, and systemic routes leads to antinociceptive effects, due largely to activation of A_1Rs . A_1Rs are expressed on DRG and trigeminal ganglion neurons (predominantly small- and medium-diameter), as well as at postsynaptic sites in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord, in lamina II_{inner} near IB4⁺ terminals (Carruthers et al., 2001; Schulte et al., 2003). Activation of A₁Rs in vitro results in reduced Ca²⁺ entry, decreased cAMP generation, and decreased substance P and CGRP release from DRG neurons (Carruthers et al., 2001; Haas and Selbach, 2000; Santicioli et al., 1993; Sjolund et al., 1997). In addition, activation of A_1Rs in the substantia gelatinosa of the dorsal horn of the spinal cord inhibits neurotransmission through both pre- and postsynaptic mechanisms (Lao et al., 2001; Li and Perl, 1994; Patel et al., 2001). The postsynaptic mechanism is due to an increase in K^+ channel activity, leading to increased hyperpolarization and decreased action potential firing in secondary spinal cord neurons (Li and Perl, 1994; Salter et al., 1993). This mechanism leads to inhibition of substance P and excitatory amino acid-evoked activity, and is important in the inhibition of wind-up seen following application of A₁R agonists (DeLander and Wahl, 1991; Doi et al., 1987; Reeve and Dickenson, 1995). In addition, A_1R activation can augment the antinociceptive actions of morphine under some conditions, and blockade of A₁Rs can inhibit morphine antinociception at the spinal level (Contreras et al., 1990; DeLander and Hopkins, 1986; Jurna, 1984; Malec and Michalska, 1988).

Activation of A_1R also leads to antinociceptive effects in the periphery in animals. Local administration of A_1R agonists into the hindpaw of rats leads to antinociception in a pressure hyperalgesia model, the formalin model, inflammatory models, and following nerve injury (Aley et al., 1995; Aumeerally et al., 2004; Karlsten et al., 1992; Liu and Sawynok, 2000; Taiwo and Levine, 1990). Increases in peripheral adenosine due to blockade of adenosine deaminase also lead to antinociception through A_1R activation (Liu and Sawynok, 2000; Sawynok, 1998). These antinociceptive effects are due to inhibition of adenylate cyclase and subsequent decreases in intracellular cAMP (Carruthers et al., 2001; Taiwo and Levine, 1990). Importantly, the antinociceptive properties of peripheral A_1R activation can be counteracted by activation of pro-nociceptive A_{2A} , A_{2B} , and A_3 receptors (see below).

In humans, a more complex situation is present. Application of adenosine to human blister base, as well as i.v. administration of adenosine by bolus injection causes pain (Bleehen and Keele, 1977; Crea et al., 1992; Crea et al., 1990; Sylven et al., 1988; Sylven et al., 1986). Some studies suggest these effects are due to activation of A_1R and subsequent increase in C-fiber activity (Dowd et al., 1998a; Gaspardone et al., 1995; Hong et al., 1998; Kirkup et al., 1998; Pappagallo et al., 1993). These findings are at odds with those showing peripheral antinociception through A_1R , and further studies are needed to determine the role of A_1Rs in human nociception.

Centrally, spinal application of A_1R agonists is antinociceptive in models of acute, inflammatory, and neuropathic pain (for review, see Dickenson et al., 2000; Sawynok, 1998). These actions can be blocked by A_1R antagonists (Gomes et al., 1999; Lee and Yaksh, 1996; Poon and Sawynok, 1998), and are due to effects of A_1R activation on postsynaptic K^+ channel activity and inhibition of pre-synaptic glutamate and neuropeptide release

(Carruthers et al., 2001; Lao et al., 2001; Li and Perl, 1994; Patel et al., 2001; Sjolund et al., 1997). In addition to direct activation by agonists, A₁R can be activated by increased endogenous adenosine levels through use of inhibitors of adenosine metabolism, namely adenosine kinase and adenosine deaminase inhibitors. These drugs are also antinociceptive in models of inflammatory and neuropathic pain states, due to A_1R activation (Jarvis et al., 2002c; Kowaluk and Jarvis, 2000; McGaraughty et al., 2001; McGaraughty et al., 2005). Direct administration of adenosine itself has long-lasting analgesic properties when delivered centrally in neuropathic rats and humans (Belfrage et al., 1999; Lavand'homme and Eisenach, 1999). Spinal administration of adenosine produces analgesia that is specific for sensitized states, while intravenous adenosine reduces experimental, post-operative, and neuropathic pain in humans (Belfrage et al., 1999; Eisenach et al., 2002; Segerdahl et al., 1995a; Segerdahl et al., 1995b; Segerdahl et al., 1994; Segerdahl et al., 1996; Sollevi et al., 1995). All of these data suggest great potential for targeting of A_1R for treatment of chronic pain. However, studies using high doses of A_1R -selective agonists have shown side effects, including motor paralysis and autonomic dysfunction (Sawynok, 1998). The motor side effects are likely due to activity at A₁ or A₂ receptors on motor neurons and could be reduced or eliminated by usage of lower doses or modulators of endogenous adenosine metabolism (Reppert et al., 1991).

Knockout mice for $A_1 R (A_1 R^{-/-})$ further show the important role of this receptor in nociception. These mice show enhanced thermal sensitivity in the tail flick assay, but have normal responses to mechanical or cold stimuli at baseline (Johansson et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2005). They also show increased thermal hyperalgesia (both hot and cold) following inflammation (carrageenan) or nerve injury (ischemic sciatic nerve injury), but normal

mechanical allodynia (Wu et al., 2005). $A_1 R^{-/-}$ mice also have reduced antinociception in response to intrathecal R-PIA (an A₁R agonist) and morphine (Wu et al., 2005). Taken together these data confirm an important role for A₁R in the modulation of thermal nociception and morphine analgesia.

1.5.2.2) A_{2A} Adenosine Receptors

A_{2A} receptors are expressed in DRG neurons and glial cells, but are traditionally thought to be absent from the spinal cord (Cunha et al., 2006; Hasko et al., 2005; Hussey et al., 2007; Kaelin-Lang et al., 1998). However, a recent study suggests the possible expression of the receptor in spinal cord, where it may affect nociception (Bura et al., 2008). Signaling through these receptors is predominantly pro-nociceptive. Local peripheral application of A2AR agonists increases mechanical hyperalgesia and flinching in response to formalin, and application of A2AR antagonists reduces nociceptive behavior (Doak and Sawynok, 1995; Khasar et al., 1995; Taiwo and Levine, 1990). The pro-nociceptive effects following receptor activation are due to increased cAMP levels, leading to activation of PKA and modulation of Na⁺ channels (Gold et al., 1996; Khasar et al., 1995; Taiwo and Levine, 1991). The role of A_{2A}Rs centrally is unclear, as spinal application of both A_{2A}R agonists and antagonists produce antinociception (Godfrey et al., 2006; Hussey et al., 2007; Ledent et al., 1997; Regaya et al., 2004; Yoon et al., 2005). A_{2A}R knockout mice $(A_{2A}R^{-/-})$ show reduced thermal nociceptive responses in a number of tests, reduced nocifensive responses to formalin (both phases), reduced thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia following nerve injury, as well as changes in responses to opioids (Bailey et al., 2002; Berrendero et al., 2003; Bura et al., 2008; Godfrey et al., 2006; Ledent et al., 1997). These results support a

pro-nociceptive role for A_{2A}Rs. The effects following nerve injury corresponded with decreased activation of microglia and astrocytes in $A_{2A}R^{-/-}$ mice, suggesting a possible role of A_{2A}Rs on glial cells in modulation of nerve injury-induced pain (Bura et al., 2008).

(1.5.2.3) A_{2B} and A_3 Adenosine Receptors

 A_{2B} and A_3 receptors are expressed peripherally on mast cells, and their activation has pro-nociceptive effects. This is predominantly due to subsequent release of mast cell mediators, such as histamine and serotonin (Sawynok et al., 1997). Local application of A_3R agonists leads to nociceptive responses similar to those seen following formalin injection, while systemic A_3R agonists produce thermal hyperalgesia (Abo-Salem et al., 2004; Sawynok et al., 1997). Systemic application of an $A_{2B}R$ antagonist reduces thermal nociception due to peripheral receptor blockade (Abo-Salem et al., 2004). Surprisingly, $A_{2B}R$ knockout mice have not yet been tested for changes in nociception. A_3R knockouts show normal thermal and mechanical thresholds at baseline, although there is one report of reduced thermal nociception in the hot plate test (Fedorova et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2002). These mice show reduced heat hyperalgesia, plasma extravasation, and edema following injection of carrageenan, suggesting a pro-inflammatory role for A_3R (Wu et al., 2002). Further study of these receptors is needed to fully understand their activity in nociceptive signaling.

1.5.3) Sources of Endogenous Adenosine

As a result of the importance of adenosine and adenine nucleotides in the modulation of neuronal function, there are a number of mechanisms involved in the production, release, and regulation of these molecules in the nervous system. Surprisingly, there is a substantial amount of extracellular adenosine present in many systems, enough to activate high affinity adenosine receptors (A_1 and A_{2A}) at basal levels (Dunwiddie and Masino, 2001). This activation leads to the "purinergic tone" seen in these systems. This tone explains the effects of drugs that block these receptors at baseline, such as caffeine and methylxanthines. In the spinal cord, it partially explains why mice null for A_1R show a nociceptive phenotype at baseline (Johansson et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2005). Extracellular adenosine primarily arises from two general sources (Figure 1.5): 1) release of adenosine from the intracellular space via several mechanisms and 2) dephosphorylation of extracellular adenine nucleotides (ATP, ADP, and AMP).

Adenosine can be produced intracelluarly from several sources and released via multiple mechanisms. Intracellular concentrations of ATP are approximately 50 times higher than those of AMP, creating a gradient for the breakdown of ATP by ATPases to AMP, which is then acted upon by intracellular 5'-nucleotidase ((cN)-I) to produce adenosine (Latini and Pedata, 2001; Sawynok and Liu, 2003). In addition, adenosine can be made by conversion of intracellular cyclic AMP (cAMP). This cAMP is made following activation of cellular GPCRs, and is first converted to AMP by phosphodiesterase, then broken down to adenosine by (cN)-I (Brundege et al., 1997; Rosenberg and Li, 1995). Finally, adenosine can be made from S-adenosyl-homocysteine (SAH) by SAH hydrolase (Latini and Pedata, 2001). The role of this pathway in the spinal cord is not known. As stated above, this intracellular adenosine can be directly released into the intracellular environment in response to several stimuli, including elevated K⁺, veratridine (opens Na+ channels, modeling neuronal activation), substance P, glutamate, and morphine (Cahill et al., 1993; Cahill et al., 1997;

Conway et al., 1997; Sandner-Kiesling et al., 2001; Sweeney et al., 1987a; Sweeney et al., 1987b). In addition, under conditions of high intracellular adenosine, it can pass into the extracellular space through equilibrative nucleoside transporters. The properties and mechanisms of release in response to these stimuli and conditions are reviewed extensively in Sawynok and Liu (2003).

There are multiple mechanisms whereby adenine-containing nucleotides can be released into the extracellular space of the spinal cord (for review, see Yegutkin, 2008). ATP is a well-known neurotransmitter, and can be co-localized with serotonin, acetylcholine, dopamine, or norepinephrine (Dunwiddie and Masino, 2001). Upon neuronal stimulation, ATP is released and can act via its receptors (see above). In the spinal cord, ATP is released from sensory afferent terminals via spinal cord synaptosomes (Sawynok et al., 1993; Sawynok and Liu, 2003). It is also co-released with γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) from spinal cord interneurons, and from glial cells following activation of ionotropic glutamate receptors (Jo and Schlichter, 1999; Queiroz et al., 1997). Once in the extracellular space, ATP is quickly dephosphorylated to terminate its action at P2X and P2Y receptors. This process can involve several enzymes, including ecto-nucleoside triphosphate diphosphorylases (E-NTPDases), ecto-nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterases (E-NPPs), Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (NT5E), and alkaline phosphatases (ALP) (Yegutkin, 2008; Zimmermann, 2006). The final product of this process is adenosine, which can act on adenosine receptors, be converted extracellularly to inosine, or be taken back up into cells via equilibrative nucleoside transporters. Once inside the cell, adenosine is phosphorylated to AMP by adenosine kinase (AK) or deaminated to inosine by adenosine deaminase (AD). Blockade of AK or AD increases basal and evoked adenosine release in vivo and in vitro,

and leads to antinociceptive effects through activation of A_1R (Latini and Pedata, 2001). The extracellular production of adenosine by this nucleotide degradation pathway is extremely pertinent to my work and is discussed in greater detail below.

1.5.4) Ectonucleotidases in Nociception

As discussed above, the extracellular production of adenosine relies on the activity of several different enzymes that can degrade adenine-containing nucleotides in a step-wise manner. These enzymes thus play important roles in the regulation of both P1 (through production of adenosine) and P2 (through degradation of ATP and ADP) receptor activation. Since their activity can decrease activation of pro-nociceptive receptors (P2X) and increase activation of antinociceptive receptors (A₁R), these enzymes may play an important role in the modulation of nociceptive circuits. Surprisingly, the molecular identity and function of specific ectonucleotidases in the spinal cord and DRG was not significantly studied prior to this dissertation work. The identification and characterization of these ectonucleotidases could provide novel therapeutic targets for the treatment of acute, inflammatory, or neuropathic pain. The ectonucleotidases that metabolize nucleotides in other regions of the nervous system are highlighted below, and are further reviewed by Zimmermann (2006), as well as Yegutkin (2008).

1.5.4.1) Ecto-nucleoside triphosphate diphosphorylases (E-NTDPases)

Eight different E-NTPDase genes have been identified in mammals (NTPDase1-8), four of which are expressed on the cell surface – NTPDase1, 2, 3, and 8 (Zimmermann, 2006). NTPDase5 and 6 are secreted, while NTPDase4 and 7 are intracellular and face the lumen of cytoplasmic organelles (Yegutkin, 2008). The cell-surface family members (1, 2, 3, and 8) are highly glycosylated and contain two predicted transmembrane domains at the Nand C-termini. They also contain five highly-conserved sequence domains, known as "apyrase conserved regions" (ACR) (Robson et al., 2006; Smith and Kirley, 1999). They may exist on the cell surface as monomers or homooligomers (dimeric, trimeric, or tetrameric) (Stout and Kirley, 1996).

The NTPDases can hydrolyze a variety of nucleoside di- and triphosphates, but preferences and rates of reaction differ between the enzymes. These properties are of considerable significance for the regulation of nucleotide signaling. All four surfaceexpressed NTPDases can degrade ATP and UTP, but have varying degrees of activity towards nucleoside diphosphates (Zimmermann, 2006). Indeed, the ATP: ADP hydrolysis ratios for NTPDase1, 2, 3, and 8 vary widely: ~1.3; ~20-30; ~4; ~1.6, respectively (Kukulski et al., 2005; Zimmermann, 2001b). However, recent studies suggest that the estimated ATPase activity of these enzymes is overestimated by traditional methods, and more reliable tests show much higher ADPase activity (Marcus et al., 1997; Yegutkin et al., 2001). Regardless, NTPDase2 and 3 show much higher preference for triphosphates than diphosphates. The differences in catalytic properties are better understood by examining product formation, as well as substrate degradation. NTPDase1 directly converts ATP to AMP without significant ADP production, bypassing potential nucleoside diphosphate receptor (P2Y) activation (Zimmermann, 2006). However, UTP hydrolysis by NTPDase1 does lead to significant UDP production (Kukulski et al., 2005). Unlike NTPDase1, NTPDase2 makes ADP from ATP, which is then slowly converted to AMP, allowing for more extensive diphosphate receptor activity. NTPDase3 and 8 have intermediate patterns of

product formation (Kukulski et al., 2005; Zimmermann, 2001b). These catalytic preferences and activities are important in the degradation of P2X and production of P2Y receptor substrates.

All four surface-located E-NTPDases show overlapping tissue distribution, but none are expressed in the same cells (Bigonnesse et al., 2004; Zimmermann, 2001a). In the nervous system, NTPDase1 is expressed at the surface of endothelial and smooth muscle cells and microglia (Braun and Zimmermann, 2001). NTPDase2 is in neural progenitors of the brain, immature and non-myelinating Schwann cells, and satellite glia in DRG and sympathetic ganglia (Braun et al., 2003; Braun et al., 2004; Shukla et al., 2005). NTPDase3 is in the brain, but specific cellular localization is unknown, while expression of NTPDase8 is either low or absent in the brain (Bigonnesse et al., 2004; Lavoie et al., 2004; Smith and Kirley, 1999; Vorhoff et al., 2005). A recent attempt to localize these enzymes by in situ hybridization in the DRG and spinal cord in our lab has revealed that NTPDase3 is highly expressed in DRG neurons of all sizes, as well as in motor neurons of the ventral horn of the spinal cord. There is weak expression in laminae I and II of the dorsal horn. Expression of NTPDase1, 2, or 8 in these regions is either low or absent. Further studies are needed to determine the importance of these enzymes in nociception.

1.5.4.2) Ecto-nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterases (E-NPPs)

There are seven related mammalian E-NPPs (NPP1-7), but only three – NPP1, NPP2, and NPP3 – can degrade various nucleotides (Yegutkin, 2008). NPP1 and NPP3 are type II transmembrane glycoproteins, while NPP2 is produced as a pre-pro-enzyme and is secreted (Robson et al., 2006; Yegutkin, 2008). Physiological substrates of these enzymes include NAD, nucleotide sugars, ATP, and dinucleoside polyphosphates (Bollen et al., 2000; Goding et al., 2003; Vollmayer et al., 2003; Zimmermann, 2000). Hydrolytic activity of these enzymes reaches optimum at very alkaline pH, similar to that of alkaline phosphatase. All three enzymes can degrade both nucleoside tri- and diphosphates. Hydrolysis of ATP proceeds directly to AMP, bypassing production of ADP and nucleoside diphosphate receptor activation (Zimmermann, 2006). In addition, all three enzymes also degrade diadenosine polyphosphates (Ap₃A, Ap₄A, and Ap₅A) at comparable rates and are the most important enzymes in metabolism of extracellular diadenosine polyphosphates (Vollmayer et al., 2003). Hydrolysis of these substrates is asymmetric, producing AMP and Ap_{n-1}, meaning this activity could also produce adenosine tetraphosphate, ATP, or ADP, and cause subsequent P2 receptor activation (Rotllan et al., 2002). Thus, similar to E-NTPDases, E-NPPs can either hydrolyze or produce ligands for nucleotide receptors, potentially modulating nociceptive signaling. In the nervous system, NPP1 is found in capillaries of the brain, NPP2 is in choroid plexus, and NPP3 is associated with a specific subset of brain glial precursors (Goding et al., 2003; Zimmermann, 2006). Expression in DRG or spinal cord has not been studied, and their physiological relevance in nociceptive signaling is unknown.

1.5.4.3) Alkaline Phosphatases (APs)

Of the four known alkaline phosphatases (intestinal AP, placental AP, germ cell AP, and tissue non-specific AP (TNAP)), only TNAP is thought to be expressed in neuronal tissues (Zimmermann, 2006). APs are glycosylphosphatidyl inositol (GPI)-anchored proteins and act as non-specific phosphomonoesterases. They can act on numerous phosphorylated compounds, including adenine nucleotides, pyrophosphate, phosphatidates with various fatty acid chains, inorganic polyphosphates, β -glycerophosphate, and glucose-phosphates (Fonta et al., 2005; Narisawa et al., 1994; Yegutkin, 2008). As the name would suggest, activity of the enzymes is greatest at alkaline pH (8 – 11). Since TNAP can perform the entire stepwise hydrolysis of nucleoside triphosphates to nucleoside (i.e., ATP \rightarrow ADP \rightarrow AMP \rightarrow Adenosine), it could have a profound role on the regulation of both P1 and P2 receptors. TNAP is expressed in the neural tube and in various brain regions during late-stage embryonic development, and in neuropil of various regions in adult mice (Fonta et al., 2005; Narisawa et al., 1994). Recent studies in our lab suggest TNAP is expressed in all regions of the gray matter of the spinal cord. However, the role of TNAP in nervous system function has not been studied in detail.

1.5.4.4) Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (NT5E)

In humans, there are seven known 5'-nucleotidases, but only one version (NT5E, also known as CD73) is expressed on the cell surface as a GPI-anchored enzyme (Yegutkin, 2008). This enzyme is made of two 60-70 kDa glycoprotein subunits tethered together by non-covalent bonds, which are necessary for enzyme activity (Martinez-Martinez et al., 2000). The enzyme binds to divalent metal cations which can have stimulatory (Zn^{2+} or Mg^{2+}) or inhibitory (Pb^{2+} and Hg^{2+}) effects on activity (Fini et al., 1990; Ong et al., 1990). NT5E selectively hydrolyzes nucleoside 5'-monophosphates, and has little or no activity towards nucleoside 2'- or 3'-monophosphates (Hunsucker et al., 2005; Zimmermann, 1992). The enzyme has a K_m towards AMP and IMP in the low micromolar range ($1 - 50 \mu$ M), and V_{max}/K_m ratios show 5'-AMP to be the best substrate for the enzyme (Zimmermann, 1992). NT5E can be inhibited competitively by ATP, ADP, and adenosine 5'-[α , β -

methylene]diphosphate and non-competitively by concanavalin A (Zimmermann, 1992). In addition, some reports suggest that methylxanthines like theophylline and caffeine also inhibit NT5E (Fredholm et al., 1978; Heyliger et al., 1981). The pH optimum for enzyme activity is in the range of 7 - 8.

While some studies suggest a role of NT5E in intracellular signaling and mediation of cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesions (Airas et al., 1997; Resta et al., 1998), the major physiological role of the enzyme is the regulation of purinergic signaling. Indeed, NT5E is likely to be the most important, rate-limiting step in the conversion of extracellular ATP to adenosine in many systems (Dunwiddie et al., 1997). This activity leads to decreased stimulation of P2 receptors and increased stimulation of P1 receptors. Through this function, NT5E is important in a number of physiological functions, including epithelial ion and fluid transport, maintenance of tissue barriers (i.e., intestinal or vascular permeability), ischemic preconditioning in the heart and kidneys, adaptation to hypoxia, and anti-inflammatory effects on neutrophils (for review, see Colgan et al., 2006). Indeed, studies using mice null for NT5E (*Nt5e^{-/-}*) have confirmed roles for the enzyme in the mediation of tubuloglomerular feedback and renal function (Castrop et al., 2004; Huang et al., 2006a), cardioprotection during myocardial ischemia (Eckle et al., 2007c), immunomodulatory and thromboregulatory responses (Koszalka et al., 2004; Thompson et al., 2004a; Zernecke et al., 2006), pulmonary integrity and lung function (Eckle et al., 2007a; Volmer et al., 2006), and maintenance of vascular barrier function during hypoxia (Thompson et al., 2004a). Surprisingly, while purinergic signaling is extremely important for nervous system function, NT5E has not been studied in this context.

NT5E is thought to be expressed in a number of different tissues, including liver, heart, blood vessels, lung, colon, kidney, brain, and spinal cord (Moriwaki et al., 1999; Yegutkin, 2008; Zimmermann, 1992; Zimmermann, 1996). Expression has been largely based on biochemical or histochemical assays, as antibodies against the protein have either been inadequate for tissue localization or shown conflicting results. For example, in the brain, enzyme histochemistry suggests broad NT5E expression in many locations in developing synapses, sprouting nerve fibers, and microglia, while immunocytochemical studies suggest expression only in glia, choroid plexus, and vascular epithelium (Zimmermann, 1996). A recent study using enzyme histochemical assays in $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice confirmed broad expression of the enzyme in the brain, including the hippocampus, the cingulate cortex, the caudoputamen, the olfactory bulb and cortex, and the cerebellum (Langer et al., 2008). Despite this, a functional role for NT5E in any of these brain regions has not been shown.

A few studies suggested NT5E may be expressed and functional in the spinal cord and DRG. Early enzyme histochemical studies showed strong NT5E-like activity in the substantia gelatinosa along the total length of the spinal cord in mice and rats, predominantly in laminae II and III (Suran, 1974). In DRG, these studies showed NT5E-like activity in most neurons, although staining in large-diameter neurons was different in quality from staining in small-diameter neurons (Nagy and Daddona, 1985). In addition, more recent studies examined a possible role for NT5E activity in the modulation of nociception. Two studies suggested that NT5E-like activity was decreased in spinal cord synaptosomes following repeated stress, and this change led to hyperalgesia to thermal stimuli (Fontella et al., 2005; Torres et al., 2002). One study showed hypothyroidism-induced reduction in

thermal nociception corresponds with decreased NT5E-like activity in the spinal cord (Bruno et al., 2005). An additional study used a push-pull microprobe to study NT5E-like activity in the spinal cord in vivo, and showed that adenosine production was likely to be partially due to NT5E activity, based on the use of a selective inhibitor of the enzyme (Patterson et al., 2001). This NT5E-like activity reversed capsaicin-induced nociception (Patterson et al., 2001). While these anatomical and functional studies suggest NT5E is present and active in nociceptive circuits, a major caveat overshadows this work. All of these studies used degradation of the substrate 5'AMP (or another 5'-monophosphate) to measure the presence or activity of NT5E. While NT5E can certainly perform this reaction, it is not the only enzyme capable of doing so. Indeed, AP (see above) and FRAP (see below) can both dephosphorylate 5'AMP to adenosine and are thought to be expressed in DRG and spinal cord. Thus, it cannot be excluded that the observed AMPase activity in any of these studies was due to another surface enzyme besides NT5E. Further studies using *Nt5e^{-/-}* mice or more specific NT5E inhibitors may help clarify the enzyme's role in nociception.

1.5.4.5) Fluoride resistant acid phosphatase (FRAP)

Fifty years ago, Colmant recognized that small- and medium-diameter sensory neurons could be labeled using a technique that examined the degradation of a phosphorylated substrate by an acid phosphatase (1959). This acid phosphatase was subsequently shown to be relatively resistant to inhibition by fluoride (unlike a known lysosome-located acid phosphatase), and was named "fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase" or FRAP. FRAP was localized specifically to C- and some Aδ-fiber nociceptors in the DRG, and to axonal terminals in lamina II of the dorsal spinal cord (Csillik and Knyihar-Csillik,

1986). Later studies revealed that FRAP could also degrade a number of substrates, including many 5'-nucleoside monophosphates (UMP, GMP, IMP, AMP, and TMP) (Dodd et al., 1983; Dodd and Jessell, 1982; Silverman and Kruger, 1988a). In fact, the ability to specifically degrade 5' thiamine monophosphate (TMP) led the enzyme to also be called "TMPase" (Knyihar-Csillik et al., 1986).

FRAP was used by many labs as a marker of nociceptive neurons. FRAP staining is seen specifically in the cell bodies of small- to medium-diameter DRG neurons, in central synaptic terminals of the substantia gelatinosa of the spinal cord at all levels, as well as in Lissauer's tract in the spinal cord, in the trigeminal ganglion in the brainstem, and in peripheral somatic and autonomic nerves (Coimbra et al., 1974; Csillik and Knyihar-Csillik, 1986; Dalsgaard et al., 1984). Examination of colocalization with neuropeptides and other markers showed FRAP was a selective marker for nonpeptidergic nociceptors in several mammalian species, including mice, rats, rabbits, dogs, cats, cows, monkeys, and humans (Dodd et al., 1983; Nagy and Hunt, 1982; Ribeiro-Da-Silva et al., 1986; Silverman and Kruger, 1988a). While FRAP activity is most intense at acidic pH (~5), it is also active at neutral pH (~7) (Silverman and Kruger, 1988a). Importantly, FRAP activity is membrane-localized in the plasma membrane, golgi, and endoplasmic reticulum in DRG and axon terminals of the substantia gelatinosa, but not in lysosomes where lysosomal acid phosphatase is found (Csillik and Knyihar-Csillik, 1986; Knyihar-Csillik et al., 1986).

Interestingly, changes in FRAP activity are seen following anatomical or chemical changes in sensory circuits. After complete dorsal rhizotomy, a decrease in FRAP activity was seen in the dorsal spinal cord ipsilateral to the surgery, while activity in the contralateral cord was unchanged (Coimbra et al., 1974; Csillik and Knyihar-Csillik, 1986; Knyihar et al.,

1974). In fact, FRAP activity was completely eliminated at the spinal cord level corresponding to the injury site. Similarly, partial nerve injury or nerve crush led to decreased dorsal horn staining at sites corresponding to injury (Colmant, 1959; Csillik and Knyihar, 1978; Shields et al., 2003; Tenser, 1985; Tenser et al., 1991; Vadakkan et al., 2005). These studies suggest that the staining in the spinal cord is in terminals of dorsal root origin, and the loss of staining is due to the death of axon terminals in the spinal cord following nerve injury. Studies have used this disappearance of FRAP following injury as a technique to map projections of peripheral nerves to the spinal cord (Rustioni et al., 1972; Rustioni et al., 1971). Following ligature of the dorsal root, FRAP accumulation was seen at the ligature site closest to the DRG, suggesting the enzyme is made in the neuronal cell body and transported to spinal cord terminals (Csillik and Knyihar-Csillik, 1986). This is supported by studies showing decreased FRAP staining following interruption of axonal transport (Csillik and Knyihar-Csillik, 1982; Fitzgerald et al., 1984). Together, these studies suggest FRAP is made in a subset of DRG neurons and transported to the axons of these neurons.

Because it was found in nociceptive circuits, FRAP was intensively studied for a potential role in pain transmission. As mentioned above, nerve injury due to transection, ligation, or crush led to loss of FRAP activity. This loss of activity corresponded with the onset of neuropathic pain symptoms seen following nerve injury, suggesting decreased FRAP activity may contribute to the allodynia and hyperalgesia associated with neuropathic pain. In addition, neonatal administration of capsaicin led to a subsequent reduction in FRAP activity, suggesting a possible involvement in nociceptive neurotransmission (Fitzgerald, 1983; Nagy et al., 1981). Conversely, injection of the TRPA1-activating substance formalin increased FRAP activity ipsilateral to the injection (Kantner and Kirby, 1982). In addition,

FRAP activity was increased in spinal cords of rats in a model of adjuvant arthritis (Schoenen et al., 1985), as well as in a model of heat-induced cutaneous inflammation (Glykys et al., 2003), further suggesting a role for FRAP in modulation of inflammatory pain. These data, along with its localization led some to suggest a possible role for FRAP in metabolism of neurotransmitters involved in nociceptive signaling. In fact, its ability to act on specific nucleotides led some to suggest that FRAP might play a role in nucleotide or purinergic neurotransmission (Fyffe and Perl, 1984; Silverman and Kruger, 1988a; Stone, 1981). However, no studies examined the possibility of FRAP acting as an ectonucleotidase in nociceptive circuits.

Despite its promise as a potential player in nociception, research on FRAP waned in the 1990's for two primary reasons. First, the discovery of the ability of isolectin IB4 from *Griffonia simplicifolia* to also bind nonpeptidergic DRG neurons and colocalize extensively with FRAP provided a much simpler and more powerful method for identifying this subset of nociceptors (Silverman and Kruger, 1988b; Silverman and Kruger, 1990). Second, the gene for FRAP was never identified, making it impossible to perform immunohistochemical, molecular, and genetic studies that might further elucidate its role in nociception.

An attempt to identify the phosphatase responsible for FRAP activity was made by Dodd et al. who partially purified FRAP protein from rat DRG using column chromatography (1983). By binding the compound L-tartrate (a known inhibitor of FRAP) to a column, they were able to acquire a purified version of the functional enzyme. The electrophoretic mobility of the enzyme was identical to that of human prostatic acid phosphatase, (PAP) which also has similar substrate specificity to FRAP. They then made monoclonal antibodies against the purified FRAP protein, and tested these, as well as

antibodies against PAP in rat DRG and spinal cord. Unfortunately, none of the antibodies, including those directed against PAP, stained small-diameter DRG neurons or lamina II of the spinal cord where FRAP activity is located. This discrepancy prevented the authors from determining if PAP was indeed the enzyme responsible for FRAP activity. In addition, studies using neurotoxin treatment to target sensory neurons suggested that FRAP was of low molecular weight, resistant to tartrate, sensitive to fluoride inhibition, and associated with enzymes, all of which are inconsistent with PAP's characteristics (McDougal et al., 1985; McDougal et al., 1983). These findings cast further doubt on the possible relationship between FRAP and PAP. Despite these negative findings, recent work in our lab indicates that PAP is the phosphatase responsible for FRAP activity in the DRG and spinal cord (see Chapter 2).

PAP is a member of the histidine acid phosphatase family of proteins, which contain a highly conserved RHGXRXP motif within their active sites (Van Etten, 1982). Mutation of the active site histidine residue (His12) to an alanine eliminates the phosphatase activity of the enzyme (Ostanin *et al.*, 1994). PAP is either expressed as a transmembrane (TM) protein with the active site on the extracellular side of the membrane, or as a secreted protein (Quintero et al., 2007). Both forms are homodimers with subunits related by a twofold axis (Schneider et al., 1993). The secreted form of the protein (S-PAP) is found mainly in the prostate and can be used as a marker for the detection of metastatic prostate cancer (Ostanin et al., 1994; Roiko *et al.*, 1990). The TM version of the protein has only been recently identified and is widely expressed in mouse tissues, including prostate, salivary gland, thymus, lung, kidney, brain, spleen, thyroid, and Schwann cells (Quintero et al., 2007).

When expressed heterologously, TM-PAP is localized to plasma membrane and intracellular vesicles.

As a result of its role in prostate cancer, the protein has been highly characterized. As its name suggests, PAP is optimally active at acidic pH, but functions over a broad pH range (-3 - 8) (Lam *et al.*, 1973; Van Etten, 1982). It is inhibited by L-tartrate, as well as a number of benzylaminophosphonic acids (Beers et al., 1996; Van Etten, 1982). However, there are currently no known activators of the protein. PAP is a nonspecific phosphomonoesterase and can dephosphorylate a number of different substrates, including phosphoryl-o-tyrosine, phosphoryl-o-serine, β -glycerophosphate, para-nitrophenyl phosphate (p-NPP), lysophosphatidic acid, and many nucleotides, especially nucleotide monophosphates (i.e., TMP, AMP, GMP, CMP, UMP, XMP, and IMP) (Dziembor-Gryszkiewicz et al., 1978; Ostrowski and Kuciel, 1994; Silverman and Kruger, 1988a; Tanaka et al., 2004). The enzyme's K_m for AMP at pH 7 is in the low millimolar range. PAP has little to no activity on nucleoside di- or triphosphates at physiologic pH (Lam et al., 1973). The physiological roles of TM-PAP or S-PAP are unknown, although some studies suggest PAP may be involved in cell growth and division and that down-regulation of PAP may be involved in prostate cancer progression (Lin et al., 1994; Lin et al., 2001; Meng et al., 2000; Quintero et al., 2007).

1.6) Rationale for Dissertation Research

Adenosine and adenine-containing nucleotides clearly play important roles in the modulation of pain signaling. Despite this, knowledge of the enzymes responsible for the production and breakdown of these compounds in nociceptive circuits is minimal. Indeed,

despite hints from enzyme histochemistry, the molecular identity of any ectonucleotidases present in the DRG and spinal cord is unknown. This is surprising, given the importance these enzymes could have in decreasing signaling through P2X and P2Y receptors and in increasing signaling through P1 receptors. Knowledge of the identity of these proteins would allow for further manipulation and possible targeting for the development of novel therapeutic approaches for the treatment of acute or chronic pain.

The stepwise extracellular breakdown of ATP to adenosine can involve several possible enzymes and routes. Despite this, the clear rate-limiting step in this process is the breakdown of AMP into adenosine (Dunwiddie et al., 1997). Enhancing this reaction both increases the production of the anti-nociceptive compound adenosine and reduces the levels of the pro-nociceptive compound ATP. Thus, the enzymes responsible for this reaction in the spinal cord are of particular interest. It was the broad goal of this research project to molecularly identify and characterize the AMPases present in nociceptive circuits. Since some studies have already suggested potential expression and function of NT5E and FRAP/PAP in these regions, I will focus my studies on these enzymes. The experiments below are designed to address the following:

- Is PAP the molecular identity of FRAP?
- Are PAP and NT5E expressed in DRG neurons and spinal cord at the protein level?
- If PAP and NT5E are expressed in DRG, are they specific for particular classes of nociceptive neurons?
- Do PAP and NT5E act as ectonucleotidases in nociceptive circuits?
- Does PAP or NT5E activity lead to activation of adenosine receptors in nociceptive circuits?
- Does manipulation of endogenous PAP or NT5E affect nociception?

- Can soluble forms of PAP or NT5E be used to treat hyperalgesia or allodynia?

By addressing these questions, I intend to further the understanding of purinergic signaling in nociceptive circuits and to establish ectonucleotidases as viable targets for novel therapeutic approaches for the treatment of pain that are so desperately needed.

1.7) Figures and Tables

Afferent Nerves

	Αβ Τ	hermal threshold
	Large Diameter Myelinated Proprioception Light Touch	None
	Αδ	
	Medium Diameter	Type I = 53 ℃
	Nociception (Mechanical, Thermal, Chemical)	Type II = 43 °C
	С	
	Small Diameter Unmyelinated Nociception (Mechanical, Thermal, Chemical) Itch	43°C

Figure 1.1. Primary afferent nerve types. Peripheral nerves have different properties and

functions in detection of external stimuli. (Figure modified from Julius and Basbaum, 2001).

(Back to text)



Figure 1.2. Nociceptive neurons and connections. Peptidergic neurons (red) express CGRP, substance P (Sub P), and Somatostatin (Somat) and project to laminae I and II_{outer} in the dorsal spinal cord. Nonpeptidergic neurons (green) stain for IB4 and FRAP activity, express *MrgprD* and P2X₃, and project to lamina II. Lamina $II_{m(iddle)}$ has been proposed as a subsection of lamina II_{inner} , where the majority of nonpeptidergic neurons appear to terminate (Zylka, 2005). (Figure modified from Zylka, 2005). (<u>Back to text</u>)



Figure 1.3. Desensitization of TRPV1 due to depletion of PIP₂. Activation of TRPV1 by Capsaicin (Cap) or heat causes influx of Ca^{2+} that activates phospholipase C (PLC). PLC degrades PIP₂ in the membrane into IP₃ and DAG, removing PIP₂ from its binding site on TRPV1. Loss of PIP₂ binding leads to inhibition of TRPV1 activity. This model does not take into account desensitization through calmodulin or calcineurin (see text). (Figure modified from Rohacs et al., 2008). (Back to text)


Figure 1.4. Model of PIP₂ regulation of TRPV1. PIP₂ has inhibitory and activating effects on TRPV1 activity depending on stimulus intensity. Rohacs et al. propose this model to explain these effects. (A) At low stimulus intensity, PIP₂ indirectly inhibits TRPV1 (red curve) but directly activates the channel (black curve). The sum of these two effects is the bell-shaped dose-response to PIP₂ levels (blue dashed line). If the resting PIP₂ levels in a cell are at the point of the vertical dashed line, a moderate decline in PIP₂ will lead to activation of the channel, while a more severe decline will lead to inhibition. An increase in PIP₂ will

lead to inhibition of the channel. (B) At high stimulus intensity, a depletion of any amount of PIP_2 will lead to inhibition of the channel, while increases may or may not affect channel activity. Regulation of the channel by PIP_2 is more complex than this model, but it provides a possible explanation for the observed co-existence of inhibitory and stimulatory effects of PIP_2 on TRPV1 activity. (Figure modified from Rohacs et al., 2008). (Back to text).



Figure 1.5. Intracellular and extracellular metabolism of adenosine. Inside the cell, adenosine (ADO) is made from ATP, cAMP, or SAH, while outside the cell it comes from release through equilibrative nucleoside transporters or catabolism of ATP. See text for details. PDE = Phosphodiesterase. (Figure modified from Sawynok and Liu, 2003). (Back to text)

<u>Molecule</u>	<u>Origin</u>	Receptor(s)	Nociceptive Actions	<u>References</u>
Adenosine triphosphate (ATP)	Released from synaptic vesicles and damaged cells	P2X ₃ P2X ₄ P2X ₇ P2Y _{1,2}	 -Direct application evokes pain and excites C fibers -ATP-induced pain increased in response to PGE₁ and carrageenan -Important in development of neuropathic pain – activates spinal microglia 	(Cook and McCleskey, 2002; Coutts et al., 1981; Hilliges et al., 2002; Ralevic and Burnstock, 1998; Sawynok et al., 2000; Stucky et al., 2004; Tsuda et al., 2003)
Bradykinin (BK)	Kininogen precursor proteins from activation of plasma or tissue kallikrein enzymes	B ₂	 -Acts directly to induce nociceptor firing through PKC activation -Sensitizes TRPV1 to induce thermal hyperalgesia -Stimulates production of pro- nociceptive molecules, including 12- HPETE and leukotriene B₄ 	(Calixto et al., 2004; Cesare et al., 1999a; McMahon et al., 2006; Premkumar and Ahern, 2000; Shin et al., 2002)
Histamine	Released from mast cells in response to substance P	H ₁₋₄	-Excites polymodal visceral nociceptors -Potentiates nociceptor responses to BK and heat	(Koda et al., 1996; McMahon et al., 2006; Mizumura et al., 1995)
Nerve growth factor (NGF)	Increased synthesis and release from cells in inflamed tissues induced by growth factors and cytokines	TrkA TrkB TrkC	 -Induces inflammatory pain responses -Sensitizes nociceptors and induces spontaneous firing activity -Sensitizes TRPV1 and TTX-resistant Na⁺ channels -Induces release of histamine and serotonin from mast cells -Induces expression of cytokines in mast cells 	(Bullock and Johnson, 1996; Chuang et al., 2001; Horigome et al., 1994; Kerr et al., 2001; McMahon, 1996; McMahon et al., 2006; Meyer et al., 2006)

 Table 1.1. Prominent modulators of nociception

Nitric oxide (NO)	From activation of spinal nNOS		 -Important in the initiation and maintenance of inflammatory hyperalgesia -Production of cGMP from NO- sensitive guanylyl cyclase (NO-GC) and subsequent activation of pro- nociceptive cGMP-dependent protein kinase I (cGKI) -Activation of Cox enzymes and production of PGE₂ and PGI₂ 	(Handy and Moore, 1998; McMahon et al., 2006; Schmidtko et al., 2009; Toriyabe et al., 2004)
Prostaglandins (PGE ₂ , PGI ₂)	Breakdown of arachidonic acid by Cox enzymes to PGH ₂ , then further synthesis to PGE ₂ or PGI ₂	EP _{1, 3, 4} IP	 -Sensitization of afferent neurons to noxious chemical, thermal, and mechanical stimuli -Reduces threshold for activation of TTX-resistant Na⁺ channels -Increases intracellular cAMP -Increases neuronal excitability 	(Birrell et al., 1991; England et al., 1996; Gold et al., 1996; Meyer et al., 2006; Mizumura et al., 1987)
Protease- activated receptor 2 (PAR2)	Activated by tryptase following tissue damage and inflammation	PAR2	 Produces prolonged thermal and mechanical hyperalgesia Enhances TRPV1 activity through PKC and PKA 	(Amadesi et al., 2004; Dai et al., 2004b; Kawabata et al., 2002; Kawabata et al., 2001; Meyer et al., 2006)
Protons (H ⁺)	Produced in response to tissue inflammation, hypoxia, and anoxia		 -Causes prolonged activation of sensory nerves and produce sharp, stinging pain -Activates and sensitizes TRPV1 -Activation of pro-nociceptive acid sensing ion channels (ASICs) -Inhibits K⁺ channels 	(Baumann et al., 2004; Jones et al., 2004; Lindahl, 1962; Steen and Reeh, 1993; Sutherland et al., 2001; Tominaga et al., 1998)
Serotonin (5- HT)	Released from platelets and mast cells in inflamed tissue	5-HT _{1B} 5-HT _{1D} 5-HT _{2A} 5-HT _{2B} 5-HT _{3B} 5-HT ₄	 -Produces thermal hyperalgesia following inflammation -Reduces resting K⁺ conductance -Increases TTX-resistant Na⁺ channel activation 	(Abbott et al., 1996; Cardenas et al., 1997; Nicholson et al., 2003; Todorovic and Anderson, 1990; Tokunaga et al., 1998)

(Back to text)

CHAPTER 2

Prostatic Acid Phosphatase Suppresses Pain by Generating Adenosine

ABSTRACT: Thiamine monophosphatase (TMPase, also known as fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase) is a classic histochemical marker of small-diameter dorsal root ganglia neurons. The molecular identity of TMPase is currently unknown. We found that TMPase is identical to the transmembrane isoform of prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP), an enzyme with unknown molecular and physiological functions. We then found that *PAP* knockout mice have normal acute pain sensitivity but enhanced sensitivity in chronic inflammatory and neuropathic pain models. In gain-of-function studies, intraspinal injection of PAP protein has potent antinociceptive, antihyperalgesic, and antiallodynic effects that last longer than the opioid analgesic morphine. PAP suppresses pain by functioning as an ecto-5'-nucleotidase. Specifically, PAP dephosphorylates extracellular adenosine monophosphate (AMP) to adenosine and activates A₁-adenosine receptors in dorsal spinal cord. Our studies reveal molecular and physiological functions for PAP in purine nucleotide metabolism and nociception and suggest a novel use for PAP in the treatment of chronic pain.

This work was previously published: Zylka, M.J*., Sowa, N.A*., et al. (2008). *Neuron* 60; 111-122.

*Authors contributed equally

2.1) Introduction

Painful and tissue-damaging stimuli are sensed by small-diameter nociceptive neurons located in the dorsal root ganglia (DRG) and trigeminal ganglia (Woolf and Ma, 2007) For nearly 50 years, it was known that many small-diameter DRG neurons expressed a histochemically identifiable acid phosphatase (Colmant, 1959), commonly referred to as fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase (FRAP) or thiamine monophosphatase (TMPase) (Dodd et al., 1983; Knyihar-Csillik et al., 1986). TMPase dephosphorylates diverse substrates, including the vitamin B₁ derivative thiamine monophosphate (TMP) and 5'-nucleotide monophosphates (Dodd et al., 1983; Sanyal and Rustioni, 1974; Silverman and Kruger, 1988a).

TMPase was intensively studied in the 1980s in an effort to determine its molecular identity and function. TMPase marks most nonpeptidergic DRG neurons, a subset of peptidergic DRG neurons, and unmyelinated axon terminals in lamina II of the dorsal spinal cord (Carr et al., 1990; Dalsgaard et al., 1984; Dodd et al., 1983; Hunt and Rossi, 1985; Knyihar-Csillik et al., 1986; Nagy and Hunt, 1982; Silverman and Kruger, 1988a). Since peptidergic and nonpeptidergic neurons are generally considered to be nociceptive (Woolf and Ma, 2007), these anatomical studies suggested that TMPase might function in nociception. Moreover, TMPase staining in lamina II of spinal cord is reduced or eliminated when peripheral nerves are damaged (Colmant, 1959; Shields et al., 2003; Tenser, 1985; Tenser et al., 1991). Ultimately, studies of TMPase waned when it was found that isolectin B4 (IB4) colocalized with TMPase and was an easier-to-use marker of nonpeptidergic neurons (Silverman and Kruger, 1988b). More importantly, the gene encoding TMPase was

never identified, making it impossible to study the molecular and physiological function of TMPase in sensory neurons.

In an attempt to identify the TMPase gene, Dodd and coworkers partially purified TMPase protein from rat DRG using chromatography (Dodd et al., 1983). The partially purified rat protein was inhibited by the nonselective acid phosphatase inhibitor L(+)-tartrate and was similar in molecular weight to the secretory isoform of human prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP, also known as ACPP), the only known isoform of PAP at the time (Ostrowski and Kuciel, 1994). These biochemical experiments hinted that TMPase might be secretory PAP (Dodd et al., 1983). However, subsequent studies using anti-PAP antibodies failed to immunostain small-diameter DRG neurons and their axon terminals in lamina II (i.e., the neurons and axons that contain TMPase) (Dodd et al., 1983; Silverman and Kruger, 1988a). As summarized by Silverman and Kruger in 1988, these data made it impossible to determine whether TMPase was PAP or some other enzyme.

In light of this unsolved question regarding the molecular nature of TMPase and the historical use of TMPase as a nociceptive neuron marker, we sought to definitively identify the TMPase gene and ascertain its function in nociception. Our experiments revealed that TMPase was a recently discovered transmembrane (TM) isoform of PAP (TM-PAP) (Quintero et al., 2007) and was not the secretory isoform of PAP. This molecular identification then allowed us to use modern molecular and genetic approaches to rigorously study the function of PAP/TMPase in nociceptive circuits. Using our *PAP* knockout mice, we found that deletion of PAP increased thermal hyperalgesia (increased pain sensitivity) and mechanical allodynia in animal models of chronic pain. Conversely, a single intraspinal injection of PAP protein had antinociceptive, antihyperalgesic, and antiallodynic effects that

lasted for up to 3 days, much longer than a single injection of the commonly used opioid analgesic morphine. Mechanistically, we found that PAP is an ectonucleotidase that dephosphorylates extracellular AMP to adenosine and requires A_1 -adenosine receptors (A_1Rs) for antinociception.

PAP has been intensively studied for 70 years in the prostate cancer field (Gutman and Gutman, 1938). Despite decades of research, the molecular and physiological functions for PAP remained unknown. Our studies with pain-sensing neurons identify the in vivo substrate, the molecular mechanism, and the physiological function for this medically relevant protein. Moreover, we show that PAP functions in nociception. Considering that TM-PAP is expressed throughout the body (Quintero et al., 2007), PAP could regulate diverse physiological processes that are dependent on adenosine (Jacobson and Gao, 2006).

2.2) Materials and Methods

All procedures and behavioral experiments involving vertebrate animals were approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and at the Universities of Oulu and Helsinki.

2.2.1) Molecular Biology

The full-length expression construct of PAP-transmembrane isoform (nt 64–1317 from GenBank accession # NM_207668) was generated by RT-PCR amplification, using C57BL/6 mouse trigeminal cDNA as template and Phusion polymerase. PCR products were cloned into pcDNA3.1 and completely sequenced. Isoform-specific in situ hybridization probes of PAP, secreted variant (nt 1544–2625 from GenBank accession # NM_019807), and PAP, transmembrane variant (nt 1497–2577 from GenBank accession # NM_207668) were generated by PCR amplification, using C57BL/6 mouse genomic DNA as template and Phusion polymerase, then cloned into pBluescript-KS.

In situ hybridization was performed as described previously using digoxygeninlabeled antisense and sense (control) riboprobes (Dong et al., 2001). We confirmed that PAP was expressed in human DRG by performing RT-PCR with RNA from human DRG (Clontech) and primers that spanned three introns (exon 6 primer: 5' ctttcaggattacatggccagg; exon 9 primer: 5' cgtcaagtggcaagaagcatag).

2.2.2) Tissue Preparation

Adult male mice, 6–12 weeks of age, were sacrificed by cervical dislocation, decapitation, or pentobarbital overdose. Lumbar spinal cord and DRG (L4–L6) were dissected and then immersion fixed for 8 hr and 2 hr, respectively, in 4% paraformaldehyde, 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4. Tissues were cryoprotected in 20% sucrose, 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.3 at 4°C for 24 hr, frozen in OCT, sectioned with a cryostat at 15–20 μ m, and mounted on Superfrost Plus slides. Slides were stored at –20°C. Free-floating sections were sectioned at 30 μ m and immediately stained.

2.2.3) Histology

Enzyme histochemistry was performed essentially as described by Shields et al., with modifications suggested by Silverman and Kruger (Shields et al., 2003; Silverman and Kruger, 1988a). Briefly, cells or tissue sections were washed twice with 40 mM Trizma-Maleate (TM) buffer, pH 5.6, then once with TM buffer containing 8% (w/v) sucrose. Samples were then incubated at 37°C for 2 hr in TM buffer containing 8% sucrose (w/v), 6 mM thiamine monophosphate chloride or adenosine monophosphate (0.3 mM for tissue sections, 6 mM for HEK293 cells), and 2.4 mM lead nitrate. Lead nitrate must be made fresh immediately prior to use. To reduce nonspecific background staining, samples were washed once with 2% acetic acid for 1 min. Samples were then washed three times with TM buffer, developed for 10 s with 1% sodium sulfide, washed several times with PBS, pH 7.4, and mounted in Gel/Mount (Biomeda). When assaying HEK293 cells using TMP or AMP histochemistry, we stained duplicate samples with and without 0.1% Triton X-100 in the initial TM wash. Images were acquired using a Zeiss Axioskop and Olympus DP-71 camera.

Immunofluorescence was performed using antibodies and procedures essentially as described (Zylka et al., 2005), although we substituted high salt TBS + TX (50 mM Tris, 2.7% NaCl, 0.3% Triton X-100, pH 7.6) for PBS + TX in all wash and antibody incubation steps. Additional antibodies included 1:750 rabbit anti-CGRP (T-4032; Peninsula), 1:250 mouse anti-NeuN (MAB377, Chemicon), 1:300 guinea pig anti-P2X3 (GP10108, Neuromics), 1:1000 goat anti-VR1 (sc-12498, Santa Cruz), and 1:1000 rabbit anti-human PAP (Biomeda). We found that it was necessary to amplify the anti-PAP antibody signal by using secondary antibodies conjugated to biotin, then using either 1:250 streptavidin-Cy3 (Jackson) or the Tyramide Signal Amplification kit (New England Nuclear, following manufacturer's protocol). Images were obtained using a Leica TCS-NT confocal microscope.

2.2.4) Injections and Drugs

For intrathecal drug delivery, 5 μ L was injected into unanesthetized mice using the direct lumbar puncture method (Fairbanks, 2003). Human PAP (Sigma, P1774, 100 U/ml)

was dialyzed against 0.9% saline using Slide-A-Lyzer Mini dialysis units (Pierce, 69576) for 4 hr at 4°C. After dialysis, samples were diluted in 0.9% saline to a final concentration of 1.3 mg/ml (50 U/ml) and stored at -80°C. S-hPAP was heat-inactivated by incubating at 65°C for 40 min. Bovine prostatic acid phosphatase (bPAP, Sigma, P6409) was dissolved (aided by sonication) in 0.9% saline to a final concentration of 30 mg/ml (0.3 U/ml). Enzyme activity was quantified using the EnzChek Phosphatase Assay Kit (Invitrogen, E12020) following the manufacturer's protocol. Bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma, A3912) was dissolved in 0.9% saline to a final concentration of 1.3 mg/ml. Recombinant bovine alkaline phosphatase was purchased from Sigma (P8361, expressed in *Pichia pastoris*, >4000 U/mg protein). Morphine sulfate (Sigma, M8777) and N⁶-cyclopentyladenosine (Sigma, C8031; 10 mM stock in dimethylsulfoxide; DMSO) were diluted into 0.9% saline. 8-cyclopentyl-1, 3-dipropylxanthine (C101, Sigma) was dissolved in 0.9% saline containing 5% DMSO, 1.25% 1 M NaOH, and injected i.p.

2.2.5) Behavior

 $Pap^{-/-}$ and $A_1 R^{-/-}$ mice were backcrossed to C57BL/6 mice (Jackson) for 10 and 12 generations, respectively. Isogenic wild-type mice were then derived from the $Pap^{-/-}$ line and used as wild-type controls. C57BL/6 male mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories for all behavioral experiments involving PAP protein injections. Unless indicated otherwise, male mice, 2–4 months old, were used for all behavioral experiments. All mice were acclimated to the testing room, equipment, and experimenter for 1–3 days before behavioral testing. The experimenter was blind to genotype and drug treatment during behavioral testing.

Thermal sensitivity was measured by heating one hindpaw with a Plantar Test apparatus (IITC) following the Hargreaves method (Hargreaves et al., 1988). The radiant heat source intensity was calibrated so that a paw-withdrawal reflex was evoked in ~10 s., on average, in wild-type C57BL/6 mice. Cutoff time was 20 s. One measurement was taken from each paw per day to determine paw-withdrawal latency (with the exception of our morphine and CPA dose-response experiments, which required multiple measurements per day). To perform the tail-immersion assay, mice were gently restrained in a towel and the distal one-third of the tail was immersed in 46.5°C or 49°C water. Latency to withdrawal the tail was measured once per mouse. For the hot plate test, mice were placed on a metal surface heated at 52°C and latency to jump, lick paws, or shake paws was measured. Mechanical sensitivity was measured using semiflexible tips attached to an electronic von Frey apparatus (IITC) as described elsewhere (Cunha et al., 2004; Inoue et al., 2004). Three measurements were taken from each paw (separated at 10 min intervals) then averaged to determine pawwithdrawal threshold in grams.

To induce inflammatory pain, 20 µl complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA, from Sigma or MP Biomedicals) was injected into one hindpaw, centrally beneath glabrous skin, with a 30G needle. The spared nerve injury (SNI) model of neuropathic pain was performed as described (Shields et al., 2003)

2.3) Results

2.3.1) Prostatic Acid Phosphatase Is TMPase in Dorsal Root Ganglia Sensory Neurons

In rats, mice, and humans, PAP is expressed as a secreted protein or as a type 1 transmembrane (TM) protein, with the catalytic acid phosphatase domain localized

extracellularly (Figure 2.1A) (Quintero et al., 2007; Roiko et al., 1990; Vihko, 1979). The secretory isoform has been used as a diagnostic marker for prostate cancer for nearly 70 years, whereas the TM isoform was only recently discovered (Gutman and Gutman, 1938; Quintero et al., 2007). To determine whether either PAP isoform is expressed in DRG, we performed in situ hybridization with isoform-specific antisense riboprobes. These experiments revealed that TM-PAP was expressed in a subset of small-diameter DRG neurons (Figure 2.1B), while the secretory isoform was expressed at low-to-undetectable levels (Figure 2.1C). Importantly, TM-PAP is localized to the plasma membrane and vesicular membranes, just like TMPase (Csillik and Knyihar-Csillik, 1986; Quintero et al., 2007). We also found that PAP was expressed in human DRG using RT-PCR and intron-spanning primers (data not shown), consistent with localization of TMPase to small-diameter human DRG neurons (Silverman and Kruger, 1988a).

To directly test whether PAP had TMPase histochemical activity, we overexpressed mouse TM-PAP in HEK293 cells, then stained these cells using TMP histochemistry. Cells transfected with TM-PAP were heavily stained when the plasma membrane was left intact (Figure 2.2A), indicating that TM-PAP can dephosphorylate TMP extracellularly. TMPase staining was even greater when the plasma membrane was permeabilized with detergent (Figure 2.3H). In contrast, control cells transfected with empty vector were not stained (Figure 2.2B). Two additional phosphatases (soluble acid phosphatase 1 [ACP1] and placental alkaline phosphatase) lacked TMPase activity (Figure 2.3).

DRG neurons express at least eight different acid phosphatase genes (M.J.Z, unpublished data), any one of which could be TMPase. To determine whether PAP was the only enzyme in sensory neurons capable of dephosphorylating TMP, we analyzed DRG and

spinal cord tissues from *PAP*^{d3/d3} (henceforth referred to as *Pap*^{-/-}) knockout mice (P.V. et al., abstract from Proceedings of the AACR, 2005, 96th Annual Meeting, Anaheim, CA). In these mice, deletion of exon 3 causes complete loss of secretory and transmembrane PAP catalytic activity (P.V. et al., abstract from Proceedings of the AACR, 2005). Strikingly, TMP histochemical staining of DRG neurons and axon terminals in spinal cord was abolished in *Pap*^{-/-} mice (Figures 2.2C–2.2F). Absence of TMP staining in *Pap*^{-/-} mice was not due to developmental loss of DRG neurons, as wild-type and *Pap*^{-/-} mice had equivalent numbers of P2X3-expressing neurons relative to all NeuN⁺ neurons in lumbar ganglia (43.4% ± 1.9% verses 42.4% ± 1.9% (SEM); 1500 NeuN⁺ neurons counted per genotype). P2X₃ is an ATP-gated ion channel that is colocalized with PAP (see below). Moreover, loss of TMPase staining in the spinal cord was not due to loss of axon terminals in the dorsal horn (Figure 2.4). These gain- and loss-of-function experiments conclusively prove that TMPase in small-diameter DRG neurons is the transmembrane isoform of PAP.

In addition, by combining immunofluorescence and TMP histochemistry, we observed colocalization between PAP and TMPase in DRG neurons (Figures 2.5A–2.5C) and in axon terminals in lamina II of the spinal cord (Figures 2.5D–2.5F). This anti-PAP antibody did not stain DRG or spinal cord sections from $Pap^{-/-}$ mice, confirming antibody specificity. Finally, upon finding that PAP was TMPase, we reanalyzed two published microarray data sets that measured changes in gene expression in DRG following peripheral nerve injury (Costigan et al., 2002; Davis-Taber and Scott, 2006). In both studies, PAP was one of the most heavily downregulated genes. This is consistent with the fact that TMPase histochemical activity is greatly reduced in DRG and dorsal horn after peripheral nerve

injury (Colmant, 1959; Csillik and Knyihar-Csillik, 1986; Shields et al., 2003; Tenser, 1985; Tenser et al., 1991).

2.3.2) PAP Is Primarily Expressed in Nonpeptidergic DRG Neurons

TMPase was previously localized to nonpeptidergic DRG neurons and a small number of peptidergic neurons (Carr et al., 1990; Dalsgaard et al., 1984; Hunt and Mantyh, 2001; Nagy and Hunt, 1982; Silverman and Kruger, 1988b). To show that PAP had a similar distribution and to identify additional proteins that were colocalized with PAP, we performed double-label immunofluorescence with our anti-PAP antibody and various sensory neuron markers. Cell counts from confocal images revealed that virtually all nonpeptidergic DRG neurons, as defined by the markers IB4, Mrgprd-EGFPf, and P2X3, coexpressed PAP (Figures 2.6A–2.6I and Table 2.1). Moreover, PAP⁺ axons terminated in lamina II of spinal cord in association with nonpeptidergic neuron markers (Figures 2.7A-2.7F). In contrast, a smaller percentage (17.1%) of peptidergic CGRP⁺ neurons (n = 1364 cells counted) expressed PAP (Figures 2.6J–2.6L and Table 2.1), and there was minimal overlap between PAP⁺ and peptidergic (CGRP⁺) axon terminals in spinal cord (Figures 2.7G–2.7I). Finally, $19.1\% \pm 1.3\%$ of PAP⁺ neurons expressed the capsaicin and noxious heat receptor TRPV1 (Figures 2.6M–2.6O). Taken together, these confocal imaging studies revealed that PAP was preferentially expressed in nonpeptidergic, presumably nociceptive, DRG neurons.

2.3.3) Chronic Pain-Induced Thermal Hyperalgesia and Mechanical Allodynia Are Enhanced in *Pap* Knockout Mice

PAP was generally thought to function only in the prostate (Ostrowski and Kuciel, 1994). However, our expression data suggested that PAP might also function in nociceptive neurons. To evaluate pain-related functions for PAP, we tested age-matched wild-type C57BL/6 and $Pap^{-/-}$ male mice (backcrossed to C57BL/6 for ten generations) using acute and chronic pain behavioral assays. We found no significant differences between genotypes using a measure of mechanical sensitivity (electronic von Frey) or several different measures of acute noxious thermal sensitivity (Table 2.2). In contrast, $Pap^{-/-}$ mice showed significantly greater thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia relative to wild-type mice in the complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) model of chronic inflammatory pain (Figures 2.8A and 2.8B). In addition, $Pap^{-/-}$ mice showed significantly greater thermal hyperalgesia in the spared nerve injury (SNI) model of neuropathic pain (Figures 2.8C and 2.8D) (Shields et al., 2003).

2.3.4) PAP Has Potent and Long-Lasting Antinociceptive Properties

Since deletion of PAP enhanced sensitivity in two different models of chronic pain, we hypothesized that excess PAP should have the opposite effect and reduce pain. To test this, we took advantage of the fact that secretory PAP protein is commercially available and has the same N-terminal catalytic region as TM-PAP (Figure 2.1A). We injected wild-type mice intrathecally (i.t.) into the lumbar region of spinal cord with pure human (S-h)PAP protein (the secretory isoform). Control mice were injected i.t. with an equivalent amount of heat-denatured, and hence phosphatase-inactive, S-hPAP protein. In all cases, we determined that S-hPAP was active or inactive using a sensitive fluorometric-based phosphatase assay (see Materials and Methods). We then measured noxious thermal and mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and after S-hPAP injections (Figures 2.9A and 2.9B). Six hours after i.t. injection of S-hPAP, paw-withdrawal latency to a noxious thermal stimulus significantly increased relative to controls and remained elevated for 3 days (Figure 2.9A). This antinociceptive effect was dose dependent (Figure 2.10) and required PAP catalytic activity (Figure 2.9A). Active S-hPAP did not alter mechanical sensitivity (Figure 2.9B) nor did it cause paralysis or sedation. This long-lasting antinociceptive effect was species conserved, as a single i.t. injection of bovine (b)PAP also increased thermal withdrawal latency for 2 days but had no effect on mechanical sensitivity (Figure 2.11). Finally, i.t. injection of an unrelated protein (bovine serum albumin) or large quantities of a different secreted phosphatase (bovine alkaline phosphatase) did not alter thermal or mechanical sensitivity (Figures 2.11 and 2.12).

We next used the same behavioral assay to compare PAP antinociception to the commonly used opioid analgesic morphine. We found that PAP and morphine antinociception were similar in magnitude following a single i.t. injection (40.8% \pm 3.3% versus 62.2% \pm 9.9% increase above baseline at the highest doses, respectively) but that PAP antinociception lasted much longer than morphine (3 days verses 5 hr at the highest doses, respectively; Figures 2.10 and 2.13). Similarly, Grant and colleagues found that the same high dose of morphine (50 µg, i.t., single injection) lasted 4.6 \pm 1.0 hr in mice (Grant et al., 1995).

We next evaluated the extent to which S-hPAP affected hyperalgesia and allodynia in the CFA model of inflammatory pain and the SNI model of neuropathic pain. For both chronic pain assays, we used the uninjured paw as control. Strikingly, in both chronic pain models, a single i.t. injection of active S-hPAP was antihyperalgesic *and* antiallodynic in the inflamed/injured paw (Figures 2.9C–2.9F). As before, a single injection was effective for several days, and phosphatase activity was required for these antinociceptive effects.

Since $Pap^{-/-}$ mice showed enhanced hyperalgesia and allodynia in the CFA inflammatory pain model (Figures 2.8A and 2.8B), we next tested whether S-hPAP could rescue these enhanced thermal and mechanical phenotypes in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice. We found that i.t. injection of S-hPAP increased thermal withdrawal latency in the control paw of $Pap^{-/-}$ mice to the same extent as wild-type mice (Figure 2.14A, blue lines). This demonstrated that $Pap^{-/-}$ mice were competent to respond to acute increases in PAP activity. Strikingly, injection of S-hPAP rescued the thermal and mechanical inflammatory pain phenotype in the inflamed paw of $Pap^{-/-}$ mice (Figures 2.14A and 2.14B, compare red lines where PAP was injected to black lines where inactive PAP was injected). Importantly, these data also suggest that localized, spinal injection of S-hPAP can rescue the behavioral deficit caused by deletion of PAP throughout the animal.

2.3.5) PAP Suppresses Pain by Generating Adenosine, a Known Analgesic in Mammals

The antinociceptive effects of PAP require catalytic activity. This suggested PAP might generate, via dephosphorylation, a molecule that regulates nociceptive neurotransmission in the spinal cord. PAP and TMPase can dephosphorylate many different substrates (Dziembor-Gryszkiewicz et al., 1978; Sanyal and Rustioni, 1974; Silverman and Kruger, 1988b; Vihko, 1978). We focused on AMP because dephosphorylation of AMP produces adenosine—a molecule that inhibits nociceptive neurotransmission in spinal cord slices and has well-studied analgesic properties in mammals (Li and Perl, 1994; Liu and Salter, 2005; Post, 1984; Sawynok, 2007).

At the time we began our studies, there was no direct proof that PAP or TMPase could generate adenosine from AMP. Instead, production of adenosine was inferred by measuring production of inorganic phosphate (Vihko, 1978). To directly test whether PAP could generate adenosine from AMP and other adenine nucleotides, we incubated PAP with 1 mM AMP, ADP, or ATP at pH 7.0 for 4 hr. We then detected adenine nucleotides and adenosine using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and UV absorbance (Lazarowski et al., 2004). These studies revealed that PAP can rapidly dephosphorylate AMP and, to a much lesser extent, ADP to adenosine (Figures 2.15A and 2.15B). Importantly, no unexpected peaks were seen in the chromatograms (Figure 2.15B, data not shown), ruling out the possibility that PAP had additional hydrolytic activities toward nucleotides.

Next, we tested the extent to which PAP could dephosphorylate extracellular AMP in HEK293 cells, DRG neurons, and spinal cord using AMP enzyme histochemistry. HEK293 cells transfected with TM-PAP were heavily stained, whereas control cells were not (Figures 2.15C and 2.15D), highlighting that TM-PAP dephosphorylates extracellular AMP and hence has ecto-5'-nucleotidase activity. In addition, small-diameter DRG neurons from wild-type mice were intensely stained while large-diameter neurons had weak granular cytoplasmic staining. In contrast, only weak granular staining was present in DRG neurons from $PAP^{-/-}$ mice (Figures 2.15E and 2.15F). These data indicate that PAP is the predominant ecto-5'-nucleotidase on the soma of small-diameter neurons. Finally, AMP histochemical staining of axon terminals in lamina II was reduced in $PAP^{-/-}$ relative to wild-type mice, but was not eliminated (Figures 2.15G and 2.15H). This indicates that PAP is one of perhaps many enzymes in spinal cord with the ability to dephosphorylate AMP to adenosine.

Adenosine mediates antinociception through G_i-coupled A₁-adenosine receptors (A₁Rs) (Lee and Yaksh, 1996; Sawynok, 2007). To directly test whether A₁Rs were required for PAP antinociception, we next i.t. injected S-hPAP into wild-type C57BL/6 and A₁-adenosine receptor knockout mice ($A_1R^{-/-}$, $Adora1^{-/-}$; backcrossed to C57BL/6 mice for 12 generations), then measured noxious thermal and mechanical sensitivity (Hua et al., 2007; Johansson et al., 2001). Strikingly, S-hPAP increased thermal paw-withdrawal latency for 3 days in wild-type mice but was without effect in $A_1R^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 2.16A). Similarly, bPAP increased paw-withdrawal latency to the noxious thermal stimulus in wild-type mice but had no effect in $A_1R^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 2.17). As expected, S-hPAP did not affect mechanical sensitivity in uninjured animals (Figure 2.16B).

We next tested wild-type and $A_1 R^{-/-}$ mice using the CFA chronic inflammatory pain model and the SNI neuropathic pain model. Reproducing previous findings (Wu et al., 2005), $A_1 R^{-/-}$ mice showed greater thermal hyperalgesia compared to wild-type mice after CFA injection and after nerve injury (but before PAP injection; Figures 2.16C and 2.16E). Following i.t. injection of S-hPAP, thermal and mechanical thresholds increased in the inflamed/injured paws of wild-type mice but not in $A_1 R^{-/-}$ mice (Figures 2.16C–2.16F). Likewise, the selective A₁R antagonist 8-cyclopentyl-1, 3-dipropylxanthine (CPX; 1 mg/kg, i.p.) transiently reversed the antinociceptive effects of S-hPAP in control and inflamed hindpaws (Figure 2.18). Conversely, injection (i.t.) of the selective A₁R agonist N⁶cyclopentyladenosine (CPA) into wild-type mice produced dose-dependent increases in pawwithdrawal latency to our thermal stimulus (Figure 2.19), similar to i.t. S-hPAP. However, unlike S-hPAP, CPA had short-term effects (lasting hours not days) and CPA caused transient paralysis at the two highest doses. When taken together, our results demonstrate that the antinociceptive effects of PAP are due to generation of adenosine followed by activation of A_1Rs . Moreover, our data demonstrate an in vivo function for PAP as an ectonucleotidase.

2.4) Discussion

For 70 years, PAP was thought to be a secreted protein found only in the prostate and was used as a diagnostic marker for prostate cancer (Gutman and Gutman, 1938; Ostrowski and Kuciel, 1994). Despite years of research, little was known about how PAP functioned in vivo at a mechanistic level or which PAP substrate was most biologically relevant. In biochemical assays, PAP can dephosphorylate diverse substrates, including β -glycerophosphate, lysophosphatidic acid, phospho-amino acids, and 5'-nucleotides (Dziembor-Gryszkiewicz et al., 1978; Li et al., 1984; Porvari et al., 1994; Tanaka et al., 2004; Vihko, 1978).

In our efforts to solve an old and unanswered question in the pain field, we found that PAP was expressed in nociceptive neurons, was antinociceptive, and functioned as an ectonucleotidase. Importantly, we found that the in vivo effects of PAP were eliminated by deletion of one gene, the A₁-adenosine receptor. This makes it unlikely that PAP suppresses pain by generating any other molecules besides adenosine. Moreover, the in vivo effects of PAP on acute and chronic pain mimic the effects of i.t. adenosine and A₁R agonists (Figure 2.19) (Liu and Salter, 2005; Sawynok, 2007). Notably, both PAP and adenosine receptor agonists have antiallodynic and antihyperalgesic properties in animal models of inflammatory and neuropathic pain, both have a long (>24 hr) duration of action after a single i.t. injection, and both lose their ability to suppress pain in $A_1R^{-/-}$ mice or following injection of A₁R antagonists (Belfrage et al., 1999; Cui et al., 1997; Eisenach et al., 2002;

Gomes et al., 1999; Johansson et al., 2001; Lavand'homme and Eisenach, 1999; Lee and Yaksh, 1996; Maione et al., 2007; Poon and Sawynok, 1998). In addition, both $A_1 R^{-/-}$ and $PAP^{-/-}$ mice show enhanced thermal hyperalgesia, but not enhanced allodynia, in neuropathic pain models (Figures 2.8C and 2.8D) (Wu et al., 2005). This shared modality-selective phenotype further supports our conclusion that endogenous PAP works via A₁R activation. Although our studies were focused on nociceptive neurons, PAP is expressed in many other tissues (Quintero et al., 2007) and thus could function as an ectonucleotidase throughout the body.

2.4.1) PAP Has Potent and Long-Lasting Antinociceptive Effects when Compared to Opioid Analgesics

Morphine and other opioids are powerful analgesics but have side effects that limit their long-term use. We found that a single i.t. injection of S-hPAP (250 mU) produced an increase in paw-withdrawal latency of 40.8% \pm 3.3% (relative to baseline; n = 74 mice) in the Hargreaves test (Figure 2.10C) and reproducibly lasted for 3 days (Figure 2.9, Figure 2.14 and Figure 2.16, 2.10A, and 2.18). Using the same behavioral test, we found that 1 µg and 10 µg of morphine produced an increase in paw-withdrawal latency of 24.9% \pm 5.3% and 55.9% \pm 13.7%, respectively, but lasted 1–4 hr in mice (Figure 2.13). Similarly, others found that 1 µg and 10 µg of morphine (i.t., single dose) produced an increase in paw-withdrawal latency of 36% and 60%, respectively (Dirig and Yaksh, 1995), that lasted hours in rats (Nishiyama et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2005b). Higher doses of i.t. morphine cause motor impairment and death (Figure 2.13) (Dirig and Yaksh, 1995; Grant et al., 1995; Nishiyama et al., 2000). Although high doses of A₁R agonists also cause motor impairment (Figure 2.19) (Sawynok,

2007), we found no such side-effects at the highest dose of PAP tested. These comparisons reveal that the magnitude of PAP and morphine antinociception is similar; however, PAP antinociception lasts substantially longer. In fact, using area under the curve (AUC) measurements that integrate magnitude of antinociception over time, the 250 mU dose of S-hPAP is eight times more effective than the highest dose of morphine tested (Figures 2.10B and 2.13B). These long-lasting and A₁R-dependent antinociceptive effects of PAP are supported by previous studies showing that adenosine produces long-duration (>24 hr) analgesia in humans and rodents (Belfrage et al., 1999; Eisenach et al., 2002; Lavand'homme and Eisenach, 1999). Finally, we found that PAP antinociception could be *transiently* inhibited with an A₁R antagonist (Figure 2.18). This suggests that PAP is stable in spinal cord following injection and is capable of producing adenosine for days. Likewise, PAP has a very long (11.7 day) half-life in blood (Vihko et al., 1982).

2.4.2) PAP Is an Ectonucleotidase in Nociceptive Circuits

Nucleotides like ATP and ADP play key roles in pain mechanisms (Burnstock, 2007; Sawynok, 2007; Tozaki-Saitoh et al., 2008). Nucleotides are released extracellularly by stimulated sensory neurons and activate purinergic P2X and P2Y receptors on neurons and microglia. Activation of these receptors facilitates neurotransmission, sensitizes neurons, and causes pain. The excitatory effects of extracellular nucleotides can be terminated by several membrane-bound and, in some cases, secreted ectonucleotidases. These ectonucleotidases dephosphorylate extracellular ATP, ADP, and AMP to adenosine (Zimmermann, 2006). While ATP has excitatory effects and causes pain, adenosine has inhibitory effects and suppresses pain (Nakagawa et al., 2007; Sawynok, 2007).

One or more ectonucleotidases were known to exist in nociceptive circuits (Nagy and Daddona, 1985; Scott, 1967; Suran, 1974). Considering the key roles nucleotides and adenosine play in pain mechanisms, it is surprising to note that none of these ectonucleotidases have been molecularly identified. Using electrophysiological approaches, two groups found that application of ATP, ADP, or AMP inhibited postsynaptic neurons in the dorsal spinal cord indirectly via metabolic conversion to adenosine (Li and Perl, 1995; Salter and Henry, 1985). Likewise, Patterson and colleagues used indwelling microprobes and found that adenosine was metabolically generated in vivo when the dorsal spinal cord was perfused with AMP (Patterson et al., 2001). Dephosphorylation of AMP to adenosine was partially blocked by coperfusion with α , β -methylene-ADP (Patterson et al., 2001), an inhibitor of ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73). This enzyme has not yet been molecularly characterized in DRG neurons or spinal cord.

Our studies clearly show that PAP is expressed in small-diameter DRG neurons, that PAP dephosphorylates AMP to adenosine in vitro, in heterologous cells, in DRG neurons, and in lamina II of the spinal cord, and that PAP antinociception requires A₁Rs. To our knowledge, none of the known ectonucleotidases (Zimmermann, 2006) have been studied at this level of detail in nociceptive circuits. Collectively, our studies define PAP as an ectonucleotidase in nociceptive circuits.

2.4.3) PAP Is Well Localized to Modulate A₁-Adenosine Receptors in Spinal Cord Lamina II

Our data highlight a close functional relationship between PAP and A_1Rs . This raises the question of where PAP acts to modulate A_1Rs and nociceptive behaviors. Within the spinal cord, A_1Rs are concentrated in lamina II, particularly on postsynaptic neurons that are in close contact with IB4⁺ axon terminals, but not in close contact with CGRP⁺ axon terminals (Schulte et al., 2003). A_1Rs are also found presynaptically in small- to mediumdiameter DRG neurons, and possibly in the axon terminals of these neurons (based on accumulation of A_1Rs proximal to dorsal root ligature) (Schulte et al., 2003). In addition, A_1R activation inhibits presynaptic glutamate release primarily from unmyelinated terminals and inhibits postsynaptic neurons in the substantia gelatinosa (lamina II) of spinal cord (Lao et al., 2001; Li and Perl, 1994; Patel et al., 2001).

Considering that virtually all PAP⁺ neurons and axons are IB4⁺ (<u>Table 2.1</u>) and terminate in lamina II (<u>Figure 2.7</u>), this makes PAP well localized to generate extracellular adenosine and modulate A₁Rs on presynaptic terminals and on postsynaptic neurons in the IB4-binding region of lamina II. In addition, PAP (TMPase) is enriched on the presynaptic membranes of DRG neurons at the level of electron microscopy (Knyihar-Csillik et al., 1986) and has a broad pH optimum (pH 3–8) (Van Etten, 1982), making PAP capable of generating adenosine locally at synapses.

Further support for a central site of action comes from the fact that dephosphorylation of extracellular AMP in lamina II is reduced in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice and PAP is antinociceptive when injected intraspinally. Moreover, central injection of PAP can rescue behavioral deficits caused by deletion of PAP throughout the animal (Figure 2.14).

Although our data clearly support a central mechanism of action, we cannot exclude the possibility that PAP might also generate adenosine peripherally to mediate antinociception. Peripheral administration of adenosine has long-lasting antinociceptive and analgesic effects in rodents and humans, just like central administration (Hayashida et al.,

2005; Sawynok, 2007). We detected PAP on axons in the dermis of the skin; however, our antibody was not sensitive enough to detect PAP on axon terminals in epidermis (B.T-B. and M.J.Z, unpublished). Moreover, others found that TMPase (PAP) accumulated proximal to a ligature of the sural nerve, suggesting that PAP is transported peripherally (McMahon and Moore, 1988).

2.4.4) Physiological Function of PAP throughout the Body—Insights from Pain-Sensing Neurons

In prostate, PAP is thought to function as a tumor suppressor. Notably, prostate cancer cell growth rate is reduced when secretory S-hPAP (referred to as "cellular" PAP by the authors) is overexpressed (Lin et al., 1992; Meng and Lin, 1998; Veeramani et al., 2005). Conversely, deletion of PAP (secreted and TM isoforms) in mice leads to prostate hyperplasia followed by prostate cancer (P.V. et al., abstract from Proceedings of the AACR, 2005). The mechanism by which PAP mediates growth suppression is, at present, unclear. Correlative data from Lin and colleagues suggests that secretory ("cellular") PAP regulates growth directly by dephosphorylating phosphotyrosine residues in the cytoplasmic tail of ErbB2 (Veeramani et al., 2005). This direct mechanism seems unlikely, particularly since the cytoplasmic tail of ErbB2 is not accessible to the active site of secretory PAP (which is located extracellularly (Figure 2.1A) and in the lumen of vesicles). Instead, PAP could *indirectly* regulate proliferation by generating adenosine.

In support of this, there are four adenosine receptor subtypes, with A_1 and A_3 coupled to inhibitory G_i -proteins and A_{2a} and A_{2b} coupled to stimulatory G_q and G_s proteins (Jacobson and Gao, 2006). PAP could differentially modulate intracellular signaling depending upon which adenosine receptor subtypes are expressed by cells. Notably, A_3 -adenosine receptors are found on prostate cancer cells and A_3 -agonists inhibit the growth of these cells (Fishman et al., 2003).

Adenosine regulates many other physiological processes besides pain and cancer, including anxiety, inflammation, blood pressure, pulmonary function, and renal function (Jacobson and Gao, 2006). TM-PAP is expressed throughout the body (Quintero et al., 2007). As such, TM-PAP could regulate diverse physiological processes that are dependent on adenosine. Finally, our study overturns the long-held belief that PAP is a generic "acid phosphatase" by discovering a specific in vivo function for PAP as an ectonucleotidase.

2.5) Figures and Tables



Figure 2.1. DRG neurons express the transmembrane isoform of PAP. (A) Secreted and transmembrane isoforms of PAP. Both isoforms have identical N-terminal regions, including the signal peptide (SP) and extracellular catalytic acid phosphatase domain. Alternative splicing at the last intron-exon junction (arrow) results in the inclusion or exclusion of a transmembrane (TM) domain. (B, C) *In situ* hybridization of mouse lumbar DRG with riboprobes complimentary to the unique 3' untranslated regions of (B) the transmembrane isoform or (C) the secreted isoform. Scale bar: 50 µm in (B), (C). (<u>Back to text</u>)





Figure 2.2. PAP dephosphorylates TMP in HEK 293 cells and nociceptive circuits. (A)

HEK 293 cells were transfected with a mouse TM-PAP expression construct or (B) with empty pcDNA3.1 vector and then stained using TMP histochemistry. The plasma membrane was not permeabilized so that extracellular acid phosphatase activity could be assayed. (C-D) Lumbar DRG and (E-F) spinal cord from wild-type and $Pap^{-/-}$ adult mice stained using TMP histochemistry. Identical results were obtained from 14 additional mice of each genotype. TMP (6 mM) was used as substrate and buffer pH was 5.6 in all panels. Scale bar: 50 µm in (A-D); 500 µm in (E), (F). (Back to text)



Figure 2.3. TM-PAP is the only phosphatase tested with **TMPase** activity. HEK 293 cells were transfected with full-length expression constructs for (A, E) GFP, (B, F) mouse soluble acid phosphatase 1 (ACP1), (C, G) human placental alkaline phosphatase (PLAP) or (D, H) mouse TM-PAP. The plasma membrane (A-D) was left intact (-TX) or (E-H) was permeabilized with the detergent Triton X-100 (+TX). Extracellular phosphatase activity is detectable in the absence of detergent whereas extracellular and intracellular phosphatase activity is detectable when cells are treated with detergent. The image in panel D was also shown in Figure 2.2A. All samples were stained using TMP histochemistry (6 mM TMP, pH 5.6). Scale bar: 50 µm in A-H. (Back to text)



Figure 2.4. Axon terminals are anatomically normal in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice. Lumbar spinal cord sections from (A) wild-type and (B) $Pap^{-/-}$ mice were stained with antibodies to CGRP (to mark peptidergic nerve endings), isolectin B4 (IB4, to mark nonpeptidergic nerve endings) and antibodies to protein kinase C- γ (PKC γ , to mark interneurons in laminas II_{inner} and III). Confocal image analysis revealed no gross anatomical differences between genotypes (n=2 mice from each genotype). Scale bar: 150 µm. (Back to text)



Figure 2.5. TMP histochemical activity and PAP protein are co-localized in mouse DRG neurons and on axon terminals in lamina II of the spinal cord. (A-C) Lumbar DRG and (D-F) spinal cord were immunostained with (A, D) PAP antibodies and imaged by confocal microscopy. (B) An adjacent section was then processed for TMP histochemistry and counterstained with cresyl violet. (E) The same section depicted in (D) was processed for TMP histochemistry. (C, F) Merged images. Arrowheads mark examples of double-labeled neurons. Arrow marks Lamina II. Scale bar: 50 µm in (A-C); 200 µm in (D-F). (Back to text)



Figure 2.6. PAP is primarily expressed in nonpeptidergic neurons. (A-O) Mouse L4-L6 DRG neurons were stained with antibodies against various sensory neuron markers (green) and with antibodies against PAP (red). Tissue from adult $Mrgprd\Delta^{EGFPf}$ mice was used to identify Mrgprd-expressing neurons. Arrowheads mark examples of double-labeled cells. Images were acquired by confocal microscopy. Scale bar (bottom right panel): 50 µm for all panels. (Back to text)



Figure 2.7. PAP protein is localized to nonpeptidergic axon terminals in lamina II of the mouse spinal cord. Lumbar spinal cord sections were double-labeled with antibodies against selected axonal markers (A, D, G; green) and PAP (B, E, H; red). IB4 and $Mrgprd\Delta_{EGFPf}$ mark nonpeptidergic endings. CGRP marks peptidergic endings. Images were acquired by confocal microscopy. Scale bar: 150 µm for all panels. (Back to text)



Figure 2.8 $Pap^{-/-}$ mice show enhanced nociceptive responses following inflammation and nerve injury. (A, B) CFA inflammatory pain model. Wild-type and $Pap^{-/-}$ mice were tested for (A) thermal sensitivity using a radiant heat source and (B) mechanical sensitivity using an electronic von Frey semi-flexible tip before (baseline, BL) and following injection of CFA (CFA-arrow) into one hindpaw. The non-inflamed hindpaw served as control. (C, D) SNI neuropathic pain model. The sural and common peroneal branches of the sciatic nerve were ligated then transected (Injure-arrow). Injured and non-injured (control) hindpaws were tested for (C) thermal and (D) mechanical sensitivity. (A-D) Paired t-tests were used to compare responses at each time point between wild-type (n=10) and $Pap^{-/-}$ mice (n=10); same paw comparisons. * P < 0.05; *** P < 0.005; **** P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)


Figure 2.9. S-hPAP protein has long-lasting analgesic and antinociceptive effects when

injected intraspinally. (A, B) Wild-type mice were tested for (A) thermal and (B) mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and following i.t. injection of active or inactive S-hPAP (hPAP-arrow). (C, D) CFA inflammatory pain model. CFA was injected into one hindpaw (CFA-arrow). Active or inactive S-hPAP was i.t. injected one day later (hPAP-arrow). Inflamed and non-inflamed (control) hindpaws were tested for (C) thermal and (D)

mechanical sensitivity. (E, F) SNI neuropathic pain model. The sural and common peroneal branches of the sciatic nerve were ligated then transected (Injure-arrow). Active or inactive S-hPAP was i.t. injected six days later (hPAP-arrow). Injured and non-injured (control) hindpaws were tested for (E) thermal and (F) mechanical sensitivity. (A-F) 250 mU S-hPAP injected per mouse. Paired t-tests were used to compare responses at each time point between mice injected with active hPAP (n=10 mice per experiment) to mice injected with heat-inactivated hPAP (n=10 mice per experiment); same paw comparisons. * P < 0.05; *** P < 0.005; *** P < 0.005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 2.10. Dose-dependent anti-nociceptive effects of intrathecal S-hPAP. (A) Effects of injecting (i.t.) inactive S-hPAP or increasing amounts of active S-hPAP (hPAP-arrow) on paw withdrawal latency to the radiant heat source. (B) The same data plotted as area under the curve [AUC; units are in Latency (s) x Time post injection (h); integrated over 72 h (3 days) post injection] relative to mice injected with inactive PAP. (B-Inset) Plotted on log scale. (C) Data from the two day time points plotted as percent maximal increase in paw withdrawal latency relative to baseline (BL). (C-Inset) Plotted on log scale. (A-C) Injection

(i.t.) volume was 5 µL. n=8 wild-type mice were used for the 0.25 mU, 2.5 mU and 25 mU amounts. n=24-74 wild-type mice were used for the inactive S-hPAP and 250 mU amounts; this reflects pooled data from many of the wild-type mice used during the course of this study. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. Curves were generated by non-linear regression analysis using Prism 5.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc). Significant differences are shown relative to baseline (paired t-tests); * *P* < 0.05; *** *P* < 0.005; *** *P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 2.11. Bovine (b)PAP has anti-nociceptive effects on noxious thermal sensitivity, but not mechanical sensitivity, when injected intrathecally into lumbar spinal cord. (A, B) Wild-type mice were tested for (A) thermal and (B) mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and following i.t. injection of active bPAP (0.3 U/mL; 1.3 mg/mL) or bovine serum albumin (BSA, 1.3 mg/mL); (arrow). Paired t-tests were used to compare responses at each time point between mice injected with bPAP (n=10 mice) to mice injected with BSA (n=10 mice). Significant differences are shown; * P < 0.05; ** P < 0.005; *** P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 2.12. Bovine alkaline phosphatase (ALP) has no effect on noxious thermal or mechanical sensitivity when injected intrathecally into lumbar spinal cord.

Wildtype mice (n=9) were tested for (A) thermal and (B) mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and following i.t. injection of recombinant ALP (5000 U/mL; 25,000 mU total); (arrow). Note that the unit definition for PAP and ALP is essentially the same (1 U will hydrolyze 1 µmole of 4-nitrophenyl phosphate per minute at 37°C at pH 4.8 or pH 9.8, respectively). Thus, 25,000 mU ALP has 100x more phosphatase activity than the 250 mU ShPAP we used throughout this study. Paired t-tests were used to compare responses at each time point to baseline values. There were no significant differences at any of the time points in these assays. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. (some of the error bars are obscured due to their small size). We tested a lower concentration of ALP (250 mU, i.t.) and found that it also did not reduce thermal or mechanical sensitivity (data not shown). (Back to text)



Figure 2.13. Dose-dependent anti-nociceptive effects of intrathecal morphine. Effects of injecting (i.t.) vehicle or increasing doses of morphine sulfate (Morphine/V-arrow) on paw withdrawal latency to the radiant heat source. We observed side-effects at the two highest doses [10 µg dose: three mice were paralyzed and displayed a Straub tail lasting 3-5 h. 50 µg dose: two mice died while three other mice were paralyzed and displayed a Straub tail lasting 1-2 h. Straub tail is visualized as a stiff tail held above horizontal. High doses of i.t. morphine are known to cause motor impairment and lethality (Dirig and Yaksh, 1995; Grant et al., 1995; Nishiyama et al., 2000). (B) The same data plotted as area under the curve [AUC; units are in Latency (s) x Time post injection (h); integrated over entire time

course] relative to mice injected with vehicle. (B-Inset) Plotted on log scale. (C) Data from the 1 h time points plotted as percent maximal increase in paw withdrawal latency relative to baseline (BL). (C-Inset) Plotted on log scale. (A-C) Injection (i.t.) volume was 5 μ L. n=8 wild-type mice were used per dose. Curves were generated by non-linear regression analysis using Prism 5.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc). Significant differences are shown relative to baseline (paired t-tests); * *P* < 0.05; *** *P* < 0.005; *** *P* < 0.005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 2.14. Intraspinal PAP has anti-nociceptive effects in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice and rescues the chronic inflammatory pain behavioral phenotype in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice. Wild-type and $Pap^{-/-}$ mice were tested for (A) thermal sensitivity and (B) mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and following injection of CFA (CFA-arrow) into one hindpaw. The noninflamed hindpaw served as control. One day later, half of the wild-type and $Pap^{-/-}$ mice were injected with active S-hPAP (hPAP-arrow; 250 mU, i.t.; red and blue lines) while the other half were injected with inactive S-hPAP (black lines). Note: Data from these inactive S-hPAP injected mice were presented in Figure 2.8A, B. Paired t-tests were used to compare responses at each time point between wild-type (n=10/group) and $Pap^{-/-}$ mice (n=10/group); same paw comparisons (n=40 mice were used for this experiment). * P < 0.05; ** P < 0.005; *** P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 2.15. PAP has ecto-5'-nucleotidase activity as revealed by dephosphorylation of AMP to adenosine in vitro, in cells and in nociceptive circuits. (A) S-hPAP (2.5 U/mL) was incubated with 1 mM AMP, ADP, or ATP at pH 7.0. Reactions (n=3 per time point) were stopped by heat denaturation at the indicated times. Conversion of nucleotides to adenosine was measured by HPLC. (B) HPLC chromatogram before (t=0) and after (t=240 min) incubation of 1 mM AMP with S-hPAP. Peaks corresponding to adenosine (ado) and AMP are indicated. Arbitrary units (a.u.). (C) HEK 293 cells were transfected with a mouse TM-PAP expression construct or (D) with empty pcDNA3.1 vector and then stained using AMP histochemistry. The plasma membrane was not permeabilized, so that extracellular

phosphatase activity could be assayed. (E-F) Lumbar DRG and (G-H) spinal cord from wildtype and Pap^{\checkmark} adult mice stained using AMP histochemistry. Motor neurons in the ventral horn of wild type and Pap^{\checkmark} spinal cord were also stained. Identical results were obtained from five additional mice of each genotype. AMP (6 mM in (C), (D) and 0.3 mM in E-H) was used as substrate and buffer pH was 5.6. Scale bar: 5 µm in (C-F); 500 µm in (G), (H). (Back to text)



Figure 2. 16. PAP requires A_1 **-adenosine receptors for anti-nociception.** (A, B) Wildtype and *A*₁*R*_{-/-} mice were tested for (A) thermal and (B) mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and following i.t. injection of S-hPAP (hPAP-arrow). (C, D) CFA was injected into one hindpaw (CFA-arrow) of wild-type and *A*₁*R*_{-/-} mice. Active or inactive S-hPAP was i.t. injected one day later (hPAP-arrow). Inflamed and non-inflamed (control) hindpaws were

tested for (C) thermal and (D) mechanical sensitivity. (E, F) The SNI model was used to induce neuropathic pain (Injure-arrow) in wild-type and $A_1R_{-/-}$ mice. Active or inactive ShPAP was i.t. injected four days later (hPAP-arrow). Injured and noninjured (control) hindpaws were tested for (E) thermal and (F) mechanical sensitivity. For all experiments, 250 mU hPAP was injected per mouse. T-tests were used to compare responses at each time point between wild-type (n=10) and $A_1R_{-/-}$ mice (n=9); same paw comparisons. * P < 0.05; *** P < 0.005; *** P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 2.17. A₁**-adenosine receptors are required for bovine (b)PAP anti-nociception**. Wild-type mice (n=7) and *A*₁*R*_{-/-} mice (n=7) were tested for (A) thermal and (B) mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and following i.t. injection of active bPAP (0.3 U/mL); (arrow). Paired t-tests were used to compare responses at each time point between wild-type and knockout mice. Significant differences are shown; * *P* < 0.05; *** *P* < 0.005; *** *P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 2.18. The anti-nociceptive effects of PAP can be transiently inhibited with a selective A_1R antagonist. Wild-type mice were tested for (A) noxious thermal and (B) mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and following injection of CFA (CFA arrow) into one hindpaw. The non-inflamed hindpaw served as control. All mice were injected with active S-hPAP (hPAP-arrow; 250 mU, i.t.). Two days later, half the mice were injected with vehicle (CPX/V-arrow, circles; intraperitoneal (i.p.); 1 h before behavioral measurements) while the other half were injected with 8-cyclopentyl-1, 3- dipropylxanthine (CPX/V-arrow, squares; 1 mg/kg i.p.; 1 h before behavioral measurements). CPX transiently antagonized all anti-nociceptive effects of S-hPAP. In contrast, CPX did not affect thermal or mechanical sensitivity when injected on day 9 – four days after the anti-nociceptive effects of S-hPAP wore off. These experiments highlight a selective effect of CPX on S-hPAP anti-nociception and further demonstrate that PAP suppresses pain via adenosine production and A1R activation. Paired t-tests were used to compare responses at each time point between vehicle (n=10) and CPX-injected mice (n=10); same paw comparisons. *** P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. (<u>Back to text</u>)



Figure 2.19. Dose-dependent anti-nociceptive effects of intrathecal N6cyclopentyladenosine (CPA), a selective A₁-adenosine receptor agonist. Effects of injecting (i.t.) vehicle or increasing doses of CPA (CPA/V-arrow) on paw withdrawal latency to the radiant heat source. Almost all mice injected with the two highest doses of CPA reached the cutoff of 20 s because of fore- and hindlimb paralysis lasting one hour (boxed region). High doses of adenosine receptor agonists are known to cause motorparalysis (Sawynok, 2006). (B) The same data plotted as area under the curve [AUC; units are in Latency (s) x Time post injection (h); integrated over entire time course] relative to mice injected with vehicle. (B-Inset) Plotted on log scale. (C) Data from the 1 h time points plotted

as percent maximal increase in paw withdrawal latency relative to baseline (BL). (C-Inset) Plotted on log scale. (A-C) Injection (i.t.) volume was 5 µL. n=8 wild-type mice were used per dose. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. Curves were generated by non-linear regression analysis using Prism 5.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc). Significant differences are shown relative to baseline (paired t-tests); * *P* < 0.05; ** *P* < 0.005; *** *P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)

Marker	Percentage of PAP ⁺ neurons expressing indicated marker	Percentage of marker ⁺ neurons expressing PAP
IB4	70.6 ± 3.8	91.6 ± 2.8
Mrgprd-EGFPf	66.2 ± 3.2	99.2 ± 0.8
P2X3	84.5 ± 6.1	92.6 ± 3.1
TRPV1	19.1 ± 1.3	14.4 ± 1.3
CGRP	16.9 ± 3.9	17.1 ± 3.2

Table 2.1. Quantitative analysis of PAP and sensory neuron marker co-localizationwithin wild-type adult mouse L4-L6 DRG neurons.

At least 350 cells were counted per combination. Data are expressed as means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)

Behavioral Assay	Wild-type	<i>Pap</i> ^{-/-}	
	Withdrawal threshold:		
Electronic von Frey	$7.2\pm0.4\ g$	$7.8\pm0.5~g$	
	Withdrawal latency:		
Radiant heating of hindpaw (Hargreaves Method)	$9.1\pm0.7\;s$	$9.9\pm0.9\ s$	
Tail immersion at 46.5°C	$18.4 \pm 2.8 \text{ s}$	$16.4 \pm 1.6 \text{ s}$	
Tail immersion at 49.0°C	$9.9\pm0.7~\text{s}$	$9.8\pm0.9~\text{s}$	
Hot plate at 52°C	$20.0 \pm 1.1 \text{ s}$	19.3 ± 1.3 s	

Table 2.2. Acute mechanical and thermal sensitivity are normal in *Pap*^{-/-} mice.

Data are expressed as means \pm s.e.m. No significant differences between genotypes in any of the listed behavioral assays, paired ttest, P>0.05. n=10 male mice tested per genotype for all assays except hotplate and tail immersion at 49°C. For these latter two assays, n=14 mice (8 females, 6 males) were tested per genotype. (Back to text)

CHAPTER 3

Recombinant Mouse PAP has pH-Dependent Ectonucleotidase Activity and Acts through A₁-adenosine Receptors to Mediate Antinociception

ABSTRACT: Prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP) is expressed in nociceptive neurons and functions as an ectonucleotidase. When injected intraspinally, the secretory isoform of human and bovine PAP protein have potent and long-lasting antinociceptive effects that are dependent on A_1 -adenosine receptor (A_1R) activation. In this study, we purified the secretory isoform of mouse (m)PAP using the baculovirus expression system to determine if recombinant mPAP also had antinociceptive properties. We found that mPAP dephosphorylated AMP, and to a much lesser extent, ADP at neutral pH (pH 7.0). In contrast, mPAP dephosphorylated all purine nucleotides (AMP, ADP, ATP) at an acidic pH (pH 5.6). The transmembrane isoform of mPAP had similar pH-dependent ectonucleotidase activity. A single intraspinal injection of mPAP protein had long-lasting (three day) antinociceptive properties, including antihyperalgesic and antiallodynic effects in the Complete Freund's Adjuvant (CFA) inflammatory pain model. These antinociceptive effects were transiently blocked by the A_1R antagonist 8-cyclopentyl-1, 3-dipropylxanthine (CPX), suggesting mPAP dephosphorylates nucleotides to adenosine to mediate antinociception just like human and bovine PAP. These studies indicate that PAP has species-conserved antinociceptive effects and has pH-dependent ectonucleotidase activity. The ability to metabolize nucleotides in a pH-dependent manner could be relevant to conditions like

inflammation where tissue acidosis and nucleotide release occur. Lastly, our studies demonstrate that recombinant PAP protein can be used to treat chronic pain in animal models.

This work was previously published: Sowa, N.A., Vadakkan, K.I., and Zylka, M.J. (2009). *PLoS ONE* 4, e4248.

3.1) Introduction

Small-diameter dorsal root ganglia (DRG) neurons contain a classic, histochemicallydefined enzyme known as Fluoride-Resistant Acid Phosphatase (FRAP) or Thiamine Monophosphatase (TMPase) (Csillik and Knyihar-Csillik, 1986; Dodd et al., 1983). Recently, we found that TMPase was molecularly equivalent to Prostatic Acid Phosphatase (PAP, also known as ACPP) (Zylka et al., 2008). In mammals, PAP is expressed as a secreted protein or as a transmembrane protein (Quintero et al., 2007; Roiko et al., 1990; Vihko, 1979). These isoforms have identical N-terminal regions, including a signal peptide and extracellular acid phosphatase domain, but differ at the C-terminus due to the inclusion or exclusion of a transmembrane domain. Using in situ hybridization with isoform-specific riboprobes, we found that small-diameter DRG neurons primarily express the transmembrane isoform of PAP (Zylka et al., 2008). Moreover, using immunohistochemistry, we found that PAP protein is localized to a majority of all nonpeptidergic nociceptive neurons, a subset of peptidergic nociceptive neurons and to axon terminals located in lamina II of the dorsal spinal cord (Zylka et al., 2008).

We also found that PAP functions in nociceptive circuits as an ectonucleotidase by dephosphorylating adenosine monophosphate (AMP) to adenosine (Zylka et al., 2008). This was based on our observation that intrathecal injection of human (S-h)PAP protein (the secreted isoform) produced long-lasting antinociceptive, antihyperalgesic and antiallodynic effects that were dependent on A₁-adenosine receptor (A₁R) activation (Zylka et al., 2008). These antinociceptive effects were eight-times more effective than the commonly used analgesic morphine. When injected intrathecally, bovine (b)PAP also had long-lasting antinociceptive effects that were dependent on A₁R activation. Conversely, PAP knockout

 $(Pap^{-/-})$ mice showed enhanced sensitivity in animal models of chronic inflammatory pain and neuropathic pain (Zylka et al., 2008), a phenotype that was similar to $A_1 R^{-/-}$ mice (Wu et al., 2005). Lastly, dephosphorylation of extracellular AMP was greatly reduced in smalldiameter DRG neurons and dorsal spinal cord of $Pap^{-/-}$ mice.

For our initial study, we used secretory isoforms of PAP that were purified from human seminal fluid and from bovine prostate (Zylka et al., 2008). The secretory isoforms of human, bovine and mouse PAP are ~80% identical to one another at the amino acid level (based on pairwise sequence comparisons), suggesting they might have similar antinociceptive effects in vivo. At the time we performed our initial studies, we were unable to test mPAP protein for antinociceptive effects because there were no commercially available sources of pure mPAP protein. Moreover, without pure protein, we could not determine the substrate specificity for secretory mPAP. To overcome these limitations, we synthesized and purified recombinant mPAP protein (secretory isoform). Strategies for generating recombinant human and rat PAP protein were previously described (Ostanin et al., 1994; Vihko et al., 1993). At neutral pH, mPAP primarily dephosphorylated AMP. In addition, we found that mPAP could dephosphorylate all purine nucleotides (AMP, ADP, ATP) under acidic pH conditions. This suggested a broader function for PAP in nucleotide metabolism and has implications in inflammatory pain conditions where extracellular pH is reduced.

Recombinant proteins can be produced in large quantities, purified for use in humans (Burch et al., 2000; Dorr, 1993; Zucchini, 2008) and are not likely to be contaminated with human pathogens. Thus, the approaches outlined in this study could be used to purify and test recombinant mouse or human PAP as a treatment for chronic pain in humans.

3.2) Materials and Methods

3.2.1) Molecular Biology and Protein Purification

The mPAP-Tr-(His)₆ baculovirus expression clone (encompassing nt 61-1206 from GenBank accession # NM 019807) was generated by PCR amplification, using a full-length expression construct of mPAP (secreted isoform) as template and Phusion polymerase. PCR products were cloned into pFastBac1 (Invitrogen) and completely sequenced. Primer sequences contained XbaI sites (underlined) to facilitate cloning (N-terminal primer: 5'cgctctagaaccatgcgagccgttcctctgc. C-terminal thrombin-(His)₆ tag primer: 5'gcgtctagattaatgatgatgatgatggtgggggccacgcgggaaccagattccgtccttggtggctgc). There are no thrombin cleavage sites in the mPAP protein except for the cleavage site we introduced. This vector was then used to generate recombinant mPAP protein using the Bac-to-Bac Baculovirus Expression System (Invitrogen). Briefly, we infected Hi5 insect cells with hightiter recombinant baculovirus, incubated the cells for 48 hours at 27°C, then harvested and concentrated the supernatant containing secreted mPAP protein. Then, mPAP protein was purified from the concentrated supernatant using Ni-NTA HisTrap agarose (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) affinity chromatography and imidazole as eluant. Lastly, mPAP protein was dialyzed against PBS to remove imidazole. Protein purity was confirmed by SDS-PAGE, staining for total protein with GelCode Blue (Pierce/Thermo Scientific, Cat. # 24590) and western blotting with Penta-His antibody (Qiagen, Cat. # 34660). Amersham full-range rainbow molecular weight markers (GE Healthcare) were used for SDS-PAGE and MagicMark XP markers (Invitrogen, Cat. # LC5602) were used for western blots. This purification strategy is based on the observation that recombinant rat PAP is secreted into the

medium of baculovirus-infected insect cells (Vihko et al., 1993). Recombinant mPAP was kept at 4°C for short-term (1-2 months) use and at -80°C for long-term storage.

3.2.2) Enzyme Assays

Enzymatic reactions (50 μ L final) were carried out with recombinant mPAP at 37°C for 3 minutes in 10 mM sodium acetate, pH 5.6 or 10 mM HEPES, pH 7.0 with AMP, ADP or ATP as substrate. Reactions were stopped by adding 950 μ L of the malachite green color reagent [0.03% (w/v) malachite green oxalate, 0.2% (w/v) sodium molybdate, 0.05% (v/v) Triton X-100, dissolved in 0.7 M HCl] then incubating at room temperature for 30 minutes. Inorganic phosphate was quantified by measuring OD₆₅₀ and comparing to an inorganic phosphate (KH₂PO₄) standard curve (Lanzetta et al., 1979).

Enzyme activity of mPAP was determined using 4-nitrophenyl phosphate as substrate following Sigma's Quality Control Test Procedure for PAP (SSPNPP11, revision 8/29/97). Unit (U) definition: 1 U hydrolyzes 1 µmole of 4-nitrophenyl phosphate per minute at 37°C at pH 4.8.

3.2.3) Cell Culture and Histochemistry

HEK 293 cells were cultured and transfected as previously described (Zylka et al., 2008). Enzyme histochemistry was performed as previously described (Zylka et al., 2008) using 6 mM AMP, ADP, or ATP as substrate and Tris-maleate buffer at pH 5.6 or 7.0.

3.2.4) Behavior

All behavioral experiments involving vertebrate animals were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.

C57BL/6 male mice, 2-4 months old, were purchased from Jackson Laboratories and used for all behavioral experiments. All mice were acclimated to the testing room, equipment and experimenter for at least three days before behavioral testing. The experimenter was blind to drug treatment during behavioral testing.

Thermal sensitivity was measured by heating one hindpaw with a Plantar Test apparatus (IITC) following the Hargreaves method (Hargreaves et al., 1988). The radiant heat source intensity (Plantar test apparatus, IITC) was calibrated so that a paw withdrawal reflex was evoked in ~10 s., on average, in wild-type C57BL/6 mice. Cutoff time was 20 s. One measurement was taken from each paw per time point to determine paw withdrawal latency. Mechanical sensitivity was measured using semi-flexible tips attached to an Electronic von Frey apparatus (IITC) as described elsewhere (Cunha et al., 2004; Inoue et al., 2004). Three measurements were taken from each paw (separated at 10 min intervals) then averaged to determine paw withdrawal threshold in grams. To induce inflammatory pain, 20 µL Complete Freunds Adjuvant (CFA, from MP Biomedicals) was injected into one hindpaw, centrally beneath glabrous skin, with a 30G needle. 8-cyclopentyl-1, 3dipropylxanthine (C101, Sigma) was dissolved in 0.9% saline containing 5% DMSO, 1.25% 1 M NaOH for i.p. injection. Sedation and motor dysfunction were assessed by visually observing motor activity following injections. None of the mPAP-injected mice displayed reduced mobility or paralysis following injection.

3.2.5) Intrathecal Injections

We used concentrated mPAP protein (in PBS; 1.1 mg/mL; 400 U/mL) or diluted mPAP (in 0.9% saline) for injections. mPAP was heat-inactivated by incubating at 65°C for 40 min. Loss of activity was confirmed using the EnzChek Phosphatase Assay Kit (Invitrogen, E12020) following the manufacturer's protocol. Active or heat-inactivated mPAP was intrathecally injected (5 μ L) into unanesthetized mice using the direct lumbar puncture method (Fairbanks, 2003).

3.3) Results

3.3.1) Purification of Recombinant mPAP using the Baculovirus Expression System

Large quantities of recombinant human or rat PAP (secretory isoform) can be generated in yeast or baculovirus expression systems (Ostanin et al., 1994; Vihko et al., 1993). We generated a baculovirus expression construct containing the entire open-reading frame of secretory mPAP, encompassing the signal peptide (SP) and catalytic domain fused to a C-terminal thrombin-hexahistidine (Tr-H₆) epitope tag (Figure 3.1A, 3.1B). Although the thrombin cleavage site can be used to efficiently remove the epitope tag (Figure 3.1B, data not shown), we performed our studies below with recombinant mPAP-Tr-H₆ (henceforth referred to as mPAP) containing the C-terminal epitope tag because removal of the tag required additional purification steps and did not impact enzyme activity.

We detected large quantities of mPAP protein in the tissue culture supernatant of Hi5 insect cells two days after infection with recombinant baculovirus. We purified mPAP from the supernatant in one step, using nickel chelate affinity chromatography. We confirmed protein purity by running mPAP on an SDS-PAGE gel and staining for total protein (Figure

3.1C) and western blotting (Figure 3.1D). In both cases, we observed one predominant band at ~45 kDa, corresponding to the calculated molecular weight of monomeric mPAP (45.2 kDa). The weakly stained ~90 kDa band on our overloaded western blot likely reflects a small amount of non-denatured mPAP, consistent with the fact that native PAP is a dimer (Ostrowski and Kuciel, 1994; Schneider et al., 1993). No additional bands were observed, indicating that mPAP protein was pure and largely intact. This purified, recombinant mPAP protein effectively dephosphorylated the generic acid phosphatase substrates paranitrophenyl phosphate (p-NPP) and 6,8-difluoro-4-methylumbelliferyl phosphate (DiFMUP) and was inhibited by the acid phosphatase inhibitor L-(+)-tartrate (IC₅₀=1.45 mM; <u>Figure</u> <u>3.2</u>). Recombinant human and rat PAP are similarly inhibited by L-(+)-tartrate (Ostanin et al., 1994; Porvari et al., 1994; Vihko et al., 1993).

3.3.2) Recombinant mPAP Dephosphorylates Purine Nucleotides in a pH-dependent Manner

We previously found that S-hPAP (secreted isoform) generated adenosine by dephosphorylating AMP and, to a much lesser extent, ADP at neutral pH (Zylka et al., 2008). To determine if secretory mPAP had similar substrate specificity and to evaluate pH dependence, we incubated mPAP with AMP, ADP or ATP at pH 7.0 or pH 5.6, then detected inorganic phosphate using the malachite green assay. We found that mPAP dephosphorylated AMP and, to a lesser extent, ADP at neutral pH (Figure 3.3A), consistent with our previous findings using hPAP (Zylka et al., 2008). At pH 5.6, mPAP dephosphorylated AMP and ADP, and to a lesser extent, ATP (Figure 3.3B). This latter finding was consistent with a previous study showing that secretory hPAP could dephosphorylate all nucleotides under acidic conditions with a rank order AMP > ADP > ATP (Vihko, 1978).

We previously found that the transmembrane isoform of mouse PAP (TM-PAP) could dephosphorylate extracellular AMP at pH 5.6 using enzyme histochemistry, indicating that PAP had ectonucleotidase activity (Zylka et al., 2008). At the time, we did not test hydrolysis at neutral pH or hydrolysis of other nucleotides. To determine if TM-PAP could dephosphorylate additional nucleotides extracellularly, and if dephosphorylation was pH dependent, we transfected mouse TM-PAP into HEK 293 cells and stained nonpermeabilized cells using enzyme histochemistry. Use of non-permeabilized cells allowed us to measure extracellular nucleotide hydrolysis in a cellular context. At pH 7.0, TM-PAP transfected cells were heavily stained using AMP as substrate and much less intensely stained using ADP as substrate (Figure 3.4A-C). At pH 5.6, TM-PAP transfected cells were heavily stained using AMP and moderately stained using ADP as substrate (Figure 3.4D-F). Control cells transfected with the fluorescent protein Venus were not intensely stained under any of the conditions examined (Figure 3.4G-L). When taken together, these data suggest TM-PAP has pH-dependent ectonucleotidase activity, with AMP being the preferred substrate at neutral pH and AMP and ADP being substrates at acidic pH. Moreover, these data suggest PAP could generate adenosine following hydrolysis of AMP, ADP or ATP under acidic pH conditions (Zylka et al., 2008).

3.3.3) Recombinant mPAP has Long-lasting Antinociceptive Properties

A single intrathecal injection of S-hPAP protein has antinociceptive, antihyperalgesic and antiallodynic effects that last for three days (Zylka et al., 2008). To determine if mPAP also had long-lasting antinociceptive effects, we intrathecally (i.t.) injected wild-type mice with two doses of recombinant mPAP protein (Figure 3.5). Control mice were injected i.t. with heat-denatured, and hence phosphatase-inactive, mPAP. We then measured noxious thermal and mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and after mPAP injections. Six hours after i.t. injection, paw withdrawal latency to the noxious thermal stimulus was significantly increased relative to controls and remained elevated for three days (Figure <u>3.5A</u>). This antinociceptive effect was dose-dependent and required catalytic activity, as evidenced by loss of antinociception upon heat-inactivation of mPAP (Figure 3.5A). Active mPAP did not alter mechanical sensitivity (Figure 3.5B) nor did it cause paralysis or sedation.

We next tested mPAP for antihyperalgesic and antiallodynic effects using the CFA inflammatory pain model. To do this, we injected CFA into one hindpaw to induce inflammation and used the non-inflamed paw as a control. Intrathecal injection of mPAP produced a significant increase in withdrawal latency to the noxious thermal stimulus (relative to latency on Day 1, pre-injection) in the inflamed paw (Figure 3.6A, white open circles). This antihyperalgesic effect persisted for three days. mPAP also caused a significant increase in paw withdrawal latency in the non-inflamed paw (Figure 3.6A, grey open circles, relative to day 1 values), reproducing results presented in Figure 3.5A. In addition, mPAP produced a significant increase in withdrawal threshold to the mechanical stimulus (relative to latency on Day 1, pre-injection) only in the inflamed paw (Figure 3.6B, white open circles). This antiallodynic effect lasted for three days.

3.3.4) mPAP acts through A₁Rs to Mediate Antinociception

The antinociceptive, antihyperalgesic and antiallodynic effects of S-hPAP are dependent on A₁R activation (Zylka et al., 2008). Since our biochemical experiments suggested that mPAP could generate adenosine by dephosphorylating nucleotides, we next evaluated whether mPAP had antinociceptive properties that were dependent on A₁R activation. To do this, we injected a second group of CFA-inflamed mice with the selective A₁R antagonist 8-cyclopentyl-1, 3-dipropylxanthine (CPX; 1 mg/kg i.p.). CPX transiently antagonized all antinociceptive effects of mPAP, including the antihyperalgesic (Figure 3.6A) and antiallodynic (Figure 3.6B) effects. This same i.p. dose of CPX did not affect thermal or mechanical sensitivity in the control or CFA-inflamed paw once the antinociceptive effects of PAP wore off (see Figure S10 in (Zylka et al., 2008)). Taken together, these data suggest that the antinociceptive effects of mPAP were due to ectonucleotidase-dependent generation of adenosine followed by activation of A₁Rs.

3.4) Discussion

We previously found that PAP was expressed in nociceptive neurons and functioned as an ectonucleotidase by dephosphorylating AMP to adenosine. Moreover, PAP had antinociceptive properties that were dependent on A₁R activation (Zylka et al., 2008). At the time, we could not perform in vivo gain-of-function studies with mPAP because there were no commercially available sources of secretory mPAP protein. To overcome this limitation, we generated and purified recombinant mPAP protein and then studied the biochemical properties of mPAP and the effects of mPAP on pain sensitivity.

Our studies revealed that recombinant mPAP has very similar biochemical properties when compared to PAP from other mammalian species, including human (Ostrowski and

Kuciel, 1994; Vihko et al., 1993). Both mPAP and hPAP are inhibited by L-(+)-tartrate (Figure 3.2), both predominantly dephosphorylate AMP at neutral pH (Figure 3.3A; (Zylka et al., 2008)) and both dephosphorylate all adenine nucleotides (with relative activity AMP>ADP>ATP) at acidic pH (Figure 3.3B, (Vihko, 1978)). The Km values (0.9 – 1.6 mM) we obtained for mPAP using AMP as substrate were within the range of Km values (0.37 – 2 mM) reported for hPAP using AMP as substrate (Dziembor-Gryszkiewicz et al., 1978; Dziembor and Ostrowski, 1971; Lam et al., 1973). Mouse TM-PAP also dephosphorylated extracellular adenine nucleotides in a pH-dependent manner, although ATP was not a substrate for TM-PAP as it was for secretory PAP. This substrate discrepancy could reflect biochemical differences between these isoforms. Or, more likely, this reflects reduced sensitivity of the histochemical assay relative to the in vitro enzyme assay. When taken together, our findings suggest PAP functions as an ecto-5' nucleotidase (with relative selectivity for AMP) at neutral pH and as a generic ectonucleotidase (with selectivity for AMP, ADP and ATP) at acidic pH.

This pH-dependent hydrolysis of purine nucleotides is intriguing, especially when considering that tissue injury produces an "inflammatory soup" containing protons and nucleotides (Julius and Basbaum, 2001). Protons produce tissue acidosis, modulate the capsaicin receptor TRPV1 and activate acid-sensing ion channels (ASICs) half-maximally at pH values ranging from 4.9 to 6.8 (Caterina et al., 1997; Waldmann et al., 1997; Wemmie et al., 2008). ATP and ADP activate purinergic P2X and P2Y receptors (Burnstock, 2007; Stucky et al., 2004). Stimulation of these diverse receptors sensitizes nociceptive neurons, activates spinal microglia and causes pain (Burnstock, 2007; Nakagawa et al., 2007; Sawynok, 2007; Tozaki-Saitoh et al., 2008; Tsuda et al., 2005). PAP is extensively co-

localized with the ATP receptor P2X3 and is co-localized in 14.4% of all TRPV1⁺ DRG neurons in the mouse (Zylka et al., 2008). Since PAP protein is localized on peripheral terminals of these neurons (Zylka et al., 2008) and can dephosphorylate adenine nucleotides at acidic pH, PAP could metabolize pain-producing ATP and ADP in the inflammatory soup and reduce the subsequent sensitization of nociceptive neurons. This is consistent with our observation that $Pap^{-/-}$ mice show enhanced thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia following inflammation (Zylka et al., 2008).

In addition, PAP is localized on the central terminals of nociceptive neurons (Zylka et al., 2008) and could metabolize nucleotides to adenosine in a pH-dependent manner at central synapses. The pH of synaptic vesicles is 5.6 ± 0.7 (Miesenbock et al., 1998) and intense neural activity can lead to acidosis within synapses that lasts for seconds (Wemmie et al., 2008). Likewise, inflammation, tissue injury and repetitive stimulation cause acidosis of up to 0.25 pH units in the dorsal horn of spinal cord when measured with pH-sensitive microelectrodes (Chesler and Kaila, 1992; Sykova and Svoboda, 1990; Sykova et al., 1988). Considering the size of these microelectrodes relative to the small volume of a synapse, these microelectrode recordings likely underestimate the magnitude of the pH change that occurs within the confines of a synapse. Thus, PAP may be exposed to low extracellular or endosomal pH when spinal synapses are activated for sustained periods of time.

Intrathecal injection of mPAP produced dose-dependent, potent and long-lasting (3 days) antihyperalgesic effects that were specific for the thermal modality in uninjured animals (Figure 3.5) and antihyperalgesic and antiallodynic effects in CFA-inflamed animals (Figure 3.6). Likewise, hPAP and bPAP had similar antinociceptive effects lasting three days and two days, respectively (Zylka et al., 2008). And, just like hPAP and bPAP

mediated antinociception, A₁R receptor activation was required for mPAP mediated antinociception. When combined with our biochemical results, this suggests that mPAP converts extracellular nucleotides to adenosine in vivo. Moreover, these data suggest a species-conserved function for human, bovine and mouse PAP as an ectonucleotidase.

Adenosine and A_1R agonists have potent and, in some studies, long-lasting (>24 h) analgesic effects in rodents and humans when injected peripherally or centrally (Hayashida et al., 2005; Lavand'homme and Eisenach, 1999; Sawynok, 2007). However, adenosine and A_1R agonists are not used clinically to treat chronic pain because of side-effects, including transient lower back pain (Belfrage et al., 1999; Eisenach et al., 2003), and motor paralysis when administered at high doses (Sawynok, 2007). Motor side-effects could be due to widespread expression of A_1R throughout the spinal cord, including relatively high-level expression in motor neurons (Reppert et al., 1991).

We did not observe motor paralysis at the highest doses of mouse and human PAP tested, despite the fact that PAP also works via A_1R activation (Figures 3.5, 3.6; (Zylka et al., 2008)). This could be due to the fact that, as an enzyme, the amount of adenosine produced by PAP is limited by substrate concentration. Thus, through catalytic restriction, PAP may produce sufficient amounts of adenosine to mediate antinociception but not enough adenosine to cause overt motor side-effects.

The resting CSF concentration of AMP in humans is $1.8 \mu M$ (Rodriguez-Nunez et al., 2000), well below the Km of mPAP and hPAP for AMP. Since this AMP concentration is below Km, PAP could produce linear increases in adenosine as the extracellular AMP concentration increases. This would allow PAP to dynamically generate adenosine over a

wide range of nucleotide concentrations. This could be relevant in chronic pain states where extracellular nucleotides are likely to be elevated (Holton, 1959; Tsuda et al., 2005).

Recombinant proteins, such as human growth hormone and interferons, are routinely used to treat a variety of human diseases and disorders (Dorr, 1993; Zucchini, 2008). We found that recombinant mPAP protein functions as a pH-dependent ectonucleotidase and has antinociceptive effects in an animal model of inflammatory pain. Unlike direct injections of adenosine and A₁R agonists which produce antinociception and motor side effects, mPAP injections indirectly elevate adenosine levels and produce antinociception without sideeffects. Interestingly, other methods that indirectly elevate adenosine, such as using adenosine kinase inhibitors, also produce antinociception without motor side effects (Jarvis et al., 2002b; Keil and DeLander, 1992; Poon and Sawynok, 1995; Poon and Sawynok, 1998). Considering how readily recombinant mPAP and hPAP can be purified (Ostanin et al., 1994), and the fact that recombinant hPAP (fused to GM-CSF; also known as PA2024, a component of the Provenge/Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy) is safe to use in humans (Burch et al., 2000; Burch et al., 2004), recombinant PAP could be developed as a protein-based therapeutic for chronic pain. Moreover, it might be possible to further optimize PAP stability and kinetic parameters for therapeutic purposes, using site-directed mutagenesis and the PAP threedimensional structure as a guide (Jakob et al., 2000; Ostanin et al., 1994; Porvari et al., 1994; Schneider et al., 1993).

3.5) Figures and Tables



Figure 3.1. Purification of recombinant mPAP. (A) A thrombin cleavage site (Tr) followed by hexahistidine tag (H₆) and stop codon (*) were added to the C-terminus of the secretory isoform of mPAP. SP = signal peptide of mPAP. Map is not drawn to scale. (B) Amino acid sequence at the junction between the catalytic domain and Tr-H₆ tag. Arrow marks thrombin cleavage site. Asterisk marks stop codon. (C) GelCode blue-stained SDS-PAGE gel and (D) western blot of purified recombinant mPAP protein (1 µg and 5 µg, respectively). The western blot was probed with an anti-hexahistidine antibody. (<u>Back to text</u>)


Figure 3.2. Inhibition of mPAP by L-(+)-tartrate. The indicated concentrations of L-(+)tartrate were added to reactions (n=3 per concentration) containing mPAP (1 U/mL), 100 mM sodium acetate, pH 5.6 and the fluorescent acid phosphatase substrate DiFMUP. Relative fluorescence units (RFU). All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. Prism 5.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc) was used to generate curve. (<u>Back to text</u>)



Figure 3.3. mPAP dephosphorylates purine nucleotides in a pH-dependent manner. Plot of initial velocity at the indicated concentrations of AMP, ADP and ATP at (A) pH 7.0 and (B) pH 5.6. Reactions (n=3 per point) were stopped after 3 min. Inorganic phosphate was measured using malachite green. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. Error bars are obscured due to their small size. (Back to text)



Figure 3.4. TM-PAP dephosphorylates extracellular purine nucleotides in a pHdependent manner. HEK 293 cells were transfected with expression vectors containing (A-F) mouse TM-PAP or (G-L) the fluorescent protein Venus as a control. Cells were then histochemically stained using AMP, ADP or ATP (each 6 mM) as substrate at pH 7.0 or pH 5.6. Cells were not permeabilized with detergent. Scale bar (bottom right panel), 50 μm for all panels. (<u>Back to text</u>)



Figure 3.5. Dose-dependent antinociceptive effects of intrathecal mPAP. (A) Effects of increasing amounts of mPAP on paw withdrawal latency to a radiant heat source. (B) Paw withdrawal threshold to a semi-flexible tip mounted on an electronic von Frey apparatus. (A, B) BL=Baseline. Injection (i.t.) volume was 5 μ L. n=8 wild-type mice were used per dose. There were significant differences over time between mice injected with heat-inactivated (0 U) mPAP and mice injected with active (1 U or 2 U) mPAP (Repeated measure two-way ANOVA; P < 0.0001 for each dose). Post-hoc paired t-tests were used to compare responses at each time point between mice injected with active mPAP to mice injected with heat-inactivated mPAP (** P < 0.005; *** P < 0.0005). For the heat-inactivated mPAP control, the protein concentration was equivalent to the maximum 2U dose of mPAP (1.1 mg/mL). All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 3.6. The antinociceptive effects of mPAP can be transiently inhibited with a selective A1R antagonist. Wild-type mice were tested for (A) noxious thermal and (B) mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and following injection of CFA (CFA-arrow) into one hindpaw. The non-inflamed hindpaw served as control. All mice were injected with active mPAP (mPAP-arrow; 2 U, i.t.). Two days later, half the mice were injected with vehicle (CPX/V-arrow, circles; intraperitoneal (i.p.); 1 hr before behavioral measurements) while the other half were injected with 8-cyclopentyl-1, 3-dipropylxanthine (CPX/V-arrow, squares; 1 mg/kg i.p.; 1 hr before behavioral measurements). There were significant differences over time between mice injected with vehicle and mice injected with CPX (Repeated measure two-way ANOVA; *P* < 0.01). Post-hoc paired t-tests were used to compare responses at each time point between vehicle (n=10) and CPX-injected mice (n=10); same paw comparisons. *** *P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)

CHAPTER 4

Prostatic Acid Phosphatase Reduces Pain Sensitization and TRPV1-dependent Thermal Sensitivity by Depleting PIP₂

ABSTRACT: Prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP) is an ectonucleotidase that inhibits noxious thermal sensitivity for days by generating adenosine and activating the A₁-adenosine receptor (A₁R). Currently, the mechanism through which PAP regulates sensitivity to noxious thermal stimuli is unknown. We found that sustained activation of A₁R by PAP inhibits signaling through the thermosensor TRPV1 by decreasing phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) levels in cells and dorsal root ganglia (DRG). In support of this, the thermal antinociceptive effects of PAP were blunted in *Trpv1*^{-/-} mice and blocked when PIP₂ levels were pharmacologically restored. Additionally, PAP-mediated depletion of PIP₂ inhibits signaling through receptors that sensitize nociceptive neurons, including lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) and ATP receptors. Thus, PAP acts through A₁R to reduce TRPV1-dependent thermosensation and pro-nociceptive receptor sensitization by decreasing PIP₂. Moreover, our studies suggest selective depletion of PIP₂ in nociceptive circuits could be used to treat chronic pain before or after it is initiated.

This work has been submitted and is under review: Sowa, N.A., Vihko, P, and Zylka, M.J. *Manuscript submitted and in review*.

4.1) Introduction

Chronic pain affects more individuals than heart disease, diabetes and cancer combined (American Pain Foundation). Many of the analgesics that are used to treat pain act on subsets of nociceptive (pain-sensing) neurons located in the dorsal root ganglia or their postsynaptic targets in the dorsal spinal cord. Recently, we found that the transmembrane (TM) isoform of Prostatic Acid Phosphatase (PAP; also known as ACPP) is expressed in nociceptive neurons and functions as an ectonucleotidase (Zylka et al., 2008). Both the TM and secretory isoforms of PAP (S-PAP) dephosphorylate extracellular adenosine monophosphate (AMP) to adenosine (Sowa et al., 2009; Vihko, 1978; Zylka et al., 2008). Strikingly, we found that a single intrathecal (i.t.; intraspinal) injection of S-PAP had longlasting antinociceptive effects that significantly outlasted the commonly used analgesic morphine (Sowa et al., 2009; Zylka et al., 2008). In addition, S-PAP had thermal antihyperalgesic and mechanical antiallodynic effects that lasted for three days in animal models of chronic inflammatory pain and nerve injury-induced neuropathic pain. All of these antinociceptive effects were completely eliminated in $A_1 R^{-1/2}$ mice indicating that S-PAP generates adenosine in vivo and inhibits nociception by activating A_1R over a sustained time period.

Although adenosine and A_1R agonists have well-studied antinociceptive effects when administered to rodents and humans (Eisenach et al., 2003; Sawynok, 2006), it is currently not known how acute or sustained A_1R activation regulates nociception at the molecular level. A_1R is a $G\alpha_{i/o}$ -coupled receptor whose activation leads to inhibition of adenylate cyclase, and hence inhibition of protein kinase A (PKA). In addition, A_1R stimulation activates phospholipase C (PLC; including PLCβ3) via Gβγ proteins (Jacobson and Gao,

2006; Murthy and Makhlouf, 1995a). Acute A_1R activation can also inhibit neurotransmitter release from nociceptive neurons and inhibit postsynaptic spinal cord neurons (Lao et al., 2001; Li and Perl, 1994). While such a mechanism could account for some aspects of A_1R mediated antinociception, inhibition of neurotransmission does not readily explain why sustained A_1R activation by PAP *selectively* inhibits noxious thermal sensitivity without affecting mechanical sensitivity in naïve mice (Sowa et al., 2009; Zylka et al., 2008). In turn, this selectivity suggests PAP might regulate thermal nociception by acting through a specific thermosensory channel or mechanism.

The capsaicin and noxious heat receptor TRPV1 is expressed in DRG neurons and functions as a thermosensor in vivo (Caterina et al., 2000b; Caterina et al., 1997; Davis et al., 2000b). These findings, combined with our observation that PAP and TRPV1 are coexpressed in DRG neurons (Zylka et al., 2008), suggested PAP might regulate thermal sensitivity through TRPV1. Using cell-based and behavioral assays, we found that sustained activation of A₁R by PAP led to PLC-mediated depletion of the phosphoinositide PIP₂. This reduction in PIP₂ inhibited TRPV1 activity and reduced thermosensation in vivo (Figure 4.1). Our in vivo findings are consistent with several in vitro studies showing that TRPV1 requires PIP₂ to function (reviewed in (Rohacs et al., 2008)). Additionally, we found that PAP inhibited signaling through diverse pro-nociceptive G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) by activating A₁R and depleting PIP₂ (Figure 4.1). Altogether, our studies suggest that many of the potent antinociceptive effects of PAP are mediated by sustained A₁R activation followed by depletion of PIP₂. Moreover, our studies are the first to demonstrate a role for PIP₂ in the modulation of nociception in vivo.

4.2) Materials and Methods

All procedures and behavioral experiments involving vertebrate animals were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.

4.2.1) Histology

Enzyme histochemistry and immunofluorescence staining was performed as described (Zylka et al., 2005; Zylka et al., 2008).

4.2.2) Molecular Biology

Full-length expression constructs for mouse TM-PAP (nt 64- 1314 from GenBank accession # NM_207668) and human TM-PAP (nt 51-1304 from GenBank accession # BC007460) were generated by RT-PCR amplification using C57BL/6 mouse trigeminal cDNA or human placental cDNA (Clontech) as template and Phusion polymerase. The red fluorescent protein mCherry was then fused in-frame to the C-terminus of all TM-PAP constructs. Mouse TM-PAP(H12A) was generated by PCR-based mutagenesis using mouse TM-PAP as template (His12 corresponds to His43 of the mPAP preprotein). This active site mutant was previously described and lacks catalytic activity (Figures 4.5, 4.6) (Ostanin et al., 1994; Schneider et al., 1993). All constructs have a Kosak consensus sequence, were cloned into pcDNA3.1 and were sequence verified. We obtained additional constructs from others (see Acknowledgments). We confirmed that adenosine receptors were expressed in Rat1 fibroblasts by RT-PCR (A₁R primers: 5' CATTGGGCCACAGACCTACT and 5' GGCAGAAGAGGGTGATACA).

4.2.3) Calcium Imaging

Rat1 fibroblasts were grown on glass bottom culture dishes (MatTek Corp, P35G-0-10-C) in DMEM containing 10% Fetal Bovine Serum, 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin and transfected with Lipofectamine Plus (Invitrogen) according to manufacturer's protocol. The total amount of DNA per well was adjusted to 1 µg by adding pcDNA 3.1 as carrier. Following transfection (18-24 hours), cells were loaded for one hour at room temperature with 2 µM Fura-2 AM (Invitrogen, F-14185) in Hank's Buffered Salt Solution (HBSS + Calcium and Magnesium) assay buffer (HBSS + 9 mM HEPES + 11 mM D-Glucose + 0.1% fatty-acid free BSA, pH 7.4). Cells were then washed 3 times with HBSS assay buffer and sat for at least 30 min prior to imaging. A Nikon TE2000U microscope and Sutter DG4 light source were used to image calcium responses (excitation 340 nm / 380 nm; emission 510 nm). Cells were stimulated with 1 μ M capsaicin, 100 nM LPA, 1 U/mL thrombin, 10 µM ATP or 1 µM bradykinin for 1-5 min, washed in HBSS assay buffer for 1 min, then stimulated with 0.006% SDS to evoke maximal calcium responses for normalization. We did not use ionomycin to normalize responses because this calcium ionophore activates Ca^{2+} -dependent PLC enzymes. As a result, the magnitude of the ionomycin-induced Ca^{2+} influx is also proportional to PIP₂ levels in cells.

Calcium responses were normalized by calculating the area under the curve (AUC) during ligand stimulation for each cell, and then dividing by the maximum SDS-evoked calcium response in each cell (Figure 4.3). These values were averaged over all cells for a given condition and then normalized relative to untransfected cells in the same field of view or relative to control cells (with the untransfected or control cell response set to 100%).

For thapsigargin experiments, HBSS assay buffer lacking Ca²⁺ and containing 1 mM EGTA was used to eliminate extracellular calcium. 10 μM thapsigargin was added for 5 min, the cells were then washed for 2 min with HBSS assay buffer, and stimulated with 0.006% SDS. For PTX experiments, Rat1 fibroblasts were incubated for 18 hours with 500 ng/mL PTX prior to loading with Fura-2 AM and stimulation with 100 nM LPA. For experiments with adenosine and cannabinoid receptor antagonists, PLC inhibitor (U73122), PKC inhibitor (staurosporine), or PKA inhibitor (KT5720), cells were incubated with antagonists for 3-4 hours, loaded in the presence of antagonists/inhibitors with Fura-2 AM for one hour, and then stimulated with 100 nM LPA or 10 μM ATP.

For experiments with capsaicin, Rat1 fibroblasts were transfected with TRPV1-GFP alone or various constructs and then were stimulated with 1 μ M capsaicin (from 100 mM stock in 100% DMSO, dissolved to final concentration in HBSS assay buffer) for 1 min, followed by a 5 min wash in HBSS assay buffer, then stimulation with 0.006% SDS. In some cases, cells were incubated with CPX (5 μ M), KT5720 (1 μ M), or staurosporine (100 nM) for 3 hours prior to stimulation with capsaicin.

4.2.4) PIP₂ Quantification

For quantification of PIP₂ in vitro, HEK293 cells or Rat1 fibroblasts were plated onto glass coverslips and transfected with the construct PLCδ-PH-GFP along with indicated constructs using Lipofectamine Plus (Invitrogen), according to manufacturer's protocol. 18-24 hours later, the cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA)-PBS. Cells were imaged on a Leica TCS-NT confocal microscope. GFP fluorescence on the plasma membrane of cells compared to the cytoplasm was quantified using ImageJ (National

Institutes of Health) by taking cross-sectional averages of pixel intensity at the plasma membranes and dividing by the average of pixel intensity in the cytoplasm. Cells (n=30 to 70) were analyzed per condition.

For quantification of PIP₂ in DRG, age-matched, adult male C57BL/6 or $Pap^{-/-}$ mice were injected i.t. with 5 µL of 15% lidocaine + 50 U/mL hPAP (250 mU total) or 15% lidocaine alone. Lidocaine causes transient (5-20 min.) paralysis of both hindlimbs, permitting us to visually determine if each mouse received a successful i.t. injection (we only quantified PIP₂ levels in mice that showed transient bilateral paralysis). One day later, mice were sacrificed and L3-L6 DRGs were dissected bilaterally (n=8 ganglia / sample) and placed in PBS on ice. For each sample, DRG wet weight was determined then lipids were extracted and quantified using the PI(4,5)P₂ Mass ELISA Kit from Echelon (K-4500) following the manufacturer's protocol. PIP₂ levels were normalized by dividing by the wet weight of DRG tissue.

4.2.5) Injections and Drugs

For intrathecal drug delivery, 5 μL was injected into unanesthetized mice using the direct lumbar puncture method (Fairbanks, 2003). Human S-PAP (Sigma, P1774) and heat-inactivated S-hPAP were prepared as described previously (Zylka et al., 2008). 18:1 Lysophosphatidic acid (Avanti Polar Lipids, 857130) was dissolved in 0.9% ethanol and then diluted to final concentrations in either HBSS assay buffer (calcium imaging) or 0.9% saline (injections). Adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP, Sigma, A26209) was dissolved in either HBSS assay buffer (calcium imaging) or 0.9% saline (injections). Capsaicin (Sigma, 2028 – 1 mg) was dissolved in 0.9% saline/10% ethanol/0.5% Tween 80 and 5 μl was injected for

intrathecal delivery, while 20 μL was injected for intraplantar delivery. U73122 (Tocris, 1268) was first dissolved into DMSO, then further diluted in 0.9% saline for i.t. injection. The PI(4,5)P₂ Shuttle PIP Kit (Echelon, P-9045) was used to increase PIP₂ levels in vivo. PtdIns(4,5)P₂ di-C₁₆ was first dissolved into 10% DMSO in 0.9% saline. Carrier 2 (Histone H1) was dissolved into 0.9% saline. Prior to injection, PIP₂ and Carrier 2 were mixed in a 1:1 molar ratio and incubated at room temperature for 15 min. Thrombin (Sigma, T4648) was first dissolved to 100 Units/mL in 0.1% BSA and further diluted in HBSS assay buffer to final concentrations. BK was dissolved to 1 mM in DMSO and further diluted in HBSS assay buffer to final concentrations. PTX (Sigma, P7208) and caffeine (Sigma, C0750) were dissolved in water. 8-Cyclopentyl-1,3-dimethylxanthine (CPT) (Sigma, C102), 8-Cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine (CPX) (Sigma, C101), SCH58261 (Sigma, S4568), MRS1754 (Sigma, M6316), MRS 1523 (Sigma, M1809), staurosporine (Sigma, S4400), KT5720 (Tocris, 1288), and U73122 (Tocris, 1268) were dissolved in DMSO and further diluted in HBSS assay buffer to final concentrations.

4.2.6) Behavior

Pap^{-/-} and *Trpv1*^{-/-} (B6.129X1-*Trpv1*^{tm1Jul}/J) mice were backcrossed to C57BL/6 mice for at least 10 generations. Knockout mice were matched to C57BL/6 control animals for age and weight. For all other experiments male, C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories. Male, 2-4 month-old mice were used for all behavioral studies. All mice were acclimated to testing room, equipment, and experimenter for 1-3 days before behavioral testing. The experimenter was blind to genotype and drug treatment during behavioral testing. Thermal and mechanical sensitivity were measured as described previously (Zylka et al., 2008).

For the LPA and ATP injection experiments in WT vs. $Pap^{-/-}$ mice, after taking baseline measurements, 5 µl of LPA (5 nmol) or 5 µl of ATP (100 nmol) was injected into all mice. Thermal and mechanical sensitivity were then measured 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 12 days following LPA or ATP injection.

For the S-hPAP injection followed by LPA and ATP injection experiments, after taking baseline measurements, 5 μ l of heat-inactivated S-hPAP or 250 mU of S-hPAP was injected i.t. One day later, thermal and mechanical sensitivity were measured in all mice, and then 5 μ l of LPA (5 nmol) or 5 μ l ATP (100 nmol) was injected i.t. into all mice. Thermal and mechanical sensitivity were then measured 1, 2, 3, and 7 days following LPA or ATP injection.

For the nerve injury experiment, heat-inactivated S-hPAP or 250 mU of S-hPAP was injected i.t. and thermal and mechanical sensitivity were measured 6 hours later. The next day the spared nerve injury (SNI) model of neuropathic pain was performed as described (Shields et al., 2003), and thermal and mechanical sensitivity was measured 1, 2, and 7 days post injury.

For the inflammatory pain study in WT and $Trpv1^{-/-}$ mice, after taking baseline measurements, 20 µL of complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA, MP Biochemicals, 642851) was injected into one hindpaw, centrally beneath glabrous skin using a 30G needle. One day later, heat-inactivated S-hPAP or 250 mU S-hPAP was injected i.t. Thermal and mechanical sensitivity were measured 1, 2, 3, and 4 days following S-hPAP injection.

For the capsaicin experiments, mice were acclimated to a plexiglass chamber for at least 30 minutes prior to capsaicin injection. For intraplantar experiments, 20 μ l of 0.1 mg/ml capsaicin in 0.9% saline, 10% ethanol, 0.5% Tween-80 was injected (2 μ g total) into the hindpaw, and the amount of time spent licking or biting the paw was measured for the first 2 min following injection. For intrathecal experiments, 5 μ l of 0.1 mg/ml capsaicin (0.5 μ g total) was injected by acute lumbar puncture and the amount of time spent licking or biting the caudal half of the body was measured for the first 5 min following injection.

For the PLC inhibitor (U73122) experiment, after taking baseline measurements 250 mU of S-hPAP was injected i.t. into two groups of WT C57BL/6 mice, while a third group of mice was not injected. Thermal sensitivity was measured 1 day later. Two days after S-hPAP injection, U73122 (5.4 nmol) or vehicle (20% DMSO in 0.9% saline) was injected i.t. and thermal sensitivity was measured 30 min, 1 hr, 2 hr, 3 hr, 4 hr, 5 hr, 6 hr, 7 hr, 24 hr, and 48 hr after injection.

For the PIP₂ injection experiment, after taking baseline measurements, 250 mU of ShPAP was injected i.t. into two groups of WT C57BL/6 mice, while a third group of mice was not injected. Thermal sensitivity was measured 1 day later. Two days after S-hPAP injection, PIP₂ + Carrier 2 or Carrier 2 alone was injected i.t., and thermal sensitivity was measured 30 min, 1 hr, 2 hr, 3 hr, 4 hr, 5 hr, 6 hr, 24 hr, and 48 hr after injection.

For PIP2 co-injection with LPA, after taking baseline measurements, mice were injected with either PIP2 + Carrier 2 or Carrier 2 alone and thermal and mechanical sensitivity were measured 1d, 2d, 3d, 4d, 5d, and 12d after injection.

4.3) Results

4.3.1) PAP acts through A₁R to Inhibit TRPV1 Receptor Activation

We previously found that secretory human PAP (S-hPAP) reduced noxious thermal sensitivity for three days in naïve mice by generating adenosine and activating A_1R (Zylka et al., 2008). Precisely how such sustained A_1R activation regulates thermal sensitivity is unknown. TRPV1 is a nonselective cation channel that can be activated by noxious thermal stimuli or capsaicin (Caterina et al., 1997), suggesting that PAP might reduce thermal sensitivity by inhibiting TRPV1. To test this hypothesis in a cell-based context, we transiently transfected Rat1 fibroblasts with TRPV1 or with TRPV1 and mouse transmembrane PAP (TM-PAP) then measured capsaicin-evoked Ca^{2+} influx using the Ca^{2+} indicator Fura-2 AM. We found that both the amplitude and duration of capsaicin-evoked Ca²⁺ influx was significantly reduced in cells transfected with TM-PAP relative to cells expressing TRPV1 alone (Figure 4.2A, 4.2B, 4.3). In contrast, capsaicin-evoked Ca²⁺ influx was not reduced in cells transfected with mouse TM-PAP(H12A), a phosphatase-dead mutant of TM-PAP (Figure 4.2B) (Ostanin et al., 1994; Schneider et al., 1993). Additionally, the A₁R-selective antagonist 8-cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine (CPX) blocked the effect of TM-PAP on capsaicin-evoked signaling (Figure 4.2B; Rat1 cells express A₁R, Figure 4.4). Collectively, these data suggest that TM-PAP reduces TRPV1 signaling through activation of A₁R. Note that all TM-PAP constructs were fused to the red fluorescent protein mCherry and were expressed at similar levels in Rat1 cells and HEK293 cells (used below), but only the H12A mutant lacked catalytic activity (Figures 4.5, 4.6).

Next, to test whether the thermal antinociceptive effect of PAP was dependent on TRPV1 activity in vivo, we injected S-hPAP (i.t.) into WT and *Trpv1*^{-/-} mice then measured paw withdrawal latencies to a noxious thermal stimulus. There were no significant

differences at baseline between WT and $Trpv1^{-/-}$ mice when stimulating the hindpaw with radiant heat (Figure 4.2C), consistent with previous studies (Caterina et al., 2000b). Paw withdrawal latency significantly increased (relative to baseline) 30 min after injecting (i.t.) ShPAP and remained elevated for three days in WT mice, as expected (Zylka et al., 2008). However, the effects of S-hPAP on thermal sensitivity were significantly blunted in duration (2 days; relative to baseline) and in magnitude (p < 0.001 by two-way ANOVA; relative to WT) in $Trpv1^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 4.2C). In contrast, S-hPAP was equally effective at reducing mechanical allodynia in WT and $Trpv1^{-/-}$ mice following CFA-induced inflammation (Figure 4.2D; black dashed line verses red dashed line), ruling out the trivial possibility that $Trpv1^{-/-}$ mice were less sensitive to all antinociceptive effects of S-hPAP. We were unable to compare the effects of S-hPAP on CFA-induced thermal hyperalgesia in WT and Trpv1^{-/-} mice because $Trpv1^{-/-}$ mice do not develop thermal hyperalgesia following inflammation (Figure 4.2E), as previously found by others (Caterina et al., 2000b; Davis et al., 2000b). Collectively, these data suggest S-hPAP decreased thermal sensitivity, in part, through inhibition of TRPV1.

Considering that PAP is expressed in 19% of all TRPV1⁺ neurons (Zylka et al., 2008) and reduced TRPV1 activity, we hypothesized that deletion of PAP might enhance TRPV1 activity. To test this hypothesis, we injected the selective TRPV1 agonist capsaicin into the hindpaw of WT and $Pap^{-/-}$ mice then measured the amount of time spent licking the injected hindpaw (Caterina et al., 2000b). We also injected capsaicin i.t. then measured the amount of time spent licking the caudal half of the body (Mousseau et al., 1994). Following both intraplantar and i.t. injections, capsaicin-induced licking behavior was significantly greater in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice compared to WT controls (Figure 4.2F). These enhanced responses were not due

to a difference in the percentage of TRPV1⁺ DRG neurons between WT and *Pap*^{-/-} mice (<u>Table 4.1</u>). Nor were these enhanced responses due to neuroanatomical differences between genotypes as nociceptive circuit anatomy was normal in *Pap*^{-/-} mice (Zylka et al., 2008). Taken together, our cell-based and in vivo data suggest injected (S-) and endogenous (TM-) PAP reduce thermal and capsaicin sensitivity by inhibiting TRPV1.

4.3.2) Activation of A₁R by TM-PAP Depletes PIP₂

Our findings raised the question of how A₁R activation by PAP inhibits TRPV1 at a mechanistic level. A₁R stimulation inhibits PKA via pertussis toxin (PTX)-sensitive $G\alpha_{i/o}$ proteins. In addition, A₁R stimulation activates PLC β 3 via PTX-sensitive $G\beta\gamma$ subunits
(Dickenson and Hill, 1998; Murthy and Makhlouf, 1995a). PLC enzymes then hydrolyze
PIP₂ in the membrane to diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol triphosphate (IP₃). These facts
suggested sustained activation of A₁R by PAP might inhibit TRPV1 activity by inhibiting
PKA, activating protein kinase C (PKC; via DAG), depleting intracellular calcium stores (via
IP₃) or depleting PIP₂ (via PLC activation). Although TRPV1 can be modulated by PKA and
PKC (Bhave et al., 2003; Bhave et al., 2002; Huang et al., 2006b), TM-PAP did not inhibit
TRPV1 through PKA or PKC pathways (Figure 4.7A, 4.7B). Furthermore, TM-PAP did not
deplete intracellular calcium stores (Figure 4.7C).

TRPV1 can also be directly modulated by PIP₂ and this modulation is affected by capsaicin concentration and extracellular Ca²⁺ (Klein et al., 2008; Lishko et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2005; Lukacs et al., 2007; Prescott and Julius, 2003; Rohacs et al., 2008; Stein et al., 2006; Yao and Qin, 2009). At high capsaicin concentrations (1-10 μ M) and in the presence of extracellular Ca²⁺, PIP₂ is required for TRPV1 channel activity while depletion of PIP₂

desensitizes the channel (our cell-based assays above were performed with 1 μ M capsaicin in the presence of extracellular Ca²⁺). This requirement for PIP₂ suggested TM-PAP might inhibit TRPV1 activity by activating A₁R in a sustained manner then deplete PIP₂.

To test this possibility, we quantified the levels of PIP_2 in cells using the PIP_2 biosensor PLCδ-PH-GFP (Varnai and Balla, 1998). When PIP₂ levels are high, PLCδ-PH-GFP is primarily localized to the plasma membrane (PM). When PIP₂ is depleted, PLC δ -PH-GFP translocates from the membrane to the cytosol. This translocation can be quantified by measuring the GFP signal intensity on the PM relative to the cytosol (expressed as a ratio PM/Cytosol). We used HEK293 cells for these experiments because this biosensor was difficult to visualize in Rat1 fibroblasts (although we reproduced our key finding in Rat1 cells; Figure 4.9). In HEK293 cells expressing only PLCδ-PH-GFP, the majority of the GFP signal was in the PM, giving a PM/cytosol ratio of 3.43 ± 0.35 (Figure 4.8A, 4.8E). In contrast, PLCδ-PH-GFP was redistributed to the cytosol in cells co-transfected with TM-PAP or PLC β 3 (PM/cytosol ratio of 1.60 ± 0.06 and 1.70 ± 0.9, respectively) (Figure 4.8B, 4.8E). This finding suggested TM-PAP and PLC β 3 deplete PIP₂ to a similar extent. Importantly, the A₁R antagonist CPX blocked the TM-PAP mediated redistribution of PLCδ-PH-GFP to the cytosol (Figure 4.8C, 4.8E). In addition, the PLC inhibitor U73122 blocked TM-PAPmediated PLC δ -PH-GFP redistribution (Figure 4.8E). Further, the TM-PAP- and PLC β 3mediated redistribution of PLCô-PH-GFP was blocked by overexpressing phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate-5-kinase (PIPK; Figure 4.8D, 4.8E). PIPK dramatically increases PIP₂ levels in transfected cells (Lin et al., 2005; Milosevic et al., 2005), suggesting TM-PAP- and PLC β 3 alter PLC δ -PH-GFP membrane localization by depleting PIP₂.

4.3.3) TM-PAP Reduces TRPV1 Receptor Signaling by Depleting PIP₂

Next, we genetically manipulated PIP₂ levels to determine if increasing or decreasing PIP₂ affected capsaicin-evoked Ca^{2+} responses. Both TM-PAP and PLC β 3 deplete PIP₂ to a similar extent (Figure 4.8E) but only PLC β 3 hydrolyzes PIP₂ directly. Likewise, we found that both TM-PAP and PLC β 3 reduced capsaicin-evoked Ca²⁺ responses to a similar extent (Figure 4.8F), suggesting indirect or direct depletion of PIP₂ was sufficient to reduce TRPV1 activity. Similarly, others found that capsaicin-evoked responses through TRPV1 could be inhibited by selectively depleting PIP₂ with a rapamycin-inducible PIP₂ phosphatase (Klein et al., 2008; Yao and Qin, 2009). Conversely, increasing PIP₂ levels by overexpressing PIPK (which regenerates PIP₂) blocked the TM-PAP- and PLCβ3-mediated reduction in capsaicinevoked Ca²⁺ (Figure 4.8F). This finding suggested signaling through TRPV1 was reduced as a direct result of PIP₂ depletion, consistent with the findings of others using cultured cells (Klein et al., 2008; Lishko et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2005; Lukacs et al., 2007; Rohacs et al., 2008; Stein et al., 2006; Yao and Qin, 2009). In addition, TM-PAP did not affect capsaicin evoked Ca^{2+} influx in cells expressing TRPV1 Δ 42(777-820) (Figure 4.10), a TRPV1 mutant that is missing a putative PIP₂ binding domain (Kim et al., 2008a; Kwon et al., 2007; Prescott and Julius, 2003). Taken together, these data show that TM-PAP reduces TRPV1 activity in vitro through sustained activation of A_1R and subsequent depletion of PIP₂.

4.3.4) PAP Regulates PIP₂ Levels in vivo

Considering that PAP regulated PIP₂ levels in cultured cells, we hypothesized PAP might also regulate PIP₂ levels in vivo. To test this hypothesis, we measured PIP₂ levels in lumbar (L)3-L6 DRG from wild-type (WT) mice, S-hPAP injected WT mice, and $Pap^{-/-}$

mice. We found that PIP_2 levels were inversely related to the amount of PAP activity such that, relative to WT mice, PIP_2 levels were reduced following S-hPAP injection and increased when PAP was deleted (Figure 4.11A).

Since our data suggested that PAP depletes PIP₂ by activating PLC, we next evaluated whether the thermal antinociceptive effect of S-hPAP could be blocked using the PLC inhibitor U73122. This inhibitor was previously injected i.t. to block PLC activation by a delta opioid receptor ligand (Narita et al., 2000). Indeed, i.t. injection of U73122 transiently blocked the thermal antinociceptive effects of S-hPAP, providing evidence that ShPAP acted through PLC to reduce thermal sensitivity in vivo (Figure 4.11B, 4.11C).

To directly determine if S-hPAP reduced thermal sensitivity by depleting PIP₂, we replenished PIP₂ in lumbar spinal cord and DRG through i.t. injection of PIP₂ complexed with a carrier molecule. This PIP₂ shuttle was previously used to increase PIP₂ levels in cultured cells (Ozaki et al., 2000), but to our knowledge has never been used in vivo. Strikingly, i.t. injection of PIP₂ (complexed with carrier) transiently reversed S-hPAP-mediated thermal antinociception whereas carrier alone had no effect (Figure 4.11D, 4.11E). In addition, PIP₂ caused modest thermal hyperalgesia in control animals injected with PIP₂, suggesting thermal sensitivity can be transiently enhanced when PIP₂ levels are elevated above normal levels. Importantly, the magnitude of this effect on thermal sensitivity in control animals was smaller than in animals that were injected with S-hPAP and PIP₂. This argues that PIP₂ replenishment was sufficient to block the thermal antinociceptive effect of S-hPAP independent of how PIP₂ affects thermal sensitivity in control animals.

We previously found that PAP activates A_1R over a sustained three-day time period in vivo (Sowa et al., 2009; Zylka et al., 2008). This finding combined with our present data,

suggests a mechanism (Figure 4.11F) where (1) TM- and S-hPAP function as ectonucleotidases to generate adenosine. Adenosine then stimulates (2) A_1R in a sustained fashion, followed by (3) PLC activation and (4) PIP₂ hydrolysis. As a result, the amount of PIP₂ available to regulate TRPV1 activity (5) is reduced, leading to decreased channel activation and decreased noxious thermal sensitivity. In addition, our data suggest a novel approach for reducing PIP₂ levels in vivo for days by pharmacologically or genetically controlling PAP activity.

4.3.5) PAP Inhibits Pro-nociceptive LPA Receptor Signaling by Acting through A₁R to Deplete PIP₂

Diverse chemicals are released upon injury and inflammation and sensitize nociceptive neurons, in many cases, by activating pro-nociceptive GPCRs (Hucho and Levine, 2007b; Julius and Basbaum, 2001). Activation of many of these receptors leads to downstream activation of PLC, which hydrolyzes PIP₂ into the second messengers DAG and IP₃. Considering that pro-nociceptive receptors require PIP₂ for effective signaling and PAP can deplete PIP₂ upon sustained A₁R activation, we hypothesized that PAP might also reduce signaling through pro-nociceptive receptors. In turn, reduced signaling might reduce sensitization following receptor activation. To evaluate this possibility, we first focused on LPA receptors because LPA sensitizes nociceptive neurons, has long-lasting pro-nociceptive effects when injected intrathecally (i.t.) and is implicated in neuropathic pain mechanisms (Elmes et al., 2004; Inoue et al., 2004; Park and Vasko, 2005). In addition, LPA receptors are coupled to $G\alpha_{q/11}$ proteins, signal through PLC activation and evoke calcium (Ca²⁺) influx when stimulated in many cell-types, including Rat1 fibroblasts (which endogenously express LPA receptors) (Kelley et al., 2006; Mills and Moolenaar, 2003).

First, we transiently transfected Rat1 fibroblasts with mouse TM-PAP then measured LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ influx. We found that the amplitude and duration of LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ influx were significantly reduced in cells transfected with TM-PAP relative to untransfected cells in the same field of view (Figures 4.12A, 4.12D). This "PAP effect" was species-conserved as cells transfected with human TM-PAP (TM-hPAP) were also less responsive to LPA stimulation (Figures 4.12B, 4.12D). In contrast, LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ influx was not reduced in cells transfected with catalytically inactive mouse TM-PAP(H12A) (Figures 4.12C, 4.12D).

Next, to determine if TM-PAP inhibited LPA-evoked signaling by generating adenosine and activating A₁R, we assessed whether PTX (an inhibitor of $G\alpha_{i/o}$ -coupled receptors) or adenosine receptor antagonists could block the effect of TM-PAP on LPAevoked signaling. We found that PTX completely blocked the PAP effect, as evidenced by no significant differences between untransfected cells and TM-PAP transfected cells that were treated with PTX (Figure 4.12E). Additionally, the PAP effect was blocked by the A₁/A_{2B} adenosine receptor antagonist caffeine (Caff) and by two different A₁R-selective antagonists: CPT (8-cyclopentyl-1,3-dimethylxanthine) and CPX (Figure 4.12E). In contrast, selective antagonists of all other adenosine receptors (A_{2A}R: SCH 58261; A_{2B}R: MRS 1754; A₃R: MRS 1523) did not block the PAP effect (Figure 4.13).

Next, we genetically manipulated PIP_2 levels to determine if increasing or decreasing PIP_2 affected LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} responses. As found above, both TM-PAP and PLC β 3 depleted PIP_2 to a similar extent (Figure 4.8E) but only PLC β 3 hydrolyzes PIP_2 directly.

Likewise, both TM-PAP and PLC β 3 reduced LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses to a similar extent (Figure 4.12E), suggesting indirect or direct depletion of PIP₂ was sufficient to reduce signaling. Conversely, increasing PIP₂ levels by overexpressing PIPK blocked the TM-PAP- and PLC β 3-mediated reduction in LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses (Figure 4.12E). This finding indicated that TM-PAP and PLC β 3 inhibit LPA receptor signaling as a direct result of PIP₂ depletion. Additionally, the inhibitory effect of TM-PAP on LPA-evoked signaling was blocked with the PLC inhibitor U73122 (Figure 4.12E), demonstrating that TM-PAP acts through PLC to deplete PIP₂.

As found above with TRPV1, TM-PAP did not reduce LPA signaling by acting through other pathways that are downstream of A₁R, including $G\alpha_{i/o}$ -mediated inhibition of PKA, DAG-mediated PKC activation or IP₃-mediated depletion of intracellular calcium stores (<u>Figures 4.7C</u>, <u>4.14A</u>, <u>4.14B</u>).

Collectively these data support a mechanism (Figure 4.12F) where (1) TM- and ShPAP function as ectonucleotidases to generate adenosine. Adenosine then stimulates (2) A_1R in a sustained fashion, followed by (3) PLC activation and (4) PIP₂ hydrolysis. This reduces the amount of PIP₂ available for (5) $G\alpha_{q/11}$ /PLC-mediated LPA receptor signaling. With less PIP₂ available, there is less IP₃ (and DAG) generated following LPA receptor stimulation, resulting in smaller LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses.

4.3.6) TM-PAP Reduces Signaling through Several Pro-nociceptive GPCRs

To determine if this mechanism generalized to other classes of pro-nociceptive $G\alpha_{q/11}$ -coupled receptors, we assessed whether TM-PAP could reduce Ca^{2+} influx from protease activated receptors (using the ligand Thrombin, Thr), purinergic receptors (using the

nonselective P2Y ligand ATP), and bradykinin (BK) receptors. Importantly, activation of these receptors evokes transient Ca^{2+} influx in Rat1 cells and has pro-nociceptive effects in vivo (Burnstock, 2007; Dale and Vergnolle, 2008; Kelley et al., 2006; Sawynok, 2006; Wang et al., 2006). Strikingly, Ca^{2+} responses induced by Thr, ATP and BK were reduced in TM-PAP transfected cells relative to untransfected cells, and these reductions were blocked by the A₁R antagonist CPX or by overexpression of PIPK (Figure 4.15). Collectively, these data suggest that TM-PAP interferes with signaling through multiple pro-nociceptive receptors by activating A₁R and depleting PIP₂.

4.3.7) PAP Blocks LPA-, ATP- and Nerve Injury-induced Hyperalgesia and Allodynia

Since PAP reduced signaling through pro-nociceptive receptors by depleting PIP₂ in Rat1 fibroblasts and reduced PIP₂ in DRG in vivo, this finding suggested PAP might also reduce signaling through pro-nociceptive receptors in vivo. To test this possibility, we took advantage of the fact that both LPA and ATP produce long lasting (>7 day) thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia when injected i.t. (Inoue et al., 2004; Nakagawa et al., 2007). In comparison, S-hPAP has antinociceptive, antihyperalgesic and antiallodynic effects that last for three days when injected i.t. (Zylka et al., 2008). We reasoned that if ShPAP were injected one day before ATP or LPA, we could ascertain whether S-hPAP directly reduced LPA- and ATP-evoked signaling in vivo by measuring LPA- and ATPevoked hyperalgesia and allodynia on days four and eight; corresponding to one and five days (respectively) after the three day antinociceptive effects of PAP wore off.

First, we measured baseline (BL) noxious thermal sensitivity and mechanical sensitivity in three groups of WT mice. One day later, we injected S-hPAP (i.t.) into two of

the groups and heat inactivated S-hPAP into the third (control; catalytically dead) group. As previously found (Zylka et al., 2008), S-hPAP increased paw withdrawal latency to the noxious thermal stimulus but had no effect on mechanical sensitivity, whereas inactive ShPAP had no effects on thermal or mechanical sensitivity (Figure 4.16A-D). One day later, we injected (i.t.) either 5 nmol LPA (Figure 4.16A, 4.16B) or 100 nmol ATP (Figure 4.16C, 4.16D). Both pro-nociceptive compounds produced long-lasting (8 day) thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia in the control mice. In contrast, these pro-nociceptive compounds had no or minimal effects in mice injected with S-hPAP. Specifically, the ShPAP + LPA and S-hPAP + ATP injected mice did not develop thermal hyperalgesia or mechanical allodynia. In fact, their thermal and mechanical sensitivities were at or near baseline levels on days four and eight (i.e., after the antinociceptive effects of S-hPAP wore off). These data provide compelling evidence that PAP, via sustained A₁R activation and PIP₂ depletion, can reduce signaling through two distinct pro-nociceptive receptors in vivo.

Conversely, since $Pap^{-/-}$ mice had elevated levels of PIP₂ in lumbar DRG, we hypothesized LPA and ATP receptors might signal more effectively and produce greater sensitization when activated in these animals. Indeed, we found that the thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia induced by LPA and ATP were enhanced in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice relative to WT mice (Figure 4.17), suggesting these receptors signal more effectively when PIP₂ levels are elevated in vivo.

Since higher PIP₂ levels in DRG of $Pap^{-/-}$ mice led to increased LPA-induced hyperalgesia, we next asked if we could also enhance LPA-hyperalgesia in wild-type mice by transiently increasing PIP₂ in the DRG of these animals. To do this, we directly injected PIP₂ using the shuttle system described above. Importantly, i.t. injection of PIP₂ alone using this

system only affects thermal sensitivity for a period of one hour after injection (Figure 4.11E) and has no direct long-term effects on either thermal or mechanical sensitivity (Figure 4.18C, 4.18D). Strikingly, co-injection of LPA + PIP₂ + Carrier led to significantly greater thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia than that seen in mice injected with LPA + Carrier alone (Figure 4.18A, 4.18B). Since PIP₂ itself is not having any effect over such a long period of time, this likely reflects increased LPA receptor signaling due to increased PIP₂ in the DRG at the time of receptor activation. This suggests that the activity of the nociceptors can be dynamically modulated by changes in cellular PIP₂ levels.

While LPA and ATP are pro-nociceptive when injected i.t., these chemicals may not fully model the complex pathologies that are associated with chronic pain conditions. To determine if reducing PIP₂ levels with S-hPAP had a more generalized effect on the signals that initiate chronic pain, we tested the effects of S-hPAP in the spared nerve injury (SNI) model of neuropathic pain. Strikingly, i.t. injection of S-hPAP prior to nerve injury eliminated thermal hyperalgesia and greatly reduced mechanical allodynia for eight days compared to mice injected with inactive S-hPAP (Figure 4.19A, 4.19B). This finding suggests that lowering PIP₂ levels with S-hPAP can interfere with the signals that initiate neuropathic pain.

4.4) Discussion

We previously found that PAP had potent antinociceptive effects that were entirely dependent on A_1R activation, including inhibitory effects on noxious thermal and mechanical sensitivity (Sowa et al., 2009; Zylka et al., 2008). How PAP and A_1R activation regulated sensitivity to such stimuli at the molecular level was unknown. By using in vitro and in vivo

assays to study two distinct classes of proteins that require PIP₂ for activity (TRPV1 and GPCRs), our study provides complementary support that several of the antinociceptive effects of PAP are due to sustained A₁R activation followed by PLC-mediated PIP₂ depletion. In particular, depletion of this important phosphoinositide has inhibitory effects on signaling through the thermosensor TRPV1 and blocks sensitization through several pronociceptive $G\alpha_{q/11}$ -coupled GPCRs (Figures 4.1, 4.11F, and 4.12F). The effects of PIP₂ depletion have not been studied following sustained A₁R activation, presumably because the genetic tools to measure and manipulate PIP₂ only recently became available (Varnai et al., 2007). Lastly, our studies are the first to demonstrate a role for PIP₂ in the modulation of pain sensitivity in vivo.

Numerous studies found that TRPV1 can be modulated by PIP₂ in vitro, with effects that are dependent on capsaicin concentration and extracellular calcium (reviewed in (Rohacs et al., 2008)). At low capsaicin concentrations and in the absence of extracellular Ca²⁺, PIP₂ partially inhibits TRPV1 (Prescott and Julius, 2003). In comparison, at high capsaicin concentrations and in the presence of extracellular Ca²⁺, PIP₂ is required for TRPV1 activation and PIP₂ depletion inhibits TRPV1 through desensitization (Klein et al., 2008; Lishko et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2005; Lukacs et al., 2007; Stein et al., 2006; Yao and Qin, 2009). All these studies examined PIP₂ modulation of TRPV1 using excised patches or cultured cells. This seemingly complex relationship between PIP₂ levels and TRPV1 activity in cell-based (in vitro) assays makes it difficult to predict how PIP₂ levels might affect TRPV1 in vivo. In our present study, we increased or decreased PIP₂ levels for extended periods of time in vivo by manipulating PAP activity and then measured how these changes affected TRPV1-dependent behaviors. We found that elevated PIP₂ levels enhanced TRPV1

activity, as evidenced by increased capsaicin-evoked licking in *Pap^{-/-}* animals. Conversely, decreasing PIP₂ levels reduced TRPV1 activity, as evidenced by reduced TRPV1-dependent thermal sensitivity following PAP injections. Furthermore, acutely restoring PIP₂ levels, by pharmacologically inhibiting PLC activation with U73122 (Figure 4.11B, 4.11C) or by injecting PIP₂, blocked the thermal antinociceptive effect of S-hPAP. Injection of PIP₂ in naïve mice without prior S-hPAP injection led to a small but significant decrease in thermal withdrawal latencies (Figure 4.11D, 4.11E), suggesting elevated levels of PIP_2 produce thermal hyperalgesia. Mechanistically, this could reflect enhanced activity of temperature sensitive ion channels like TRPV1. Taken together, our findings indicate that the net effect of PIP₂ is to enhance TRPV1-mediated thermal sensitivity in vivo. This is consistent with a recent study showing that TRPV1 activity was enhanced in vitro and in vivo through interactions with PIRT, a phosphoinositide-binding protein (Kim et al., 2008a). Our in vivo studies are more biologically-relevant than studies which exclusively use cultured cells. This includes DRG neurons, especially since the culturing process can change TRPV1 expression or activity (Shu and Mendell, 1999; Story et al., 2003b; Stucky et al., 2009).

Pro-nociceptive ligands sensitize TRPV1 by activating PKC, which is downstream of PLC activation (Bhave et al., 2003; Huang et al., 2006b). Considering that A₁R is also coupled to PLC enzymes (Jacobson and Gao, 2006; Murthy and Makhlouf, 1995a), why then does PAP inhibit TRPV1 activation upon A₁R activation, as we observed, instead of sensitizing TRPV1? This likely reflects differences in how pro-nociceptive GPCRs and A₁R couple to PLC enzymes and downstream signaling pathways. For example, pro-nociceptive receptors, like LPA receptors, are coupled to PLC isoforms via $G\alpha_{q/11}$ and $G\beta\gamma$ proteins and evoke a large but transient calcium influx and PKC activation upon sustained agonist

stimulation (Figure 4.12A, 4.12B) (Kelley et al., 2006; Mills and Moolenaar, 2003). In contrast, A_1R is coupled to PLC isoforms exclusively via $G\beta\gamma$ proteins and does not desensitize (as measured by CPX-sensitive antinociception) when activated for up to three days by PAP ectonucleotidase-generated adenosine (Sowa et al., 2009; Zylka et al., 2008). Moreover, long-term expression of TM-PAP or treatment of cells with S-hPAP did not alter baseline Ca^{2+} levels when compared to cells not exposed to PAP (Figure 4.3 and data not shown), suggesting sustained activation of A_1R by PAP does not detectably alter Ca^{2+} influx. Moreover, this suggests PAP activates PLC enzymes at a low level and for sustained periods of time. This low level activation is sufficient to deplete PIP₂ in an A₁R-dependent manner (Figure 4.8E) but is unlikely to produce sufficient amounts of DAG to activate PKC or to reduce intracellular calcium stores by producing IP₃. Indeed, we found that PAP did not inhibit TRPV1 activity by acting through PKC (Figure 4.7A) and PAP did not reduce intracellular (IP₃-sensitive) Ca^{2+} stores (Figure 4.7C). Thus, acute, high-level PLC activation, as occurs following pro-nociceptive ligand stimulation, could readily account for why PLC activation sensitizes TRPV1 through PKC. Conversely, sustained, low-level PLC activation, as occurs following activation of A₁R by PAP, could account for why PLC activation inhibits TRPV1 through PIP₂ depletion.

Puntambekar and colleagues recently found that adenosine could bind directly to TRPV1 and inhibit its activity (Puntambekar et al., 2004). However, adenosine made by PAP is unlikely to inhibit TRPV1 directly considering that: 1). PIPK, an enzyme that generates PIP₂ intracellularly, blocked PAP inhibition of TRPV1; 2). the A₁R antagonist CPX blocked PAP inhibition of TRPV1 and 3). PAP had no inhibitory effects on Ca²⁺ influx

through TRPV1 Δ 42, a functional version of TRPV1 that lacks a putative PIP₂ binding domain (Kim et al., 2008a; Kwon et al., 2007; Prescott and Julius, 2003).

We found that most of the thermal antinociceptive effects of PAP were lost in $TrpvI^{-/-}$ mice while the mechanical antinociceptive effects of PAP were preserved (Figure 4.2C, 4.2D). This dissociation suggests most of the thermal antinociceptive effects of PAP are mediated through TRPV1, while the remaining thermal and mechanical antinociceptive effects of PAP are mediated by other channels or proteins. PIP₂ generally increases the activity of many ion channels while depletion of PIP₂ reduces channel activity (Suh and Hille, 2005). PIP₂ depletion also inhibits synaptic vesicle exocytosis (Di Paolo and De Camilli, 2006). Further studies will be needed to determine if additional antinociceptive effects of PAP are due to inhibition or modulation of other PIP₂ sensitive channels, proteins or mechanisms.

4.4.1) PAP Reduces Pro-nociceptive Receptor Signaling and Sensitization

Our findings with PAP and TRPV1 led us to test whether PAP could regulate other aspects of nociception, particularly sensitization, by depleting PIP₂. Diverse pro-nociceptive compounds sensitize nociceptors centrally and peripherally by activating $G\alpha_{q/11}$ -coupled GPCRs (Hucho and Levine, 2007b; Julius and Basbaum, 2001; Woolf and Ma, 2007). This sensitization contributes to allodynia and hyperalgesia in chronic pain conditions. Our studies reveal that PAP inhibits signaling through multiple pro-nociceptive receptors in vitro by depleting PIP₂. With less PIP₂ available, there should be less DAG and IP₃ produced upon pro-nociceptive receptor stimulation to sensitize neurons via PKC/DAG-dependent and Ca^{2+} -dependent pathways. Indeed, we found that PAP completely blocked sensitization

caused by two long-lasting pro-nociceptive compounds (LPA and ATP) in vivo. The antinociceptive effects of PAP in sensitized states, including inflammatory and neuropathic pain (Sowa et al., 2009; Zylka et al., 2008), might similarly be due inhibition of pro-nociceptive GPCR signaling. Lastly, we found that PAP preemptively blocked thermal hyperalgesia and blunted mechanical allodynia following nerve injury. Thus, by inhibiting signaling through multiple pro-nociceptive receptors, PAP might more effectively be used to treat chronic pain, before or after it is initiated, when compared to antagonists that selectively target individual pro-nociceptive receptors.

4.4.2) PIP₂ Levels Affect Responses to Nociceptive Stimuli

All cells constitutively release low nanomolar concentrations of ATP that are then converted to ADP, AMP and adenosine by ectonucleotidases (Yegutkin, 2008; Zimmermann, 2000). Similarly, basal ATP release increases in DRG after nerve injury and following stimulation (Holton, 1959; Matsuka et al., 2008). PAP generates adenosine from extracellular nucleotides and is found on nociceptive neurons along with A₁R (Schulte et al., 2003; Zylka et al., 2008). This makes PAP well-localized to dynamically regulate PIP₂ levels as a function of the concentration of extracellular nucleotides, the activity levels of PAP and other ectonucleotidases, and ultimately the level of basal A₁R activation. As has been hypothesized for other systems (Boison, 2008), this "adenosine tone", and as our studies suggest "phosphoinositide tone", allows neural circuit activity to dynamically adjust as inputs change.

In addition, our studies suggest PIP_2 levels affect the extent to which pro-nociceptive signals—be they thermal, chemical (LPA, ATP, capsaicin) or pathological (inflammation,

nerve injury)—produce hyperalgesia, allodynia and nociceptive behaviors. We observed a direct correlation between PIP₂ levels and induced pain sensitivity—PAP knockout mice have elevated levels of PIP₂ in DRG and show enhanced sensitivity following LPA injection (Figure 4.17A, 4.17B), ATP injection (Figure 4.17C, 4.17D), capsaicin injection (Figure 4.2F), inflammation, and nerve injury (Zylka et al., 2008). Likewise, thermal sensitivity was transiently enhanced following direct intraspinal injection of PIP₂, and co-injection with PIP2 increased LPA-induced hyperalgesia (Figure 4.18A, 4.18B). Conversely, injection of PAP lowers PIP₂ levels in DRG and reduces sensitivity following LPA injection (Figure 4.16A, 4.16B), ATP injection (Figure 4.16C, 4.16D), inflammation, and nerve injury (Zylka et al., 2008). Taken together, our studies suggest selective depletion of PIP₂ in nociceptive circuits could provide a novel approach to preemptively block chronic pain before it is initiated as well as to treat chronic pain once it is established.

4.5) Figures and Tables



Figure 4.1. Proposed model—PAP reduces TRPV1-dependent noxious thermal sensitivity and pain sensitization by depleting PIP₂. PAP is an ectonucleotidase that generates adenosine (ADO) and activates A₁R for days without desensitizing. Sustained A₁R activation leads to phospholipase C (PLC) activation and PIP₂ depletion. Depletion of PIP₂ reduces noxious thermal sensitivity through TRPV1. Pro-nociceptive GPCRs sensitize nociceptive neurons when activated. Depletion of PIP₂ reduces signaling through pronociceptive GPCRs, thus reducing nociceptor sensitization. (<u>Back to text</u>)



Figure 4.2. PAP decreases activity of the capsaicin and noxious heat receptor TRPV1.

(A) Capsaicin (1 μ M)-evoked Ca²⁺ influx in Rat1 fibroblasts expressing TRPV1 alone or with TM-PAP. The 340/380 ratio is directly proportional to calcium concentration. n= 80 cells per condition. (B) Normalized capsaicin-evoked calcium responses in Rat1 fibroblasts transfected with the indicated constructs. The indicated cells were incubated with CPX (5 μ M) for 3 hr prior to stimulation. n = 40-60 cells per condition. T tests relative to TRPV1 only condition. (C) The hindpaws of wild-type mice (WT, black) and $Trpv1^{-/-}$ mice (red) were tested for noxious thermal sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and after i.t. injection of ShPAP (250 mU). Paired t tests were used to compare responses within each genotype to BL (black asterisks) and to compare responses between genotypes (red asterisks). n = 10 mice per genotype. (C-Inset) Detailed time course to determine onset of antinociception. (D) Mechanical (E) and thermal sensitivity of WT and $Trpv1^{-/-}$ mice before (BL) and after injection of Complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) into one hindpaw. One day later, the indicated mice were injected i.t. with S-hPAP (250 mU) or heat inactivated S-hPAP (0 mU). CFA-injected and non-injected (control) hindpaws were tested. Paired t tests were used to compare responses at each time point between WT mice and $Trpv1^{-/-}$ mice injected with S-hPAP (red asterisks). n = 8 mice per group. (F) Nocifensive licking responses to intraplantar (2 µg) and i.t. (0.5 µg) injection of capsaicin in WT and $Pap^{-/-}$ mice. n = 8 mice per group per condition. (B-F) **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.005, ****P* < 0.005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)


Figure 4.3. TM-PAP reduces capsaicin-evoked Ca²⁺ responses but not SDS-evoked Ca²⁺ responses. Raw (non-normalized) capsaicin (1 μ M)- and SDS (0.06%)-evoked Ca²⁺ responses in Rat1 fibroblasts expressing TRPV1 alone or co-transfected with TM-PAP. Since TM-PAP did not affect SDS responses, SDS responses were used to normalize area under the curve (AUC) values in all calcium imaging experiments (see Experimental Procedures for details). n = 40 cells per condition. Points are mean 340/380 ratios ± s.e.m. Data up to the 200 s timepoint were also presented in Figure 1A. (Back to text)



Figure 4.4. Rat1 fibroblasts express A₁**R**. RT-PCR on samples from Rat1 fibroblasts. Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (G3PDH) positive control. (<u>Back to text</u>)



Figure 4.5. Mouse and human TM-PAP constructs dephosphorylate extracellular AMP and thiamine monophosphate (TMP) in Rat1 fibroblasts. Rat1 fibroblasts were transfected with (A-C) mouse TM-PAP, (D-F) mouse TM-PAP(H12A), or (G-I) human TM-PAP (TM-hPAP) and then imaged for (A, D, G) mCherry fluorescence or stained using (B, E, H) AMP or (C, F, I) TMP histochemistry at pH 7.0. The plasma membrane was not permeabilized, so that extracellular phosphatase activity could be assayed. AMP and TMP are PAP substrates. Scale bar is 50 μm. (Back to text)







Figure 4.7. Activation of protein kinase C (PKC) or inhibition of protein kinase A (PKA) does not explain TM-PAP effect on capsaicin-evoked Ca^{2+} responses and TM-PAP does not deplete intracellular Ca^{2+} stores. (A) Normalized capsaicin (1 μ M)-evoked Ca^{2+} responses in Rat1 fibroblasts expressing TRPV1 alone or co-transfected with TM-PAP. The indicated cells were incubated with the PKC inhibitor staurosporine (Staur, 100 nM) or (B) the PKA inhibitor KT5720 (KT, 1 μ M) for 3 hr prior to stimulation. KT5720 did not mimic the effects of TM-PAP, ruling out the possibility that PAP reduced Ca^{2+} influx by $G\alpha_{i/o}$ -mediated inhibition of PKA. (C) Normalized thapsigargin (TG, 10 mM)-evoked Ca^{2+} responses in untransfected Rat1 fibroblasts and in cells transfected with TM-PAP. Experiments were done in the presence of EGTA to reduce extracellular calcium. TG is an inhibitor of the endoplasmic reticulum calcium pump and evokes Ca^{2+} influx independent of IP₃. TM-PAP did not alter TG-evoked calcium responses, ruling out an effect of PAP on

calcium stores. n = 50-70 cells per condition. T tests relative to cells expressing TRPV1 alone. ***P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 4.8. TM-PAP reduces capsaicin-evoked Ca^{2+} influx by decreasing PIP₂. (A-E) Subcellular localization of the PIP₂ biosensor PLCδ-PH-EGFP (PLCδ-PH) in HEK293 cells, imaged by confocal microscopy. PLCδ-PH (A) alone, (B) co-transfected with TM-PAP, (C) co-transfected with TM-PAP and incubated with 5 µM CPX for 3 hr prior to fixation, (D) cotransfected with TM-PAP and PIPK. Scale bar, 50 µm. (E) Quantification of PLCδ-PH subcellular localization after co-transfection with the indicated constructs or following incubation with CPX or U73122. Fluorescence values in the plasma membrane (PM) and cytosol were quantified from cell cross-sections using ImageJ and expressed as a ratio. n = 30-70 cells per condition. (F) Normalized capsaicin (1 µM)-evoked Ca²⁺ responses in Rat1

fibroblasts transfected with the indicated constructs. n = 40-100 cells per condition. T tests were used to compare (E) untransfected cells to transfected cells and (F) TRPV1 transfected cells to co-transfected cells. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.005, **P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 4.9. TM-PAP reduces PIP₂ levels in Rat1 fibroblasts. (A-C) Subcellular localization of PIP₂ biosensor PLCδ-PH-EGFP (PLCδ-PH) in transfected Rat1 fibroblasts, imaged by confocal microscopy. PLCδ-PH (A) was expressed alone or (B) with TM-PAP. Scale bar, 50 μ m. (C) Quantification of PLCδ-PH subcellular localization alone or after cotransfection with TM-PAP. Fluorescence values in the plasma membrane (PM) and cytosol were quantified from cell cross-sections using ImageJ and expressed as a ratio. n = 20 cells per condition. T test was used to compare untransfected cells to TM-PAP transfected cells. ***P < 0.0005. Data presented as means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 4.10. TM-PAP has no effect on capsaicin-evoked Ca²⁺ influx through

TRPV1 Δ 42, a mutant version of TRPV1 that is missing a putative PIP₂-binding

domain. Normalized capsaicin (1 μ M)-evoked calcium responses in Rat1 fibroblasts transfected with the indicated constructs. n = 50-70 cells per condition. There were no significant differences between conditions. Values are presented as means ± s.e.m. (<u>Back to</u> <u>text</u>)



Figure 4.11. PAP activity alters PIP₂ **levels in vivo.** PIP₂ levels in L3-L6 DRG were quantified in wild-type (WT) mice, $Pap^{-/-}$ mice, or WT mice injected (i.t.) one day earlier with 250 mU S-hPAP. All mice were injected i.t. with lidocaine (see Experimental Procedures for details). n=3 mice per condition. (B, C) The hindpaws of wild-type mice were tested for noxious thermal sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and after i.t. injection of ShPAP (250 mU) or saline. Two days later, the indicated mice were injected i.t. with either U73122 (5.4 nmol) or vehicle (V) and thermal sensitivity was measured every hour for the first 7 hours as well as for the next two days. Data in (C) is from the boxed area in (B). n = 8 mice per group. (D, E) The hindpaws of wild-type mice were tested for noxious thermal sensitivity before (BL) and after i.t. injection of S-hPAP (250 mU) or saline. Two days later, the indicated mice were injected i.t. with either PIP₂ (3 nmol) + carrier (Car) or carrier alone then thermal sensitivity was measured every hour for the first 6 hours after injection as well as for the next two days. Data in (E) is from the boxed area in (D). (F) Model showing how PAP interferes with TRPV1 channel activity (see text for details). For (A), values were

compared to WT by paired t test. For (C), mice injected with U73122 were compared to vehicle-injected mice at each time point by paired t test. For (E), mice injected with PIP₂ after S-hPAP were compared to vehicle-injected mice at each time point by paired t test. **P* < 0.005, ***P* < 0.005, ***P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 4.12. TM-PAP reduces LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} influx in Rat1 fibroblasts through activation of A₁R. (A-C) LPA (100 nM)-evoked Ca^{2+} influx in untransfected cells and in cells transfected with the indicated constructs. n=15 cells per condition. (D) Normalized LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} responses from four separate experiments. n = 40-60 cells per condition.

(E) LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses in cells expressing the indicated constructs and after incubation with PTX (500 ng/mL), caffeine (Caff, 1 mM), CPT (500 nM), CPX (5 μ M) or U73122 (5 μ M). Incubation time was 18 hours for PTX and 3 hours for all other compounds. Responses normalized to untransfected cells (Untrans). n = 70-100 cells per condition. (F) Model showing how PAP interferes with LPA receptor signaling (see text for details). For (A-C), 2-way ANOVA was used to compare transfected and untransfected cells (*P* values indicated on graphs). For (D, E), t tests were used to compare untransfected cells to transfected cells. ****P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 4.13. TM-PAP inhibits LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses via A₁R but not by other adenosine receptor subtypes. LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses in cells expressing mPAP-Cherry and after incubation with CPX (5 μ M; A₁R antagonist), SCH58261 (500 nM; A_{2A}R antagonist), MRS1754 (500 nM; A_{2B}R antagonist), or MRS1523 (500 nM; A₃R antagonist). n = 75 cells per condition. T tests relative to untransfected cells. ****P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. Untrans, TM-PAP, and TM-PAP + CPX data in this figure are the same as presented in Figure 4E. (Back to text)



Figure 4.14. Activation of protein kinase C (PKC), inhibition of protein kinase A (PKA) or depletion of intracellular Ca²⁺ stores does not explain TM-PAP effect on LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses. (A) Normalized LPA (100 nM)-evoked Ca²⁺ responses in untransfected Rat1 fibroblasts and in cells transfected with TM-PAP. The indicated cells were incubated with the PKC inhibitor staurosporine (Staur, 100 nM) or (B) the PKA inhibitor KT5720 (KT, 1 μ M) for 3 hr prior to stimulation. KT5720 did not mimic the effects of TM-PAP, ruling out the possibility that PAP reduces Ca²⁺ influx by Ga_{i/o}-mediated inhibition of PKA. n = 75 cells per condition. T tests relative to untransfected cells. ****P* < 0.0005. (Back to text)



Figure 4.15. TM-PAP reduces signaling through diverse pro-nociceptive receptors in an A₁R-dependent manner. Normalized Ca²⁺ responses in untransfected Rat1 fibroblasts or in cells transfected with the indicated constructs and stimulated with LPA (100 nM), thrombin (Thr, 1 U/mL), ATP (10 μ M) or bradykinin (BK, 1 μ M). Some cells were incubated with CPX (5 μ M) for 3 hr prior to stimulation. Responses were normalized to untransfected cells stimulated with these ligands. n = 70-110 cells per condition. T tests relative to untransfected cells. ****P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 4.16. Secretory PAP inhibits pro-nociceptive receptor signaling in vivo. (A-D) The hindpaws of wild-type mice (n=10 per group) were tested for noxious thermal and mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and after i.t. injection of S-hPAP (250 mU) or heat inactivated S-hPAP (0 mU). One day later, the indicated mice were injected i.t. with (A, B) 5 nmol LPA or (C, D) 100 nmol ATP. Paired t tests were used to compare responses at each time point (A-D) between mice injected with active S-hPAP (open squares) to mice in the two other groups. **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.005, ****P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 4.17. *Pap*^{-/-} mice show enhanced LPA- and ATP-induced thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia. (A, B) The hindpaws of wild-type (WT) and *Pap*^{-/-} mice were tested for (A) noxious thermal and (B) mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and after i.t. injection of LPA (5 nmol) or ATP (100 nmol). n = 10 mice per genotype. *Pap*^{-/-} mice developed significantly greater thermal hyperalgesia (*P* < 0.0001 by 2-way ANOVA) and mechanical allodynia (*P* < 0.0001 by 2-way ANOVA) in response to i.t. LPA or ATP. Posthoc paired t tests were used to compare responses at each time point between genotypes. **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.005, ****P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 4.18. Co-injection with PIP₂ enhances LPA-induced hyperalgesia and allodynia. (A, B) The hindpaws of wild-type mice were tested for (A) noxious thermal and (B) mechanical sensitivity at baseline (BL). The same day, the mice were injected i.t. with either LPA (5 nmol) + PIP₂ (3 nmol) + carrier (Car) or LPA + Car alone, and thermal sensitivity was measured on the indicated days. (C, D) The hindpaws of wild-type mice were tested for (C) noxious thermal and (D) mechanical sensitivity at baseline (BL). The same day, the indicated mice were injected i.t. with either PIP₂ (3 nmol) + carrier (Car) or carrier (Car) or carrier alone, and thermal sensitivity the indicated mice were injected i.t. with either PIP₂ (3 nmol) + carrier (Car) or carrier alone, and thermal sensitivity was measured. Paired t tests were used to compare groups at each time

point. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.005, ***P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 4.19. Secretory PAP partially blocks the initiation of neuropathic pain. (A, B) The hindpaws of wild-type mice (n=10 per group) were tested for noxious thermal and mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and after i.t. injection of S-hPAP (250 mU) or heat inactivated S-hPAP (0 mU). One day later, peripheral nerves were injured using the SNI model of neuropathic pain (Injure-arrowhead). Injured and non-injured (control) hindpaws were tested. Paired t tests were used to compare responses at each time point between mice injected with S-hPAP (open square; injured paw) and those injected with inactive hPAP (open circles; injured paw). *P < 0.05, **P < 0.005, ***P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)

	TRPV1 ⁺ DRG neurons	NeuN ⁺ DRG neurons	% TRPV1 ⁺
Wild-type	1120	3141	35.7 ± 1.7
Pap ^{-/-}	1340	4051	33.1 ± 0.7
			P = 0.115

Table 4.1. No significant differences in the percentage of TRPV1⁺ L4-L6 DRG neurons in WT verses *Pap*^{-/-} mice

Percentage expressed as mean \pm s.e.m. DRG from three mice per genotype were immunostained and counted (total of 12 DRG sections per genotype). Counter was blind to genotype.

(Back to text)

CHAPTER 5

Ecto-5'-nucleotidase is Present in Nociceptive Neurons and Inhibits Pain Transmission

ABSTRACT: Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (NT5E) is a 5'-AMPase present in many tissues. It rapidly converts 5'AMP to adenosine, affecting numerous physiologic processes. We have recently shown that another ectonucleotidase, prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP), is present in nociceptive (pain-sensing) neurons where it plays an important role in the modulation of nociceptive signaling. Previous studies hinted that NT5E is present and functional in nociceptive circuits, but definitive studies are lacking. Here we show, using Nt5e knockout mice, that NT5E is expressed in nociceptive neurons in the DRG that terminate in laminae I and II of the dorsal spinal cord. NT5E can degrade AMP to adenosine in these regions in situ and in vivo. Loss of NT5E leads to increased thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia following inflammatory insult or peripheral nerve injury. Conversely, injection of NT5E protein has antinociceptive, antihyperalgesic, and antiallodynic effects that depend on activation of A₁-adenosine receptors. These properties were similar to that seen following injection of PAP. These studies reveal an important role for NT5E in the modulation of nociception, as well as highlight the potential of ectonucleotidase-targeted therapies for the treatment of chronic pain.

This work is in preparation for submission: Sowa, N.A., Taylor-Blake, B., Voss, M., and Zylka, MJ. *Manuscript in preparation*.

5.1) Introduction

Nucleotides play important roles in the initiation and maintenance of pain (Burnstock, 2007; Sawynok, 2007; Tozaki-Saitoh et al., 2008; Tsuda et al., 2005). Nucleotides like ATP and ADP are released extracellularly from stimulated sensory neurons and activate purinergic P2X and P2Y receptors on neurons and microglia. Activation of these receptors facilitates neurotransmission, sensitizes neurons, and causes or enhances pain. The effects of ATP and ADP are terminated through the action of ectonucleotidases. These enzymes degrade ATP, ADP, and AMP in a step-wise manner to adenosine, which either acts on its receptors or is taken up into cells and converted back to AMP or into inosine (Sawynok and Liu, 2003; Zimmermann, 2006). Activation of central adenosine receptors inhibits neuronal transmission and suppresses pain (Nakagawa et al., 2007; Sawynok, 2007). Thus, ectonucleotidases can suppress pain in two ways: 1) through removal of pro-nociceptive ATP and ADP, and 2) through production of antinociceptive adenosine.

Ectonucleotidases have been putatively studied in nociceptive circuits for almost 50 years (Nagy and Daddona, 1985; Scott, 1965; Scott, 1967; Suran, 1974). Their presence was determined through the use of enzyme histochemical techniques that rely on the degradation of adenine-containing nucleotides in situ. However, these techniques are not specific for a given enzyme, as several enzymes are capable of performing these reactions. Thus, despite their potential importance in the modulation of pain, the exact molecular identity of the ectonucleotidases present in nociceptive circuits remains largely unknown.

Recently, we identified prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP) as the first ectonucleotidase present in nociceptive circuits (Zylka et al., 2008). PAP is found predominantly in nonpeptidergic nociceptive neurons in the dorsal root ganglia (DRG) whose axons terminate

in lamina II of the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. Genetic deletion of PAP leads to enhanced nociceptive responses in models of inflammatory and neuropathic pain. Further, injection of a soluble form of the PAP protein inhibits nociception in several pain models. These effects are due to PAP's ability to degrade AMP to adenosine and activate anti-nociceptive A_1 -adenosine receptors (A_1Rs). These studies not only identified PAP as the first known ectonucleotidase in nociceptive circuits, but also confirmed the importance of ectonucleotidases in general in the modulation of pain. Interestingly, mice null for PAP ($Pap^{-/-}$) retain some residual AMPase activity in the DRG and dorsal spinal cord. This led us to investigate the identity of additional ectonucleotidases present in these regions which may also be involved in nociceptive signaling.

Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (NT5E) is a nucleoside 5'-monophosphatase that dephosphorylates AMP to adenosine in many different tissues. Through this action, NT5E plays an important role in epithelial fluid transport, maintenance of tissue barrier function, adaptation to hypoxia and ischemia, and inflammation (Colgan et al., 2006). NT5E has been thought to be expressed in nociceptive pathways based on enzyme histochemical studies using AMP as a substrate (Nagy and Daddona, 1985; Scott, 1967; Suran, 1974). Recent studies also suggest a possible functional role for NT5E in the modulation of nociceptive signaling, based on the measurement of AMPase activity in the spinal cord (Fontella et al., 2005; Patterson et al., 2001). However, other enzymes, such as PAP, are also capable of degrading AMP to adenosine, and thus, definitive proof for the expression and function of NT5E in nociceptive circuits is lacking.

Here, we used immunofluorescence in wild-type mice and mice null for NT5E ($Nt5e^{-1}$), to definitively show that NT5E is expressed in nociceptive circuits and can degrade AMP

to adenosine in these regions. Further, we showed an important functional role of NT5E in nociception, as loss of NT5E led to increased thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia following inflammation or nerve injury. Conversely, addition of NT5E, through intraspinal injection of recombinant NT5E protein, had antinociceptive, antihyperalgesic, and antiallodynic effects that lasted for up to 2 days. These antinociceptive properties required the presence of A_1R , confirming that NT5E converts AMP to adenosine in vivo. Together our results not only identify NT5E as one of the major AMPases in nociceptive circuits, but also emphasize the importance of ectonucleotidases in the modulation of nociception and their viability as a potential target for the treatment of chronic pain.

5.2) Materials and Methods

All procedures and behavioral experiments involving vertebrate animals were approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.

5.2.1) Molecular Biology and Protein Purification

(Invitrogen). Briefly, we infected Hi5 insect cells with high-titer recombinant baculovirus, incubated the cells for 48 hours at 27°C, then harvested and concentrated the supernatant containing secreted mNT5E protein. Then, mNT5E protein was purified from the concentrated supernatant using Ni-NTA HisTrap agarose (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) affinity chromatography and imidazole as eluant. Lastly, mNT5E protein was dialyzed against PBS to remove imidazole. Protein purity was confirmed by SDS-PAGE, staining for total protein with GelCode Blue (Pierce/Thermo Scientific, Cat. # 24590) and western blotting with anti-mNT5E antibody (RD Systems, Cat. # AF4488). Recombinant mNT5E was kept at 4°C for short-term (1-2 months) use and at -80°C for long-term storage.

5.2.2) Tissue Preparation

Adult male mice, 6–12 weeks of age, were sacrificed by cervical dislocation, decapitation, or pentobarbital overdose. Lumbar spinal cord and DRG (L4–L6) were dissected and then immersion fixed for 8 hr and 2 hr, respectively, in 4% paraformaldehyde, 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4. Tissues were cryoprotected in 20% sucrose, 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.3 at 4°C for 24 hr, frozen in OCT, sectioned with a cryostat at 15–20 μ m, and mounted on Superfrost Plus slides. Slides were stored at –20°C. Free-floating sections were sectioned at 30 μ m and immediately stained.

For DRG cultures, all DRGs were collected and pooled from adult male wild-type and *Nt5e^{-/-}* mice. DRGs were dissociated using collagenase (1 mg/mL; Worthington, CLS1) + dispase (5 mg/mL; Gibco, 17105-041) in HBSS and neurons were cultured on poly-Dlysine + laminin-coated glass coverslips in DH10 media (1:1 Hams F12/DMEM + 10 % FBS + 1 % penicillin/streptomycin) with 25 ng/mL GDNF (Chemicon, GF030) at 37C.
Histochemistry was performed 72 hours after culturing.

5.2.3) Histology

Enzyme histochemistry was performed essentially as described previously (Zylka et al., 2008) using 3 mM or 6 mM AMP as substrate and Tris-maleate buffer at pH 5.6 or 7.0. Immunofluorescence was performed essentially as described (Zylka et al., 2005), although we substituted high salt TBS + TX (50 mM Tris, 2.7% NaCl, 0.3% Triton X-100, pH 7.6) for PBS + TX in all wash and antibody incubation steps. Additional antibodies included 1:50 (DRG) or 1:100 (spinal cord) sheep anti-NT5E (AF4488, R+D Systems), 1:750 rabbit anti-CGRP (T-4032; Peninsula), 1:250 mouse anti-NeuN (MAB377, Chemicon), 1:750 rabbit anti-P2X₃ (RA10109, Neuromics), 1:750 rabbit anti-TRPV1 (RA14113, Neuromics), 1:600 (DRG) or 1:750 (spinal cord) chicken anti-GFP (GFP-1020, Aves), 1:500 rabbit anti-NF200 (AB1982, Chemicon), and 1:4000 chicken anti-human PAP (in-house), with amplification as described previously (Zylka et al., 2008). Secondary antibodies used included 1:25 rat anti-mouse IgG1-FITC (Zymed/Invitrogen), 1:200 donkey anti-chicken IgY-Biotin (Jackson), 1:200 donkey anti-chicken IgY-FITC (Jackson). IB4 (Invitrogen) was used at 1:100. Images were obtained using a Leica TCS-NT confocal microscope.

5.2.4) Intrathecal Injections

We used concentrated mNT5E protein (0.34 units/ μ L; 0.48 μ g/ μ L) for injections. mNT5E activity was determined by malachite green assay using AMP as substrate at pH 7.0 as described previously (Sowa et al., 2009). For injections of AMP and ITU, 5'-adenosine monophosphate (Fluka, 01930) and 5-iodotubericidin (Biomol, EI-293) were made up in 0.9% saline and DMSO stock solutions and diluted to final concentrations in 0.9% saline. All solutions were intrathecally injected (5 μ L) into unanesthetized mice using the direct lumbar puncture method (Fairbanks, 2003).

5.2.5) PIP₂ Quantification

For quantification of PIP₂ in dorsal root ganglia (DRG), age-matched, adult male C57BL/6, $A_1R^{-/-}$, or $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice were sacrificed and L3-L6 DRGs were dissected bilaterally (n=8 ganglia / sample) and placed in PBS on ice. For each sample, DRG wet weight was determined and then lipids were extracted and quantified using the PI(4,5)P₂ Mass ELISA Kit from Echelon (K-4500) following the manufacturer's protocol. PIP₂ levels were normalized by dividing by the wet weight of the DRG tissue.

5.2.6) Behavior

 $Nt5e^{-/-}$ and $A_1R^{-/-}$ mice were backcrossed to C57BL/6 mice (Jackson) for 10 and 12 generations, respectively. Isogenic wild-type mice were then derived from the $Nt5e^{-/-}$ line and used as wild-type controls. C57BL/6 male mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories for all behavioral experiments involving mNT5E protein injections. Unless indicated otherwise, male mice, 2–4 months old, were used for all behavioral experiments. All mice were acclimated to the testing room, equipment, and experimenter for 1–3 days before behavioral testing. The experimenter was blind to genotype and protein injection during behavioral testing.

Thermal sensitivity was measured by heating one hindpaw with a Plantar Test apparatus (IITC) following the Hargreaves method (Hargreaves et al., 1988). The radiant heat source intensity was calibrated so that a paw-withdrawal reflex was evoked in ~ 10 s., on average, in wild-type C57BL/6 mice. Cutoff time was 20 s. One measurement was taken from each paw per day to determine paw-withdrawal latency, with the exception of the AMP \pm ITU experiments, where measurements were made every hour for 6 hours after injection. To perform the tail-immersion assay, mice were gently restrained in a towel and the distal one-third of the tail was immersed in 46.5°C or 49°C water. Latency to withdrawal the tail was measured once per mouse. For the hot plate test, mice were placed on a metal surface heated at 52°C or 55°C and latency to jump or lick the hindpaws was measured. Mechanical sensitivity was measured using semiflexible tips attached to an electronic von Frey apparatus (IITC) as described elsewhere (Cunha et al., 2004; Inoue et al., 2004). Three measurements were taken from each paw (separated at 10 min intervals) then averaged to determine paw-withdrawal threshold in grams.

To induce inflammatory pain, 20 μ l complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA, from Sigma or MP Biomedicals) was injected into one hindpaw, centrally beneath glabrous skin, with a 30G needle. The spared nerve injury (SNI) model of neuropathic pain was performed as described (Shields et al., 2003).

5.3) Results

5.3.1) NT5E is Expressed in DRG Sensory Neurons and Produces Adenosine

NT5E is thought to be expressed in mouse DRG and spinal cord based on histochemical assays that utilize the degradation of nucleotide monophosphates to stain these tissues. However, other enzymes present in these regions, such as PAP, are also capable of degrading nucleotide monophosphates (Zylka et al., 2008). It is thus difficult to conclude based solely on functional assays if NT5E is indeed expressed in DRG and spinal cord. To test if NT5E protein is expressed in these regions, we performed double-label immunofluorescence with a commercially available anti-NT5E antibody and antibodies for various sensory neuron markers in these tissues. The anti-NT5E antibody specificity was confirmed by both an absence of staining when primary antibody was excluded and an absence of staining in tissues from $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice (data not shown) (Thompson et al., 2004a).

In agreement with published studies using histochemical staining, NT5E is predominantly expressed in small diameter DRG neurons, with only a small percentage of large-diameter neurons showing NT5E staining (Figures 5.1A-5.1V). Cell counts from confocal images revealed that only $4.5 \pm 0.9\%$ of NT5E⁺ neurons express NF200, a marker of myelinated neurons (Figures 5.1T-5.1V and Table 5.1). NT5E is expressed in the vast majority of nonpeptidergic DRG neurons, as defined by the markers IB4, *Mrgprd-EDGPf*, and P2X₃ (Figures 5.1D-5.1L and Table 5.1). Interestingly, nearly all NT5E⁺ neurons also express PAP, which is also predominantly found in nonpeptidergic nociceptors (Figures 5.1A-5.1C and Table 5.1) (Zylka et al., 2008). In addition, NT5E was also expressed in a substantial number (38.0 ±2.4%) of peptidergic CGRP⁺ neurons (Figures 5.1M-5.1O and Table 5.1). Fittingly, NT5E⁺ axons terminated in both laminae I and II in the spinal cord in association with peptidergic and nonpeptidergic axons, respectively (Figures 5.2A-5.2M). Finally, 18.9 ± 2.4% of NT5E⁺ neurons express the capsaicin and noxious heat receptor TRPV1 (Figures 5.1P-5.1S and Table 5.1). Together, these imaging studies show that NT5E

protein is in fact expressed in DRG and spinal cord, predominantly in nonpeptidergic, but also in peptidergic nociceptive neurons.

To test if it NT5E degrades AMP in nociceptive circuits, we stained spinal cord as well as DRG sections and cultures from WT and $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice using AMP histochemistry at pH 7.0. In spinal cord, AMP histochemical staining was dramatically reduced in $Nt5e^{-/2}$ mice relative to WT in laminae I and II of the dorsal horn, where NT5E⁺ axons terminate (Figure 5.3A-5.3D). This loss of staining in $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice was not due to loss of axon terminals in the dorsal horn (Figure 5.4). In WT DRG sections, staining was most intense in small-diameter neurons, fibers, and the epineural sheath, with some weak granular cytoplasmic staining in large-diameter neurons (Figure 5.3E). In DRG sections from $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice, staining was much less intense in small-diameter and large-diameter neurons, while fiber and epineural staining was almost entirely eliminated (Figure 5.3F). The reduction in staining in $Nt5e^{-/2}$ mice was not due to developmental loss of DRG neurons, as wild-type and $Nt5e^{-7}$ mice had equivalent numbers of P2X₃-expressing neurons and CGRP-expressing neurons relative to all NeuN⁺ neurons in lumbar ganglia (Table 5.2). In DRG neurons cultured from WT animals, staining is seen predominantly in small-diameter neurons in both the cell body and the projecting neurites (Figure 5.3G). The cellular staining is reduced in cultured DRG neurons from $Nt5e^{-1}$ ^{/-} mice, and strikingly, the neurite staining is completely eliminated (<u>Figure 5.3H</u>). Residual staining in both the DRG and spinal cord is most likely due to PAP activity, which we have previously shown to be an AMPase in these regions (Zylka et al., 2008). Together these data show that NT5E is present in nociceptive neurons and can degrade AMP to locally produce adenosine.

5.3.2) NT5E Protein and AMPase Activity are Reduced in the Spinal Cord Following Nerve Injury

Many genes are up- and down-regulated following nerve injury and can impact the development or maintenance of subsequent neuropathic pain. For example, PAP is downregulated in DRG and spinal cord following nerve injury (Costigan et al., 2002; Davis-Taber and Scott, 2006), and restoring PAP activity can attenuate neuropathic pain behaviors in mice (Zylka et al., 2008). To determine if NT5E protein and activity levels were altered following nerve injury, we conducted immunofluorescence and AMP histochemistry on lumbar spinal cord collected from WT mice fourteen days after unilateral sciatic nerve injury using the spared nerve injury (SNI) model. In this model, the peroneal and sural branches of the sciatic nerve are ligated, while the tibial branch is left intact. This injury results in profound ipsilateral mechanical allodynia and mild thermal hyperalgesia. Strikingly, nerve injury resulted in the complete loss of NT5E protein expression and a decrease in AMPase activity in the regions of lamina II of the spinal cord that receive input from the transected peroneal and sural nerves (Figure 5.5A-5.5E). IB4 labeling was reduced in these regions, while CGRP labeling was unaltered. This loss of NT5E expression and activity following nerve injury could contribute to the subsequent development of mechanical allodynia and thermal hyperalgesia associated with neuropathic pain.

5.3.3) Chronic Pain-induced Thermal Hyperalgesia and Mechanical Allodynia are Enhanced in *Nt5e^{-/-}* Mice.

Since our imaging studies suggest NT5E is expressed in nociceptive neurons, we next tested age-matched WT C57BL/6 and $Nt5e^{-/-}$ male mice in a number of acute and chronic

pain behavioral assays. We found no significant differences between genotypes using a measure of acute mechanical sensitivity (electronic von Frey) (Table 5.3). In examining acute thermal sensitivity, we saw no significant differences between the genotypes in the Hargreaves radiant light source or hotplate tests. However, $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice did have shorter latencies in the tail immersion test at both temperatures studied (46.5°C and 49°C), indicating an increased acute thermal sensitivity in this assay (Table 5.3). In addition, $Nt5e^{-7}$ mice showed significantly greater thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia compared to WT in the complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) model of inflammatory pain (Figures 5.6A, 5.6B). Further, $Nt5e^{-\lambda}$ mice showed significantly greater thermal hyperalgesia in the SNI model of neuropathic pain (Figures 5.6C, 5.6D). Taken together, $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice show only a slight increase in acute thermal sensitivity and no change in acute mechanical sensitivity at baseline, but develop significantly greater thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia following inflammation or nerve injury. Interestingly, similar patterns of behavior are also seen in $Pap^{-/-}$ and A₁-adenosine receptor knockout mice $(A_1R^{-/-})$ (Wu et al., 2005; Zylka et al., 2008).

We have recently shown that chronic activation of A₁Rs through the AMPase action of PAP leads to depletion of intracellular stores of the phospholipid phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate (PIP₂) (Figure 4.8). Conversely, PIP₂ levels are significantly higher in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice compared to wild type animals (Figure 4.11A), and this elevation in PIP₂ corresponds with increased responses to pro-nociceptive compounds, including CFA. Since both PAP and NT5E are AMPases that make adenosine and activate A₁Rs, we measured PIP₂ levels in L3-L6 DRG from $Nt5e^{-/-}$ and $A_1R^{-/-}$ mice and compared them to wild type controls. PIP₂ levels were significantly increased in $Nt5e^{-/-}$ and $A_1R^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 5.7), suggesting that loss

of A₁R activation leads to increases in PIP₂, which may be responsible for the enhanced nociception seen in $Nt5e^{-/-}$, $A_1R^{-/-}$, and $Pap^{-/-}$ mice.

5.3.4) *Nt5e^{-/-}* Mice are Deficient in Degrading AMP in the Spinal Cord *in vivo*

Numerous studies have shown the antinociceptive properties of adenosine and adenosine analogs acting on A₁Rs in the spinal cord (Hayashida et al., 2005; Lavand'homme and Eisenach, 1999; Sawynok, 2007). Further, AMP has antinociceptive properties when infused into the spinal cord in the setting of capsaicin-induced mechanical hyperalgesia (Patterson et al., 2001). This effect was proposed to be due to AMP degradation to adenosine by NT5E and other ectonucleotidases. We thus utilized the antinociceptive effects of AMP to look at the role of NT5E in the degradation of exogenous AMP to adenosine in the spinal cord.

To test this, we measured thermal sensitivity in WT, $Nt5e^{-t}$, and A_1R^{-t} mice before and after intrathecal (i.t.) injection of a combination of AMP and the adenosine kinase inhibitor 5-iodotubercidin (ITU). Adenosine kinase inhibitors block phosphorylation of adenosine to AMP and prolong the half-life of extracellular adenosine (Kowaluk and Jarvis, 2000). We found it was necessary to combine AMP and ITU, as injection of either compound alone had no effect on thermal sensitivity (Figure 5.9A, 5.9B). Injection of AMP + ITU significantly increased paw withdrawal latency to a noxious thermal stimulus for up to 2 hours in WT and $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice (Figure 5.8A). However, the effect was significantly greater in WT mice compared to $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice, suggesting that NT5E is at least partly responsible for the AMPase activity in WT animals. There was no effect of AMP + ITU in A_1R^{-t} animals,
showing that adenosine receptor activation is required for the antinociceptive effect of these compounds (Figure 5.8A).

We also examined the effect of AMP + ITU in the setting of ongoing inflammation. We injected one hindpaw of WT and $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice with CFA to induce thermal hyperalgesia. One day later, i.t. injection of AMP + ITU significantly reduced thermal hyperalgesia in the injected paw for up to three hours in WT mice and for up to two hours in $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 5.8B). The antinociceptive effect was also significantly less in $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice compared to WT. Taken together, these data show that NT5E is capable of degrading AMP to adenosine to reduce thermal nociception *in vivo*.

5.3.5) Recombinant Mouse NT5E Protein has Long-lasting Antinociceptive Properties through Activation of A₁Rs

We desired to inject a soluble form of NT5E protein to see if it had long-lasting antinociceptive properties similar to soluble PAP (Sowa et al., 2009; Zylka et al., 2008). However, the only source of soluble NT5E protein available was a purified version of the protein from snake venom (Croatalus species, (Aird, 2005)). We were concerned about injecting snake proteins into mice, and thus attempted to make a recombinant version of the mouse NT5E protein using the baculovirus expression system. We have previously used this system to produce large quantities of functional recombinant mouse PAP (Sowa et al., 2009).

We generated a baculovirus expression construct containing a version of NT5E where the C-terminal GPI anchor was removed and replaced by a hexahistidine (H6) epitope tag (mNT5E-His6, henceforth referred to as mNT5E) (Figure 5.10A, 5.10B). We detected large quantities of mNT5E protein in the tissue culture supernatant of Hi5 insect cells two days after infection with recombinant baculovirus. We purified mNT5E from supernatant in one step, using nickel chelate affinity chromatography. We confirmed protein purity by running mNT5E on a SDS-PAGE gel and staining for total protein and western blotting (Figure 5.10C). In both cases, we observed one predominant band at ~60 kDa, corresponding to the calculated molecular weight of mNT5E. This purified, recombinant mNT5E protein effectively dephosphorylated AMP at pH 7.0, indicating the protein is fully functional (Figure 5.10D).

We next tested mNT5E's ability to modulate nociception in vivo. We measured thermal and mechanical sensitivity in WT and $A_1 R^{-1}$ mice before and after initiation of inflammatory pain by intraplantar injection of CFA into one hindpaw. As seen previously (Wu et al., 2005), $A_1 R^{-2}$ mice develop significantly greater thermal hyperalgesia in response to CFA injection (Figure 5.11A). One day later, we injected all animals i.t. with 1.7 units (2.4 µg) mNT5E. In WT mice, mNT5E caused a significant reversal of both thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia in the injected paw that lasted for 2 days (Figure 5.11A, 5.11B). In addition, paw withdrawal latency also increased in the contralateral, uninjected control paw for up to 2 days. However, mechanical sensitivity was unchanged in the control paw. Thus, mNT5E can reduce thermal nociception in the naïve and inflammatory states, while only affecting mechanical sensitivity in the inflammatory state. No change in thermal or mechanical sensitivity was seen in the inflamed or control paws of $A_1 R^{-2}$ mice after mNT5E injection, suggesting the protein is affecting nociception through activation of A₁Rs. In all cases, mNT5E did not cause paralysis or sedation. Taken together, recombinant mNT5E inhibits nociception through production of adenosine and activation of $A_1Rs.$

5.4) Discussion

NT5E has been studied in a number of tissues, including colon, kidney, brain, liver, heart, and lung (Colgan et al., 2006; Yegutkin, 2008). Detection of NT5E in these tissues has been largely dependent on enzyme histochemistry, as studies using antibodies directed specifically against NT5E have shown conflicting results (Braun et al., 1994; Schoen et al., 1988; Zimmermann, 1996). These histochemical studies typically use AMP as a substrate at neutral pH. However, this is not specific for NT5E activity, as other enzymes, including PAP, are also capable of degrading AMP under these conditions (Zylka et al., 2008). In the brain, a recent study confirmed that NT5E is expressed broadly in the cortex, hippocampus, and cerebellum using enzyme histochemistry in $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice (Langer et al., 2008). However, such definitive studies have not been done in the spinal cord or DRG. Thus, while NT5E-like activity had been assumed to be present in these regions, prior to our study there was no direct experimental proof that NT5E was expressed and functioned in nociceptive circuits.

In order to address this, we used a commercially available antibody directed against recombinant mouse NT5E protein to show the expression of NT5E in spinal cord and DRG. These studies show that NT5E is indeed expressed in DRG neurons, primarily in the small-diameter, unmyelinated subset. The majority of NT5E⁺ neurons also express markers of the nonpeptidergic subclass of DRG neurons, while a smaller, but still substantial percentage of NT5E⁺ neurons express the peptidergic marker CGRP (Figure 5.1). Fittingly, NT5E protein is seen predominantly in the spinal cord in laminae I and II of the dorsal horn, where peptidergic and nonpeptidergic neurons terminate. Further, these immunofluorescence studies agree with our own enzyme histochemistry studies, which show abundant AMPase

activity in small diameter DRG neurons and the superficial laminae of the dorsal horn. This AMPase activity is severely reduced in $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice, confirming the ability of NT5E to degrade AMP in situ (Figures 5.3A-D). We are thus the first to show definitively that NT5E protein is expressed in nociceptive circuits and is responsible for at least some of the AMPase activity seen in these regions.

Given that NT5E is expressed in nociceptive neurons and can generate adenosine, it is not surprising that genetic deletion of NT5E leads to changes in pain sensation. Indeed, $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice show increased thermal sensitivity in the tail immersion test at baseline and increased thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia in inflammatory and neuropathic pain states (Figures 5.6A-D). Importantly, this particular phenotype is nearly identical to that seen in $A_1 R^{-/-}$ mice (Wu et al., 2005) and very similar to that seen in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice (Zylka et al., 2008). It is thus likely that both NT5E and PAP are acting through a similar mechanism – production of adenosine from the degradation of AMP and subsequent activation of A_1 Rs.

NT5E⁺ neurons are ideally located to act on A₁Rs, as these receptors are concentrated in lamina II of the spinal cord, specifically in close contact with IB4⁺ neurons and in smallto medium-diameter DRG neurons (Schulte et al., 2003). Thus, NT5E can act locally to generate extracellular adenosine and modulate A₁Rs on presynaptic terminals and postsynaptic neurons in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. A₁R activation at these sites inhibits presynaptic glutamate release from unmyelinated terminals and inhibits postsynaptic neurons in the substantia gelatinosa of the spinal cord (Lao et al., 2001; Li and Perl, 1994; Patel et al., 2001). In addition, we have recently shown that PAP, through chronic activation of A₁Rs, can deplete intracellular stores of PIP₂ in DRG (Figures 4.8, 4.11). This PIP₂ depletion decreases pro-nociceptive signaling through the noxious heat sensor TRPV1 and

GPCRs. $Pap^{-/-}$ mice have increased levels of PIP₂ in their DRG, corresponding with increased nociception. $Nt5e^{-/-}$ and $A_1R^{-/-}$ mice also show elevated levels of PIP₂ in DRG compared to wild type animals, again corresponding with increased nociception (Figure 5.7). Whether loss of NT5E activity at A₁Rs is directly leading to this increase in PIP₂ requires further study, but remains a potential mechanism for the inhibition of nociception by endogenous NT5E. Regardless of its exact mechanism of action downstream of A₁Rs, our data suggest that modulation of NT5E activity is a promising new therapeutic approach for the treatment of chronic pain.

5.4.1) The Role of Multiple AMPases in Nociceptive Circuits

Recently, we were the first to identify PAP as an ectonucleotidase in nociceptive circuits (Zylka et al., 2008). PAP is expressed in small-diameter, predominantly nonpeptidergic DRG neurons, degrades AMP to adenosine in vitro and in vivo, and inhibits thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia induced by inflammation or nerve injury through activation of A₁Rs. In the course of our studies, we recognized that while PAP was partly responsible for the visible AMPase activity in DRG and lamina II of spinal cord, some of this activity remained in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice, suggesting there is at least one additional ectonucleotidase in these regions. Here, we have shown that NT5E is largely responsible for the visible pattern closely mimics that of PAP. Like PAP, NT5E is found predominantly in nonpeptidergic DRG neurons, as defined by the markers P2X₃, IB4, and *MrgprD*. In fact, virtually all (95.5 ± 1.1%) NT5E⁺ neurons also express PAP, while the vast majority of PAP⁺ neurons also express NT5E (82.7 ± 1.5%). In addition, NT5E and

PAP expression overlap significantly in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord, although PAP seems to be limited to lamina II, while NT5E extends slightly into lamina I as well.

Why is there overlap in the expression of two enzymes that seemingly perform the same action, namely degradation of AMP to adenosine? While both NT5E and PAP can indeed dephosphorylate AMP, their functional profiles are very different. NT5E hydrolyses exclusively 5'-monophosphates, with 5'-AMP being its favored substrate (Zimmermann, 1992). Its K_m for AMP is in the low micromolar range and its pH optimum is somewhere between 7 and 8 (Zimmermann, 1992). PAP, on the other hand, is capable of dephosphorylating numerous substrates, including para-nitrophenyl phosphate (p-NPP), β glycerophosphate, lysophosphatidic acid, and many nucleotides, especially nucleotide monophosphates (AMP, TMP, XMP, CMP, GMP, IMP, and UMP) (Ostrowski and Kuciel, 1994; Silverman and Kruger, 1988a). Among adenine-containing nucleotides, PAP can dephosphorylate AMP, ADP, and ATP at acidic pH (with relative activity AMP > ADP > ATP), but predominantly acts on AMP at neutral pH (Sowa et al., 2009). The K_m of PAP for AMP at neutral pH is in the low millimolar range, and the enzyme has activity over a very broad pH range (pH 4 – 8) (Dziembor-Gryszkiewicz et al., 1978; Lam et al., 1973; Sowa et al., 2009).

Thus, while both NT5E and PAP are capable of degrading AMP, their functional properties hint at different roles depending on the conditions outside of the cell. At normal extracellular pH, it seems NT5E is much better suited to rapidly degrade AMP to adenosine, as it has a much greater affinity for AMP than PAP under these conditions. However, when external pH deviates from neutral, PAP is still capable of making adenosine, while NT5E is not. This is particularly important considering that tissue injury produces an "inflammatory

soup" containing protons and nucleotides that can reduce extracellular pH (Julius and Basbaum, 2001). Under "resting" conditions NT5E may be more important than PAP in the degradation of AMP, but PAP might play a more vital role following repeated neuronal activation or inflammation. Studies of AMP degradation under different conditions *in vivo* in mice lacking one or both of the enzymes might help clarify their specific roles.

In addition, while NT5E is limited in its activity to 5'-nucleoside monophosphates, PAP is much more promiscuous and might also be important in the dephosphorylation of other substrates. For example, PAP is capable of directly degrading pro-nociceptive compounds like lysophosphatidic acid and creating antinociceptive compounds like 2arachidonylglycerol (Hillard, 2000; Nakane et al., 2002; Sugiura et al., 2000; Tanaka et al., 2004). While our previous studies pointed to PAP's AMPase activity as the main source of its antinociceptive action, it is possible PAP is also important in the degradation of pronociceptive compounds or the production of antinociceptive compounds under conditions we haven't examined.

Finally, while our data suggest that NT5E and PAP are the main AMPases present in the DRG and dorsal horn of the spinal cord, the possibility remains that there are other ectonucleotidases in these regions that could also make adenosine from AMP. For example, alkaline phosphatases are non-specific phosphomonoesterases which are capable of degrading nucleoside 5'-tri-, -di-, and –monophosphates, including AMP (Zimmermann, 2006). Tissue-nonspecific alkaline phosphatase (TNAP) is expressed in the spinal cord, but its detailed expression and role in modulation of nociceptive signaling has not been studied. Further, while AMP conversion to adenosine is the rate-limiting step in the pathway of degradation of ATP to adenosine, other ectonucleotidases, such as E-NTPDases, are capable

of catalyzing the upstream reactions of ATP and/or ADP dephosphorylation (Zimmermann, 2006). These enzymes have not been studied in the nociceptive system, and given the importance of adenine nucleotides in pain signaling, they could also be important targets for the treatment of chronic pain.

5.4.2) Therapeutic Potential of Recombinant NT5E

A promising and exciting new approach for the treatment of chronic pain is the use of recombinant NT5E protein. Here we have shown that purified recombinant mouse NT5E is has long-lasting antinociceptive properties. In fact, a single i.t. injection lasted for several days and was antihyperalgesic specifically in the thermal modality in uninjured animals and was antihyperalgesic and antiallodynic in CFA-inflamed animals. These effects were dependent on A₁R activation, confirming that recombinant mNT5E acts through the production of adenosine from AMP. The nature and duration of the antinociceptive effects of mNT5E are similar to purified human PAP (hPAP) and recombinant mouse PAP (mPAP), both of which also act through activation of A₁Rs (Sowa et al., 2009; Zylka et al., 2008). Amazingly, like hPAP and mPAP, a single injection mNT5E has antinociceptive properties that are similar in magnitude but much longer in duration than the commonly used analgesic morphine (Zylka et al., 2008).

Somewhat surprising is the absence of obvious side effects following injection of mNT5E. While adenosine A₁R agonists have antinociceptive properties in humans and in animal models of chronic inflammatory and neuropathic pain (Hayashida et al., 2005; Lavand'homme and Eisenach, 1999; Sawynok, 2007), they are not clinically used due to severe side effects, including transient lower back pain and motor paralysis at high doses

(Belfrage et al., 1999; Eisenach et al., 2003; Sawynok, 2007). Motor side effects are not surprising, given the high expression of A₁Rs in motor neurons (Reppert et al., 1991). While mNT5E presumably produces adenosine and activates A₁Rs throughout the spinal cord, we do not see motor effects at the dose of mNT5E tested. This could be due to the fact that, as an enzyme, the amount of adenosine produced by mNT5E is limited by the substrate concentration, in this case AMP. Thus, mNT5E may be producing a sufficient amount of adenosine in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord to mediate antinociception, but not enough to inhibit motor function in the ventral horn. This catalytic restriction could also explain the absence of motor side effects following injection of hPAP or mPAP (Sowa et al., 2009; Zylka et al., 2008).

Recombinant proteins are routinely used to treat a number of human diseases and disorders. These proteins are relatively easy to produce and purify and are safe to use in humans. Thus, it is likely that a recombinant human form of NT5E could be produced as a treatment for not only chronic pain, but also for a number of other conditions where production of adenosine is important in mediation of the disease process. In fact, administration of NT5E is beneficial in other experimental scenarios. For example, soluble NT5E promotes vascular barrier function and decreases neutrophil accumulation in inflammatory models of lung disease, reduces macrophage trafficking in ischemic brain tissue, protects renal tissue from ischemic injury, and decreases myocardial infarct size through ischemic preconditioning (Eckle et al., 2007b; Eltzschig et al., 2004; Grenz et al., 2007; Petrovic-Djergovic et al., 2007; Reutershan et al., 2009; Thompson et al., 2004b). The NT5E used in these studies is not human, but rather collected from the venom of rattlesnakes (typically from the genera *Crotalus*) (Aird, 2005). Obviously, the development of a

recombinant form of the human NT5E protein would be much more desirable for therapeutic purposes in humans. Such a protein, when delivered locally, could play an important role in the treatment not only of chronic pain, but of many disease processes, including myocardial ischemia/infarction, stroke, acute lung injury, and renal failure.

5.5) Figures and Tables



Figure 5.1. NT5E is expressed primarily in nonpeptidergic DRG neurons. (A-V) Mouse L4-L6 DRG neurons were stained with antibodies against various sensory neuron markers (green) and with antibodies against NT5E (red). Arrowheads mark examples of double-labeled cells. Images were acquired by confocal microscopy. Scale bar (see panel V) is 50 μm for all panels. (Back to text)



Figure 5.2. NT5E protein is localized primarily to nonpeptidergic and some peptidergic axon terminals in dorsal spinal cord. Lumbar spinal cord sections were double-labeled with antibodies against selected axonal markers (A, D, G, J; green) and NT5E (B, E, H, K; red). IB4, $Mrgprd\Delta_{EGFPf}$, and PAP mark nonpeptidergic endings in lamina II. CGRP marks peptidergic endings in lamina I. Images were acquired by confocal microscopy. Scale bar: 150 µm for all panels. (Back to text)



Figure 5.3. NT5E has AMPase activity in nociceptive circuits. (A-D) Spinal cord, (E, F) lumbar DRG, and (G, H) cultured DRG neurons from wild-type (WT) and $Nt5e^{-/-}$ adult mice stained with AMP histochemistry. (A, B) Staining was primarily localized to the dorsal horn (arrowhead) of spinal cord, and was diminished in $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice. (C, D) are the same spinal cords from (A, B) at higher magnification. (E, F) Staining was diminished in cell bodies of DRG neurons and eliminated in fibers and epineurium in $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice. (G, H) Staining was diminished in DRG cell bodies and eliminated in neurites in $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice (arrowheads). AMP

(3 mM in [A-D] and 6 mM in [E-H]) was used as substrate, and buffer was pH 7.0. Scale bar is 500 um in (A) and (B), 200 um in (C) and (D), and 50 um in (E-H). (Back to text)



Figure 5.4. Axon terminals are anatomically normal in $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice. Lumbar spinal cord sections from (A) wild-type and (B) $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice were stained with antibodies to CGRP (to mark peptidergic nerve endings), isolectin B4 (IB4, to mark nonpeptidergic nerve endings) and antibodies to protein kinase C- γ (PKC γ , to mark interneurons in laminas IIinner and III). Confocal image analysis revealed no gross anatomical differences between genotypes (n=2 mice from each genotype). Scale bar: 100 µm. (Back to text)



Figure 5.5. NT5E protein and activity is reduced following peripheral nerve injury.

(A-E) Lumbar spinal cord from a wild-type mouse (A) stained using AMP histochemistry or labeled with antibodies against the indicated axonal markers 14 days after unilateral injury to the left peroneal and sural nerves. The region of the spinal cord receiving innervation from these injured nerves (arrowheads) showed reduced staining and labeling. For (A) AMP (3 mM) was used as substrate and buffer pH was 7.0. Scale bar 200 µM. (Back to text)



Figure 5.6. *Nt5e^{-/-}* mice show enhanced nociceptive responses following inflammation and nerve injury. (A, B) CFA inflammatory pain model. Wild-type and *Nt5e^{-/-}* mice were tested for (A) thermal and (B) mechanical sensitivity before (BL) and following injection of CFA (arrow) into one hindpaw. The contralateral hindpaw served as control. (C, D) SNI neuropathic pain model. Wild-type and *Nt5e^{-/-}* were tested for (C) thermal and (D) mechanical sensitivity prior to (BL) and after ligation and transaction of the sural and common peroneal branches of the sciatic nerve. (A-D) Paired t tests were used to compare responses at each time point between wild-type and *Nt5e^{-/-}* mice (n = 10 per genotype); same paw comparisons. **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.005, ****P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 5.7. PIP₂ **levels are increased in** $A_1 R^{-/-}$ **and** $Nt5e^{-/-}$ **mice.** PIP₂ levels in L3-L6 DRG were quantified in wild-type (WT) mice, $A_1 R^{-/-}$ mice, and $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice. n=3 mice per condition. **P* < 0.05 compared to WT by paired t test. Values are means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 5.8. NT5E degrades AMP to adenosine in vivo. (A) AMPase-induced antinociception in wild-type (WT), $Nt5e^{-t}$, and $A1R^{-t}$ mice. Thermal sensitivity was measured at baseline (BL) and after i.t. injection of AMP (200 nmol) + 5-iodotubercidin (ITU; 5 nmol). Paired t tests were used to compare responses at each timepoint to BL values (black asterisks) within a given genotype (n = 8 mice per genotype). Paired t tests were also used to compare responses at each time point between WT and $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice (red asterisks). (B) AMPase-induced antinociception in WT and $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice following inflammation. Mice were tested for thermal sensitivity before (BL) and after injection of CFA (arrowhead) into one hindpaw. One day later, all mice were injected i.t. with AMP (200 nmol) + ITU (5 nmol) and thermal sensitivity was measured for several hours after injection. Paired t tests were used to compare responses following AMP + ITU injection to the response 1 day after CFA injection in the same paw. n = 8 mice per genotype. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.005, ***P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 5.9. Injection of AMP or 5-iodotubercidin (ITU) alone has no effect on thermal sensitivity. Thermal sensitivity was measured before (baseline, BL) or after intrathecal (i.t.) injection with (A) AMP (200 nmol) or (B) ITU (5 nmol). No significant differences from BL values were seen in any genotype. n = 8 mice per genotype. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 5.10. Purification of recombinant mNT5E. (A) A hexahistidine tag (H6) and stop codon (*) were added to the C-terminus of mouse NT5E. Map is not drawn to scale. (B) Amino acid sequence at the junction between the catalytic domain and H6 tag. A four amino-acid putative GPI anchor site (arrow) was removed at the C-terminus, just upstream of the H6 tag. Asterisk marks stop codon. (C) GelCode blue-stained SDS-PAGE gel and western blot of purified recombinant mNT5E protein (1 mg and 5 mg, respectively). The western blot was probed with an anti-NT5E antibody. (D) AMP (400 μM) degradation by mNT5E as measured by moles of released inorganic phosphate over time. (<u>Back to text</u>)



Figure 5.11. mNT5E protein has long-lasting antinociceptive effects when injected intraspinally. Wild-type (WT) and $A_I R^{-/-}$ mice were tested for (A) thermal and (B) mechanical sensitivity before (baseline, BL) and after injection of CFA into one hindpaw (arrow). One day later, mNT5E protein (1.7 units) was injected i.t. into all mice (arrowhead) and thermal sensitivity was measured for several days. Inflamed and non-inflamed (control) hindpaws were both measured. Paired t testes were used to compare responses at each time point between genotypes (n = 10 animals per genotype). *P < 0.05, **P < 0.005, ***P <0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)

Marker	Percentage of NT5E ⁺ neurons expressing indicated marker	Percentage of marker ⁺ neurons expressing NT5E
PAP	95.5 ± 1.1	82.7 ± 1.5
P2X ₃	89.3 ± 1.0	82.3 ± 1.9
IB4	83.6 ± 2.6	87.4 ± 2.5
MrgprD-EGFPf	$\textbf{74.9} \pm \textbf{1.4}$	98.5 ± 0.3
CGRP	44.6 ± 3.6	38.0 ± 2.4
TRPV1	18.9 ± 2.4	26.1 ± 3.0
NF200	4.5 ± 0.9	4.4 ± 0.9

Table 5.1. Quantitative analysis of NT5E and sensory neuron marker co-localizationwithin wild-type mouse L4-L6 DRG neurons.

At least 500 cells were counted per combination. Data are means \pm s.e.m. (Back to text)

	% CGRP ⁺	% P2X ₃ ⁺
Wild-type	45.0 ± 1.6	45.3 ± 1.2
$Nt5e^{-t}$	44.5 ± 0.9	44.6 ± 1.1
	P = 0.782	P = 0.685

Table 5.2. Comparison of CGRP-containing and P2X₃-containing populations in L4-L6 DRG from wild-type and $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice.

Percentage of total NeuN⁺ neurons expressing the markers was calculated. Dorsal root ganglia from three mice counted per genotype. Counter was blind to genotype. Data expressed as means \pm s.e.m.

(Back to text)

Behavioral Assay	Wild-type	Nt5e ^{-/-}	
	Withdrawal threshold:		
Electronic von Frey	$8.1\pm0.2~g$	$7.7\pm0.2\;g$	
	Withdrawal latency:		
Radiant heating of hindpaw (Hargreaves Method)	$10.6 \pm 0.3 \text{ s}$	$10.3 \pm 04 \text{ s}$	
Tail immersion at 46.5°C	$13.8\pm1.1\ s$	$9.5 \pm 0.5 \ s^{**}$	
Tail immersion at 49.0°C	$5.6\pm0.3\ s$	$4.2 \pm 0.2 \text{ s}^{**}$	
Hot plate at 52°C	$29.4 \pm 2.1 \text{ s}$	$31.4 \pm 2.7 \text{ s}$	
Hot plate at 55°C	15.3 ± 1.9 s	$15.8\pm1.5~s$	

Table 5.3. Acute mechanical and thermal sensitivity in $Nt5e^{-t}$ mice.

Data are expressed as means \pm s.e.m. Paired t-tests were used to compare genotypes for each test, ***P* < 0.005. n=10 male mice tested per genotype. (Back to text)

CHAPTER 6

Conclusions and Discussion

6.1) Summary of Findings

The major findings presented in this work include:

Prostatic Acid Phosphatase Suppresses Pain by Generating Adenosine

- Prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP) is the molecular identity of the fluoride resistant acid phosphatase (FRAP)/TMPase present in dorsal root ganglia and spinal cord.
- PAP is expressed predominantly in the nonpeptidergic class of nociceptive DRG neurons whose axons terminate in lamina II of the dorsal spinal cord.
- 3) PAP colocalizes extensively with IB4, P2X₃, and *MrgprD* and only minimally with CGRP in DRG. There is some overlap with TRPV1.
- 4) Genetic deletion of PAP does not affect acute nociception.
- 5) Genetic deletion of PAP leads to greater thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia following inflammatory insult.
- 6) Genetic deletion of PAP leads to greater thermal hyperalgesia following nerve injury.
- Intrathecal injection of soluble PAP leads to dose-dependent thermal antinociception in naïve mice that lasts for up to three days.
- Intrathecal injection of soluble PAP partially reverses thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia in inflammatory and neuropathic pain models.

- 9) PAP acts as an AMP-degrading ectonucleotidase in vitro, in situ, and in vivo.
- 10) PAP's antinociceptive effect depends on activity at A₁-adenosine receptors.
- 11) PAP is the first extensively characterized ectonucleotidase in nociceptive circuits.

Recombinant Mouse PAP has pH-Dependent Ectonucleotidase Activity and Acts through A₁-Adenosine Receptors to Mediate Antinociception

- Large quantities of recombinant mouse PAP (mPAP) can be made using the baculovirus expression system.
- mPAP is an ectonucleotidase in vitro, capable of degrading AMP > ADP > ATP at pH
 5.6 and AMP at pH 7.0.
- Intrathecal injection of mPAP has dose-dependent thermal antinociceptive effects in naïve mice that last for three days.
- Intrathecal injection of mPAP partially reverses thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia in inflammatory pain.
- mPAP's antinociceptive action depends on activity of A₁R, suggesting it acts as an ectonucleotidase in vivo.

Prostatic Acid Phosphatase Reduces Pain Sensitization and TRPV1-dependent Thermal Sensitivity by Depleting PIP₂

- PAP inhibits activity of the noxious heat and capsaicin receptor TRPV1 in vitro and in vivo.
- PAP's action on TRPV1 depends on its ability to act as an ectonucleotidase and activate A₁R.

- PAP's thermal antinociceptive effects when injected intrathecally are partially due to inhibition of TRPV1.
- 4) Genetic deletion of PAP enhances capsaicin-evoked pain responses.
- PAP activation of A₁R leads to depletion of cellular levels of PIP₂ in vitro through a PLC-dependent process.
- 6) PAP-mediated depletion of cellular PIP_2 reduces TRPV1 activity in vitro.
- Genetic deletion of PAP increases levels of PIP₂ in DRG in vivo, while injection of PAP decreases levels of PIP₂ in DRG.
- PAP's antinociceptive effects in vivo are blocked by inhibition of PLC or direct addition of PIP₂.
- PAP inhibits signaling through pro-nociceptive GPCRs by activation of A₁R and depletion of cellular PIP₂ in vitro.
- 10) PAP blocks ATP-, LPA-, and nerve-injury induced hyperalgesia and allodynia.

NT5E is Expressed in Nociceptive Circuits and Suppresses Pain by Generating Adenosine

- 1) NT5E is expressed predominantly in nonpeptidergic nociceptive neurons and in some peptidergic neurons in DRG that terminate in laminae I and II in the dorsal spinal cord.
- NT5E is responsible for some of the AMP-degrading ectonucleotidase activity in the DRG and dorsal spinal cord in situ and in vivo.
- 3) NT5E expression and activity is reduced following peripheral nerve injury.
- 4) Genetic deletion of NT5E increases PIP_2 levels in DRG.
- 5) Genetic deletion of NT5E increases acute thermal nociception.

- 6) Genetic deletion of NT5E increases thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia following inflammation and increases thermal hyperalgesia following nerve injury.
- 7) NT5E degrades AMP to adenosine and suppress nociception in vivo.
- Large quantities of functionally active recombinant mouse NT5E (mNT5E) can be made using the baculovirus expression system.
- Intrathecal injection of mNT5E leads to thermal antinociceptive effects in naïve mice that last for two days.
- 10) Intrathecal injection of mNT5E partially reverses thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia following inflammation.
- 11) mNT5E's antinociceptive effects depend on the presence of A1R, suggesting it acts as an AMPase in vivo.

6.2) Multiple AMPases in Nociceptive Circuits

The work presented here represents the first known attempt to molecularly identify and characterize ectonucleotidases present in nociceptive circuits. Given the important role of adenine-containing nucleotides in the modulation of nociception, it is surprising no one has previously systematically studied these enzymes. While ectonucleotidase activity had been shown to be present in nociceptive circuits through several different lines of evidence, no follow-up had occurred in the cloning era to more precisely identify these important genes. Our work not only molecularly identifies the first two known ectonucleotidases in nociceptive circuits (see Figure 1.5, red text), but also demonstrates the importance of these enzymes in the modulation of nociceptive signaling. Further, we demonstrate the potential for targeting these enzymes for novel therapeutic approaches.

Both PAP and NT5E are expressed in similar neuronal populations in the DRG, and are present in axon terminals with overlapping expression in the dorsal horn. In fact, virtually all (95.5 ± 1.1%) NT5E⁺ neurons also express PAP, while the vast majority of PAP⁺ neurons (82.7 ± 1.5%) also express NT5E. This high degree of overlap is somewhat surprising given both enzymes inhibit nociception through the same mechanism: degradation of AMP to adenosine and subsequent activation of A₁R. This apparent shared pathway is demonstrated by the similar phenotypes seen in $PAP^{-/-}$, $Nt5e^{-/-}$, and $A_1R^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 2.8; Wu et al., 2005). All three knockout strains show minimal thermal nociceptive deficits in naïve animals, and significantly greater thermal hyperalgesia following inflammation and nerve injury.

It is of special note that deletion of a single ectonucleotidase enzyme produces a phenotype in these models that is identical to that seen in $A_I R^{-/-}$ mice. This suggests that loss of one enzyme is enough to reduce DRG and spinal adenosine production below that necessary to activate anti-nociceptive $A_1 R$ in the setting of inflammation or nerve injury. This result is somewhat surprising and could demonstrate a real physiologic effect or could reflect an inability of our measures to tease out small differences in thermal or mechanical sensitivity. Indeed, the tools we use for mechanical (electronic Von Frey) and thermal (radiant light source; Hargreaves) sensitivity testing are unlikely to pick up very subtle differences between animals. Regardless, our results demonstrate that endogenous PAP and NT5E act through similar pathways to reduce nociception.

This similarity of action is also demonstrated in the antinociceptive effects seen following intraspinal injection of soluble forms of the PAP and NT5E proteins. Both enzymes produce selective thermal antinociception in naïve animals and can reverse thermal

hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia following inflammation. Their antinociceptive effects are similar in onset, magnitude, and duration and require activity of A₁R, suggesting a similar mechanism of action (namely degradation of AMP to adenosine). Notably, A₁R agonists also produce antinociceptive effects that are selective for the thermal modality in naïve animals, while decreasing both thermal and mechanical hyperalgesia in inflamed or nerveinjured animals (Dickenson et al., 2000; Sawynok, 1998). There are also reports of longlasting antinociceptive effects following intraspinal delivery of adenosine or adenosine receptor agonists (Belfrage et al., 1995; Eisenach et al., 2003), similar to what we see with soluble PAP and NT5E.

Unlike adenosine or A_1R agonists, PAP and NT5E do not produce motor side effects when given intrathecally. This is likely due to the fact that as enzymes, PAP and NT5E are restricted in their activity by the abundance of their substrate, namely AMP. It seems likely that both enzymes are producing adenosine throughout the spinal cord, but while the amount made in the dorsal horn is sufficient to mediate antinociception, the amount made in the ventral horn is not enough to inhibit motor function due to lower levels of endogenous AMP. This catalytic restriction may limit the amount of A_1R activation and subsequent antinociception capable with PAP or NT5E administration, but could be advantageous by avoiding unwanted side-effects.

Perhaps the most revealing findings concerning the functional redundancy of PAP and NT5E come from our experiments examining AMP-induced antinociception in vivo. When injected intrathecally in conjunction with an adenosine kinase inhibitor, AMP produces a transient, thermal-selective antinociceptive effect. This effect is dependent upon activation of A_1R , suggesting it is due to AMP degradation to adenosine in vivo by neuronal

ectonucleotidases. Interestingly, AMP injection still results in antinociception in Pap^{\checkmark} and $Nt5e^{\checkmark}$ mice, although the effect is significantly lower than that seen in WT animals (Figures 5.8A, 6.1). The knockout strains have very similar phenotypes, suggesting the enzymes have similar abilities to degrade AMP in vivo. Amazingly, genetic deletion of both enzymes $(Nt5e^{-\prime}; Pap^{-\prime})$ leads to almost a complete inability to degrade AMP to adenosine and suppress acute nociception in vivo, suggesting the vast majority of the effect is due to these two enzymes (Figure 6.1). However, a minor antinociceptive effect is seen in $Nt5e^{-\prime}$; $Pap^{-\prime}$ mice, suggesting there is still some AMPase activity in the spinal cords of these animals. This effect is relatively minor, and could be due to alkaline phosphatases, which are also expressed in nociceptive circuits (see Section 1.5.4.3). Regardless of this minor effect, our experiments suggest that PAP and NT5E have similar efficacies in degrading AMP to adenosine in vivo, and that these two enzymes are the most important AMPases in nociceptive circuits.

The most obvious question that arises from these results is why does the nociceptive nervous system contain two enzymes in almost the exact same population of neurons that perform the same function. As discussed in Chapter 5, there could be two major reasons for this. First, while both PAP and NT5E are capable of acting as AMPases in vitro and in vivo, these enzymes have very different functional profiles. NT5E is an exclusive 5'-monophosphatase that selectively hydrolyzes 5'-AMP with a K_m in the low micromolar range and a pH optimum somewhere between pH 7 – 8. PAP is a promiscuous nonspecific phosphomonoesterase that can degrade numerous 5'-nucleoside monophosphates with a K_m in the low millimolar range and a broad pH range (pH 3 – 8). The differences in activity at varying pH values are especially important in the nervous system, where repeated neuronal

stimulation can produce slightly acidic conditions (Wemmie et al., 2008). Also, following tissue injury, an "inflammatory soup" arises that contains protons and nucleotides (Julius and Basbaum, 2001). In these settings, PAP, which is more active at acidic pH, may be more capable of degrading AMP to adenosine than NT5E. However, our preliminary data examining AMP antinociception in the setting of CFA-induced inflammation suggests that both PAP and NT5E are equally important in degrading AMP under these conditions (Figure 6.2). Study of AMP degradation under different conditions in our knockout strains may help clarify potentially different roles of the enzymes.

In addition to possible differences in activity under varying extracellular conditions, PAP is also capable of degrading a wide range of other substrates besides nucleotides, while NT5E is restricted to only 5'-nucleoside monophosphates. While other physiologically relevant substrates of PAP have not been clearly demonstrated, it has been suggested that the enzyme is capable of acting on cellular substrates to inhibit cell growth and replication (Lin et al., 1992; Lin et al., 1994; Lin et al., 2001; Quintero et al., 2007). Thus, PAP could play an important regulatory role in cell homeostasis, survival, or communication.

In addition, PAP can degrade the pro-nociceptive compound LPA (Tanaka et al., 2004). LPA is released from platelets and neurons following tissue injury and produces prolonged hyperalgesia and allodynia following activation of central LPA receptors (Inoue et al., 2004; Moolenaar et al., 2004). While we have shown that soluble PAP is capable of completely degrading LPA in vitro (Figure A1.1), our data suggest PAP decreases LPA receptor signaling through changes in downstream receptor signaling rather than directly through LPA dephosphorylation (Figures A1.2, 4.15). However, LPA-degrading enzymes can significantly lower extracellular LPA levels through direct breakdown (Pilquil et al.,

2001; Xu et al., 2000), suggesting PAP may also be capable of performing this action. While the antinociceptive actions of PAP appear to be dependent on adenosine production, it is possible that in the setting of long-term elevations in LPA, PAP could debulk LPA levels and affect nociception or other LPA-induced processes.

In addition, breakdown of some forms of LPA produces the antinociceptive cannabinoid 2-arachidonylglycerol (2-AG) (Hillard, 2000; Nakane et al., 2002). Thus, in one step, PAP could degrade a pro-nociceptive compound and produce an antinociceptive one. However, more studies are needed to determine if PAP performs these reactions in the nervous system in vivo and if they are physiologically relevant. The potential roles of PAP in the nervous system may go beyond degradation of AMP, while NT5E's actions are likely to be limited in scope.

6.3) Regulation of Cellular PIP₂ by Ectonucleotidases

In elucidating the mechanism of action of PAP, we have proposed a potentially novel mode of regulation of cellular activity by ectonucleotidases. Using cellular Ca^{2+} responses as a measure of receptor activation, we have shown that PAP reduces activation of the capsaicin and noxious heat receptor TRPV1, as well as signaling through LPA, ATP, thrombin, and bradykinin receptors (Figures 4.2, 4.12, 4.15.). Further, blocking A₁R activation, blocking PLC activation, or restoring PIP₂ levels by overexpression of a PI(4,5)P kinase all reverse this PAP-mediated inhibition. This led us to propose a model whereby PAP-mediated inhibition occurs through chronic activation of A₁R and subsequent depletion of cellular PIP₂ in vitro (Figure 4.1). Importantly, we also show that inhibiting PLC activity or directly restoring PIP₂ levels in vivo blocks PAP-mediated thermal antinociception. In addition,

genetic deletion of PAP leads to increased levels of PIP_2 in DRG, while PAP injection decreases DRG PIP_2 levels.

We also have preliminary data that suggests NT5E might act through the same mechanism. While overexpression of NT5E alone leads to only small (but significant) reductions in LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses, this effect can be significantly increased through overexpression of both NT5E and A₁R (Figure A2.1B). Whether or not this effect is due to PIP₂ depletion has yet to be determined. However, PIP₂ levels are significantly increased in DRG from $Nt5e^{-t}$ and A_1R^{-t} mice (Figure 5.7), suggesting loss of the ectonucleotidase increases cellular PIP₂ in vivo. The antinociceptive effects of recombinant mNT5E are dependent on A₁R activation, but whether they are due to downstream PIP₂ depletion is unknown. However, taken together, these data suggest a novel mechanism for the regulation of cell signaling by AMP-degrading ectonucleotidases, where chronic activation of A₁R by adenosine leads to low-level PLC activation and depletion of cellular PIP₂.

We should point out that activation of A_1R also leads to other downstream effects, including inhibition of adenylate cyclase, decreased cellular levels of cAMP, decreased PKA activity, and DAG-mediated activation of PKC. While these signaling pathways are important in sensitization or desensitization of nociceptors through various mechanisms, our studies show that these pathways are not involved in PAP-mediated antinociception (Figures 4.7, 4.14). Indeed, all of our data support changes in cellular PIP₂ levels rather than changes in kinase activity as the mechanism of action of PAP. However, while the antinociceptive effects of PAP clearly depend on PIP₂ depletion, we cannot rule out additional effects of PAP through modulation of these other signaling pathways.

Our model of ectonucleotidase-mediated antinociception emphasizes the importance of cellular PIP₂ levels. We propose that the "phosphoinositide tone" of the nociceptor sets its relative excitability, and that dynamic changes in PIP₂ levels allow the neural circuitry to easily adjust to abrupt changes in synaptic input (Figure 6.3). This is supported by our observations using S-hPAP injection and $Pap^{-/-}$ mice that basal PIP₂ levels in DRG are directly correlated with nociceptive responses, such that low PIP₂ levels at the time of chemical insult (LPA or ATP) result in the development of negligible hyperalgesia, while high PIP₂ levels at the time of insult lead to excessive hyperalgesia (Figures 6.4A, 6.4B). Further, directly increasing PIP₂ levels acutely at the time of LPA injection enhances the subsequent thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia, (Figures 4.18A, 4.18B) while decreasing PIP₂ levels through injection of PAP prior to physical nerve injury reduces subsequent hyperalgesia (Figure 4.19). Surprisingly, directly increasing PIP_2 levels in DRG and spinal cord increases thermal sensitivity in naive animals (Figures 4.11D, 4.11E), suggesting not only a role for PIP_2 in sensitized states, but also in setting the gain of nociceptors in unsensitized states. These results suggest a novel approach to the treatment of pain, namely the direct modulation of PIP_2 levels. This approach should not be entirely surprising, given that numerous ion channels known to be involved in nociception are regulated by PIP₂ (see below). The development of tools to directly and rapidly adjust PIP₂ levels in vitro and in vivo will be key in supporting this new model.

We should point out that we have yet to determine the exact location in the nervous system where PAP and NT5E are activating A_1R and depleting PIP₂. Specifically, are these effects occurring in peripheral terminals of primary afferents, in DRG cell bodies, in primary afferent terminals in the dorsal spinal cord, or on post-synaptic terminals of dorsal horn
neurons? While we cannot make definitive conclusions based on our current data, we can speculate about these various possibilities. It seems unlikely that sufficient levels of PAP, NT5E, or A₁R are present in peripheral terminals to have large effects on PIP₂ levels there. However, peripheral injection of capsaicin into the hindpaw of mice produced enhanced nocifensive responses in $Pap^{-/-}$ mice, suggesting loss of the enzyme led to increased activity of TRPV1 in peripheral terminals (Figure 4.2F). Whether this was due to increased PIP₂ is unclear and will be difficult to test, as no good methods currently exist to measure PIP₂ in axon terminals.

Centrally, endogenous PAP and NT5E are ideally suited to act on A_1R in the spinal cord. A_1Rs are concentrated in lamina II of the dorsal spinal cord, particulatly on postsynaptic neurons that are in close contact with IB4⁺ neurons (Schulte et al., 2003). Evidence also exists for the presence of A_1R in presynaptic terminals in lamina II from small- to medium-diameter DRG neurons (Lao et al., 2001; Li and Perl, 1994; Schulte et al., 2003). Thus, PAP and NT5E could be activating A_1R on both pre- and postsynaptic membranes to deplete cellular levels of PIP₂ in both locations. While it is difficult to measure PIP₂ levels in these regions, this could be tested using electrophysiology in spinal cord slices with direct addition or sequestration of PIP₂. Intrathecal injection of S-hPAP should not only activate A_1R in dorsal horn neurons and terminals, but also in other spinal cord regions. This includes not just other neurons, but also microglia and astrocytes that express adenosine receptors. It is likely this would also reduce PIP₂ in these other regions and cell types, but whether this reduction has physiologic effects is unclear.

6.4) PIP₂ Modulation of TRPV1

The direct modulation of TRPV1 by PIP₂ has been a controversial topic of debate for quite some time. Initial reports of a direct inhibitory role for PIP₂ by binding to TRPV1 have subsequently been refuted by evidence supporting a direct activating effect of the lipid in excised patches and other systems (see Section 1.4.2.2.1). This has led some to propose dual activating and inhibitory effects of PIP₂ at low stimulus concentrations and a simple activating effect at high stimulus concentrations (see Figure 1.4) (Rohacs et al., 2008). Numerous studies now seem to support this model, particularly the activating effect of PIP₂ on TRPV1 and the requirement of PIP₂ for the recovery of the channel from desensitization (see Figure 1.3 and Section 1.4.2.2.1).

Our data also support an activating effect of PIP₂ on TRPV1 activity. Importantly, we have been the first to directly modify PIP₂ levels in vivo through injection of PAP (to reduce PIP₂) or direct injection of PIP₂ and to show effects on thermal hyperalgesia, predominantly through TRPV1 (Figure 4.12). These in vivo results are more compelling and more biologically relevant than in vitro studies using exclusively cultured cells, where differences in cell-line characteristics, expression of regulatory proteins, expression levels, and functional properties can vary. This includes cultured DRG neurons that can change TRPV1 expression or activity as a result of the culturing process (Story et al., 2003a). While our studies will add to the bulk of the published data that supports a stimulatory role of PIP₂ on TRPV1, the debate will likely continue until direct in vivo manipulation of PIP₂ coupled with measurement of TRPV1 currents occurs.

6.5) Other Channels Potentially Affected by Ectonucleotidase-Mediated PIP₂ Modulation

A growing body of evidence shows that PIP₂ is not only important in regulating TRPV1 signaling, but also a whole host of other ion channels that are important in nociceptive signaling. This PIP₂ modulation of ion channels is very advantageous, as it 1) prevents channels from becoming active until they are incorporated into the plasma membrane, and 2) allows for dynamic regulation of channel activity following neurotransmitter-mediated activation of PLC and subsequent PIP₂ depletion (Suh and Hille, 2008). By modulating cellular levels of PIP₂, PAP or NT5E could also regulate the activity of these channels. While we have shown that a portion of PAP's thermal antinociceptive effect is due to inhibition of TRPV1, the remaining thermal effects and all of the mechanical effects could be due to changes in activity in these other PIP₂-sensitive channels. Here I will highlight several candidate channels that are involved in nociception and are known to be regulated by cellular PIP₂ levels. These channels are potential downstream targets of ectonucleotidase activity.

Voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels (VGCCs) are expressed in almost all excitable cells and transduce electrical activity to intracellular biochemical signals at neuronal synapses (Cao, 2006). They are large, multi-protein complexes made up of a central, pore-forming α 1 subunit surrounded by auxiliary α 2 δ , β , and γ subunits. VGCCs are very diverse, due to different combinations of auxiliary subunits, as well as alternative splicing of the gene encoding the α 1 subunit (Ca_v2.2). VGCCs are divided into two categories: 1) the high-voltage activated (HVA) channels, including L-, N-, P/Q-, and R-type Ca²⁺ channels and 2) the low-voltage activated T-type Ca²⁺ channels. Only the P/Q- and N-type channels have been definitively shown to be regulated by PIP₂ (Suh and Hille, 2008).

N-type Ca²⁺ channels are abundantly expressed in peptidergic DRG neurons (with both PAP and NT5E) and are upregulated following both nerve injury and tissue inflammation (McGivern and McDonough, 2004; Westenbroek et al., 1998; Yaksh, 2006). Blockers of N-type Ca²⁺ channels reduce hyperalgesia and allodynia in models of neuropathic and inflammatory pain, and Prialt®, the synthetic form the N-type Ca²⁺ channel blocker ω-conotoxin MVIIA, is used in humans for intractable neuropathic and cancer pain (Olivera et al., 1994; Vanegas and Schaible, 2000; Yaksh, 2006). P/Q-type Ca²⁺ channels are expressed in synaptic terminals in laminae II through VI of the dorsal horn and work with Nand R-type Ca²⁺ channels to trigger neurotransmitter release (Westenbroek et al., 1998). The effects of P/Q channels on nociception is unclear, as some studies suggest a role for the channels in inhibiting neurotransmission and antinociception, while others suggest a role in activating neurotransmission and hyperalgesia (Ebersberger et al., 2004; Luvisetto et al., 2006; Ogasawara et al., 2001; Takahashi and Momiyama, 1993; Vanegas and Schaible, 2000).

Both P/Q- and N-type Ca^{2+} channels are positively regulated by PIP₂, as the lipid delays rundown and shifts the voltage-dependence of both channels to increase activity at negative potentials (Delmas et al., 2005; Michailidis et al., 2007). Depletion of PIP₂ by ectonucleotidases would thus decrease channel activity and decrease nociception in neuropathic and inflammatory pain models. These channels are of particular interest to us, as PAP and NT5E have selective effects on thermal nociception in naïve animals, but have both thermal and mechanical antinociceptive effects in models of inflammatory and neuropathic pain. VGCCs are key in the development of mechanical allodynia following nerve injury, and decreased activity of these channels due to depletion of PIP₂ could be responsible for the

antiallodynic effects PAP and NT5E. Importantly, knockouts of the α 1B gene (Ca_v2.2) exist, and while they have significantly attenuated thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia following peripheral nerve injury, some hypersensitivity still exists (Saegusa et al., 2002). Injection of PAP or NT5E into nerve-injured α 1B knockouts could be used to test the ability of these ectonucleotidases to modulate N-type Ca²⁺ channels. In addition, many pharmacological tools are available to investigate the effects of ectonucleotidase activity on VGCCs (of all types) in vitro and in vivo (Cao, 2006).

As discussed previously, TRPM8 is a non-specific cation channel expressed in sensory neurons that is activated by moderately cold temperatures and the cooling agents menthol and icillin (See section 1.4.2.1). The channel is found in small-diameter DRG neurons and is necessary for detection of cool and some noxious cold temperatures in vivo (Bautista et al., 2007; Colburn et al., 2007; Dhaka et al., 2007). Several studies have shown that TRPM8 requires PIP_2 for activity. The channel's activity runs down in response to PIP_2 depletion and is reactivated by direct application of the lipid (Liu and Qin, 2005; Rohacs et al., 2005). Activation of PLC by cell surface receptors, Ca^{2+} influx, or pharmacological activators inhibits TRPM8, as does PIP₂ depletion by a rapamycin-inducible phosphatase or high concentrations of wortmannin (Daniels et al., 2009; Liu and Qin, 2005; Rohacs et al., 2005; Varnai et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2008). PIP₂ is also involved in the Ca^{2+} -dependent desensitization of the channel, as the process is slowed by the presence of the PIP₂synthesizing enzyme PIPK5 and is accelerated by the presence of the highly Ca^{2+} sensitive PLC isoform PLCo1 (Daniels et al., 2009; Rohacs et al., 2005). Interestingly, the affinity of TRPM8 for PIP₂ increases in response to cold, menthol, or depolarization (Rohacs, 2009; Rohacs et al., 2005). All of these data would suggest that increases in PIP₂, such as seen in

 $Pap^{-/-}$ and $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice, would lead to increased icillin- or cold-induced nociceptive behaviors, while decreases in PIP₂, such as those seen following injection of PAP, would lead to decreased icillin- and cold-induced nociception. It should be noted that TRPM8 is not found in either the peptidergic or nonpeptidergic subsets of nociceptors, so the channel may not localize with PAP or NT5E. We have yet to perform any studies examining the possible effects of endogenous or exogenous PAP or NT5E on cold behaviors, so possible effects on TRPM8 are unknown.

Another TRP channel, TRPA1 is also activated by noxious cold temperatures, as well as by a long list of pungent compounds and irritants (Cortright and Szallasi, 2009). This channel is solely responsible for the algesic effects of many of these compounds, including mustard oil, formalin, and cinnamaldehyde (Bandell et al., 2004a; Bautista et al., 2006a; McNamara et al., 2007; Namer et al., 2005). TRPA1 is found predominantly in peptidergic nociceptors, but its colocalization with PAP or NT5E is unknown. Activation of the receptor produces acute pain, hyperalgesia, and neurogenic inflammation. As discussed in section 1.4.2.1, TRPA1 is also thought to be important in the detection of noxious cold, although this is still in dispute. Also in dispute is the effect of PIP_2 on the modulation of the channel. Some studies have suggested a stimulatory role for PIP_2 in regulating the channel, as the lipid activated TRPA1 in excised patches and reduced Ca²⁺-induced desensitization, while depleting PIP₂ with wortmannin inhibited the channel (Akopian et al., 2007; Karashima et al., 2008). However, other studies have suggested an inhibitory action of PIP₂ on TRPA1, as the lipid inhibited the channel in excised or whole cell patches, and PIP₂ sequestration by poly-lysine or an anti-PIP₂ antibody activated TRPA1 in the presence of inorganic polyphosphate (Dai et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2008b). Complicating matters further, a

rapamycin-inducible PIP₂ phosphatase that depletes PIP₂ and inhibits TRPM8 neither activated nor inhibited TRPA1 (Wang et al., 2008). Thus, different effects of the lipid on the channel are seen depending on the system studied and the investigators, making it difficult to predict the effects of PAP and NT5E on TRPA1. However, this contradictory data is similar to the situation seen in the literature on TRPV1, which in our hands is activated by PIP₂. We are currently initiating projects to investigate the effects of ectonucleotidases that deplete PIP₂ on TRPA1 in vitro and in vivo. Our studies should provide some of the first in vivo evidence for the role of PIP₂ in modulating TRPA1.

As discussed previously, ATP-activated P2X receptors on neurons and glia are very important in nociceptive signaling and modulation, as well as in the development of pathologic chronic pain (See section 1.5.1.1). All homomeric P2X receptors have been shown to be activated directly by PIP₂ through direct binding of the lipid to the C-terminus of the channels (Bernier et al., 2008; Mo et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2007). Thus, PAP and NT5E activity could decrease pro-nociceptive P2X receptor signaling through two mechanisms: 1) depletion of ATP through mass-action degradation and 2) PIP₂ depletion following activation of A₁R. Both PAP and NT5E colocalize extensively with P2X3 receptors in DRG, making them ideally suited to modulate activity of these receptors. We have not studied the effects of ectonucleotidases on P2X receptor activation, but could examine this using our knockout mice and soluble recombinant proteins in conjunction with P2X agonists and antagonists.

Finally, in addition to directly modulating channels, PIP_2 has important roles in other cellular functions, including serving as a targeting anchor for proteins that catalyze endocytosis and exocytosis, for small molecular weight GTPases, and for actin cytoskeleton components (Suh and Hille, 2008). In fact, PIP_2 plays a vital role in synaptic vesicle

trafficking and recycling in the brain, as depletion of the lipid leads to delayed recycling and defective synaptic transmission (Di Paolo et al., 2004). By depleting PIP₂, PAP and NT5E could also affect these other cellular processes in neurons, which may affect nociception.

6.6) Ectonucleotidases and the Treatment of Pain in Humans

Our studies provide tantalizing evidence that ectonucleotidases in the nervous system are important modulators of nociception. This is particularly exciting, as it provides new molecular targets for the development of pain therapies. Our animal studies show that not only can these enzymes relieve "chronic" inflammatory and neuropathic-like pain, but they can prevent the development of chemical- and nerve-induced pain in the first place. Importantly, these effects occur without the development of obvious motor side-effects, a major limiting factor in the use of adenosine-receptor agonists and inhibitors of adenosine metabolism in humans. We propose that this is likely due to catalytic restriction of the adenosine production by the enzymes. By acting on endogenous substrate (namely, locallyproduced AMP), PAP and NT5E are limited in their effects to those regions where AMP levels are abundant enough to lead to significant adenosine production by the enzymes. Our data suggest that modulation of endogenous PAP and NT5E or delivery of exogenous ectonucleotidases could be important new approaches for the prevention and treatment of chronic pain.

Clearly, our studies are only the very first steps in the potential development of new therapies. Many more studies are needed before this technology could be moved into humans. For example, we have shown that injection of recombinant proteins into the intrathecal space in mice has seemingly dose-dependent, long-lasting antinociceptive effects

with minimal side-effects. However, we have not closely monitored animals for important adenosine-mediated side-effects, including subtle changes in motor function, changes in cardiac function or blood pressure, or changes in sleep patterns. Further, we have not examined if repeated delivery of the proteins leads to desensitization of the antinociceptive response (tolerance) or dependence. In addition, we have only studied the effects of the proteins in one strain of male mice (C57BL/6). Studies on females and on males of different strains could prove useful, as both sex and genetic background can affect nociception (Greenspan et al., 2007; Mogil et al., 2006). In addition, we have only studied the effects of intrathecally-delivered PAP and NT5E. While this route of delivery can be used clinically, it is not well-accepted by patients. Studies on systemically- or orally-delivered forms of the proteins would be desirable. Finally, while the models of acute and chronic nociception we use are well-accepted in the field, they are relatively poor models for pathological pain in humans. The effects of PAP and NT5E in models that more closely mimic human chronic pain syndromes (for review, see Mogil, 2009) could provide important insight into the potential for these enzymes in the treatment of human disease. Despite these challenges, we remain optimistic that ectonucleotidases have great therapeutic potential as a novel treatment for chronic pain. What could these novel therapeutic approaches entail?

Obviously, the simplest tactic for the use of ectonucleotidases in pain therapy is the delivery of exogenous protein. We have already shown that this is effective in animals and is easily accomplished through the development of human recombinant proteins. These proteins can be abundantly produced in commercially-available systems and are safe for injection into humans (Burch et al., 2004; Zucchini, 2008). The biggest obstacle for the use of recombinant proteins is the mode of delivery of the drug. Peptides cannot be efficiently

delivered as oral medications, requiring local or systemic injection to bypass the digestive process for efficacy. Further, we anticipate that systemic delivery of ectonucleotidases could produce several unwanted side-effects, including motor dysfunction, cardiac dysfunction, and hypotension. Thus, recombinant hPAP or hNT5E could be injected locally or intrathecally (Figure 6.5). While this is not ideal for the treatment of chronic conditions, local delivery could be beneficial before or after surgery, dental procedures, childbirth, or local injury, such as burns, post-herpetic neuralgia, or isolated peripheral nerve injury.

Another way to deliver exogenous ectonucleotidases would be through the delivery of viral vectors that contain the genes for PAP or NT5E (Figure 6.5). This gene therapy approach could have several advantages. First, viral vectors can be developed that specifically target nociceptors, leading to increased expression of the proteins only in these neurons. This could be accomplished by using sensory neuron-selective viruses, or gene promoters that would express PAP or NT5E only in particular neuronal populations. This approach would obviously avoid the unwanted side-effects of adenosine production systemically or even in other regions of the nervous system. Further, by using viruses that incorporate their genomes into the host cell genome, expression of the ectonucleotidase could be enhanced for long periods of time, potentially indefinitely for the lifetime of the neuron. This could be very advantageous for individuals suffering from long-term chronic pain. We have recently begun studying different viral strains and genetic promoters to identify ideal conditions for the delivery of genes specifically to DRG neurons in mice. These early studies show that acute intrathecal injection of virus can lead to specific infection and expression in DRG neurons, giving us hope for the development of this strategy. Certainly the challenges and pitfalls of gene therapy are great and this type of approach in humans is certainly far-off

into the future, but the potential for big breakthroughs in the treatment of chronic pain using this strategy is great.

In addition to delivery of exogenous PAP or NT5E, we could design strategies that attempt to enhance the activity of endogenous ectonucleotidases in the nervous system (Figure 6.5). This approach would have the advantage of increasing adenosine production only in those regions where the proteins are normally expressed in nociceptive neurons. An early attempt in our lab was made to identify potential selective activators of PAP using a high-throughput screen of 30,000 small molecules. This screen examined the ability of these molecules to affect PAP-mediated degradation of a generic fluorescent substrate. While we were successful in identifying some new potential inhibitors of PAP, we did not identify any selective activators of the enzyme.

A more exciting strategy is the use of selective pro-drugs that could be acted upon by PAP or NT5E (Figure 6.5). These are essentially versions of the A₁R-selective agonist N6cyclopentyladenosine (CPA) that have various protecting groups that make them selectively dephosphorylated by only PAP or NT5E, resulting in the antinociceptive compound CPA. These drugs have several advantages, including the ability to modify them for easy systemic and oral delivery. This makes them more desirable for the treatment of chronic conditions, but also opens the possibility of off-site effects. This is of special concern for pro-drugs for NT5E, since the enzyme is widely expressed in many tissues. Pro-drugs specific for PAP would be highly desirable, as it has a more restricted tissue expression profile. Early studies with several of these drugs have shown promising antinociceptive effects when delivered intrathecally, systemically, and orally. However, further work is needed to examine possible side effects and pharmacological properties, such as tolerance and dependence.

Finally, an additional approach for the use of endogenous PAP or NT5E to treat pain would be to upregulate gene expression in DRG or spinal cord through chemical or genetic approaches. This tactic would be especially important in the setting of nerve injuryneuropathic pain, as both PAP and NT5E show dramatic downregulation in expression following peripheral nerve injury (Shields et al., 2003; Vadakkan et al., 2005) (Figure 5.5). This strategy would require detailed knowledge of the gene structure and identification of activators of gene expression. Unfortunately, the regulation of PAP and NT5E expression is largely unknown, making this approach difficult at this time. Future work on PAP and NT5E gene regulation could, however, make this an appealing strategy.

Clearly all of the potential therapeutic approaches outlined above provide challenging obstacles. However, these are problems worth tackling. Chronic pain is an enormous problem in the Western world, resulting not only in severe deleterious effects to the individual patient, but also significant financial burdens to society as a whole. The current treatments for chronic pain conditions are only moderately effective and have undesirable side effects. As a result, the identification and study of new targets for pain therapy, such as ectonucleotidases, provide hope for the development of new and better treatments to reduce both the immense suffering of afflicted patients and the societal ills associated with chronic pain therapy.

6.7) Other Potential Therapeutic Applications of Ectonucleotidases

Adenosine receptors are involved in numerous physiologic processes throughout the body. Numerous studies have examined the use of adenosine receptor analogs or antagonists in the modulation of receptor activity in disease states (for review, see Jacobson and Gao, 2006). Some of these compounds are in clinical trials for the treatment of specific pathological conditions. Another approach to modulation of adenosine receptors that could avoid some of the known side effects is to target ectonucleotidases. By increasing or decreasing ectonucleotidase activity globally or locally, it could be possible to affect other pathological conditions besides pain that involve adenosine receptors. Below, I highlight several processes known to involve adenosine receptor signaling that could potentially be treated through the use of some of the therapeutic approaches described in the previous section.

Sleep

Adenosine is an important player in the modulation of sleep. This is identifiable for most adults who rely on the stimulant caffeine, a well-known antagonist of A_1 and A_{2A} receptors, to get through the day. Numerous studies have elucidated the important role of adenosine in the regulation of several aspects of sleep. Specifically, local adenosine levels rise in certain brain areas during waking and decline during sleep (Huston et al., 1996; Murillo-Rodriguez et al., 2004; Porkka-Heiskanen et al., 1997). Further, this adenosine mediates the somnogenic effects of prior wakefulness and is vital in regulating the duration and depth of sleep after wakefulness (Landolt, 2008; Porkka-Heiskanen et al., 1997). Inhibition of adenosine metabolism (and thus increases in extracellular adenosine) prolongs sleep and increases the intensity and depth of non-REM sleep (Okada et al., 2003; Radek et al., 2004; Radulovacki et al., 1983). This effect is similar in magnitude and character to the effects of prolonged sleep deprivation. Early evidence suggested this effect was due to activity at A_1R (Benington et al., 1995; Schwierin et al., 1996; Thakkar et al., 2003), but A_1R^2 ^{/-} mice do not show changes in homeostatic aspects of sleep-wake regulation (Stenberg et al.,

2003). More recently, $A_{2A}R$ has been shown to play a major role in mediating these effects, as $A_{2A}R$ agonists induce non-REM sleep and $A_{2A}R^{-/-}$ mice do not show non-REM sleep rebound after sleep deprivation (Hayaishi et al., 2004; Methippara et al., 2005; Satoh et al., 1999; Urade et al., 2003). Further, $A_{2A}R$ is thought to be the main target for caffeine-induced wakefulness (Huang et al., 2005).

Endogenous NT5E likely plays an important role in these adenosine-mediated sleep effects, as it is expressed widely in the brain (Langer et al., 2008). Current data suggests it is found mostly on astrocytes and not neurons (Jacobson and Gao, 2006), but we have not tested our anti-NT5E antibody in brain to confirm this. We have not been able to identify PAP expression in the brain. Changes in sleep patterns in $Nt5e^{-7}$ mice have not yet been studied. However, in theory, drugs that modulate NT5E or PAP activity could prove to be important in regulation of sleep. Pro-drugs, activators, or recombinant proteins could provide a promising approach for treatment of sleep maintenance insomnia. Conversely, inhibitors of NT5E could be stimulants, similar to caffeine that could be used for treatment of excessive sleep conditions (narcolepsy). Of course, limiting the usefulness of such drugs would be the potential side-effects due to off-site actions through global effects on adenosine production.

Hypoxia

Adenosine plays a vital role in the adaptation to hypoxia in a number of tissues. Tissue and plasma adenosine levels increase dramatically during hypoxic stress (Gnaiger, 2001), and this adenosine is thought to be an adaptive response to conditions of low oxygen through several different adenosine-receptor induced processes. Activation of A₁Rs helps prevent neurotoxicity (through inhibition of neuronal firing) and decreases metabolic activity

and ATP demands (Matherne et al., 1997). Activation of $A_{2A}R$ leads to vasodilation and increased ventilation (Conde et al., 2009; Jacobson and Gao, 2006; Monteiro and Ribeiro, 1987). $A_{2B}R$ activation induces vasodilation in some vascular beds (Rubino et al., 1993; Szentmiklosi et al., 1995), promotes angiogenesis (Feoktistov et al., 2004), inhibits growth of vascular smooth muscle cells (Dubey et al., 2000), and inhibits cardiac fibroblast growth (Chen et al., 2004). In addition, several studies have suggested a protective role for A_2 receptors in maintaining vascular barrier function (Weissmuller et al., 2005), which can breakdown in severe hypoxia (such as seen at high altitude), leading to cerebral or pulmonary edema. The combination of these effects through different adenosine receptors leads to a complex system of beneficial adaptations to both acute and chronic hypoxia.

An important role for endogenous NT5E in adenosinergic adaptive responses to hypoxia is supported by many findings. First, the increase in adenosine seen in the CNS in response to hypoxia is almost completely due to extracellular nucleotide degradation (Koos et al., 1997). Further, hypoxia induces upregulation of NT5E expression, through a hypoxiainducible factor-1 (HIF-1)-mediated mechanism (Eltzschig et al., 2003; Ledoux et al., 2003; Synnestvedt et al., 2002). This increase in NT5E expression is also functionally important, as hypoxia-induced vascular leak syndromes in several organ systems (lung, heart, intestine, and kidney) are significantly accentuated following pharmacologic blockade or genetic deletion of NT5E (Thompson et al., 2004a).

Due to the importance of extracellular adenosine production in the adaptation to hypoxia, ectonucleotidase-targeting therapies could prove beneficial in individuals anticipating exposure to hypoxic conditions. Two broad strategies could be attempted. First, enhancement of endogenous NT5E activity could be used to increase extracellular adenosine

to levels at or above those seen in hypoxia. This could be accomplished either through increasing the expression of NT5E (as is seen to occur following HIF-1α pathway activation), increasing the activity of the protein using small-molecule activators, or increasing the levels of NT5E substrate present through the delivery of pro-drugs. Second, increased ectonucleotidase activity could be accomplished through the delivery of recombinant PAP or NT5E. In fact, delivery of NT5E protein isolated from rattlesnake venom reduced vascular permeability in wild-type mice at both normoxic and hypoxic conditions, reducing subsequent pulmonary edema (Thompson et al., 2004a). This suggests that delivery of ectonucleotidases prior to exposure to hypoxic conditions (such as high altitude) could prevent vascular leak. Of course, as discussed previously, systemic administration of recombinant PAP or NT5E could be limited by potential cardiac and hemodynamic side effects.

Cardiac Ischemia

Adenosine is released from cells of the cardiovascular system in response to stress or injury. This adenosine acts on receptors on various cell types to produce a significantly more ischemia-tolerant phenotype (Eltzschig et al., 2003). This effect is called ischemic preconditioning (IP), and can dramatically attenuate the size of subsequent myocardial infarction (Eckle et al., 2007c; Headrick et al., 2003). Surprisingly, the exact mechanisms and adenosine receptors involved in this cardioprotective effect are largely unknown (Headrick et al., 2003). IP leads to a dramatic increase in the expression of NT5E in the myocardium through a HIF-1-dependent mechanism, and NT5E AMPase activity is thought to be the major source of adenosine produced during IP (Eckle et al., 2007c; Eltzschig et al., 2003; Kitakaze et al., 1999). Pharmacologic inhibition or genetic deletion of NT5E

effectively eliminates the beneficial effects of IP on myocardial infarction size, highlighting an important role for the enzyme in endogenous responses to ischemia (Eckle et al., 2007c).

Given the substantial cardioprotective effects of IP, it would be desirable to potentially replicate these effects prior to severe ischemic insult in individuals with coronary artery disease. While many current studies are focusing on the use of selective adenosine receptor agonists for this purpose (Jacobson and Gao, 2006), drugs mimicking or accentuating the effects of ectonucleotidases could also be advantageous. Similar to the situation for hypoxia, two broad strategies could be imagined. First, enhancement of endogenous NT5E present in the myocardium could increase background adenosine levels to mimic those seen in IP. This could be accomplished by increasing the expression of the protein, increasing the activity of the protein using small-molecule activators, or increasing the levels of NT5E substrate through the delivery of pro-drugs. Second, delivery of exogenous recombinant PAP or NT5E could enhance baseline levels of adenosine to mimic IP. It should be noted, however, that delivery of NT5E isolated from rattlesnake venom did not produce effects similar to IP, nor did it enhance IP effects on myocardial infarct size when delivered in one model (Eckle et al., 2007c). In addition, systemic administration of these proteins could lead to significant side-effects due to adenosine receptor activation at other sites in the body.

Inflammation

Adenosine has anti-inflammatory properties primarily through $A_{2A}Rs$. This receptor is expressed on almost all immune cells and attenuates inflammation and reperfusion injury in several different tissues (Sitkovsky et al., 2004b). This primarily occurs through inhibition of neutrophil accumulation, inhibition of T-cell activation, inhibition of production of pro-

inflammatory cytokines, and enhancement of production of anti-inflammatory cytokines (Erdmann et al., 2005; Jacobson and Gao, 2006; Lappas et al., 2005; Sitkovsky et al., 2004a). Adenosine activity at A_{2A}R is crucial in the limitation and termination of prolonged inflammation (Ohta and Sitkovsky, 2001), and A_{2A}R agonists are being tested for use in several conditions, including sepsis, inflammatory bowel disease, arthritis, and reperfusion injury (Hasko and Cronstein, 2004; Odashima et al., 2005; Sullivan et al., 2004).

NT5E is expressed extensively in the immune system and may play a role in regulation of inflammation through extracellular production of adenosine. In particular, pharmacologic inhibition or genetic deletion of NT5E leads to increased neutrophil accumulation following hypoxia, suggesting adenosine production by NT5E is antiinflammatory through prevention of neutrophil accumulation (Eltzschig et al., 2004). In addition, the anti-inflammatory effects of the drugs methotrexate and sulfasalazine (used for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis) depend on the activity of NT5E to make adenosine (Cronstein, 2005; Morabito et al., 1998). Thus, enhancement of endogenous NT5E or delivery of recombinant PAP or NT5E could have anti-inflammatory properties in different pathologic conditions, especially chronic inflammatory conditions like arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease.

Taste

Adenosine and adenine-containing compounds play important roles in taste sensation. Early studies suggested a possible direct role for adenosine in modulation of taste intensity. These studies showed increases in sensation of tastants of different quality (especially sweet and bitter) in the presence of the methylxanthines caffeine and theophylline, which are known inhibitors of A_1R and $A_{2B}R$ (Schiffman et al., 1986; Schiffman et al., 1985). This

effect could be counteracted by co-application with adenosine. However, later studies by other groups could not replicate this data, and a direct role in taste modulation for adenosine through its receptors is not known (Brosvic and Rowe, 1992; Mela, 1989). More recent studies have shown a clear role for AMP in the modulation of detection of bitter tastants. AMP directly inhibits activation of gustducin (the G-protein involved in bitter detection) in vitro and also inhibits detection of bitter compounds in animals and humans (Keast and Breslin, 2002; Keast et al., 2004; Ming et al., 1999). Interestingly, while several AMPrelated compounds also inhibit gustducin activation in vitro (3'AMP, ADP, ATP, and adenosine 2'-monophosphate), others could not, including adenosine and cAMP. In addition to AMP, ATP also plays an important role in taste detection. ATP is the primary neurotransmitter released from taste cells (type II) and acts on P2X receptors on presynaptic (type III) cells to initiate taste transduction (Roper, 2007). Loss of P2X₂ and P2X₃ receptors reduces responses to umami, sweet, and bitter compounds (Finger et al., 2005).

Due to the importance of adenosine-containing compounds in taste sensation, potential roles for the modulation of these processes by ectonucleotidases exist. One ectonucleotidase, E-NTPDase2, is expressed in type I taste receptor cells (Bartel et al., 2006). This enzyme degrades ATP and could play an important role in the termination of P2X receptor signaling, thereby inhibiting/terminating taste detection. In addition to directly terminating P2X receptor activation, E-NTPDase2 could provide substrate for further breakdown to AMP, which can directly inhibit bitter sensation. Further degradation of AMP by NT5E or PAP would actually enhance bitter taste sensation, which could be an evolutionary advantage, as many toxic compounds have bitter qualities.

Preliminary studies in our lab suggest that NT5E and PAP are both expressed in tongue (data not shown), although the exact location of their expression is still unclear. Activity of these enzymes in taste buds could inhibit umami, sweet, and bitter taste detection through mass-action effects on ATP depletion, and/or could enhance bitter sensation through depletion of AMP. In addition to expression in the tongue, we have shown that both PAP and NT5E are expressed in the salivary gland (see Figures A5.1, A5.2, and A5.3). This raises the possibility that both ectonucleotidases are secreted in saliva and present in the buccal cavity. By breaking down AMP present on the tongue, these enzymes could enhance bitter taste sensation.

Inhibition of PAP or NT5E present in saliva and taste receptors could be beneficial in two ways. First, preventing breakdown of AMP to adenosine could increase local AMP concentrations, thereby inhibiting bitter taste sensation. This could be important for the development of more desirable drug formulations, which often have bitter qualities. Reducing bitterness could thus aid in patient compliance with prescribed regimens. In addition, makers of processed foods employ a number of techniques to hide bitter compounds created during processing, including addition of sweeteners, lipids and emulsifiers, carbohydrates, proteins, and flavors, all of which can affect the nutritional quality of the food (Roy, 1997). Inhibitors of ectonucleotidases could be a healthier alternative to these strategies. Blockade of AMP breakdown could also lead to an upstream increase in ATP levels in the taste bud, which could enhance taste transduction. Loss of taste sensitivity is a common problem among the elderly, and increasing taste cell signaling could be an effective strategy to increase taste sensation. Obviously, further studies are needed to determine the importance of ectonucleotidases in taste.





Figure 6.1. PAP and NT5E are the main AMPases in nociceptive circuits. AMPaseinduced antinociception in wild-type (WT), $Pap^{-/-}$, $Nt5e^{-/-}$; $Pap^{-/-}$, and $A_1R^{-/-}$ mice. Thermal sensitivity was measured at baseline (t = 0) and after i.t. injection of AMP (200 nmol) + 5-iodotubercidin (ITU; 5 nmol). Significant increases over baseline were seen at days 1, 2, and 3 in WT (***, ***, *), $Pap^{-/-}$ (***, ***, *), and $Nt5e^{-/-}$ (***, **, *) mice. A significant increase over baseline was seen at day 1 in $Nt5e^{-/-}$ (*) mice. Paired t tests were used to compare responses at each timepoint to BL values within a given genotype (n = 8 mice per genotype). *P < 0.05, **P < 0.005, ***P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 6.2. PAP and NT5E can degrade AMP during inflammation. AMPase-induced antinociception in WT, $Pap^{-/-}$, and $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice following inflammation. Mice were tested for thermal sensitivity 1 day after injection of CFA (1d CFA) into one hindpaw. One day later, all mice were injected i.t. (arrowhead) with AMP (200 nmol) + ITU (5 nmol) and thermal sensitivity was measured for several hours after injection. Paired t tests were used to compare responses following AMP + ITU injection to the response 1 day after CFA injection in the same paw. n = 8 mice per genotype. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.005, ***P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m. (Back to text)



Figure 6.3. Phosphoinositide tone is a dynamic modulator of nociceptor activity. Levels of PIP_2 in the plasma membrane determine the relative excitability of nociceptive neurons in response to noxious stimuli, such as pro-nociceptive ligands and noxious heat. Activation of the nociceptor under conditions of high PIP_2 levels leads to increased nociception, while activation during a period of low PIP_2 results in little or no nociception. (Back to text)



Figure 6.4. PIP₂ levels affect behavioral responses to noxious thermal and mechanical stimuli after i.t. injection of LPA or ATP. PIP₂ levels in L3-L6 DRG were quantified in wild-type (WT) mice, $Pap^{-/-}$ mice, or WT mice injected (i.t.) one day earlier with 250 mU hPAP (same data as shown in Figure 4.11A). Values are means ± s.e.m. n=3 mice per condition. Overlayed are the mechanical (closed squares) and thermal (open circles) sensitivities of mice one day after i.t. injection of (A) 5 nmol LPA or (B) 200 nmol ATP, expressed as percent change from baseline (BL) values. Values were calculated from data in Figures 4.16A-D (WT + hPAP, WT) and in Figures 4.17A-D (WT, $Pap^{-/-}$). When compared to WT mice, lower PIP₂ levels (as seen in WT + hPAP animals) correlate with no effects or antinociceptive effects on thermal and mechanical sensitivity following LPA or ATP injection, while higher PIP₂ levels (as seen in $Pap^{-/-}$ animals) correlate with enhanced mechanical and thermal sensitivity following LPA or ATP injection. (Back to text)



Figure 6.5. Potential therapeutic approaches targeting ectonucleotidases to treat pain. Targeting ectonucleotidases for treatment of pain could be done using recombinant versions of PAP or NT5E locally, delivery of *Pap* or *Nt5e* genes in viral vectors to the nervous system, oral or systemic administration of prodrugs acted on by endogenous PAP or NT5E to make anti-nociceptive products, or local or systemic administration of activators of ectonucleotidase gene expression or activators of PAP and NT5E enzyme activity. (See text for further details).

APPENDIX I

PAP can Directly Degrade LPA in vitro but Non-competitively Decreases LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ Responses

Summary

LPA is a common bioactive phospholipid that regulates a number of basic biological processes, including proliferation, cell differentiation, and cell survival (Brindley et al., 2002; Mills and Moolenaar, 2003; Moolenaar et al., 2004; Tigyi et al., 1994). LPA is released from platelets and neurons following tissue injury and leads to a wide range of downstream effects. These effects are mediated through a family of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), three of which (LPA1, LPA3, and LPA5) are expressed in DRG neurons (Inoue et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2006; Renback *et al.*, 2000). Activation of these receptors can be measured through a variety of downstream effects, including changes in internal Ca²⁺ concentrations (Mills and Moolenaar, 2003; Moolenaar et al., 1997; Takuwa et al., 2002).

LPA is directly implicated in the modulation of nociceptor activity and pain behaviors. LPA leads to increases in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels in DRG neurons and increases in nociceptive flexor responses when injected into the hindpaw of mice (Elmes et al., 2004; Renback et al., 1999). Furthermore, intrathecal (i.t.) injection of LPA produces prolonged tactile allodynia and thermal hyperalgesia in mice, mimicking a neuropathic pain state (Inoue et al., 2004). Thus, LPA can directly affect activity of DRG neurons and lead to pathological pain states. Termination of LPA receptor signaling occurs by receptor desensitization and/or LPA degradation. PAP has been shown in one study to degrade LPA in vitro (Tanaka et al., 2004). We wished to determine if PAP could indeed degrade LPA in vitro and if this action can lead to decreased receptor activation in a cell-signaling system. By measuring Ca²⁺

signals in response to LPA in Rat1 fibroblasts, we show that incubation of LPA with soluble PAP protein completely eliminates LPA activity at its receptors. Expression of the transmembrane (TM) form of PAP also decreases LPA-evoked calcium responses, although in a non-competitive manner. These studies suggest that while PAP is capable of directly degrading LPA, TM-PAP decreases LPA receptor signaling non-competitively downstream of receptor activation.

Methods and Results

To test the ability of PAP to degrade LPA in vitro, 0.5 units of soluble human PAP (hPAP) was incubated with 0.2 mM LPA for 0, 10, 30, or 60 min at 37°C. Following incubation, hPAP enzyme activity was stopped by freezing the samples at -80°C until use. Degradation of LPA was determined by examining the ability of the incubated LPA to activate receptors on Rat1 fibroblasts. To study LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses in whole cells, Rat1 fibroblasts were plated on glass-bottom dishes and loaded with the ratiometric calcium indicator dye Fura-2 AM (Invitrogen) (For detailed methods, see Section 4.2.3). LPA incubated with hPAP was added to the loaded cells and changes in internal calcium were monitored for several minutes. LPA that was incubated with hPAP for 0 minutes (the enzyme was frozen immediately after adding to LPA) showed a robust, transient increase in internal Ca²⁺ (Figure A1.1). Incubation of LPA with hPAP for increasing amounts of time led to decreases in LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses, such that after 60 min of incubation, almost all LPA activity was eliminated. This suggests PAP can directly degrade LPA and prevent it from activating its receptors.

To test if the TM form of PAP could also degrade LPA and decrease LPA-evoked signaling, Rat1 fibroblasts were transfected with mouse TM-PAP tagged with the fluorescent protein mCherry (see Section 4.2.2). LPA stimulation of TM-PAP-transfected cells led to a transient increase in intracellular calcium that was significantly lower in amplitude and duration than responses in untransfected control cells (see Figure 4.12A). We then conducted a dose-response of LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} responses in TM-PAP expressing cells versus untransfected controls. If TM-PAP is directly degrading LPA, the dose-response in these cells should be shifted to the right compared to untransfected cells. However, TM-PAP expression led to a shift in the dose-response down and to the right, suggesting a noncompetitive mechanism of action (Figure A1.2A). This effect was due to the phosphatase activity of TM-PAP, as a catalytically inactive form of the protein (TM-PAP(H12A), see Section 4.2.2) did not significantly change the LPA dose-response (Figure A1.2B). Together, these results suggest that while PAP is capable of directly degrading LPA, it is most likely decreasing LPA-receptor activity in a cellular context by inhibiting some aspect of cellular signaling downstream of receptor activation.

Figures



Figure A1.1. PAP can degrade LPA in vitro. LPA (0.2 mM) was incubated with soluble hPAP (0.5 U) for the indicated amounts of time and then added to Rat1 fibroblasts loaded with the calcium indicator dye Fura-2 AM. Increases in intracellular calcium are seen as increases in the 340/380 ratio. Increasing the incubation time with hPAP led to decreased LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses, indicating increased LPA degradation. Values are means \pm s.e.m. for 50 cells per dish and curves are representative experiments for each incubation time.



Figure A1.2. TM-PAP non-competitively decreases LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} responses. (A, B) Dose-response curves with the indicated constructs. AUC = Area under the Ca^{2+} response curve during 1 min. of LPA stimulation (see Section 4.2.3). Data are from four separate experiments. 2-way ANOVA was used to compare transfected and untransfected cells (*P* values indicated on graphs). All data are presented as means ± s.e.m.

APPENDIX II

Inhibition of LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ Responses by NT5E Following Co-Expression of A₁R

Summary

The ectonucleotidase PAP inhibits LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} responses in Rat1 fibroblasts through activation of A₁R and subsequent depletion in PIP₂. NT5E is also expressed on the cell surface and can rapidly degrade AMP to adenosine. We hypothesized that expression of NT5E in Rat1 fibroblasts would also inhibit LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} responses, perhaps through an A₁R-mediated mechanism. We made and expressed the mouse version of NT5E in Rat1 cells and stimulated them with LPA. NT5E-expressing cells showed a very small, but significant decrease in LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} responses. This NT5E-mediated inhibition could be enhanced through co-expression with the mouse A₁R receptor, suggesting NT5E can inhibit LPA receptor signaling, but only in the presence of abundant A₁R.

Methods and Results

In order to look at the activity of NT5E in vitro, we made a full-length expression construct of the mouse NT5E gene (GenBank accession #NM_011851.3) by RT-PCR amplification, using C57BL/6 mouse cDNA as template and Phusion polymerase. PCR products were cloned into pcDNA3.1 and completely sequenced. To test the effects of NT5E on LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses, we transfected Rat1 fibroblasts with mouse NT5E and the fluorescent protein Venus, waited 24 hours post-transfection, and then loaded the cells with Fura-2 AM. We stimulated these loaded cells with 1 μ M LPA and measured the change in the 340/380 ratio inside transfected and untransfected cells in the same field of view. Cells expressing NT5E did have a small, but significant decrease in LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses compared to untransfected controls (Figure A2.1B).

In order to try and increase this NT5E effect, we co-expressed mouse NT5E with a full-length expression construct of the mouse A₁-adenosine receptor (Adora1; GenBank accession #NM_001008533.2) that we generated via RT-PCR and cloned into pcDNA3.1. Surprisingly, expression of the A₁R alone caused a dose-dependent decrease in LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} responses (Figure A2.1A). However, co-expression of NT5E + A₁R led to a significantly greater reduction in LPA responses than either of the proteins alone, suggesting a synergistic effect of NT5E and A₁R (Figure A2.1B). Taken together, these data suggest that NT5E can inhibit LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} responses in vitro, perhaps through an A₁R-mediated mechanism.



Figures

Figure A2.1. NT5E inhibits LPA-evoked Ca^{2+} responses when co-expressed with A₁R. (A) Transfection with increasing amounts of mouse A₁R inhibited LPA-evoked Ca^{2+}

responses in Rat1 fibroblasts loaded with Fura-2 AM. (B) LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses in Rat1 fibroblasts expressing the indicated constructs. Expression of NT5E or A₁R (0.125 µg) alone slightly inhibited responses, while co-expression of both proteins led to significantly more inhibition. For both (A) and (B), responses are the areas under the curve of the change in the 340/380 ratio over baseline normalized to the responses in untransfected control cells. For (B) t tests were used to compare untransfected cells to transfected cells, as well as cells expressing both NT5E + A₁R to cells expressing either NT5E or A₁R alone. **P* < 0.05, ****P* < 0.0005. All data are presented as means \pm s.e.m.

APPENDIX III

NT5E, but not PAP, can Rapidly Convert AMP to Adenosine and Activate A_{2B}R in vitro

Summary

Both NT5E and PAP can activate A₁R, leading to decreased GPCR-induced Ca²⁺ responses. This suggests that both enzymes are capable of degrading AMP to adenosine in vitro. The A₁R-mediatd effect on cellular signaling is most likely through a low-level, chronic activation of the receptor. This does not allow us to determine if PAP or NT5E are capable of rapidly degrading AMP to adenosine and activating adenosine receptors in a cellular context. To study this, we used $A_{2B}R$, which is coupled to $G_{q/11}$ and when activated, leads to PLC activation, IP₃ production, and increases in intracellular Ca²⁺. We transfected Rat1 fibroblasts with $A_{2B}R$ alone or with PAP and/or NT5E, loaded the cells with the calcium indicator dye Fura-2 AM, and added AMP to the cells. Cells expressing just A_{2B}R showed an increase in intracellular calcium to addition of adenosine, but not in response to AMP. Cells expressing $A_{2B}R$ with NT5E or NT5E + PAP responded to AMP, suggesting NT5E can rapidly degrade AMP to adenosine. Only a small number of cells expressing PAP $+ A_{2B}R$ showed a response to AMP, suggesting that PAP has limited ability to rapidly degrade AMP. These results suggest that NT5E is much more capable of rapid AMP degradation and adenosine production than PAP.

Methods and Results

To study $A_{2B}R$ activation, we transfected Rat1 fibroblasts with a full-length expression construct of the human $A_{2B}R$ tagged with the yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) (gift of Rob Tarran), and 24 hours later loaded the cells with the calcium indicator dye Fura-2 AM. We then added 1 mM adenosine (Sigma) for 5 minutes to the cells. Approximately 50% of all transfected cells showed an increase in intracellular calcium in response to adenosine (Figure A3.1A). We next added 1 mM of 5'AMP (Sigma) to cells expressing just $A_{2B}R$. Only 3.33% of cells showed any increase in intracellular Ca²⁺, and these responses were very small in magnitude (Figure A3.1B). This suggests that these cells cannot rapidly degrade AMP to adenosine under these conditions. We next added AMP to cells coexpressing $A_{2B}R$ + mouse TM-PAP, $A_{2B}R$ + mouse NT5E, or cells expressing $A_{2B}R$ + TM-PAP + NT5E. Only 7.34% of cells expressing $A_{2B}R$ + TM-PAP showed Ca²⁺ responses to AMP, and these responses were moderate in magnitude and duration. It should be noted that significantly more $A_{2B}R$ + TM-PAP cells responded to AMP than cells expressing only $A_{2B}R$, suggesting TM-PAP is producing some adenosine under these conditions.

Strikingly, 45% of cells expressing $A_{2B}R$ + NT5E and 40% of cells expressing $A_{2B}R$ + TM-PAP + NT5E showed Ca²⁺ responses to AMP. These responses were larger in magnitude than those seen in $A_{2B}R$ + TM-PAP cells. Taken together, these results suggest that NT5E is capable of rapid AMP degradation to adenosine and subsequent adenosine receptor activation in vitro. We should note that while PAP seemed to be only weakly capable of degrading AMP to adenosine in this assay, it is possible that PAP could be making adenosine rapidly, but this adenosine is incapable of quickly activating $A_{2B}R$ before being taken up into the cells. Evidence exists that suggests some ectonucleotidases may actually have a very close association with adenosine receptors, essentially shuttling produced

adenosine directly to the receptor to maximize activation (Cunha et al., 1998). This could be the case for NT5E, while PAP may not be closely coupled to $A_{2B}R$ in this experimental setup. Further studies are needed to test this hypothesis.



Figures

Figure A3.1. NT5E and PAP can rapidly degrade AMP to adenosine and activate $A_{2B}R$. (A) Percent of total Rat1 fibroblasts expressing the indicated constructs that showed an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ in response to AMP (1 mM) or adenosine (ADO; 1mM). An increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ was defined as an area under the curve value > 5 over the first minute of AMP addition for a given cell. Four separate experiments were conducted for each condition. (B) The mean Ca²⁺ response seen in cells transfected with the indicated constructs that showed an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ in response to AMP (1 mM) or adenosine (ADO; 1 mM). For (A) and (B), paired t tests were used to compare values for $A_{2B}R$
stimulated with AMP to all other conditions. *P < 0.05, ***P < 0.0005. All data are means \pm s.e.m.

APPENDIX IV

Thiamine as an Antinociceptive Compound: Potential Development of TMP as an Antinociceptive Pro-drug

Summary

The B vitamins, particularly thiamine (B1), riboflavin (B2), pyridoxine (B6), and cyanocobalamin (B12) have all been implicated in proper nervous system function. Deficiencies in these vitamins lead to pathological conditions, including chronic pain (Zimmermann, 1988). Conversely, supplying pyridoxine and thiamine can relieve pain in humans associated with neuropathic disorders, carpal tunnel syndrome, rheumatoid arthritis, and premenstrual tension (Abbas and Swai, 1997; Bernstein, 1990; Bernstein and Dinesen, 1993; Jorg et al., 1988; Wyatt et al., 1999; Yxfeldt et al., 2003). B vitamins also potentiate the antinociceptive effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) in many painful conditions (Jurna, 1998; Kuhlwein et al., 1990; Reyes-Garcia et al., 2002; Reyes-Garcia et al., 1999; Rocha-Gonzalez et al., 2004). In addition, B vitamins also attenuate neuropathic pain syndromes in animals following peripheral nerve injury, DRG compression, or induction of diabetic neuropathy (Caram-Salas et al., 2006; Sanchez-Ramirez et al., 2006; Song et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2005). Interestingly, some studies suggest that thiamine has a selective effect on reducing nerve injury-induced thermal hyperalgesia, while not affecting mechanical allodynia (Song et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2005). Some studies suggest an immediate effect of B vitamins on acute nociception, as measured in the acetic acid writhing, formalin, and hotplate tests (Moallem et al., 2008; Reyes-Garcia et al., 2001; Sanchez-Ramirez et al., 2006). The physiologic effects responsible for this anti-nociception are

unclear, although two studies have suggested direct inhibitory actions of thiamine on DRG and spinal cord dorsal horn neurons (Fu et al., 1988; Song et al., 2009). In addition, B vitamins are important in nerve conduction, enhance antinociceptive cyclic GMP production, and play a role in reconstruction of degenerated nerves (Fujii et al., 1996; Itokawa and Cooper, 1970; Vesely, 1985).

Thiamine production in the nervous system is under the control of enzymes that breakdown thiamine phosphate esters, including thiamine triphosphatase (TTPase), thiamine pyrophosphatase (TPPase), and thiamine monophosphatase (TMPase) (Knyihar-Csillik et al., 1986; Reggiani et al., 1984; Rindi et al., 1984). We recently identified PAP as the molecular identity of TMPase, and this enzyme is the only one responsible for the breakdown of TMP to thiamine in DRG and dorsal spinal cord (Zylka et al., 2008). By degrading TMP, PAP could cause antinociception due to production of thiamine. In order to initiate studies on this possibility, we attempted to study the effects of thiamine on cellular signaling and acute nociception. We show that incubation of Rat1 fibroblasts expressing the A₁R with thiamine reduces LPA-evoked Ca²⁺, suggesting a possible role for thiamine in reducing pronociceptive cell signaling. Further, we show that intrathecal injection of thiamine has antinociceptive properties in two tests of acute thermal sensitivity, and some of this effect is eliminated in $A_1R^{-/-}$ mice, suggesting a possible role of thiamine in activating A₁R signaling.

Methods and Results

In order to test the effect of systemic thiamine injection on acute thermal nociception, we first attempted to recreate published data (Moallem et al., 2008) looking at latency to nocifensive responses in the hotplate test before and after intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of

thiamine (125 mg/kg; Sigma) dissolved in 0.9% saline. We used two groups of adult male mice – 6 C57BL/6 animals, and 5 $A_1 R^{-/-}$ animals. Based on PAP's requirement for $A_1 R^{-/-}$ for its antinociceptive effect and a lack of an identified thiamine receptor, we used $A_1 R^{-/-}$ mice as controls to see if part of PAP's effect was due to thiamine production from TMP and activation of A₁R. WT and $A_1 R^{-/-}$ mice had similar latencies to nocifensive response at baseline (defined as licking hindpaw or jumping) (Figure A4.1A). Withdrawal latencies were significantly increased over baseline 30 min after i.p. injection of thiamine in both genotypes, suggesting a thermal antinociceptive effect due to thiamine that does not depend on A₁R activation.

We also tested the ability of thiamine to affect acute thermal nociception in the radiant heat (Hargreaves) test. For this test, we injected thiamine i.p. (125 mg/kg) and measured hindpaw withdrawal latencies at 30, 60, and 120 min after thiamine injection. Thiamine caused a small, but significant increase in withdrawal latency at 30 min in WT, but not $A_1 R^{-/-}$ mice (Figure A4.1B). There were no changes in withdrawal latency at the later time points. This suggests that central injection of thiamine has thermal antinociceptive effects that may depend on $A_1 Rs$.

To further test the ability of thiamine to affect cellular signaling through A_1R , we looked at LPA-evoked calcium responses in Rat1 fibroblasts expressing A_1R with or without prior incubation with thiamine. Transfected cells were incubated with 1 mM thiamine or vehicle for 3 hours, then loaded with Fura-2 AM. LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses were measured as described above. As described in Appendix III (see Figure A3.1A), expression of A_1R alone caused a decrease in LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses. Incubation of these cells with thiamine further decreased LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses, suggesting thiamine may

decrease cell signaling through an A_1R -dependent process (Figure A4.2). Further studies using A_1R -selective antagonists are necessary to confirm this result. Taken together, our results suggest that thiamine has effects on acute thermal nociception that may act through activation of A_1Rs . Interesting follow-up studies could be performed examining the possible anti-nociceptive properties of TMP through degradation to thiamine by PAP. If this is the case, TMP could be used as a selective pro-drug for activation by PAP for treatment of chronic pain that could avoid the side-effects of AMP analogs.



Figures

Figure A4.1. Thiamine reduces acute thermal nociception in vivo. (A) Nocifensive response to noxious heat stimulus (52°C) on hotplate in wild-type (WT; n = 6) and $A_I R^{-/-}$ (n = 5) mice. Responses were taken at baseline (BL) on two consecutive days, followed by two consecutive days where responses were taken 30 min after i.p. injection of thiamine (125 mg/kg). A positive response was defined as licking of the hindpaws or jumping. (B) Withdrawal latency to noxious thermal stimulus (radiant light source) in WT (n = 4) and $A_I R^{-/-}$ (n = 6) mice at baseline (BL) and after i.p. injection of thiamine (125 mg/kg; arrow). For

(A) paired t tests were used to compare responses at baseline to responses at 30 min within each genotype. For (B) paired t tests were used to compare responses at BL to responses at later timepoints within each genotype (black asterisk) and to compare responses between genotypes at each timepoint (red asterisks). *P < 0.05, **P < 0.005. All data are means ± s.e.m.



Figure A4.2. Thiamine reduces LPA-evoked Ca²⁺ responses in Rat1 fibroblasts. LPA (100 nM)-evoked Ca²⁺ responses in Rat1 fibroblasts transfected with the indicated constructs. Some cells were incubated for three hours with 1 mM thiamine (Thi) prior to LPA addition. Responses were normalized to untransfected controls. n = 180 - 240 per condition. Paired t tests were used to compare responses in untransfected cells to all other conditions and to compare A₁R to A₁R + Thiamine. ***P < 0.0005. All data are presented as means ± s.e.m.

APPENDIX V

Expression of PAP and NT5E in Salivary Glands of Mice

Summary

Nucleotide signaling is important in the regulation of salivary gland function. Both P2X (P2X₄ and P2X₇) and P2Y (P2Y₁ and P2Y₂) receptors are present in salivary glands and are involved in numerous processes, including chloride and sodium ion transport, secretion, response to glandular damage, and mediation of inflammation or cell death (Ahn et al., 2000; Gibbons et al., 2001; Lee et al., 1997; Turner and Camden, 1990; Zeng et al., 1997). In addition, ATP and its degradation products are secreted into saliva that eventually resides in the buccal cavity. Here, AMP and adenosine can modulate taste sensation through actions at taste buds (Keast and Breslin, 2002; Keast et al., 2004; Ming et al., 1999). ATP can be released in salivary glands from parasympathetic nerve terminals (Tenneti et al., 1998), and can also be released from salivary ductal cells in response to shear stress and distension due to salivary flow (Ralevic and Burnstock, 1998). The actions of ATP at its receptors are terminated through degradation of ATP to adenosine. Ectonucleotidases must be present in the salivary gland to mediate this process. Immunohistochemistry suggests the expression of E-NTPDase1 and E-NTPDase 2 in many different salivary gland cells types (Kittel et al., 2004), while more recent biochemical studies suggest E-NTPDase 3 may be present (Henz et al., 2006). Biochemical studies have also detected AMPase activity that was attributed to NT5E (Henz et al., 2006). However, recent evidence suggests that PAP is also expressed in mouse salivary gland and could also be responsible for some of the AMPase activity (Quintero et al., 2007).

Using enzyme histochemistry and immunohistochemistry in knockout animals, we attempted to detect the expression of NT5E and PAP in mouse salivary gland. We were able to show expression and activity of both PAP and NT5E in the salivary gland, suggesting these enzymes could play important roles in the modulation of glandular function, as well as in modulation of taste perception.

Methods and Results

In order to examine AMPase and TMPase activity in mouse salivary gland, whole salivary glands were harvested from WT, Pap^{-/-}, Nt5e^{-/-}, and Nt5e^{-/-}; Pap^{-/-} mice, fixed for 3 hours in 4% PFA-PBS, washed in 30% sucrose, sectioned, and mounted onto Permafrost slides. AMPase and TMPase activity was performed as described previously (Zylka et al., 2008), using 5 mM of substrate at either pH 5.6 or 7.0. AMPase staining was very intense in the parotid gland of WT mouse, in acini, ducts, and connective tissue at both pH 5.6 and 7 (Figures A5.1A, A5.1B). In $Pap^{-/2}$ mice, staining was similar in pattern, but reduced in magnitude compared to WT, suggesting PAP is responsible for some of the AMPase activity in the WT gland (Figures A5.1C, A5.1D). In $Nt5e^{-t}$, staining was diminished in the connective tissue of the gland, but still strong in the acini and ducts at pH 5.6 (Figure A5.1E). Staining at pH 7.0 was strikingly diminished in all regions, suggesting NT5E is responsible for the bulk of the AMPase activity in the WT gland (Figure A5.1F). In $Nt5e^{-/-}; Pap^{-/-}$ mice, staining was greatly reduced in all regions at pH 5.6 and was completely absent at pH 7.0 (Figures A5.1G, A5.1H). This suggests that PAP and NT5E are responsible for most, if not all AMPase activity in the gland.

Since we have previously shown that PAP is entirely responsible for TMPase activity in the spinal cord and DRG, we also looked at TMPase staining in the parotid gland at pH 5.6 and 7.0. TMPase staining was eliminated in both $Pap^{-/-}$ and $Nt5e^{-/-};Pap^{-/-}$ mice at both pHs, while it was similar to wild-type in $Nt5e^{-/-}$ tissue, suggesting that PAP is expressed and functional in mouse salivary gland (Figures A5.2A-A5.2H).

In order to test for expression of NT5E protein, we used immunofluorescence to label salivary glands from WT, $Pap^{-/}$, and $Nt5e^{-/}$ mice using a commercially available anti-NT5E mouse antibody. In WT and $Pap^{-/}$ mice, staining was intense in all regions of the salivary glands, similar to the AMPase activity in $Pap^{-/}$ animals (Figures A5.3A, A5.3B). In $Nt5e^{-/}$ tissue, staining was nearly completely eliminated (Figure A5.3C). The only residual staining appeared to be in some ducts suggesting this staining was due to non-specific binding of the antibody in these regions. These studies confirmed the presence of NT5E protein in mouse salivary gland. We also attempted to label mouse salivary gland with anti-PAP mouse antibody, but saw similar staining patterns in all genotypes tested, suggesting significant background staining in these tissues with this antibody (data not shown). Taken together, our studies confirm that both NT5E and PAP are expressed and are functional in mouse salivary gland. Their roles in salivary gland function remain to be determined.

Figures



Figure A5.1. AMPase activity in mouse salivary gland. (A-H) Parotid gland from (A, B) wild-type (WT), (C, D) $Pap^{-/-}$, (E, F) $Nt5e^{-/-}$, and (G, H) $Nt5e^{-/-}$; $Pap^{-/-}$ mice stained with AMP histochemistry. AMP substrate concentration was 5 mM at the indicated pH. Scale bar is 50 µm for all images.



Figure A5.2. TMPase activity in mouse salivary gland. (A-H) Parotid gland from (A, B) wild-type (WT), (C, D) $Pap^{-/-}$, (E, F) $Nt5e^{-/-}$, and (G, H) $Nt5e^{-/-}$; $Pap^{-/-}$ mice stained with TMP histochemistry. TMP substrate concentration was 5 mM at the indicated pH. Scale bar is 50 µm for all images.



Figure A5.3. NT5E protein is expressed in mouse salivary gland. (A-C) Parotid gland from (A) wild-type, (B) $Pap^{-/-}$, and (C) $Nt5e^{-/-}$ mice labeled with anti-NT5E antibody. Scale bar is 50 µm for all images.

APPENDIX VI

Risk Factors and Characteristics of HIV Painful Neuropathy in a South African Population

Summary

Nowhere has the effects of HIV been felt on a grander scale than in the country of South Africa. Poverty, social instability, restricted access to medical care, and political indifference have combined to produce an epidemic in which over 5.7 million South Africans (18.1% of the population between 15-49) are infected (UNAIDS, 2008). The magnitude of the epidemic has had profound effects on South African society, leading to a dramatic reduction in life expectancy, an increase in deaths among young adults, an increase in child orphans (over 1.7 million "AIDS orphans"), a rise in unemployment, a stifling of the national economy, and a rise in social unrest (Booysen et al., 2003; SAIR, 2009; SSA, 2008). Social stigma and AIDS denialism amongst government officials have led to a delay in treatment of HIV-infected individuals and has also contributed to the magnitude of the epidemic, as it is estimated only 32% of those in need of treatment are currently receiving antiretroviral medications (WHO, 2008). However, the new South African government has pledged to increase the number of HIV-infected individuals receiving treatment, with a goal to provide treatment to 80% of individuals who need it by 2011 (Muir and Bass, 2009).

Peripheral sensory neuropathies (PSNs) are the most common neurological complication of HIV infection (Luciano et al., 2003; Wulff et al., 2000). PSNs result from damage to peripheral nerves that cuase slowly progressive numbness and paresthesias with burning sensations in the extremeties (Gonzalez-Duarte et al., 2007). Some patients develop

severe pain, but up to 30% are asymptomatic (Morgello et al., 2004; Schifitto et al., 2002; Schifitto et al., 2005). All individuals with PSNs are at high risk of damage to peripheral structures (hands and feet) and more serious bodily injury as a result of the progressive numbness in these regions. In addition, patients with HIV-associated sensory neuropathy have significantly lower scores in measures of quality of life, especially in perceived physical functioning, level of pain, energy level, and perceived overall health (Pandya et al., 2005).

There are two broad classifications of HIV-associated sensory neuropathy. Distal sensory polyneuropathy (DSP) is a primary complication of advanced HIV disease, seen in greater than 30% of patients with AIDS (de la Monte et al., 1988; Norton et al., 1996). The pathogenesis of DSP is unclear, but is characterized by prominent small-diameter axonal loss likely due to inflammation and is associated with low CD4 counts and elevated HIV plasma viral loads (Pardo et al., 2001; Simpson et al., 2002; Simpson et al., 1998; Tagliati et al., 1999). Antiretroviral toxic neuropathy (ATN) is a second type of HIV-associated neuropathy that is due to direct toxic effects of certain types of antiretroviral medications used to treat HIV infection. ATN is particularly associated with high doses of nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs), including zalcitabine (ddC), didanosine (ddI), and stavudine (d4T) (Browne et al., 1993; Lambert et al., 1990; Yarchoan et al., 1988). These drugs could cause neuronal damage through mitochondrial dysfunction (Gonzalez-Duarte et al., 2007). Rates of HIV-associated neuropathies are increasing, with prevalence over 50% in some studies, and this is thought likely due in part to the development of ATN in antiretroviraltreated individuals (Morgello et al., 2004; Watters et al., 2004). However, definitive studies on the risks of antiretrovirals for development of ATN have not been performed.

Antiretroviral therapy (ART) in South Africa consists of one of two NRTIs – d4T or zidovudine (AZT) – together with lamivudine (3TC) and a non-NRTI – either nevirapine or efavirenz (Wilson et al., 2002). While the dose of d4T has been lowered recently, there is some concern that use of the drug in a population that is already at risk for polyneuropathy due to the high prevalence of malnutrition, alcohol use, and prio anti-tuberculosis therapy could lead to even higher levels of ATN. In fact, a recent cross-sectional study in a South African HIV-infected population showed that the frequency of HIV-associated sensory neuropathy increases significantly from 23% prior to initiation of ART to 40% in ARTexposed subjects (Maritz et al., 2009). In addition, a history of prior Mycobacterium tuberculosis (TB) infection was an additional risk factor for HIV-associated sensory neuropathy, irrespective of ART treatment status. This is especially troublesome, as South Africa has one of the highest incidence rates of TB in the world. This study seems to suggest that ART and TB treatment are significant risk factors for the development of HIVassociated sensory neuropathy. However, this study is limited by its cross-sectional design. A more rigorous, longitudinal study could more directly study the effects of ART, TB treatment, and other risk factors for the development of HIV-associated sensory neuropathy. It is exactly such a study I will be assissting in conducting.

Methods

A longitudinal study has been launched under the direction of Drs. Jeannine Heckmann (University of Cape Town), Michael Benatar (Emory University), and Taylor Harrison (Emory University) on site at the University of Cape Town Medical School and the Crossroads Community Health Center (CCHC) within the city of Cape Town, South Africa. The CCHC provides all HIV care to approximately 5000 HIV-infected individuals in the Crossroads community. The basic study design will be similar to that of a recently completed cross-sectional study carried out in the same clinic (Maritz et al., 2009). Subjects will be included if they meet the following criteria: (1) age \geq 18; (2) HIV infection documented by ELISA and confirmed by Western Blot; (3) No prior history of antiretroviral therapy; and (4) Patient or patient's legal next of kin understands the purpose and requirements of the study and has provided Informed Consent. Patients will be excluded on the basis of the following: (1) Cognitive impairment which, at the discretion of the site investigator is felt to preclude cooperation with the study protocol; (2) signs and symptoms suggestive of either radiculopathy or myelopathy that, in the opinion of the investigator, complicates the diagnosis of neuropathy; and (3) family history of neuropathy.

A total of three study visits will occur: a baseline visit at study entry and two follow-up evaluations at 6-month intervals. Evaluations at the baseline visit will include anthropometric data (height, weight, heart rate, blood pressure, etc.), completion of dietary, nutritional, and lifestyle questionnaires, detailed collection of past medical and social history (including the frequency and quantity of alcohol consumption, prior history of tuberculosis with documentation of regimen and treatment duration), as well as a general physical examination. Laboratory screening for diabetes through fasting blood glucose and a 2-hour oral glucose tolerance test will be performed. Subjects will also have a complete blood count, CD4+ count, HIV viral load, RPR, hepatitis B and C serology, albumin, ALT, lipids, lactate, B12, insulin level, and TSH measured.

A brief (< 30 minutes) examination of peripheral nervous system function will focus attention to extremity muscle strength, bulk, and tone, as well as to assessment of the

following primary sensory modalities: pinprick, vibratory thresholds, and proprioception. Pinprick sensitivity will assess for a symmetric, distal-to-proximal gradient of sensory loss. Vibratory thresholds measured at the distal interphalangeal joint at the first toe will be deemed abnormal if the subject is unable to report sensation beyond 10 seconds after a maximal strike of a 128-Hz tuning fork. Proprioception will be assessed at the distal phalynx of the great toe. Muscle stretch reflexes will be assessed to determine either the absence or side-to-side asymmetry of ankle jerks, or the presence of a distal-to-proximal gradient of impaired reflex elicitation. Data will be recorded in both the Brief Peripheral Neuropathy Screen (BPNS) (Cherry et al., 2005) and a modified version of the reduced Total Neuropathy Score (TNSr) (Cornblath et al., 1999). These are both well-accepted and standard means of measuring neuropathy in the field. The BPNS assesses three sensory domains (pain, numbness, and "pins and needles" or parasthesias) graded on a 10 cm visual analogue scale (VAS) as well as two examination domains consisting of vibratory sensation and reflexes. The TNSr incorporates neuropathic symptoms and clinical examination of pinprick and vibratory sensation (as described above), muscle stretch reflexes and strength. For this study, we will exclude assessment of autonomic symptoms, electrophysiology, and quantitative sensory testing. Local ethics committee approval has been secured and both neuropathy assessment tools have been translated into Xhosa. Criteria for neuropathy diagnosis, classification, and methods of grading severity are detailed in the section entitled "Outcome Measures."

Follow-up evaluations at 6 and 12 months will include the neuropathy assessment with completion of the BPNS and the TNSr as well as the following laboratory measures:

complete blood count, CD4 count, HIV viral load, glucose tolerance test, insulin level, ALT, albumin, lipids, and serum lactate.

All procedures have been approved by the University of Cape Town research ethics committee. All participants will provide written informed consent.

I will be involved in the process by performing the clinical neuropathic evaluations; these will include a brief pain symptom visual analogue scale and a brief peripheral neuropathy assessment. I will be trained and observed by study personnel during this time. I will also observe other aspects of the study. Clearly this process will not be completed at the time of submission of this document. This study will give solid evidence on the risk factors for the development of HIV-associated neuropathy in this population, with particular interest in the dangers of ART use and TB therapy. Findings from the study could prove useful in designing future treatment paradigms that limit the development of HIV-associated neuropathies.

REFERENCES

(1999). Chronic Pain in America: Roadblocks to Relief, R. S. Worldwide, ed. (American Pain Society and Janssen Pharmaceutica).

(2006). Health, United States, 2006 With Chartbook on Trends in the Health of Americans (Hyattsville, MD, National Center for Health Statistics), pp. 68-90.

Abbas, Z. G., and Swai, A. B. (1997). Evaluation of the efficacy of thiamine and pyridoxine in the treatment of symptomatic diabetic peripheral neuropathy. East Afr Med J *74*, 803-808.

Abbott, F. V., Hong, Y., and Blier, P. (1996). Activation of 5-HT2A receptors potentiates pain produced by inflammatory mediators. Neuropharmacology *35*, 99-110.

Abbracchio, M. P., Burnstock, G., Verkhratsky, A., and Zimmermann, H. (2009). Purinergic signalling in the nervous system: an overview. Trends Neurosci *32*, 19-29.

Abo-Salem, O. M., Hayallah, A. M., Bilkei-Gorzo, A., Filipek, B., Zimmer, A., and Muller, C. E. (2004). Antinociceptive effects of novel A2B adenosine receptor antagonists. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *308*, 358-366.

Ahern, G. P. (2003). Activation of TRPV1 by the satiety factor oleoylethanolamide. J Biol Chem 278, 30429-30434.

Ahern, G. P., Brooks, I. M., Miyares, R. L., and Wang, X. B. (2005). Extracellular cations sensitize and gate capsaicin receptor TRPV1 modulating pain signaling. J Neurosci 25, 5109-5116.

Ahern, G. P., Wang, X., and Miyares, R. L. (2006). Polyamines Are Potent Ligands for the Capsaicin Receptor TRPV1. J Biol Chem 281, 8991-8995.

Ahluwalia, J., Rang, H., and Nagy, I. (2002). The putative role of vanilloid receptor-like protein-1 in mediating high threshold noxious heat-sensitivity in rat cultured primary sensory neurons. Eur J Neurosci *16*, 1483-1489.

Ahn, J. S., Camden, J. M., Schrader, A. M., Redman, R. S., and Turner, J. T. (2000). Reversible regulation of P2Y(2) nucleotide receptor expression in the duct-ligated rat submandibular gland. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol *279*, C286-294.

Airas, L., Niemela, J., Salmi, M., Puurunen, T., Smith, D. J., and Jalkanen, S. (1997). Differential regulation and function of CD73, a glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol-linked 70-kD adhesion molecule, on lymphocytes and endothelial cells. J Cell Biol *136*, 421-431.

Aird, S. D. (2005). Taxonomic distribution and quantitative analysis of free purine and pyrimidine nucleosides in snake venoms. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology *140*, 109-126.

Akopian, A. N., Ruparel, N. B., Jeske, N. A., and Hargreaves, K. M. (2007). Transient receptor potential TRPA1 channel desensitization in sensory neurons is agonist dependent and regulated by TRPV1-directed internalization. J Physiol *583*, 175-193.

Aley, K. O., Green, P. G., and Levine, J. D. (1995). Opioid and adenosine peripheral antinociception are subject to tolerance and withdrawal. J Neurosci *15*, 8031-8038.

Amadesi, S., Cottrell, G. S., Divino, L., Chapman, K., Grady, E. F., Bautista, F., Karanjia, R., Barajas-Lopez, C., Vanner, S., Vergnolle, N., and Bunnett, N. W. (2006). Protease-activated receptor 2 sensitizes TRPV1 by protein kinase $C\hat{I}\mu$ - and A-dependent mechanisms in rats and mice. The Journal of Physiology *575*, 555-571.

Amadesi, S., Nie, J., Vergnolle, N., Cottrell, G. S., Grady, E. F., Trevisani, M., Manni, C., Geppetti, P., McRoberts, J. A., Ennes, H., *et al.* (2004). Protease-activated receptor 2 sensitizes the capsaicin receptor transient receptor potential vanilloid receptor 1 to induce hyperalgesia. J Neurosci *24*, 4300-4312.

Aumeerally, N., Allen, G., and Sawynok, J. (2004). Glutamate-evoked release of adenosine and regulation of peripheral nociception. Neuroscience *127*, 1-11.

Babes, A., Amuzescu, B., Krause, U., Scholz, A., Flonta, M. L., and Reid, G. (2002). Cooling inhibits capsaicin-induced currents in cultured rat dorsal root ganglion neurones. Neurosci Lett *317*, 131-134.

Babes, A., Zorzon, D., and Reid, G. (2004). Two populations of cold-sensitive neurons in rat dorsal root ganglia and their modulation by nerve growth factor. Eur J Neurosci *20*, 2276-2282.

Bailey, A., Ledent, C., Kelly, M., Hourani, S. M., and Kitchen, I. (2002). Changes in spinal delta and kappa opioid systems in mice deficient in the A2A receptor gene. J Neurosci 22, 9210-9220.

Bandell, M., Story, G. M., Hwang, S. W., Viswanath, V., Eid, S. R., Petrus, M. J., Earley, T. J., and Patapoutian, A. (2004a). Noxious cold ion channel TRPA1 is activated by pungent compounds and bradykinin. Neuron *41*, 849-857.

Bandell, M., Story, G. M., Hwang, S. W., Viswanath, V., Eid, S. R., Petrus, M. J., Earley, T. J., and Patapoutian, A. (2004b). Noxious Cold Ion Channel TRPA1 Is Activated by Pungent Compounds and Bradykinin. *41*, 849-857.

Bartel, D. L., Sullivan, S. L., Lavoie, E. G., Sevigny, J., and Finger, T. E. (2006). Nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase-2 is the ecto-ATPase of type I cells in taste buds. J Comp Neurol *497*, 1-12.

Baumann, T. K., Chaudhary, P., and Martenson, M. E. (2004). Background potassium channel block and TRPV1 activation contribute to proton depolarization of sensory neurons from humans with neuropathic pain. Eur J Neurosci *19*, 1343-1351.

Bautista, D. M., Jordt, S. E., Nikai, T., Tsuruda, P. R., Read, A. J., Poblete, J., Yamoah, E. N., Basbaum, A. I., and Julius, D. (2006a). TRPA1 mediates the inflammatory actions of environmental irritants and proalgesic agents. Cell *124*, 1269-1282.

Bautista, D. M., Jordt, S. E., Nikai, T., Tsuruda, P. R., Read, A. J., Poblete, J., Yamoah, E. N., Basbaum, A. I., and Julius, D. (2006b). TRPA1 Mediates the Inflammatory Actions of Environmental Irritants and Proalgesic Agents. Cell *124*, 1269 - 1282.

Bautista, D. M., Siemens, J., Glazer, J. M., Tsuruda, P. R., Basbaum, A. I., Stucky, C. L., Jordt, S. E., and Julius, D. (2007). The menthol receptor TRPM8 is the principal detector of environmental cold. Nature.

Beers, S. A., Schwender, C. F., Loughney, D. A., Malloy, E., Demarest, K., and Jordan, J. (1996). Phosphatase inhibitors--III. Benzylaminophosphonic acids as potent inhibitors of human prostatic acid phosphatase. Bioorg Med Chem *4*, 1693-1701.

Belfrage, M., Segerdahl, M., Arner, S., and Sollevi, A. (1999). The safety and efficacy of intrathecal adenosine in patients with chronic neuropathic pain. Anesth Analg *89*, 136-142.

Belfrage, M., Sollevi, A., Segerdahl, M., Sjolund, K. F., and Hansson, P. (1995). Systemic adenosine infusion alleviates spontaneous and stimulus evoked pain in patients with peripheral neuropathic pain. Anesth Analg *81*, 713-717.

Benington, J. H., Kodali, S. K., and Heller, H. C. (1995). Stimulation of A1 adenosine receptors mimics the electroencephalographic effects of sleep deprivation. Brain Res *692*, 79-85.

Bergman, E., Carlsson, K., Liljeborg, A., Manders, E., Hokfelt, T., and Ulfhake, B. (1999). Neuropeptides, nitric oxide synthase and GAP-43 in B4-binding and RT97 immunoreactive primary sensory neurons: normal distribution pattern and changes after peripheral nerve transection and aging. Brain Res *832*, 63-83.

Bernier, L. P., Ase, A. R., Chevallier, S., Blais, D., Zhao, Q., Boue-Grabot, E., Logothetis, D., and Seguela, P. (2008). Phosphoinositides regulate P2X4 ATP-gated channels through direct interactions. J Neurosci 28, 12938-12945.

Bernstein, A. L. (1990). Vitamin B6 in clinical neurology. Ann N Y Acad Sci 585, 250-260.

Bernstein, A. L., and Dinesen, J. S. (1993). Brief communication: effect of pharmacologic doses of vitamin B6 on carpal tunnel syndrome, electroencephalographic results, and pain. J Am Coll Nutr *12*, 73-76.

Berrendero, F., Castane, A., Ledent, C., Parmentier, M., Maldonado, R., and Valverde, O. (2003). Increase of morphine withdrawal in mice lacking A2a receptors and no changes in CB1/A2a double knockout mice. Eur J Neurosci *17*, 315-324.

Bhave, G., Hu, H. J., Glauner, K. S., Zhu, W., Wang, H., Brasier, D. J., Oxford, G. S., and Gereau, R. W. t. (2003). Protein kinase C phosphorylation sensitizes but does not activate the capsaicin receptor transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 12480-12485.

Bhave, G., Zhu, W., Wang, H., Brasier, D. J., Oxford, G. S., and Gereau, R. W. t. (2002). cAMP-dependent protein kinase regulates desensitization of the capsaicin receptor (VR1) by direct phosphorylation. Neuron *35*, 721-731.

Bigonnesse, F., Levesque, S. A., Kukulski, F., Lecka, J., Robson, S. C., Fernandes, M. J., and Sevigny, J. (2004). Cloning and characterization of mouse nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase-8. Biochemistry *43*, 5511-5519.

Binshtok, A. M., Bean, B. P., and Woolf, C. J. (2007). Inhibition of nociceptors by TRPV1mediated entry of impermeant sodium channel blockers. Nature 449, 607-610.

Binshtok, A. M., Gerner, P., Oh, S. B., Puopolo, M., Suzuki, S., Roberson, D. P., Herbert, T., Wang, C. F., Kim, D., Chung, G., *et al.* (2009). Coapplication of lidocaine and the permanently charged sodium channel blocker QX-314 produces a long-lasting nociceptive blockade in rodents. Anesthesiology *111*, 127-137.

Birrell, G. J., McQueen, D. S., Iggo, A., Coleman, R. A., and Grubb, B. D. (1991). PGI2induced activation and sensitization of articular mechanonociceptors. Neurosci Lett *124*, 5-8.

Bleehen, T., and Keele, C. A. (1977). Observations on the algogenic actions of adenosine compounds on the human blister base preparation. Pain *3*, 367-377.

Boison, D. (2008). Adenosine as a neuromodulator in neurological diseases. Curr Opin Pharmacol 8, 2-7.

Bolcskei, K., Helyes, Z., Szabo, A., Sandor, K., Elekes, K., Nemeth, J., Almasi, R., Pinter, E., Petho, G., and Szolcsanyi, J. (2005). Investigation of the role of TRPV1 receptors in acute and chronic nociceptive processes using gene-deficient mice. Pain *117*, 368-376.

Bollen, M., Gijsbers, R., Ceulemans, H., Stalmans, W., and Stefan, C. (2000). Nucleotide pyrophosphatases/phosphodiesterases on the move. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol *35*, 393-432.

Booysen, F. l. R., Geldenhuys, J. P., and Marinkov, M. (2003). Impact of HIV/AIDS on the South African Economy: A Review of Current Evidence. Paper presented at: TIPS (Johannesburg).

Bradbury, E. J., Burnstock, G., and McMahon, S. B. (1998). The expression of P2X3 purinoreceptors in sensory neurons: effects of axotomy and glial-derived neurotrophic factor. Mol Cell Neurosci *12*, 256-268.

Braun, J. S., Le Hir, M., and Kaissling, B. (1994). Morphology and distribution of ecto-5'nucleotidase-positive cells in the rat choroid plexus. J Neurocytol *23*, 193-200.

Braun, N., Sevigny, J., Mishra, S. K., Robson, S. C., Barth, S. W., Gerstberger, R., Hammer, K., and Zimmermann, H. (2003). Expression of the ecto-ATPase NTPDase2 in the germinal zones of the developing and adult rat brain. Eur J Neurosci *17*, 1355-1364.

Braun, N., Sevigny, J., Robson, S. C., Hammer, K., Hanani, M., and Zimmermann, H. (2004). Association of the ecto-ATPase NTPDase2 with glial cells of the peripheral nervous system. Glia *45*, 124-132.

Braun, N., and Zimmermann, H. (2001). Migroglical ectonucleotidases: Identification and functional roles. Drug Dev Res *53*, 208-217.

Brindley, D. N., English, D., Pilquil, C., Buri, K., and Ling, Z. (2002). Lipid phosphate phosphatases regulate signal transduction through glycerolipids and sphingolipids. Biochem Biophys Acta *1582*, 33-44.

Brosvic, G. M., and Rowe, M. M. (1992). Methyl xanthine, adenosine, and human taste responsivity. Physiology & Behavior 52, 559-563.

Browne, M. J., Mayer, K. H., Chafee, S. B., Dudley, M. N., Posner, M. R., Steinberg, S. M., Graham, K. K., Geletko, S. M., Zinner, S. H., Denman, S. L., and et al. (1993). 2',3'didehydro-3'-deoxythymidine (d4T) in patients with AIDS or AIDS-related complex: a phase I trial. J Infect Dis *167*, 21-29.

Brundege, J. M., Diao, L., Proctor, W. R., and Dunwiddie, T. V. (1997). The role of cyclic AMP as a precursor of extracellular adenosine in the rat hippocampus. Neuropharmacology *36*, 1201-1210.

Bruno, A. N., Pochmann, D., Ricachenevsky, F. K., Fontella, F. U., Bonan, C. D., Dalmaz, C., Barreto-Chaves, M. L., and Sarkis, J. J. (2005). Nociceptive response and adenine nucleotide hydrolysis in synaptosomes isolated from spinal cord of hypothyroid rats. Neurochem Res *30*, 1155-1161.

Bullock, E. D., and Johnson, E. M., Jr. (1996). Nerve growth factor induces the expression of certain cytokine genes and bcl-2 in mast cells. Potential role in survival promotion. J Biol Chem 271, 27500-27508.

Bura, S. A., Nadal, X., Ledent, C., Maldonado, R., and Valverde, O. (2008). A 2A adenosine receptor regulates glia proliferation and pain after peripheral nerve injury. Pain *140*, 95-103.

Burch, P. A., Breen, J. K., Buckner, J. C., Gastineau, D. A., Kaur, J. A., Laus, R. L., Padley, D. J., Peshwa, M. V., Pitot, H. C., Richardson, R. L., *et al.* (2000). Priming tissue-specific cellular immunity in a phase I trial of autologous dendritic cells for prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res *6*, 2175-2182.

Burch, P. A., Croghan, G. A., Gastineau, D. A., Jones, L. A., Kaur, J. S., Kylstra, J. W., Richardson, R. L., Valone, F. H., and Vuk-Pavlovic, S. (2004). Immunotherapy (APC8015, Provenge) targeting prostatic acid phosphatase can induce durable remission of metastatic androgen-independent prostate cancer: a Phase 2 trial. Prostate *60*, 197-204.

Burgess, P. R., and Perl, E. R. (1967). Myelinated afferent fibres responding specifically to noxious stimulation of the skin. The Journal of Physiology *190*, 541-562.

Burnstock, G. (1972). Purinergic nerves. Pharmacol Rev 24, 509-581.

Burnstock, G. (2007). Physiology and pathophysiology of purinergic neurotransmission. Physiol Rev *87*, 659-797.

Burnstock, G. (2009). Purinergic receptors and pain. Curr Pharm Des 15, 1717-1735.

Cahill, C. M., White, T. D., and Sawynok, J. (1993). Involvement of calcium channels in depolarization-evoked release of adenosine from spinal cord synaptosomes. J Neurochem *60*, 886-893.

Cahill, C. M., White, T. D., and Sawynok, J. (1997). Substance P releases and augments the morphine-evoked release of adenosine from spinal cord. Brain Res *760*, 294-297.

Calixto, J. B., Medeiros, R., Fernandes, E. S., Ferreira, J., Cabrini, D. A., and Campos, M. M. (2004). Kinin B1 receptors: key G-protein-coupled receptors and their role in inflammatory and painful processes. Br J Pharmacol *143*, 803-818.

Campbell, J. N., Meyer, R. A., and LaMotte, R. H. (1979). Sensitization of myelinated nociceptive afferents that innervate monkey hand. J Neurophysiol *42*, 1669-1679.

Cao, Y. Q. (2006). Voltage-gated calcium channels and pain. Pain 126, 5-9.

Caram-Salas, N. L., Reyes-Garcia, G., Medina-Santillan, R., and Granados-Soto, V. (2006). Thiamine and cyanocobalamin relieve neuropathic pain in rats: synergy with dexamethasone. Pharmacology *77*, 53-62.

Cardenas, C. G., Del Mar, L. P., Cooper, B. Y., and Scroggs, R. S. (1997). 5HT4 receptors couple positively to tetrodotoxin-insensitive sodium channels in a subpopulation of capsaicin-sensitive rat sensory neurons. J Neurosci *17*, 7181-7189.

Carr, P. A., Yamamoto, T., and Nagy, J. I. (1990). Calcitonin gene-related peptide in primary afferent neurons of rat: co-existence with fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase and depletion by neonatal capsaicin. Neuroscience *36*, 751-760.

Carruthers, A. M., Sellers, L. A., Jenkins, D. W., Jarvie, E. M., Feniuk, W., and Humphrey, P. P. (2001). Adenosine A(1) receptor-mediated inhibition of protein kinase A-induced calcitonin gene-related peptide release from rat trigeminal neurons. Mol Pharmacol *59*, 1533-1541.

Castrop, H., Huang, Y., Hashimoto, S., Mizel, D., Hansen, P., Theilig, F., Bachmann, S., Deng, C., Briggs, J., and Schnermann, J. (2004). Impairment of tubuloglomerular feedback regulation of GFR in ecto-5'-nucleotidase/CD73-deficient mice. J Clin Invest *114*, 634-642.

Caterina, M. J., and Julius, D. (2001). The vanilloid receptor: a molecular gateway to the pain pathway. Annu Rev Neurosci 24, 487-517.

Caterina, M. J., Leffler, A., Malmberg, A. B., Martin, W. J., Trafton, J., Petersen-Zeitz, K. R., Koltzenburg, M., Basbaum, A. I., and Julius, D. (2000a). Impaired nociception and pain sensation in mice lacking the capsaicin receptor. Science *288*, 306 - 313.

Caterina, M. J., Leffler, A., Malmberg, A. B., Martin, W. J., Trafton, J., Petersen-Zeitz, K. R., Koltzenburg, M., Basbaum, A. I., and Julius, D. (2000b). Impaired nociception and pain sensation in mice lacking the capsaicin receptor. Science 288, 306-313.

Caterina, M. J., Rosen, T. A., Tominaga, M., Brake, A. J., and Julius, D. (1999). A capsaicinreceptor homologue with a high threshold for noxious heat. Nature *398*, 436-441.

Caterina, M. J., Schumacher, M. A., Tominaga, M., Rosen, T. A., Levine, J. D., and Julius, D. (1997). The capsaicin receptor: a heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway. Nature *389*, 816-824.

Cavanaugh, D. J., Lee, H., Lo, L., Shields, S. D., Zylka, M. J., Basbaum, A. I., and Anderson, D. J. (2009). Distinct subsets of unmyelinated primary sensory fibers mediate behavioral responses to noxious thermal and mechanical stimuli. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *106*, 9075-9080.

Cesare, P., Dekker, L. V., Sardini, A., Parker, P. J., and McNaughton, P. A. (1999a). Specific involvement of PKC-epsilon in sensitization of the neuronal response to painful heat. Neuron 23, 617-624.

Cesare, P., Moriondo, A., Vellani, V., and McNaughton, P. A. (1999b). Ion channels gated by heat. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 7658-7663.

Chen, Y., Epperson, S., Makhsudova, L., Ito, B., Suarez, J., Dillmann, W., and Villarreal, F. (2004). Functional effects of enhancing or silencing adenosine A2b receptors in cardiac fibroblasts. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 287, H2478-2486.

Chen, Y., Zhang, Y. H., and Zhao, Z. Q. (2001). Novel purinergic sensitivity develops in injured sensory axons following sciatic nerve transection in rat. Brain Res *911*, 168-172.

Cherry, C. L., Wesselingh, S. L., Lal, L., and McArthur, J. C. (2005). Evaluation of a clinical screening tool for HIV-associated sensory neuropathies. Neurology *65*, 1778-1781.

Chesler, M., and Kaila, K. (1992). Modulation of pH by neuronal activity. Trends Neurosci *15*, 396-402.

Chessell, I. P., Hatcher, J. P., Bountra, C., Michel, A. D., Hughes, J. P., Green, P., Egerton, J., Murfin, M., Richardson, J., and Peck, W. L. (2005). Disruption of the P2X7 purinoceptor gene abolishes chronic inflammatory and neuropathic pain. Pain *114*, 386 - 396.

Christensen, A. P., and Corey, D. P. (2007). TRP channels in mechanosensation: direct or indirect activation? Nat Rev Neurosci 8, 510-521.

Chuang, H. H., Prescott, E. D., Kong, H., Shields, S., Jordt, S. E., Basbaum, A. I., Chao, M. V., and Julius, D. (2001). Bradykinin and nerve growth factor release the capsaicin receptor from PtdIns(4,5)P2-mediated inhibition. Nature *411*, 957-962.

Cockayne, D. A., Dunn, P. M., Zhong, Y., Rong, W., Hamilton, S. G., Knight, G. E., Ruan, H. Z., Ma, B., Yip, P., Nunn, P., *et al.* (2005). P2X2 knockout mice and P2X2/P2X3 double knockout mice reveal a role for the P2X2 receptor subunit in mediating multiple sensory effects of ATP. J Physiol *567*, 621-639.

Coimbra, A., Sodre-Borges, B. P., and Magalhaes, M. M. (1974). The substantia gelatinosa Rolandi of the rat. Fine structure, cytochemistry (acid phosphatase) and changes after dorsal root section. J Neurocytol *3*, 199-217.

Colburn, R. W., Lubin, M. L., Stone, D. J., Wang, Y., Lawrence, D., D'Andrea, M. R., Brandt, M. R., Liu, Y., Flores, C. M., and Qin, N. (2007). Attenuated cold sensitivity in TRPM8 null mice. Neuron *54*, 379 - 386.

Colgan, S. P., Eltzschig, H. K., Eckle, T., and Thompson, L. F. (2006). Physiological roles for ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73). Purinergic Signal *2*, 351-360.

Collier, H. O., James, G. W., and Schneider, C. (1966). Antagonism by aspirin and fenamates of bronchoconstriction and nociception induced by adenosine-5'-triphosphate. Nature *212*, 411-412.

Colmant, H. J. (1959). [Activity fluctuations of acid phosphatase in the spinal cord and spinal ganglia of rats after section of the sciatic nerve.]. Arch Psychiatr Nervenkr Z Gesamte Neurol Psychiatr *199*, 60-71.

Conde, S. V., Monteiro, E. C., Obeso, A., and Gonzalez, C. (2009). Adenosine in peripheral chemoreception: new insights into a historically overlooked molecule--invited article. Adv Exp Med Biol *648*, 145-159.

Contreras, E., Germany, A., and Villar, M. (1990). Effects of some adenosine analogs on morphine-induced analgesia and tolerance. Gen Pharmacol 21, 763-767.

Conway, C. M., Marsala, M., Somogyi, G. T., and Yaksh, T. L. (1997). Intrathecal NMDAinduced release of spinal adneosine and amino acids. Soc Neurosci Abstr *23*, *1013*.

Cook, S. P., and McCleskey, E. W. (2002). Cell damage excites nociceptors through release of cytosolic ATP. Pain *95*, 41-47.

Cornblath, D. R., Chaudhry, V., Carter, K., Lee, D., Seysedadr, M., Miernicki, M., and Joh, T. (1999). Total neuropathy score: validation and reliability study. Neurology *53*, 1660-1664.

Cortright, D. N., and Szallasi, A. (2009). TRP channels and pain. Curr Pharm Des 15, 1736-1749.

Costigan, M., Befort, K., Karchewski, L., Griffin, R. S., D'Urso, D., Allchorne, A., Sitarski, J., Mannion, J. W., Pratt, R. E., and Woolf, C. J. (2002). Replicate high-density rat genome oligonucleotide microarrays reveal hundreds of regulated genes in the dorsal root ganglion after peripheral nerve injury. BMC Neurosci *3*, 16.

Coutts, A. A., Jorizzo, J. L., Eady, R. A., Greaves, M. W., and Burnstock, G. (1981). Adenosine triphosphate-evoked vascular changes in human skin: mechanism of action. Eur J Pharmacol *76*, 391-401. Crea, F., Gaspardone, A., Kaski, J. C., Davies, G., and Maseri, A. (1992). Relation between stimulation site of cardiac afferent nerves by adenosine and distribution of cardiac pain: results of a study in patients with stable angina. J Am Coll Cardiol *20*, 1498-1502.

Crea, F., Pupita, G., Galassi, A. R., el-Tamimi, H., Kaski, J. C., Davies, G., and Maseri, A. (1990). Role of adenosine in pathogenesis of anginal pain. Circulation *81*, 164-172.

Cronstein, B. N. (2005). Low-dose methotrexate: a mainstay in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Pharmacol Rev *57*, 163-172.

Csillik, B., and Knyihar-Csillik, E. (1982). Reversibility of microtubule inhibitor-induced transganglionic degenerative atrophy of central terminals of primary nociceptive neurons. Neuroscience *7*, 1149-1154.

Csillik, B., and Knyihar-Csillik, E. (1986). The Protean Gate: Structure and Plasticity of the Primary Nociceptive Analyzer (Budapest, Akademiai Kiado).

Csillik, B., and Knyihar, E. (1978). Biodynamic plasticity in the Rolando substance. Prog Neurobiol *10*, 203-230.

Cui, J. G., Sollevi, A., Linderoth, B., and Meyerson, B. A. (1997). Adenosine receptor activation suppresses tactile hypersensitivity and potentiates spinal cord stimulation in mononeuropathic rats. Neurosci Lett *223*, 173-176.

Cunha, G. M., Canas, P. M., Oliveira, C. R., and Cunha, R. A. (2006). Increased density and synapto-protective effect of adenosine A2A receptors upon sub-chronic restraint stress. Neuroscience *141*, 1775-1781.

Cunha, R. A., Sebastiao, A. M., and Ribeiro, J. A. (1998). Inhibition by ATP of hippocampal synaptic transmission requires localized extracellular catabolism by ecto-nucleotidases into adenosine and channeling to adenosine A1 receptors. J Neurosci *18*, 1987-1995.

Cunha, T. M., Verri, W. A., Jr., Vivancos, G. G., Moreira, I. F., Reis, S., Parada, C. A., Cunha, F. Q., and Ferreira, S. H. (2004). An electronic pressure-meter nociception paw test for mice. Braz J Med Biol Res *37*, 401-407.

Dai, Y., Fukuoka, T., Wang, H., Yamanaka, H., Obata, K., Tokunaga, A., and Noguchi, K. (2004a). Contribution of sensitized P2X receptors in inflamed tissue to the mechanical hypersensitivity revealed by phosphorylated ERK in DRG neurons. Pain *108*, 258-266.

Dai, Y., Moriyama, T., Higashi, T., Togashi, K., Kobayashi, K., Yamanaka, H., Tominaga, M., and Noguchi, K. (2004b). Proteinase-activated receptor 2-mediated potentiation of transient receptor potential vanilloid subfamily 1 activity reveals a mechanism for proteinase-induced inflammatory pain. J Neurosci *24*, 4293-4299.

Dai, Y., Wang, S., Tominaga, M., Yamamoto, S., Fukuoka, T., Higashi, T., Kobayashi, K., Obata, K., Yamanaka, H., and Noguchi, K. (2007). Sensitization of TRPA1 by PAR2 contributes to the sensation of inflammatory pain. J Clin Invest *117*, 1979-1987.

Dale, C., and Vergnolle, N. (2008). Protease signaling to G protein-coupled receptors: implications for inflammation and pain. J Recept Signal Transduct Res 28, 29-37.

Dalsgaard, C. J., Ygge, J., Vincent, S. R., Ohrling, M., Dockray, G. J., and Elde, R. (1984). Peripheral projections and neuropeptide coexistence in a subpopulation of fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase reactive spinal primary sensory neurons. Neurosci Lett *51*, 139-144.

Daniels, R. L., Takashima, Y., and McKemy, D. D. (2009). Activity of the neuronal cold sensor TRPM8 is regulated by phospholipase C via the phospholipid phosphoinositol 4,5-bisphosphate. J Biol Chem 284, 1570-1582.

Davis-Taber, R. A., and Scott, V. E. S. (2006). Transcriptional profiling of dorsal root ganglia in a neuropathic pain model using microarray and laser capture microdissection. Drug Dev Res *67*, 308-330.

Davis, J. B., Gray, J., Gunthorpe, M. J., Hatcher, J. P., Davey, P. T., Overend, P., Harries, M. H., Latcham, J., Clapham, C., Atkinson, K., *et al.* (2000a). Vanilloid receptor-1 is essential for inflammatory thermal hyperalgesia. Nature *405*, 183 - 187.

Davis, J. B., Gray, J., Gunthorpe, M. J., Hatcher, J. P., Davey, P. T., Overend, P., Harries, M. H., Latcham, J., Clapham, C., Atkinson, K., *et al.* (2000b). Vanilloid receptor-1 is essential for inflammatory thermal hyperalgesia. Nature *405*, 183-187.

de la Monte, S. M., Gabuzda, D. H., Ho, D. D., Brown, R. H., Jr., Hedley-Whyte, E. T., Schooley, R. T., Hirsch, M. S., and Bhan, A. K. (1988). Peripheral neuropathy in the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Ann Neurol *23*, 485-492.

DeLander, G. E., and Hopkins, C. J. (1986). Spinal adenosine modulates descending antinociceptive pathways stimulated by morphine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 239, 88-93.

DeLander, G. E., and Wahl, J. J. (1991). Descending systems activated by morphine (ICV) inhibit kainic acid (IT)-induced behavior. Pharmacol Biochem Behav *39*, 155-159.

Delmas, P., Coste, B., Gamper, N., and Shapiro, M. S. (2005). Phosphoinositide lipid second messengers: new paradigms for calcium channel modulation. Neuron *47*, 179-182.

Dhaka, A., Murray, A. N., Mathur, J., Earley, T. J., Petrus, M. J., and Patapoutian, A. (2007). TRPM8 is required for cold sensation in mice. Neuron *54*, 371 - 378.

Di Paolo, G., and De Camilli, P. (2006). Phosphoinositides in cell regulation and membrane dynamics. Nature *443*, 651-657.

Di Paolo, G., Moskowitz, H. S., Gipson, K., Wenk, M. R., Voronov, S., Obayashi, M., Flavell, R., Fitzsimonds, R. M., Ryan, T. A., and De Camilli, P. (2004). Impaired PtdIns(4,5)P2 synthesis in nerve terminals produces defects in synaptic vesicle trafficking. Nature *431*, 415-422.

Dickenson, A. H., Suzuki, R., and Reeve, A. J. (2000). Adenosine as a potential analgesic target in inflammatory and neuropathic pains. CNS Drugs *13*, 77-85.

Dickenson, J. M., and Hill, S. J. (1998). Involvement of G-protein betagamma subunits in coupling the adenosine A1 receptor to phospholipase C in transfected CHO cells. Eur J Pharmacol *355*, 85-93.

Dirig, D. M., and Yaksh, T. L. (1995). Differential right shifts in the dose-response curve for intrathecal morphine and sufertanil as a function of stimulus intensity. Pain *62*, 321-328.

Doak, G. J., and Sawynok, J. (1995). Complex role of peripheral adenosine in the genesis of the response to subcutaneous formalin in the rat. Eur J Pharmacol 281, 311-318.

Docherty, R. J., Yeats, J. C., Bevan, S., and Boddeke, H. W. (1996). Inhibition of calcineurin inhibits the desensitization of capsaicin-evoked currents in cultured dorsal root ganglion neurones from adult rats. Pflugers Arch *431*, 828-837.

Dodd, J., Jahr, C. E., Hamilton, P. N., Heath, M. J., Matthew, W. D., and Jessell, T. M. (1983). Cytochemical and physiological properties of sensory and dorsal horn neurons that transmit cutaneous sensation. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol *48 Pt 2*, 685-695.

Dodd, J., and Jessell, T. M. (1982). Subclasses of primary sensory neurons and amine or peptide secretory cells revealed by selective acid phosphatase substrates. Soc Neurosci Abstr *8*, 473.

Doi, T., Kuzuna, S., and Maki, Y. (1987). Spinal antinociceptive effects of adenosine compounds in mice. Eur J Pharmacol *137*, 227-231.

Dong, X., Han, S., Zylka, M. J., Simon, M. I., and Anderson, D. J. (2001). A diverse family of GPCRs expressed in specific subsets of nociceptive sensory neurons. Cell *106*, 619-632.

Dorn, G., Patel, S., Wotherspoon, G., Hemmings-Mieszczak, M., Barclay, J., Natt, F. J., Martin, P., Bevan, S., Fox, A., Ganju, P., *et al.* (2004). siRNA relieves chronic neuropathic pain. Nucleic Acids Res *32*, e49.

Dorr, R. T. (1993). Interferon-alpha in malignant and viral diseases. A review. Drugs 45, 177-211.

Dowd, E., McQueen, D. S., Chessell, I. P., and Humphrey, P. P. (1998a). Adenosine A1 receptor-mediated excitation of nociceptive afferents innervating the normal and arthritic rat knee joint. Br J Pharmacol *125*, 1267-1271.

Dowd, E., McQueen, D. S., Chessell, I. P., and Humphrey, P. P. (1998b). P2X receptormediated excitation of nociceptive afferents in the normal and arthritic rat knee joint. Br J Pharmacol *125*, 341-346.

Dubey, R. K., Gillespie, D. G., Shue, H., and Jackson, E. K. (2000). A(2B) receptors mediate antimitogenesis in vascular smooth muscle cells. Hypertension *35*, 267-272.

Dubner, R., and Hu, J. W. (1977). Myelinated (A-delta) nociceptive afferents innervating the monkey's face. Journal of Dental Research *56*.

Dunwiddie, T. V., Diao, L., and Proctor, W. R. (1997). Adenine nucleotides undergo rapid, quantitative conversion to adenosine in the extracellular space in rat hippocampus. J Neurosci *17*, 7673-7682.

Dunwiddie, T. V., and Masino, S. A. (2001). The role and regulation of adenosine in the central nervous system. Annu Rev Neurosci 24, 31-55.

Dziembor-Gryszkiewicz, E., Fikus, M., Kazimierczuk, Z., and Ostrowski, W. (1978). Activity of human prostatic acid phosphatase toward purine 5'-phosphonucleosides. Bull Acad Pol Sci Biol *26*, 815-821.

Dziembor, E., and Ostrowski, W. (1971). Specificity of acid phosphatase from human prostate. Acta Biochim Pol *18*, 249-260.

Ebersberger, A., Portz, S., Meissner, W., Schaible, H. G., and Richter, F. (2004). Effects of N-, P/Q- and L-type calcium channel blockers on nociceptive neurones of the trigeminal nucleus with input from the dura. Cephalalgia *24*, 250-261.

Eckle, T., Fullbier, L., Wehrmann, M., Khoury, J., Mittelbronn, M., Ibla, J., Rosenberger, P., and Eltzschig, H. K. (2007a). Identification of ectonucleotidases CD39 and CD73 in innate protection during acute lung injury. J Immunol *178*, 8127-8137.

Eckle, T., Krahn, T., Grenz, A., Kohler, D., Mittelbronn, M., Ledent, C., Jacobson, M. A., Osswald, H., Thompson, L. F., Unertl, K., and Eltzschig, H. K. (2007b). Cardioprotection by Ecto-5'-Nucleotidase (CD73) and A2B Adenosine Receptors. Circulation *115*, 1581-1590.

Eckle, T., Krahn, T., Grenz, A., Kohler, D., Mittelbronn, M., Ledent, C., Jacobson, M. A., Osswald, H., Thompson, L. F., Unertl, K., and Eltzschig, H. K. (2007c). Cardioprotection by ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) and A2B adenosine receptors. Circulation *115*, 1581-1590.

Eisenach, J. C., Hood, D. D., and Curry, R. (2002). Preliminary efficacy assessment of intrathecal injection of an American formulation of adenosine in humans. Anesthesiology *96*, 29-34.

Eisenach, J. C., Rauck, R. L., and Curry, R. (2003). Intrathecal, but not intravenous adenosine reduces allodynia in patients with neuropathic pain. Pain *105*, 65-70.

Elmes, S. J., Millns, P. J., Smart, D., Kendall, D. A., and Chapman, V. (2004). Evidence for biological effects of exogenous LPA on rat primary afferent and spinal cord neurons. Brain Res *1022*, 205-213.

Eltzschig, H. K., Ibla, J. C., Furuta, G. T., Leonard, M. O., Jacobson, K. A., Enjyoji, K., Robson, S. C., and Colgan, S. P. (2003). Coordinated adenine nucleotide phosphohydrolysis and nucleoside signaling in posthypoxic endothelium: role of ectonucleotidases and adenosine A2B receptors. J Exp Med *198*, 783-796.

Eltzschig, H. K., Thompson, L. F., Karhausen, J., Cotta, R. J., Ibla, J. C., Robson, S. C., and Colgan, S. P. (2004). Endogenous adenosine produced during hypoxia attenuates neutrophil accumulation: coordination by extracellular nucleotide metabolism. Blood *104*, 3986-3992.

England, S., Bevan, S., and Docherty, R. J. (1996). PGE2 modulates the tetrodotoxinresistant sodium current in neonatal rat dorsal root ganglion neurones via the cyclic AMPprotein kinase A cascade. J Physiol 495 (*Pt 2*), 429-440.

Erdmann, A. A., Gao, Z. G., Jung, U., Foley, J., Borenstein, T., Jacobson, K. A., and Fowler, D. H. (2005). Activation of Th1 and Tc1 cell adenosine A2A receptors directly inhibits IL-2 secretion in vitro and IL-2-driven expansion in vivo. Blood *105*, 4707-4714.

Fairbanks, C. A. (2003). Spinal delivery of analgesics in experimental models of pain and analgesia. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 55, 1007-1041.

Fedorova, I. M., Jacobson, M. A., Basile, A., and Jacobson, K. A. (2003). Behavioral characterization of mice lacking the A3 adenosine receptor: sensitivity to hypoxic neurodegeneration. Cell Mol Neurobiol *23*, 431-447.

Feoktistov, I., Ryzhov, S., Zhong, H., Goldstein, A. E., Matafonov, A., Zeng, D., and Biaggioni, I. (2004). Hypoxia modulates adenosine receptors in human endothelial and smooth muscle cells toward an A2B angiogenic phenotype. Hypertension *44*, 649-654.

Finger, T. E., Danilova, V., Barrows, J., Bartel, D. L., Vigers, A. J., Stone, L., Hellekant, G., and Kinnamon, S. C. (2005). ATP signaling is crucial for communication from taste buds to gustatory nerves. Science *310*, 1495-1499.

Fini, C., Palmerini, C. A., Damiani, P., Stochaj, U., Mannherz, H. G., and Floridi, A. (1990). 5'-nucleotidase from bull seminal plasma, chicken gizzard and snake venom is a zinc metalloprotein. Biochim Biophys Acta *1038*, 18-22.

Fishman, P., Bar-Yehuda, S., Ardon, E., Rath-Wolfson, L., Barrer, F., Ochaion, A., and Madi, L. (2003). Targeting the A3 adenosine receptor for cancer therapy: inhibition of prostate carcinoma cell growth by A3AR agonist. Anticancer Res *23*, 2077-2083.

Fitzgerald, M. (1983). Capsaicin and sensory neurones--a review. Pain 15, 109-130.

Fitzgerald, M. (2005). The development of nociceptive circuits. Nat Rev Neurosci 6, 507-520.

Fitzgerald, M., Woolf, C. J., Gibson, S. J., and Mallaburn, P. S. (1984). Alterations in the structure, function, and chemistry of C fibers following local application of vinblastine to the sciatic nerve of the rat. J Neurosci *4*, 430-441.

Fonta, C., Negyessy, L., Renaud, L., and Barone, P. (2005). Postnatal development of alkaline phosphatase activity correlates with the maturation of neurotransmission in the cerebral cortex. J Comp Neurol *486*, 179-196.

Fontella, F. U., Bruno, A. N., Balk, R. S., Rucker, B., Crema, L. M., Correa, M. D., Battastini, A. M., Sarkis, J. J., Alexandre Netto, C., and Dalmaz, C. (2005). Repeated stress effects on nociception and on ectonucleotidase activities in spinal cord synaptosomes of female rats. Physiol Behav 85, 213-219.

Frederick, J., Buck, M. E., Matson, D. J., and Cortright, D. N. (2007). Increased TRPA1, TRPM8, and TRPV2 expression in dorsal root ganglia by nerve injury. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *358*, 1058-1064.

Fredholm, B. B., Hedqvist, P., and Vernet, L. (1978). Effect of theophylline and other drugs on rabbit renal cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase, 5'-nucleotidase and adenosine deaminase. Biochem Pharmacol *27*, 2845-2850.

Fu, Q. G., Carstens, E., Stelzer, B., and Zimmermann, M. (1988). B vitamins suppress spinal dorsal horn nociceptive neurons in the cat. Neurosci Lett *95*, 192-197.

Fujii, A., Matsumoto, H., and Yamamoto, H. (1996). Effect of vitamin B complex on neurotransmission and neurite outgrowth. Gen Pharmacol 27, 995-1000.

Fyffe, R. E., and Perl, E. R. (1984). Is ATP a central synaptic mediator for certain primary afferent fibers from mammalian skin? Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *81*, 6890-6893.

Garcia-Anoveros, J., Samad, T. A., Zuvela-Jelaska, L., Woolf, C. J., and Corey, D. P. (2001). Transport and Localization of the DEG/ENaC Ion Channel BNaC1{alpha} to Peripheral Mechanosensory Terminals of Dorsal Root Ganglia Neurons. J Neurosci *21*, 2678-2686.

Gaspardone, A., Crea, F., Tomai, F., Versaci, F., Iamele, M., Gioffre, G., Chiariello, L., and Gioffre, P. A. (1995). Muscular and cardiac adenosine-induced pain is mediated by A1 receptors. J Am Coll Cardiol *25*, 251-257.

Gerevich, Z., Muller, C., and Illes, P. (2005). Metabotropic P2Y1 receptors inhibit P2X3 receptor-channels in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. Eur J Pharmacol *521*, 34-38.

Gerevich, Z., Zadori, Z., Muller, C., Wirkner, K., Schroder, W., Rubini, P., and Illes, P. (2007). Metabotropic P2Y receptors inhibit P2X3 receptor-channels via G protein-dependent facilitation of their desensitization. Br J Pharmacol *151*, 226-236.

Gibbons, S. J., Washburn, K. B., and Talamo, B. R. (2001). P2X(7) receptors in rat parotid acinar cells: formation of large pores. J Auton Pharmacol 21, 181-190.

Glykys, J., Guadama, M., Marcano, L., Ochoa, E., and Eblen-Zajjur, A. (2003). Inflammation induced increase of fluoride resistant acid phosphatase (FRAP) activity in the spinal dorsal horn in rats. Neurosci Lett *337*, 167-169.

Gnaiger, E. (2001). Bioenergetics at low oxygen: dependence of respiration and phosphorylation on oxygen and adenosine diphosphate supply. Respir Physiol *128*, 277-297.

Godfrey, L., Yan, L., Clarke, G. D., Ledent, C., Kitchen, I., and Hourani, S. M. (2006). Modulation of paracetamol antinociception by caffeine and by selective adenosine A2 receptor antagonists in mice. Eur J Pharmacol *531*, 80-86.

Goding, J. W., Grobben, B., and Slegers, H. (2003). Physiological and pathophysiological functions of the ecto-nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase family. Biochim Biophys Acta *1638*, 1-19.

Gold, M. S., Reichling, D. B., Shuster, M. J., and Levine, J. D. (1996). Hyperalgesic agents increase a tetrodotoxin-resistant Na+ current in nociceptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 1108-1112.

Gomes, J. A., Li, X., Pan, H. L., and Eisenach, J. C. (1999). Intrathecal adenosine interacts with a spinal noradrenergic system to produce antinociception in nerve-injured rats. Anesthesiology *91*, 1072-1079.

Gonzalez-Duarte, A., Cikurel, K., and Simpson, D. M. (2007). Managing HIV peripheral neuropathy. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep *4*, 114-118.

Gordon, J. L. (1986). Extracellular ATP: effects, sources and fate. Biochem J 233, 309-319.
Grant, G. J., Cascio, M., Zakowski, M. I., Langerman, L., and Turndorf, H. (1995). Intrathecal administration of liposomal morphine in a mouse model. Anesth Analg 81, 514-518.

Greenspan, J. D., Craft, R. M., LeResche, L., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Berkley, K. J., Fillingim, R. B., Gold, M. S., Holdcroft, A., Lautenbacher, S., Mayer, E. A., *et al.* (2007). Studying sex and gender differences in pain and analgesia: a consensus report. Pain *132 Suppl 1*, S26-45.

Grenz, A., Zhang, H., Eckle, T., Mittelbronn, M., Wehrmann, M., Kohle, C., Kloor, D., Thompson, L. F., Osswald, H., and Eltzschig, H. K. (2007). Protective Role of Ecto-5'-Nucleotidase (CD73) in Renal Ischemia. J Am Soc Nephrol *18*, 833-845.

Guler, A. D., Lee, H., Iida, T., Shimizu, I., Tominaga, M., and Caterina, M. (2002). Heatevoked activation of the ion channel, TRPV4. J Neurosci 22, 6408-6414.

Gutman, A. B., and Gutman, E. B. (1938). An "Acid "Phosphatase Occurring in the Serum of Patients with Metastasizing Carcinoma of the Prostate Gland. J Clin Invest *17*, 473-478.

Haas, H. L., and Selbach, O. (2000). Functions of neuronal adenosine receptors. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol *362*, 375-381.

Hamilton, S. G., McMahon, S. B., and Lewin, G. R. (2001). Selective activation of nociceptors by P2X receptor agonists in normal and inflamed rat skin. J Physiol *534*, 437-445.

Hamilton, S. G., Wade, A., and McMahon, S. B. (1999). The effects of inflammation and inflammatory mediators on nociceptive behaviour induced by ATP analogues in the rat. Br J Pharmacol *126*, 326-332.

Handy, R. L., and Moore, P. K. (1998). Effects of selective inhibitors of neuronal nitric oxide synthase on carrageenan-induced mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia. Neuropharmacology *37*, 37-43.

Hargreaves, K., Dubner, R., Brown, F., Flores, C., and Joris, J. (1988). A new and sensitive method for measuring thermal nociception in cutaneous hyperalgesia. Pain *32*, 77-88.

Hasko, G., and Cronstein, B. N. (2004). Adenosine: an endogenous regulator of innate immunity. Trends Immunol 25, 33-39.

Hasko, G., Pacher, P., Vizi, E. S., and Illes, P. (2005). Adenosine receptor signaling in the brain immune system. Trends Pharmacol Sci 26, 511-516.

Hayaishi, O., Urade, Y., Eguchi, N., and Huang, Z. L. (2004). Genes for prostaglandin d synthase and receptor as well as adenosine A2A receptor are involved in the homeostatic regulation of nrem sleep. Arch Ital Biol *142*, 533-539.

Hayashida, M., Fukuda, K., and Fukunaga, A. (2005). Clinical application of adenosine and ATP for pain control. J Anesth *19*, 225-235.

Haynes, S. E., Hollopeter, G., Yang, G., Kurpius, D., Dailey, M. E., Gan, W. B., and Julius, D. (2006). The P2Y12 receptor regulates microglial activation by extracellular nucleotides. Nat Neurosci *9*, 1512-1519.

Headrick, J. P., Hack, B., and Ashton, K. J. (2003). Acute adenosinergic cardioprotection in ischemic-reperfused hearts. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 285, H1797-1818.

Henz, S. L., Ribeiro, C. G., Rosa, A., Chiarelli, R. A., Casali, E. A., and Sarkis, J. J. (2006). Kinetic characterization of ATP diphosphohydrolase and 5'-nucleotidase activities in cells cultured from submandibular salivary glands of rats. Cell Biol Int *30*, 214-220.

Heyliger, C. E., Panagia, V., and Dhalla, N. S. (1981). Effect of cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase inhibitors on cardiac sarcolemmal 5'-nucleotidase. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *217*, 489-493.

Hillard, C. J. (2000). Biochemistry and pharmacology of the endocannabinoids arachidonylethanolamide and 2-arachidonylglycerol. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat *61*, 3-18.

Hilliges, M., Weidner, C., Schmelz, M., Schmidt, R., Orstavik, K., Torebjork, E., and Handwerker, H. (2002). ATP responses in human C nociceptors. Pain *98*, 59-68.

Hinman, A., Chuang, H. H., Bautista, D. M., and Julius, D. (2006). TRP channel activation by reversible covalent modification. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 19564 - 19568.

Holton, P. (1959). The liberation of adenosine triphosphate on antidromic stimulation of sensory nerves. J Physiol *145*, 494-504.

Hong, J. L., Ho, C. Y., Kwong, K., and Lee, L. Y. (1998). Activation of pulmonary C fibres by adenosine in anaesthetized rats: role of adenosine A1 receptors. J Physiol 508 (*Pt 1*), 109-118.

Honore, P., Donnelly-Roberts, D., Namovic, M. T., Hsieh, G., Zhu, C. Z., Mikusa, J. P., Hernandez, G., Zhong, C., Gauvin, D. M., and Chandran, P. (2006). A-740003 [N-(1-{[(cyanoimino)(5-quinolinylamino) methyl]amino}-2,2-dimethylpropyl)-2-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)acetamide], a novel and selective P2X7 receptor antagonist, dose-dependently reduces neuropathic pain in the rat. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *319*, 1376 - 1385.

Honore, P., Kage, K., Mikusa, J., Watt, A. T., Johnston, J. F., Wyatt, J. R., Faltynek, C. R., Jarvis, M. F., and Lynch, K. (2002). Analgesic profile of intrathecal P2X(3) antisense oligonucleotide treatment in chronic inflammatory and neuropathic pain states in rats. Pain *99*, 11-19.

Horigome, K., Bullock, E. D., and Johnson, E. M., Jr. (1994). Effects of nerve growth factor on rat peritoneal mast cells. Survival promotion and immediate-early gene induction. J Biol Chem *269*, 2695-2702.

Hua, X., Erikson, C. J., Chason, K. D., Rosebrock, C. N., Deshpande, D. A., Penn, R. B., and Tilley, S. L. (2007). Involvement of A1 adenosine receptors and neural pathways in adenosine-induced bronchoconstriction in mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 293, L25-32.

Huang, D. Y., Vallon, V., Zimmermann, H., Koszalka, P., Schrader, J., and Osswald, H. (2006a). Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (cd73)-dependent and -independent generation of adenosine participates in the mediation of tubuloglomerular feedback in vivo. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol *291*, F282-288.

Huang, J., Zhang, X., and McNaughton, P. A. (2006b). Inflammatory pain: the cellular basis of heat hyperalgesia. Curr Neuropharmacol *4*, 197-206.

Huang, J., Zhang, X., and McNaughton, P. A. (2006c). Modulation of temperature-sensitive TRP channels. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology *17*, 638-645.

Huang, Z. L., Qu, W. M., Eguchi, N., Chen, J. F., Schwarzschild, M. A., Fredholm, B. B., Urade, Y., and Hayaishi, O. (2005). Adenosine A2A, but not A1, receptors mediate the arousal effect of caffeine. Nat Neurosci *8*, 858-859.

Hucho, T., and Levine, J. D. (2007a). Signaling pathways in sensitization: toward a nociceptor cell biology. Neuron 55, 365 - 376.

Hucho, T., and Levine, J. D. (2007b). Signaling pathways in sensitization: toward a nociceptor cell biology. Neuron 55, 365-376.

Hunsucker, S. A., Mitchell, B. S., and Spychala, J. (2005). The 5'-nucleotidases as regulators of nucleotide and drug metabolism. Pharmacol Ther *107*, 1-30.

Hunt, S. P., and Mantyh, P. W. (2001). The molecular dynamics of pain control. Nat Rev Neurosci 2, 83-91.

Hunt, S. P., and Rossi, J. (1985). Peptide- and non-peptide-containing unmyelinated primary afferents: the parallel processing of nociceptive information. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci *308*, 283-289.

Hussey, M. J., Clarke, G. D., Ledent, C., Hourani, S. M., and Kitchen, I. (2007). Reduced response to the formalin test and lowered spinal NMDA glutamate receptor binding in adenosine A2A receptor knockout mice. Pain *129*, 287-294.

Huston, J. P., Haas, H. L., Boix, F., Pfister, M., Decking, U., Schrader, J., and Schwarting, R. K. (1996). Extracellular adenosine levels in neostriatum and hippocampus during rest and activity periods of rats. Neuroscience *73*, 99-107.

Inoue, M., Rashid, M. H., Fujita, R., Contos, J. J., Chun, J., and Ueda, H. (2004). Initiation of neuropathic pain requires lysophosphatidic acid receptor signaling. Nat Med *10*, 712-718.

Itokawa, Y., and Cooper, J. R. (1970). Ion movements and thiamine. II. The release of the vitamin from membrane fragments. Biochim Biophys Acta *196*, 274-284.

Jacobson, K. A., and Gao, Z. G. (2006). Adenosine receptors as therapeutic targets. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5, 247-264.

Jakob, C. G., Lewinski, K., Kuciel, R., Ostrowski, W., and Lebioda, L. (2000). Crystal structure of human prostatic acid phosphatase. Prostate *42*, 211-218.

Jarvis, M. F., Burgard, E. C., McGaraughty, S., Honore, P., Lynch, K., Brennan, T. J., Subieta, A., Van Biesen, T., Cartmell, J., and Bianchi, B. (2002a). A-317491, a novel potent and selective non-nucleotide antagonist of P2X3 and P2X2/3 receptors, reduces chronic inflammatory and neuropathic pain in the rat. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *99*, 17179 - 17184.

Jarvis, M. F., Mikusa, J., Chu, K. L., Wismer, C. T., Honore, P., Kowaluk, E. A., and McGaraughty, S. (2002b). Comparison of the ability of adenosine kinase inhibitors and adenosine receptor agonists to attenuate thermal hyperalgesia and reduce motor performance in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav *73*, 573-581.

Jarvis, M. F., Yu, H., McGaraughty, S., Wismer, C. T., Mikusa, J., Zhu, C., Chu, K., Kohlhaas, K., Cowart, M., Lee, C. H., *et al.* (2002c). Analgesic and anti-inflammatory effects of A-286501, a novel orally active adenosine kinase inhibitor. Pain *96*, 107-118.

Ji, R. R., Samad, T. A., Jin, S. X., Schmoll, R., and Woolf, C. J. (2002). p38 MAPK activation by NGF in primary sensory neurons after inflammation increases TRPV1 levels and maintains heat hyperalgesia. Neuron *36*, 57-68.

Jo, Y. H., and Schlichter, R. (1999). Synaptic corelease of ATP and GABA in cultured spinal neurons. Nat Neurosci 2, 241-245.

Johansson, B., Halldner, L., Dunwiddie, T. V., Masino, S. A., Poelchen, W., Gimenez-Llort, L., Escorihuela, R. M., Fernandez-Teruel, A., Wiesenfeld-Hallin, Z., Xu, X. J., *et al.* (2001). Hyperalgesia, anxiety, and decreased hypoxic neuroprotection in mice lacking the adenosine A1 receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 9407-9412.

Jones, N. G., Slater, R., Cadiou, H., McNaughton, P., and McMahon, S. B. (2004). Acidinduced pain and its modulation in humans. J Neurosci 24, 10974-10979.

Jordt, S. E., Bautista, D. M., Chuang, H. H., McKemy, D. D., Zygmunt, P. M., Hogestatt, E. D., Meng, I. D., and Julius, D. (2004). Mustard oils and cannabinoids excite sensory nerve fibres through the TRP channel ANKTM1. Nature *427*, 260 - 265.

Jordt, S. E., Tominaga, M., and Julius, D. (2000). Acid potentiation of the capsaicin receptor determined by a key extracellular site. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 8134-8139.

Jorg, J., Metz, F., and Scharafinski, H. (1988). [Drug treatment of diabetic polyneuropathy with alpha-lipoic acid or vitamin B preparations. A clinical and neurophysiologic study]. Nervenarzt *59*, 36-44.

Julius, D., and Basbaum, A. I. (2001). Molecular mechanisms of nociception. Nature 413, 203-210.

Julius, D., and McCleskey, E. W. (2006). Cellular and molecular properties of primary afferent neurons. In Wall and Melzack's Textbook of Pain, S. B. McMahon, and M. Koltzenburg, eds. (London, Elsevier), pp. 35-48.

Jurna, I. (1984). Cyclic nucleotides and aminophylline produce different effects on nociceptive motor and sensory responses in the rat spinal cord. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol *327*, 23-30.

Jurna, I. (1998). [Analgesic and analgesia-potentiating action of B vitamins]. Schmerz 12, 136-141.

Kaelin-Lang, A., Lauterburg, T., and Burgunder, J. M. (1998). Expression of adenosine A2a receptor gene in rat dorsal root and autonomic ganglia. Neurosci Lett 246, 21-24.

Kantner, R. M., and Kirby, M. L. (1982). Changes in acid phosphatase activity in the substantia gelatinosa in response to pain. Brain Res 238, 451-456.

Karashima, Y., Prenen, J., Meseguer, V., Owsianik, G., Voets, T., and Nilius, B. (2008). Modulation of the transient receptor potential channel TRPA1 by phosphatidylinositol 4,5biphosphate manipulators. Pflugers Arch *457*, 77-89.

Karashima, Y., Talavera, K., Everaerts, W., Janssens, A., Kwan, K. Y., Vennekens, R., Nilius, B., and Voets, T. (2009). TRPA1 acts as a cold sensor in vitro and in vivo. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *106*, 1273-1278.

Karlsten, R., Gordh, T., and Post, C. (1992). Local antinociceptive and hyperalgesic effects in the formalin test after peripheral administration of adenosine analogues in mice. Pharmacol Toxicol *70*, 434-438.

Kawabata, A., Kawao, N., Kuroda, R., Itoh, H., and Nishikawa, H. (2002). Specific expression of spinal Fos after PAR-2 stimulation in mast cell-depleted rats. Neuroreport *13*, 511-514.

Kawabata, A., Kawao, N., Kuroda, R., Tanaka, A., Itoh, H., and Nishikawa, H. (2001). Peripheral PAR-2 triggers thermal hyperalgesia and nociceptive responses in rats. Neuroreport *12*, 715-719.

Keast, R. S., and Breslin, P. A. (2002). Modifying the bitterness of selected oral pharmaceuticals with cation and anion series of salts. Pharm Res 19, 1019-1026.

Keast, R. S., Canty, T. M., and Breslin, P. A. (2004). The influence of sodium salts on binary mixtures of bitter-tasting compounds. Chem Senses 29, 431-439.

Keil, G. J., 2nd, and DeLander, G. E. (1992). Spinally-mediated antinociception is induced in mice by an adenosine kinase-, but not by an adenosine deaminase-, inhibitor. Life Sci *51*, PL171-176.

Kelley, G. G., Kaproth-Joslin, K. A., Reks, S. E., Smrcka, A. V., and Wojcikiewicz, R. J. (2006). G-protein-coupled receptor agonists activate endogenous phospholipase Cepsilon and phospholipase Cbeta3 in a temporally distinct manner. J Biol Chem *281*, 2639-2648.

Kerr, B. J., Souslova, V., McMahon, S. B., and Wood, J. N. (2001). A role for the TTX-resistant sodium channel Nav 1.8 in NGF-induced hyperalgesia, but not neuropathic pain. Neuroreport *12*, 3077-3080.

Kerstein, P., del Camino, D., Moran, M., and Stucky, C. (2009). Pharmacological blockade of TRPA1 inhibits mechanical firing in nociceptors. Molecular Pain *5*, 19.

Khakh, B. S. (2001). Molecular physiology of P2X receptors and ATP signalling at synapses. Nat Rev Neurosci 2, 165-174.

Khakh, B. S., Burnstock, G., Kennedy, C., King, B. F., North, R. A., Seguela, P., Voigt, M., and Humphrey, P. P. (2001). International union of pharmacology. XXIV. Current status of the nomenclature and properties of P2X receptors and their subunits. Pharmacol Rev *53*, 107-118.

Khasar, S. G., Wang, J. F., Taiwo, Y. O., Heller, P. H., Green, P. G., and Levine, J. D. (1995). Mu-opioid agonist enhancement of prostaglandin-induced hyperalgesia in the rat: a G-protein beta gamma subunit-mediated effect? Neuroscience *67*, 189-195.

Kim, A. Y., Tang, Z., Liu, Q., Patel, K. N., Maag, D., Geng, Y., and Dong, X. (2008a). Pirt, a phosphoinositide-binding protein, functions as a regulatory subunit of TRPV1. Cell *133*, 475-485.

Kim, D., Cavanaugh, E. J., and Simkin, D. (2008b). Inhibition of transient receptor potential A1 channel by phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 295, C92-99.

Kirkup, A. J., Eastwood, C., Grundy, D., Chessell, I. P., and Humphrey, P. P. (1998). Characterization of adenosine receptors evoking excitation of mesenteric afferents in the rat. Br J Pharmacol *125*, 1352-1360.

Kitakaze, M., Minamino, T., Node, K., Takashima, S., Funaya, H., Kuzuya, T., and Hori, M. (1999). Adenosine and cardioprotection in the diseased heart. Jpn Circ J *63*, 231-243.

Kittel, A., Pelletier, J., Bigonnesse, F., Guckelberger, O., Kordas, K., Braun, N., Robson, S. C., and Sevigny, J. (2004). Localization of nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase-1 (NTPDase1) and NTPDase2 in pancreas and salivary gland. J Histochem Cytochem *52*, 861-871.

Klein, R. M., Ufret-Vincenty, C. A., Hua, L., and Gordon, S. E. (2008). Determinants of molecular specificity in phosphoinositide regulation. Phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate (PI(4,5)P2) is the endogenous lipid regulating TRPV1. J Biol Chem 283, 26208-26216.

Knyihar-Csillik, E., Bezzegh, A., Boti, S., and Csillik, B. (1986). Thiamine monophosphatase: a genuine marker for transganglionic regulation of primary sensory neurons. J Histochem Cytochem *34*, 363-371.

Knyihar, E., Laszlo, I., and Tornyos, S. (1974). Fine structure and fluoride resistant acid phosphatase activity of electron dense sinusoid terminals in the substantia gelatinosa Rolandi of the rat after dorsal root transection. Exp Brain Res *19*, 529-544.

Kobayashi, K., Fukuoka, T., Yamanaka, H., Dai, Y., Obata, K., Tokunaga, A., and Noguchi, K. (2006). Neurons and glial cells differentially express P2Y receptor mRNAs in the rat dorsal root ganglion and spinal cord. J Comp Neurol *498*, 443-454.

Kobayashi, K., Yamanaka, H., Fukuoka, T., Dai, Y., Obata, K., and Noguchi, K. (2008). P2Y12 receptor upregulation in activated microglia is a gateway of p38 signaling and neuropathic pain. J Neurosci 28, 2892-2902.

Koda, H., Minagawa, M., Si-Hong, L., Mizumura, K., and Kumazawa, T. (1996). H1receptor-mediated excitation and facilitation of the heat response by histamine in canine visceral polymodal receptors studied in vitro. J Neurophysiol *76*, 1396-1404. Koos, B. J., Kruger, L., and Murray, T. F. (1997). Source of extracellular brain adenosine during hypoxia in fetal sheep. Brain Res 778, 439-442.

Koszalka, P., Ozuyaman, B., Huo, Y., Zernecke, A., Flogel, U., Braun, N., Buchheiser, A., Decking, U. K., Smith, M. L., Sevigny, J., *et al.* (2004). Targeted disruption of cd73/ecto-5'-nucleotidase alters thromboregulation and augments vascular inflammatory response. Circ Res *95*, 814-821.

Kowaluk, E. A., and Jarvis, M. F. (2000). Therapeutic potential of adenosine kinase inhibitors. Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs *9*, 551-564.

Kuhlwein, A., Meyer, H. J., and Koehler, C. O. (1990). [Reduced diclofenac administration by B vitamins: results of a randomized double-blind study with reduced daily doses of diclofenac (75 mg diclofenac versus 75 mg diclofenac plus B vitamins) in acute lumbar vertebral syndromes]. Klin Wochenschr *68*, 107-115.

Kukulski, F., Levesque, S. A., Lavoie, E. G., Lecka, J., Bigonnesse, F., Knowles, A. F., Robson, S. C., Kirley, T. L., and Sevigny, J. (2005). Comparative hydrolysis of P2 receptor agonists by NTPDases 1, 2, 3 and 8. Purinergic Signal *1*, 193-204.

Kwan, K. Y. (2006). TRPA1 contributes to cold, mechanical, and chemical nociception but is not essential for hair-cell transduction. Neuron *50*.

Kwan, K. Y., Allchorne, A. J., Vollrath, M. A., Christensen, A. P., Zhang, D. S., Woolf, C. J., and Corey, D. P. (2006). TRPA1 contributes to cold, mechanical, and chemical nociception but is not essential for hair-cell transduction. Neuron *50*, 277 - 289.

Kwon, Y., Hofmann, T., and Montell, C. (2007). Integration of phosphoinositide- and calmodulin-mediated regulation of TRPC6. Mol Cell 25, 491-503.

Lam, K. W., Li, O., Li, C. Y., and Yam, L. T. (1973). Biochemical properties of human prostatic acid phosphatase. Clin Chem *19*, 483-487.

Lambert, J. S., Seidlin, M., Reichman, R. C., Plank, C. S., Laverty, M., Morse, G. D., Knupp, C., McLaren, C., Pettinelli, C., Valentine, F. T., and et al. (1990). 2',3'-dideoxyinosine (ddI) in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome or AIDS-related complex. A phase I trial. N Engl J Med *322*, 1333-1340.

Landolt, H. P. (2008). Sleep homeostasis: a role for adenosine in humans? Biochem Pharmacol *75*, 2070-2079.

Langer, D., Hammer, K., Koszalka, P., Schrader, J., Robson, S., and Zimmermann, H. (2008). Distribution of ectonucleotidases in the rodent brain revisited. Cell Tissue Res *334*, 199-217.

Lanzetta, P. A., Alvarez, L. J., Reinach, P. S., and Candia, O. A. (1979). An improved assay for nanomole amounts of inorganic phosphate. Anal Biochem *100*, 95-97.

Lao, L. J., Kumamoto, E., Luo, C., Furue, H., and Yoshimura, M. (2001). Adenosine inhibits excitatory transmission to substantia gelatinosa neurons of the adult rat spinal cord through the activation of presynaptic A(1) adenosine receptor. Pain *94*, 315-324.

Lappas, C. M., Rieger, J. M., and Linden, J. (2005). A2A adenosine receptor induction inhibits IFN-gamma production in murine CD4+ T cells. J Immunol *174*, 1073-1080.

Latini, S., and Pedata, F. (2001). Adenosine in the central nervous system: release mechanisms and extracellular concentrations. J Neurochem 79, 463-484.

Lavand'homme, P. M., and Eisenach, J. C. (1999). Exogenous and endogenous adenosine enhance the spinal antiallodynic effects of morphine in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Pain *80*, 31-36.

Lavoie, E. G., Kukulski, F., Levesque, S. A., Lecka, J., and Sevigny, J. (2004). Cloning and characterization of mouse nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase-3. Biochem Pharmacol *67*, 1917-1926.

Lawson, S. N., McCarthy, P. W., and Prabhakar, E. (1996). Electrophysiological properties of neurones with CGRP-like immunoreactivity in rat dorsal root ganglia. J Comp Neurol *365*, 355-366.

Lazarowski, E. R., Tarran, R., Grubb, B. R., van Heusden, C. A., Okada, S., and Boucher, R. C. (2004). Nucleotide release provides a mechanism for airway surface liquid homeostasis. J Biol Chem 279, 36855-36864.

Ledent, C., Vaugeois, J. M., Schiffmann, S. N., Pedrazzini, T., El Yacoubi, M., Vanderhaeghen, J. J., Costentin, J., Heath, J. K., Vassart, G., and Parmentier, M. (1997).

Aggressiveness, hypoalgesia and high blood pressure in mice lacking the adenosine A2a receptor. Nature *388*, 674-678.

Ledoux, S., Runembert, I., Koumanov, K., Michel, J. B., Trugnan, G., and Friedlander, G. (2003). Hypoxia enhances Ecto-5'-Nucleotidase activity and cell surface expression in endothelial cells: role of membrane lipids. Circ Res *92*, 848-855.

Lee, C. W., Rivera, R., Gardell, S., Dubin, A. E., and Chun, J. (2006). GPR92 as a new G12/13- and Gq-coupled lysophosphatidic acid receptor that increases cAMP, LPA5. J Biol Chem 281, 23589-23597.

Lee, M. G., Zeng, W., and Muallem, S. (1997). Characterization and localization of P2 receptors in rat submandibular gland acinar and duct cells. J Biol Chem 272, 32951-32955.

Lee, Y. W., and Yaksh, T. L. (1996). Pharmacology of the spinal adenosine receptor which mediates the antiallodynic action of intrathecal adenosine agonists. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 277, 1642-1648.

Levine, J. D., and Alessandri-Haber, N. (2007). TRP channels: Targets for the relief of pain. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease *1772*, 989-1003.

Li, H. C., Chernoff, J., Chen, L. B., and Kirschonbaum, A. (1984). A phosphotyrosyl-protein phosphatase activity associated with acid phosphatase from human prostate gland. Eur J Biochem *138*, 45-51.

Li, J., and Perl, E. R. (1994). Adenosine inhibition of synaptic transmission in the substantia gelatinosa. J Neurophysiol *72*, 1611-1621.

Li, J., and Perl, E. R. (1995). ATP modulation of synaptic transmission in the spinal substantia gelatinosa. J Neurosci *15*, 3357-3365.

Liang, Y. F., Haake, B., and Reeh, P. W. (2001). Sustained sensitization and recruitment of rat cutaneous nociceptors by bradykinin and a novel theory of its excitatory action. J Physiol *532*, 229-239.

Liedtke, W., Choe, Y., Martí-Renom, M. A., Bell, A. M., Denis, C. S., Andrej`ali, Hudspeth, A. J., Friedman, J. M., and Heller, S. (2000). Vanilloid Receptor Related Osmotically Activated Channel (VR-OAC), a Candidate Vertebrate Osmoreceptor. *103*, 525-535.

Lin, C. W., Yan, F., Shimamura, S., Barg, S., and Shyng, S. L. (2005). Membrane phosphoinositides control insulin secretion through their effects on ATP-sensitive K+ channel activity. Diabetes *54*, 2852-2858.

Lin, M. F., DaVolio, J., and Garcia-Arenas, R. (1992). Expression of human prostatic acid phosphatase activity and the growth of prostate carcinoma cells. Cancer Res *52*, 4600-4607.

Lin, M. F., Garcia-Arenas, R., Xia, X. Z., Biela, B., and Lin, F. F. (1994). The cellular level of prostatic acid phosphatase and the growth of human prostate carcinoma cells. Differentiation *57*, 143-149.

Lin, M. F., Lee, M. S., Zhou, X. W., Andressen, J. C., Meng, T. C., Johansson, S. L., West, W. W., Taylor, R. J., Anderson, J. R., and Lin, F. F. (2001). Decreased expression of cellular prostatic acid phosphatase increases tumorigenicity of human prostate cancer cells. J Urol *166*, 1943-1950.

Lindahl, O. (1962). Pain: a chemical explanation. Acta Rheumatol Scand 8, 161-169.

Lishko, P. V., Procko, E., Jin, X., Phelps, C. B., and Gaudet, R. (2007). The ankyrin repeats of TRPV1 bind multiple ligands and modulate channel sensitivity. Neuron *54*, 905-918.

Liu, B., Hui, K., and Qin, F. (2003). Thermodynamics of heat activation of single capsaicin ion channels VR1. Biophys J *85*, 2988-3006.

Liu, B., and Qin, F. (2005). Functional control of cold- and menthol-sensitive TRPM8 ion channels by phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate. J Neurosci 25, 1674-1681.

Liu, B., Zhang, C., and Qin, F. (2005). Functional recovery from desensitization of vanilloid receptor TRPV1 requires resynthesis of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate. J Neurosci *25*, 4835-4843.

Liu, X. J., and Salter, M. W. (2005). Purines and pain mechanisms: recent developments. Curr Opin Investig Drugs *6*, 65-75.

Liu, X. J., and Sawynok, J. (2000). Peripheral antihyperalgesic effects by adenosine A1 receptor agonists and inhibitors of adenosine metabolism in a rat neuropathic pain model. Analgesia *5*, 19-29.

Lopshire, J. C., and Nicol, G. D. (1998). The cAMP Transduction Cascade Mediates the Prostaglandin E2 Enhancement of the Capsaicin-Elicited Current in Rat Sensory Neurons: Whole-Cell and Single-Channel Studies. J Neurosci *18*, 6081-6092.

Luciano, C. A., Pardo, C. A., and McArthur, J. C. (2003). Recent developments in the HIV neuropathies. Curr Opin Neurol *16*, 403-409.

Luciano De, P., Selena, H., Tiziana, B., Michele, T., Ines, B., Graham, D. S., Cristophe, C., John, B. D., Pierangelo, G., and Vincenzo Di, M. (2001). The vanilloid receptor (VR1)mediated effects of anandamide are potently enhanced by the cAMP-dependent protein kinase. Journal of Neurochemistry 77, 1660-1663.

Lukacs, V., Thyagarajan, B., Varnai, P., Balla, A., Balla, T., and Rohacs, T. (2007). Dual regulation of TRPV1 by phosphoinositides. J Neurosci 27, 7070-7080.

Luo, X., Pietrobon, R., Sun, S. X., Liu, G. G., and Hey, L. (2004). Estimates and patterns of direct health care expenditures among individuals with back pain in the United States. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) *29*, 79-86.

Luvisetto, S., Marinelli, S., Panasiti, M. S., D'Amato, F. R., Fletcher, C. F., Pavone, F., and Pietrobon, D. (2006). Pain sensitivity in mice lacking the Ca(v)2.1alpha1 subunit of P/Q-type Ca2+ channels. Neuroscience *142*, 823-832.

Macpherson, L. J., Dubin, A. E., Evans, M. J., Marr, F., Schultz, P. G., Cravatt, B. F., and Patapoutian, A. (2007). Noxious compounds activate TRPA1 ion channels through covalent modification of cysteines. Nature *445*, 541 - 545.

Macpherson, L. J., Geierstanger, B. H., Viswanath, V., Bandell, M., Eid, S. R., Hwang, S., and Patapoutian, A. (2005). The pungency of garlic: activation of TRPA1 and TRPV1 in response to allicin. Curr Biol *15*, 929-934.

Macpherson, L. J., Hwang, S. W., Miyamoto, T., Dubin, A. E., Patapoutian, A., and Story, G. M. (2006). More than cool: promiscuous relationships of menthol and other sensory compounds. Mol Cell Neurosci *32*, 335-343.

Maione, S., de Novellis, V., Cappellacci, L., Palazzo, E., Vita, D., Luongo, L., Stella, L., Franchetti, P., Marabese, I., Rossi, F., and Grifantini, M. (2007). The antinociceptive effect of 2-chloro-2'-C-methyl-N6-cyclopentyladenosine (2'-Me-CCPA), a highly selective adenosine A1 receptor agonist, in the rat. Pain *131*, 281-292.

Malec, D., and Michalska, E. (1988). The effect of methylxanthines on morphine analgesia in mice and rats. Pol J Pharmacol Pharm 40, 223-232.

Marcus, A. J., Broekman, M. J., Drosopoulos, J. H., Islam, N., Alyonycheva, T. N., Safier, L. B., Hajjar, K. A., Posnett, D. N., Schoenborn, M. A., Schooley, K. A., *et al.* (1997). The endothelial cell ecto-ADPase responsible for inhibition of platelet function is CD39. J Clin Invest *99*, 1351-1360.

Maritz, J., Benatar, M., Dave, J., Harrison, T., Badri, M., Levitt, N., and Heckmann, J. (2009). HIV neuropathy in South Africans: frequency, characteristics and risk factors. Muscle and Nerve *In press*.

Martinez-Martinez, A., Munoz-Delgado, E., Campoy, F. J., Flores-Flores, C., Rodriguez-Lopez, J. N., Fini, C., and Vidal, C. J. (2000). The ecto-5'-nucleotidase subunits in dimers are not linked by disulfide bridges but by non-covalent bonds. Biochim Biophys Acta *1478*, 300-308.

Matherne, G. P., Linden, J., Byford, A. M., Gauthier, N. S., and Headrick, J. P. (1997). Transgenic A1 adenosine receptor overexpression increases myocardial resistance to ischemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *94*, 6541-6546.

Matsuka, Y., Ono, T., Iwase, H., Mitrirattanakul, S., Omoto, K. S., Cho, T., Lam, Y. Y., Snyder, B., and Spigelman, I. (2008). Altered ATP release and metabolism in dorsal root ganglia of neuropathic rats. Mol Pain *4*, 66.

McCarthy, P. W., and Lawson, S. N. (1989). Cell type and conduction velocity of rat primary sensory neurons with substance P-like immunoreactivity. Neuroscience 28, 745-753.

McDougal, D. B., Jr., McDougal, S. H., and Johnson, E. M., Jr. (1985). Effect of capsaicin upon fluoride sensitive acid phosphatases in selected ganglia and spinal cord and upon neuronal size and number in dorsal root ganglion. Brain Res *331*, 63-70.

McDougal, D. B., Jr., Yuan, M. J., Dargar, R. V., and Johnson, E. M., Jr. (1983). Neonatal capsaicin and guanethidine and axonally transported organelle-specific enzymes in sciatic nerve and in sympathetic and dorsal root ganglia. J Neurosci *3*, 124-132.

McGaraughty, S., Chu, K. L., Namovic, M. T., Donnelly-Roberts, D. L., Harris, R. R., Zhang, X. F., Shieh, C. C., Wismer, C. T., Zhu, C. Z., Gauvin, D. M., *et al.* (2007). P2X7-related modulation of pathological nociception in rats. Neuroscience *146*, 1817-1828.

McGaraughty, S., Chu, K. L., Wismer, C. T., Mikusa, J., Zhu, C. Z., Cowart, M., Kowaluk, E. A., and Jarvis, M. F. (2001). Effects of A-134974, a novel adenosine kinase inhibitor, on carrageenan-induced inflammatory hyperalgesia and locomotor activity in rats: evaluation of the sites of action. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *296*, 501-509.

McGaraughty, S., Cowart, M., Jarvis, M. F., and Berman, R. F. (2005). Anticonvulsant and antinociceptive actions of novel adenosine kinase inhibitors. Curr Top Med Chem 5, 43-58.

McGivern, J. G., and McDonough, S. I. (2004). Voltage-gated calcium channels as targets for the treatment of chronic pain. Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord *3*, 457-478.

McKemy, D. D., Neuhausser, W. M., and Julius, D. (2002). Identification of a cold receptor reveals a general role for TRP channels in thermosensation. Nature *416*, 52-58.

McMahon, S. B. (1996). NGF as a mediator of inflammatory pain. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci *351*, 431-440.

McMahon, S. B., Bennett, D. L. H., and Bevan, S. (2006). Inflammatory mediators and modulators of pain. In Wall and Melzack's Textbook of Pain (London, Elsevier), pp. 49-72.

McMahon, S. B., and Moore, C. E. (1988). Plasticity of primary afferent acid phosphatase expression following rerouting of afferents from muscle to skin in the adult rat. J Comp Neurol 274, 1-8.

McNamara, C. R., Mandel-Brehm, J., Bautista, D. M., Siemens, J., Deranian, K. L., Zhao, M., Hayward, N. J., Chong, J. A., Julius, D., Moran, M. M., and Fanger, C. M. (2007). TRPA1 mediates formalin-induced pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 13525-13530.

Mela, D. J. (1989). Caffeine ingested under natural conditions does not alter taste intensity. Pharmacol Biochem Behav *34*, 483-485.

Meng, T. C., Lee, M. S., and Lin, M. F. (2000). Interaction between protein tyrosine phosphatase and protein tyrosine kinase is involved in androgen-promoted growth of human prostate cancer cells. Oncogene *19*, 2664-2677.

Meng, T. C., and Lin, M. F. (1998). Tyrosine phosphorylation of c-ErbB-2 is regulated by the cellular form of prostatic acid phosphatase in human prostate cancer cells. J Biol Chem *273*, 22096-22104.

Methippara, M. M., Kumar, S., Alam, M. N., Szymusiak, R., and McGinty, D. (2005). Effects on sleep of microdialysis of adenosine A1 and A2a receptor analogs into the lateral preoptic area of rats. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 289, R1715-1723.

Meyer, R. A., Ringkamp, M., Campbell, J. N., and Raja, S. N. (2006). Periperal mechanisms of cutaneous nociception. In Wall and Melzack's Textbook of Pain, S. B. McMahon, and M. Koltzenburg, eds. (London, Elsevier), pp. 3-29.

Meyers, J. R., MacDonald, R. B., Duggan, A., Lenzi, D., Standaert, D. G., Corwin, J. T., and Corey, D. P. (2003). Lighting up the Senses: FM1-43 Loading of Sensory Cells through Nonselective Ion Channels. J Neurosci *23*, 4054-4065.

Michailidis, I. E., Zhang, Y., and Yang, J. (2007). The lipid connection-regulation of voltagegated Ca(2+) channels by phosphoinositides. Pflugers Arch 455, 147-155.

Miesenbock, G., De Angelis, D. A., and Rothman, J. E. (1998). Visualizing secretion and synaptic transmission with pH-sensitive green fluorescent proteins. Nature *394*, 192-195.

Mills, G. B., and Moolenaar, W. H. (2003). The emerging role of lysophosphatidic acid in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer *3*, 582-591.

Milosevic, I., Sorensen, J. B., Lang, T., Krauss, M., Nagy, G., Haucke, V., Jahn, R., and Neher, E. (2005). Plasmalemmal phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate level regulates the releasable vesicle pool size in chromaffin cells. J Neurosci *25*, 2557-2565.

Ming, D., Ninomiya, Y., and Margolskee, R. F. (1999). Blocking taste receptor activation of gustducin inhibits gustatory responses to bitter compounds. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 9903-9908.

Mizumura, K., Minagawa, M., Koda, H., and Kumazawa, T. (1995). Influence of histamine on the bradykinin response of canine testicular polymodal receptors in vitro. Inflamm Res *44*, 376-378.

Mizumura, K., Sato, J., and Kumazawa, T. (1987). Effects of prostaglandins and other putative chemical intermediaries on the activity of canine testicular polymodal receptors studied in vitro. Pflugers Arch *408*, 565-572.

Mizuno, A., Matsumoto, N., Imai, M., and Suzuki, M. (2003). Impaired osmotic sensation in mice lacking TRPV4. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 285, C96-101.

Mo, G., Bernier, L. P., Zhao, Q., Chabot-Dore, A. J., Ase, A. R., Logothetis, D., Cao, C. Q., and Seguela, P. (2009). Subtype-specific regulation of P2X3 and P2X2/3 receptors by phosphoinositides in peripheral nociceptors. Mol Pain *5*, 47.

Moallem, S. A., Hosseinzadeh, H., and Farahi, S. (2008). A study of acute and chronic antinociceptive and anti-inflammatory effects of thiamine in mice. Iran Biomed J *12*, 173-178.

Mogil, J. S. (2009). Animal models of pain: progress and challenges. Nat Rev Neurosci 10, 283-294.

Mogil, J. S., Ritchie, J., Sotocinal, S. G., Smith, S. B., Croteau, S., Levitin, D. J., and Naumova, A. K. (2006). Screening for pain phenotypes: analysis of three congenic mouse strains on a battery of nine nociceptive assays. Pain *126*, 24-34.

Mohapatra, D. P., and Nau, C. (2003). Desensitization of Capsaicin-activated Currents in the Vanilloid Receptor TRPV1 Is Decreased by the Cyclic AMP-dependent Protein Kinase Pathway. J Biol Chem 278, 50080-50090.

Mohapatra, D. P., and Nau, C. (2005). Regulation of Ca2+-dependent desensitization in the vanilloid receptor TRPV1 by calcineurin and cAMP-dependent protein kinase. J Biol Chem 280, 13424-13432.

Monteiro, E. C., and Ribeiro, J. A. (1987). Ventilatory effects of adenosine mediated by carotid body chemoreceptors in the rat. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol *335*, 143-148.

Moolenaar, W. H., Kranenburg, O., Postma, F. R., and Zondag, G. C. (1997). Lysophosphatidic acid: G-protein signalling and cellular responses. Curr Opin Cell Biol *9*, 168-173.

Moolenaar, W. H., van Meeteren, L. A., and Giepmans, B. N. (2004). The ins and outs of lysophosphatidic acid signaling. Bioessays *26*, 870-881.

Moqrich, A., Hwang, S. W., Earley, T. J., Petrus, M. J., Murray, A. N., Spencer, K. S. R., Andahazy, M., Story, G. M., and Patapoutian, A. (2005). Impaired Thermosensation in Mice Lacking TRPV3, a Heat and Camphor Sensor in the Skin. Science *307*, 1468-1472.

Morabito, L., Montesinos, M. C., Schreibman, D. M., Balter, L., Thompson, L. F., Resta, R., Carlin, G., Huie, M. A., and Cronstein, B. N. (1998). Methotrexate and sulfasalazine promote

adenosine release by a mechanism that requires ecto-5'-nucleotidase-mediated conversion of adenine nucleotides. J Clin Invest *101*, 295-300.

Morgello, S., Estanislao, L., Simpson, D., Geraci, A., DiRocco, A., Gerits, P., Ryan, E., Yakoushina, T., Khan, S., Mahboob, R., *et al.* (2004). HIV-associated distal sensory polyneuropathy in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy: the Manhattan HIV Brain Bank. Arch Neurol *61*, 546-551.

Moriwaki, Y., Yamamoto, T., and Higashino, K. (1999). Enzymes involved in purine metabolism--a review of histochemical localization and functional implications. Histol Histopathol *14*, 1321-1340.

Moriyama, T., Iida, T., Kobayashi, K., Higashi, T., Fukuoka, T., Tsumura, H., Leon, C., Suzuki, N., Inoue, K., Gachet, C., *et al.* (2003). Possible involvement of P2Y2 metabotropic receptors in ATP-induced transient receptor potential vanilloid receptor 1-mediated thermal hypersensitivity. J Neurosci 23, 6058-6062.

Mork, H., Ashina, M., Bendtsen, L., Olesen, J., and Jensen, R. (2003). Experimental muscle pain and tenderness following infusion of endogenous substances in humans. Eur J Pain 7, 145-153.

Mousseau, D. D., Sun, X., and Larson, A. A. (1994). An antinociceptive effect of capsaicin in the adult mouse mediated by the NH2-terminus of substance P. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *268*, 785-790.

Muir, D., and Bass, S. (2009). South Africa pledges aid for all HIV-infected babies (ABC news).

Murillo-Rodriguez, E., Blanco-Centurion, C., Gerashchenko, D., Salin-Pascual, R. J., and Shiromani, P. J. (2004). The diurnal rhythm of adenosine levels in the basal forebrain of young and old rats. Neuroscience *123*, 361-370.

Murthy, K. S., and Makhlouf, G. M. (1995a). Adenosine A1 receptor-mediated activation of phospholipase C-beta 3 in intestinal muscle: dual requirement for alpha and beta gamma subunits of Gi3. Mol Pharmacol *47*, 1172-1179.

Murthy, K. S., and Makhlouf, G. M. (1995b). Agonist-mediated activation of phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C and D in intestinal smooth muscle. Mol Pharmacol *48*, 293-304.

Nagata, K., Duggan, A., Kumar, G., and Garcia-Anoveros, J. (2005). Nociceptor and Hair Cell Transducer Properties of TRPA1, a Channel for Pain and Hearing. J Neurosci 25, 4052-4061.

Nagy, I., and Rang, H. (1999). Noxious heat activates all capsaicin-sensitive and also a subpopulation of capsaicin-insensitive dorsal root ganglion neurons. Neuroscience *88*, 995-997.

Nagy, J. I., and Daddona, P. E. (1985). Anatomical and cytochemical relationships of adenosine deaminase-containing primary afferent neurons in the rat. Neuroscience *15*, 799-813.

Nagy, J. I., and Hunt, S. P. (1982). Fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase-containing neurones in dorsal root ganglia are separate from those containing substance P or somatostatin. Neuroscience *7*, 89-97.

Nagy, J. I., Hunt, S. P., Iversen, L. L., and Emson, P. C. (1981). Biochemical and anatomical observations on the degeneration of peptide-containing primary afferent neurons after neonatal capsaicin. Neuroscience *6*, 1923-1934.

Nakagawa, T., Wakamatsu, K., Zhang, N., Maeda, S., Minami, M., Satoh, M., and Kaneko, S. (2007). Intrathecal administration of ATP produces long-lasting allodynia in rats: differential mechanisms in the phase of the induction and maintenance. Neuroscience *147*, 445-455.

Nakane, S., Oka, S., Arai, S., Waku, K., Ishima, Y., Tokumura, A., and Sugiura, T. (2002). 2-Arachidonoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphate, an arachidonic acid-containing lysophosphatidic acid: occurrence and rapid enzymatic conversion to 2-arachidonoyl-sn-glycerol, a cannabinoid receptor ligand, in rat brain. Arch Biochem Biophys *402*, 51-58.

Namer, B., Seifert, F., Handwerker, H. O., and Maihofner, C. (2005). TRPA1 and TRPM8 activation in humans: effects of cinnamaldehyde and menthol. Neuroreport *16*, 955-959.

Narisawa, S., Hasegawa, H., Watanabe, K., and Millan, J. L. (1994). Stage-specific expression of alkaline phosphatase during neural development in the mouse. Dev Dyn 201, 227-235.

Narita, M., Ohsawa, M., Mizoguchi, H., Aoki, T., Suzuki, T., and Tseng, L. F. (2000). Role of the phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C pathway in delta-opioid receptormediated antinociception in the mouse spinal cord. Neuroscience *99*, 327-331. Nelson, D. W., Gregg, R. J., Kort, M. E., Perez-Medrano, A., Voight, E. A., Wang, Y., Grayson, G., Namovic, M. T., Donnelly-Roberts, D. L., Niforatos, W., *et al.* (2006). Structure-activity relationship studies on a series of novel, substituted 1-benzyl-5-phenyltetrazole P2X7 antagonists. J Med Chem *49*, 3659-3666.

Nicholson, R., Small, J., Dixon, A. K., Spanswick, D., and Lee, K. (2003). Serotonin receptor mRNA expression in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. Neurosci Lett *337*, 119-122.

Nilius, B., Talavera, K., Owsianik, G., Prenen, J., Droogmans, G., and Voets, T. (2005). Gating of TRP channels: a voltage connection? J Physiol *567*, 35-44.

Nishiyama, T., Ho, R. J., Shen, D. D., and Yaksh, T. L. (2000). The effects of intrathecal morphine encapsulated in L- and D-dipalmitoylphosphatidyl choline liposomes on acute nociception in rats. Anesth Analg *91*, 423-428.

North, R. A. (2002). Molecular physiology of P2X receptors. Physiol Rev 82, 1013-1067.

Norton, G. R., Sweeney, J., Marriott, D., Law, M. G., and Brew, B. J. (1996). Association between HIV distal symmetric polyneuropathy and Mycobacterium avium complex infection. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry *61*, 606-609.

Novakovic, S. D., Kassotakis, L. C., Oglesby, I. B., Smith, J. A., Eglen, R. M., Ford, A. P., and Hunter, J. C. (1999). Immunocytochemical localization of P2X3 purinoceptors in sensory neurons in naive rats and following neuropathic injury. Pain *80*, 273-282.

Numazaki, M., Tominaga, T., Takeuchi, K., Murayama, N., Toyooka, H., and Tominaga, M. (2003). Structural determinant of TRPV1 desensitization interacts with calmodulin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 8002-8006.

Odashima, M., Bamias, G., Rivera-Nieves, J., Linden, J., Nast, C. C., Moskaluk, C. A., Marini, M., Sugawara, K., Kozaiwa, K., Otaka, M., *et al.* (2005). Activation of A2A adenosine receptor attenuates intestinal inflammation in animal models of inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology *129*, 26-33.

Ogasawara, M., Kurihara, T., Hu, Q., and Tanabe, T. (2001). Characterization of acute somatosensory pain transmission in P/Q-type Ca(2+) channel mutant mice, leaner. FEBS Lett *508*, 181-186.

Ohta, A., and Sitkovsky, M. (2001). Role of G-protein-coupled adenosine receptors in downregulation of inflammation and protection from tissue damage. Nature *414*, 916-920.

Okada, M., Nakagawa, T., Minami, M., and Satoh, M. (2002). Analgesic effects of intrathecal administration of P2Y nucleotide receptor agonists UTP and UDP in normal and neuropathic pain model rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *303*, 66-73.

Okada, T., Mochizuki, T., Huang, Z. L., Eguchi, N., Sugita, Y., Urade, Y., and Hayaishi, O. (2003). Dominant localization of adenosine deaminase in leptomeninges and involvement of the enzyme in sleep. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *312*, 29-34.

Olivera, B. M., Miljanich, G. P., Ramachandran, J., and Adams, M. E. (1994). Calcium channel diversity and neurotransmitter release: the omega-conotoxins and omega-agatoxins. Annu Rev Biochem *63*, 823-867.

Ong, C. N., Kong, Y. M., Ong, H. Y., and Teramoto, K. (1990). The in vitro and in vivo effects of lead on delta-aminolevulinic acid dehydratase and pyrimidine 5'-nucleotidase. Pharmacol Toxicol *66*, 23-26.

Ostanin, K., Saeed, A., and Van Etten, R. L. (1994). Heterologous expression of human prostatic acid phosphatase and site-directed mutagenesis of the enzyme active site. J Biol Chem *269*, 8971-8978.

Ostrowski, W. S., and Kuciel, R. (1994). Human prostatic acid phosphatase: selected properties and practical applications. Clin Chim Acta 226, 121-129.

Ozaki, S., DeWald, D. B., Shope, J. C., Chen, J., and Prestwich, G. D. (2000). Intracellular delivery of phosphoinositides and inositol phosphates using polyamine carriers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 11286-11291.

Pandya, R., Krentz, H. B., Gill, M. J., and Power, C. (2005). HIV-related neurological syndromes reduce health-related quality of life. Can J Neurol Sci *32*, 201-204.

Pappagallo, M., Gaspardone, A., Tomai, F., Iamele, M., Crea, F., and Gioffre, P. A. (1993). Analgesic effect of bamiphylline on pain induced by intradermal injection of adenosine. Pain *53*, 199-204.

Pardo, C. A., McArthur, J. C., and Griffin, J. W. (2001). HIV neuropathy: insights in the pathology of HIV peripheral nerve disease. J Peripher Nerv Syst 6, 21-27.

Park, K. A., and Vasko, M. R. (2005). Lipid mediators of sensitivity in sensory neurons. Trends Pharmacol Sci 26, 571-577.

Park, U., Vastani, N., Guan, Y., Raja, S. N., Koltzenburg, M., and Caterina, M. (2008). Evaluation of TRPV2 function in mouse thermal nociception. Paper presented at: 12th World Congress on Pain (Washington, D.C.).

Patel, M. K., Pinnock, R. D., and Lee, K. (2001). Adenosine exerts multiple effects in dorsal horn neurones of the adult rat spinal cord. Brain Res *920*, 19-26.

Patterson, S. L., Sluka, K. A., and Arnold, M. A. (2001). A novel transverse push-pull microprobe: in vitro characterization and in vivo demonstration of the enzymatic production of adenosine in the spinal cord dorsal horn. J Neurochem *76*, 234-246.

Paukert, M., Osteroth, R., Geisler, H. S., Brandle, U., Glowatzki, E., Ruppersberg, J. P., and Grunder, S. (2001). Inflammatory mediators potentiate ATP-gated channels through the P2X(3) subunit. J Biol Chem 276, 21077-21082.

Peier, A. M., Reeve, A. J., Andersson, D. A., Moqrich, A., Earley, T. J., Hergarden, A. C., Story, G. M., Colley, S., Hogenesch, J. B., McIntyre, P., *et al.* (2002). A heat-sensitive TRP channel expressed in keratinocytes. Science *296*, 2046-2049.

Peng, Y. B., Ringkamp, M., Meyer, R. A., and Campbell, J. N. (2003). Fatigue and Paradoxical Enhancement of Heat Response in C-Fiber Nociceptors from Cross-Modal Excitation. J Neurosci 23, 4766-4774.

Perry, M. J., and Lawson, S. N. (1998). Differences in expression of oligosaccharides, neuropeptides, carbonic anhydrase and neurofilament in rat primary afferent neurons retrogradely labelled via skin, muscle or visceral nerves. Neuroscience *85*, 293-310.

Petrovic-Djergovic, D., Hyman, M. C., Bouis, D., Thompson, L. F., and Pinsky, D. J. (2007). Abstract 135: CD73 Regulates Macrophage Trafficking In The Ischemic Brain. Circulation *116*, II_4-c-.

Petrus, M., Peier, A., Bandell, M., Hwang, S., Huynh, T., Olney, N., Jegla, T., and Patapoutian, A. (2007). A role of TRPA1 in mechanical hyperalgesia is revealed by pharmacological inhibition. Molecular Pain *3*, 40.

Pilquil, C., Singh, I., Zhang, Q., Ling, Z., Buri, K., Stromberg, L. M., Dewald, J., and
Brindley, D. N. (2001). Lipid phosphate phosphatase-1 dephosphorylates exogenous
lysophosphatidate and thereby attenuates its effects on cell signalling. Prostaglandins 64, 83-92.

Pingle, S. C., Matta, J. A., and Ahern, G. P. (2007). Capsaicin receptor: TRPV1 a promiscuous TRP channel. Handb Exp Pharmacol, 155-171.

Poon, A., and Sawynok, J. (1995). Antinociception by adenosine analogs and an adenosine kinase inhibitor: dependence on formalin concentration. Eur J Pharmacol 286, 177-184.

Poon, A., and Sawynok, J. (1998). Antinociception by adenosine analogs and inhibitors of adenosine metabolism in an inflammatory thermal hyperalgesia model in the rat. Pain 74, 235-245.

Porkka-Heiskanen, T., Strecker, R. E., Thakkar, M., Bjorkum, A. A., Greene, R. W., and McCarley, R. W. (1997). Adenosine: a mediator of the sleep-inducing effects of prolonged wakefulness. Science *276*, 1265-1268.

Porvari, K. S., Herrala, A. M., Kurkela, R. M., Taavitsainen, P. A., Lindqvist, Y., Schneider, G., and Vihko, P. T. (1994). Site-directed mutagenesis of prostatic acid phosphatase. Catalytically important aspartic acid 258, substrate specificity, and oligomerization. J Biol Chem *269*, 22642-22646.

Post, C. (1984). Antinociceptive effects in mice after intrathecal injection of 5'-N-ethylcarboxamide adenosine. Neurosci Lett *51*, 325-330.

Premkumar, L. S., and Ahern, G. P. (2000). Induction of vanilloid receptor channel activity by protein kinase C. Nature *408*, 985-990.

Prescott, E. D., and Julius, D. (2003). A modular PIP2 binding site as a determinant of capsaicin receptor sensitivity. Science *300*, 1284-1288.

Price, M. P., Lewin, G. R., McIlwrath, S. L., Cheng, C., Xie, J., Heppenstall, P. A., Stucky, C. L., Mannsfeldt, A. G., Brennan, T. J., Drummond, H. A., *et al.* (2000). The mammalian sodium channel BNC1 is required for normal touch sensation. Nature *407*, 1007-1011.

Price, M. P., McIlwrath, S. L., Xie, J., Cheng, C., Qiao, J., Tarr, D. E., Sluka, K. A., Brennan, T. J., Lewin, G. R., and Welsh, M. J. (2001). The DRASIC Cation Channel Contributes to the Detection of Cutaneous Touch and Acid Stimuli in Mice. *32*, 1071-1083.

Proudfoot, C. J., Garry, E. M., Cottrell, D. F., Rosie, R., Anderson, H., Robertson, D. C., Fleetwood-Walker, S. M., and Mitchell, R. (2006). Analgesia mediated by the TRPM8 cold receptor in chronic neuropathic pain. Curr Biol *16*, 1591-1605.

Puntambekar, P., Van Buren, J., Raisinghani, M., Premkumar, L. S., and Ramkumar, V. (2004). Direct interaction of adenosine with the TRPV1 channel protein. J Neurosci 24, 3663-3671.

Queiroz, G., Gebicke-Haerter, P. J., Schobert, A., Starke, K., and von Kugelgen, I. (1997). Release of ATP from cultured rat astrocytes elicited by glutamate receptor activation. Neuroscience 78, 1203-1208.

Quintero, I. B., Araujo, C. L., Pulkka, A. E., Wirkkala, R. S., Herrala, A. M., Eskelinen, E. L., Jokitalo, E., Hellstrom, P. A., Tuominen, H. J., Hirvikoski, P. P., and Vihko, P. T. (2007). Prostatic acid phosphatase is not a prostate specific target. Cancer Res *67*, 6549-6554.

Rabchevsky, A. G., Degos, J. D., and Dreyfus, P. A. (1999). Peripheral injections of Freund's adjuvant in mice provoke leakage of serum proteins through the blood-brain barrier without inducing reactive gliosis. Brain Res *832*, 84-96.

Radek, R. J., Decker, M. W., and Jarvis, M. F. (2004). The adenosine kinase inhibitor ABT-702 augments EEG slow waves in rats. Brain Res *1026*, 74-83.

Radulovacki, M., Virus, R. M., Djuricic-Nedelson, M., and Green, R. D. (1983). Hypnotic effects of deoxycorformycin in rats. Brain Res 271, 392-395.

Ralevic, V., and Burnstock, G. (1998). Receptors for purines and pyrimidines. Pharmacol Rev *50*, 413-492.

Reeve, A. J., and Dickenson, A. H. (1995). The roles of spinal adenosine receptors in the control of acute and more persistent nociceptive responses of dorsal horn neurones in the anaesthetized rat. Br J Pharmacol *116*, 2221-2228.

Regaya, I., Pham, T., Andreotti, N., Sauze, N., Carrega, L., Martin-Eauclaire, M. F., Jouirou, B., Peragut, J. C., Vacher, H., Rochat, H., *et al.* (2004). Small conductance calcium-activated

K+ channels, SkCa, but not voltage-gated K+ (Kv) channels, are implicated in the antinociception induced by CGS21680, a A2A adenosine receptor agonist. Life Sci 76, 367-377.

Reggiani, C., Patrini, C., and Rindi, G. (1984). Nervous tissue thiamine metabolism in vivo. I. Transport of thiamine and thiamine monophosphate from plasma to different brain regions of the rat. Brain Res *293*, 319-327.

Renback, K., Inoue, M., and Ueda, H. (1999). Lysophosphatidic acid-induced, pertussis toxin-sensitive nociception through a substance P release from peripheral nerve endings in mice. Neurosci Lett 270, 59-61.

Renback, K., Inoue, M., Yoshida, A., Nyberg, F., and Ueda, H. (2000). Vzg-1/lysophosphatidic acid-receptor involved in peripheral pain transmission. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 75, 350-354.

Reppert, S. M., Weaver, D. R., Stehle, J. H., and Rivkees, S. A. (1991). Molecular cloning and characterization of a rat A1-adenosine receptor that is widely expressed in brain and spinal cord. Mol Endocrinol *5*, 1037-1048.

Resta, R., Yamashita, Y., and Thompson, L. F. (1998). Ecto-enzyme and signaling functions of lymphocyte CD73. Immunol Rev *161*, 95-109.

Reutershan, J., Vollmer, I., Stark, S., Wagner, R., Ngamsri, K.-C., and Eltzschig, H. K. (2009). Adenosine and inflammation: CD39 and CD73 are critical mediators in LPS-induced PMN trafficking into the lungs. FASEB J *23*, 473-482.

Reyes-Garcia, G., Medina-Santillan, R., Teran-Rosales, F., Castillo-Henkel, C., Rodriguez-Silverio, J., Torres-Lopez, J. E., Ochoa-Cetina, L., Medina-Tato, D. A., and Granados-Soto, V. (2001). Analgesic effect of B vitamins in formalin-induced inflammatory pain. Proc West Pharmacol Soc *44*, 139-140.

Reyes-Garcia, G., Medina-Santillan, R., Teran-Rosales, F., Castillo-Henkel, C., Vidal-Cantu, G. C., Caram-Salas, N. L., and Granados-Soto, V. (2002). B vitamins increase the antihyperalgesic effect of diclofenac in the rat. Proc West Pharmacol Soc 45, 147-149.

Reyes-Garcia, G., Medina-Santillan, R., Teran-Rosales, F., Mateos-Garcia, E., and Castillo-Henkel, C. (1999). Characterization of the potentiation of the antinociceptive effect of diclofenac by vitamin B complex in the rat. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods *42*, 73-77. Ribeiro-Da-Silva, A., Castro-Lopes, J. M., and Coimbra, A. (1986). Distribution of glomeruli with fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase (FRAP)-containing terminals in the substantia gelatinosa of the rat. Brain Res *377*, 323-329.

Rindi, G., Comincioli, V., Reggiani, C., and Patrini, C. (1984). Nervous tissue thiamine metabolism in vivo. II. Thiamine and its phosphoesters dynamics in different brain regions and sciatic nerve of the rat. Brain Res *293*, 329-342.

Ringkamp, M., Peng, Y. B., Wu, G., Hartke, T. V., Campbell, J. N., and Meyer, R. A. (2001). Capsaicin Responses in Heat-Sensitive and Heat-Insensitive A-Fiber Nociceptors. J Neurosci *21*, 4460-4468.

Robson, S. C., Sevigny, J., and Zimmermann, H. (2006). The E-NTPDase family of ectonucleotidases: Structure function relationships and pathophysiological significance. Purinergic Signal *2*, 409-430.

Rocha-Gonzalez, H. I., Teran-Rosales, F., Reyes-Garcia, G., Medina-Santillan, R., and Granados-Soto, V. (2004). B vitamins increase the analgesic effect of diclofenac in the rat. Proc West Pharmacol Soc *47*, 84-87.

Rodriguez-Nunez, A., Cid, E., Rodriguez-Garcia, J., Camina, F., Rodriguez-Segade, S., and Castro-Gago, M. (2000). Cerebrospinal fluid purine metabolite and neuron-specific enolase concentrations after febrile seizures. Brain Dev *22*, 427-431.

Rohacs, T. (2009). Phosphoinositide regulation of non-canonical transient receptor potential channels. Cell Calcium *45*, 554-565.

Rohacs, T., Lopes, C. M., Michailidis, I., and Logothetis, D. E. (2005). PI(4,5)P2 regulates the activation and desensitization of TRPM8 channels through the TRP domain. Nat Neurosci *8*, 626-634.

Rohacs, T., Thyagarajan, B., and Lukacs, V. (2008). Phospholipase C mediated modulation of TRPV1 channels. Mol Neurobiol *37*, 153-163.

Roiko, K., Janne, O. A., and Vihko, P. (1990). Primary structure of rat secretory acid phosphatase and comparison to other acid phosphatases. Gene *89*, 223-229.

Roper, S. D. (2007). Signal transduction and information processing in mammalian taste buds. Pflugers Arch 454, 759-776.

Rosenbaum, T., Gordon-Shaag, A., Munari, M., and Gordon, S. E. (2004). Ca2+/calmodulin modulates TRPV1 activation by capsaicin. J Gen Physiol *123*, 53-62.

Rosenberg, P. A., and Li, Y. (1995). Adenylyl cyclase activation underlies intracellular cyclic AMP accumulation, cyclic AMP transport, and extracellular adenosine accumulation evoked by beta-adrenergic receptor stimulation in mixed cultures of neurons and astrocytes derived from rat cerebral cortex. Brain Res *692*, 227-232.

Ross, R. A. (2003). Anandamide and vanilloid TRPV1 receptors. Br J Pharmacol 140, 790-801.

Rotllan, P., Asensio, A. C., Ramos, A., Rodriguez-Ferrer, C. R., and Oaknin, S. (2002). Ectoenzymatic hydrolysis of the signalling nucleotides diadenosine polyphosphates. Recent Res Devel Biochem *3*, 191-209.

Roy, G. (1997). General ingredient or process approaches to bitterness inhibition and reduction in oral pharmaceuticals. In Modifying Bitterness, G. Roy, ed. (Lancaster, Pennsylvania, Technomic), pp. 285-320.

Roza, C., Puel, J.-L., Kress, M., Baron, A., Diochot, S., Lazdunski, M., and Waldmann, R. (2004). Knockout of the ASIC2 channel in mice does not impair cutaneous mechanosensation, visceral mechanonociception and hearing. The Journal of Physiology *558*, 659-669.

Rubino, A., Ralevic, V., and Burnstock, G. (1993). The P1-purinoceptors that mediate the prejunctional inhibitory effect of adenosine on capsaicin-sensitive nonadrenergic noncholinergic neurotransmission in the rat mesenteric arterial bed are of the A1 subtype. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 267, 1100-1104.

Rustioni, A., Baan, J. W., and Verdonk-Karlsen, S. (1972). Afferents from the facial, vagoglossopharyngeal and second cervical nerves to the substantia gelatinosa of the rat. Brain Res *37*, 137-140.

Rustioni, A., Sanyal, S., and Kuypers, H. G. (1971). A histochemical study of the distribution of the trigeminal divisions in the substantia gelatinosa of the rat. Brain Res *32*, 45-52.

Saegusa, H., Matsuda, Y., and Tanabe, T. (2002). Effects of ablation of N- and R-type Ca2+ channels on pain transmission. Neuroscience Research *43*, 1-7.

SAIR (2009). South Africa Survey (South African Institute of Race Relations).

Salter, M. W., De Koninck, Y., and Henry, J. L. (1993). Physiological roles for adenosine and ATP in synaptic transmission in the spinal dorsal horn. Prog Neurobiol *41*, 125-156.

Salter, M. W., and Henry, J. L. (1985). Effects of adenosine 5'-monophosphate and adenosine 5'-triphosphate on functionally identified units in the cat spinal dorsal horn. Evidence for a differential effect of adenosine 5'-triphosphate on nociceptive vs non-nociceptive units. Neuroscience *15*, 815-825.

Sanchez-Ramirez, G. M., Caram-Salas, N. L., Rocha-Gonzalez, H. I., Vidal-Cantu, G. C., Medina-Santillan, R., Reyes-Garcia, G., and Granados-Soto, V. (2006). Benfotiamine relieves inflammatory and neuropathic pain in rats. Eur J Pharmacol *530*, 48-53.

Sandner-Kiesling, A., Li, X., and Eisenach, J. C. (2001). Morphine-induced spinal release of adenosine is reduced in neuropathic rats. Anesthesiology *95*, 1455-1459.

Santicioli, P., Del Bianco, E., and Maggi, C. A. (1993). Adenosine A1 receptors mediate the presynaptic inhibition of calcitonin gene-related peptide release by adenosine in the rat spinal cord. Eur J Pharmacol *231*, 139-142.

Sanyal, S., and Rustioni, A. (1974). Phosphatases in the substantia gelatinosa and motoneurones: a comparative histochemical study. Brain Res *76*, 161-166.

Satoh, S., Matsumura, H., Koike, N., Tokunaga, Y., Maeda, T., and Hayaishi, O. (1999). Region-dependent difference in the sleep-promoting potency of an adenosine A2A receptor agonist. Eur J Neurosci *11*, 1587-1597.

Sawada, Y., Hosokawa, H., Hori, A., Matsumura, K., and Kobayashi, S. (2007). Cold sensitivity of recombinant TRPA1 channels. Brain Res *1160*, 39-46.

Sawynok, J. (1998). Adenosine receptor activation and nociception. Eur J Pharmacol 347, 1-11.

Sawynok, J. (2006). Adenosine and ATP receptors. Handb Exp Pharmacol 177, 309-328.

Sawynok, J. (2007). Adenosine and ATP receptors. Handb Exp Pharmacol, 309-328.

Sawynok, J., Downie, J. W., Reid, A. R., Cahill, C. M., and White, T. D. (1993). ATP release from dorsal spinal cord synaptosomes: characterization and neuronal origin. Brain Res *610*, 32-38.

Sawynok, J., and Liu, X. J. (2003). Adenosine in the spinal cord and periphery: release and regulation of pain. Prog Neurobiol *69*, 313-340.

Sawynok, J., and Reid, A. (1997). Peripheral adenosine 5'-triphosphate enhances nociception in the formalin test via activation of a purinergic p2X receptor. Eur J Pharmacol *330*, 115-121.

Sawynok, J., Reid, A., and Liu, X. J. (2000). Involvement of mast cells, sensory afferents and sympathetic mechanisms in paw oedema induced by adenosine A(1) and A(2B/3) receptor agonists. Eur J Pharmacol *395*, 47-50.

Sawynok, J., Zarrindast, M. R., Reid, A. R., and Doak, G. J. (1997). Adenosine A3 receptor activation produces nociceptive behaviour and edema by release of histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine. Eur J Pharmacol *333*, 1-7.

Schiffman, S. S., Diaz, C., and Beeker, T. G. (1986). Caffeine intensifies taste of certain sweeteners: role of adenosine receptor. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 24, 429-432.

Schiffman, S. S., Gill, J. M., and Diaz, C. (1985). Methyl xanthines enhance taste: evidence for modulation of taste by adenosine receptor. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 22, 195-203.

Schifitto, G., McDermott, M. P., McArthur, J. C., Marder, K., Sacktor, N., Epstein, L., and Kieburtz, K. (2002). Incidence of and risk factors for HIV-associated distal sensory polyneuropathy. Neurology *58*, 1764-1768.

Schifitto, G., McDermott, M. P., McArthur, J. C., Marder, K., Sacktor, N., McClernon, D. R., Conant, K., Cohen, B., Epstein, L. G., and Kieburtz, K. (2005). Markers of immune activation and viral load in HIV-associated sensory neuropathy. Neurology *64*, 842-848.

Schmidtko, A., Tegeder, I., and Geisslinger, G. (2009). No NO, no pain? The role of nitric oxide and cGMP in spinal pain processing. Trends in Neurosciences *32*, 339-346.

Schneider, G., Lindqvist, Y., and Vihko, P. (1993). Three-dimensional structure of rat acid phosphatase. Embo J *12*, 2609-2615.

Schoen, S. W., Graeber, M. B., Toth, L., and Kreutzberg, G. W. (1988). 5'-Nucleotidase in postnatal ontogeny of rat cerebellum: a marker for migrating nerve cells? Brain Res 467, 125-136.

Schoenen, J., Van Hees, J., Gybels, J., de Castro Costa, M., and Vanderhaeghen, J. J. (1985). Histochemical changes of substance P, FRAP, serotonin and succinic dehydrogenase in the spinal cord of rats with adjuvant arthritis. Life Sci *36*, 1247-1254.

Schulte, G., Robertson, B., Fredholm, B. B., DeLander, G. E., Shortland, P., and Molander, C. (2003). Distribution of antinociceptive adenosine A1 receptors in the spinal cord dorsal horn, and relationship to primary afferents and neuronal subpopulations. Neuroscience *121*, 907-916.

Schwierin, B., Borbely, A. A., and Tobler, I. (1996). Effects of N6-cyclopentyladenosine and caffeine on sleep regulation in the rat. Eur J Pharmacol *300*, 163-171.

Scott, T. G. (1965). THE SPECIFICITY OF 5'-NUCLEOTIDASE IN THE BRAIN OF THE MOUSE. J Histochem Cytochem 13, 657-667.

Scott, T. G. (1967). The distribution of 5'-nucleotidases in the brain of the mouse. J Comp Neurol *129*, 97-114.

Segerdahl, M., Ekblom, A., Sandelin, K., Wickman, M., and Sollevi, A. (1995a). Peroperative adenosine infusion reduces the requirements for isoflurane and postoperative analgesics. Anesth Analg *80*, 1145-1149.

Segerdahl, M., Ekblom, A., Sjolund, K. F., Belfrage, M., Forsberg, C., and Sollevi, A. (1995b). Systemic adenosine attenuates touch evoked allodynia induced by mustard oil in humans. Neuroreport *6*, 753-756.

Segerdahl, M., Ekblom, A., and Sollevi, A. (1994). The influence of adenosine, ketamine, and morphine on experimentally induced ischemic pain in healthy volunteers. Anesth Analg *79*, 787-791.

Segerdahl, M., Persson, E., Ekblom, A., and Sollevi, A. (1996). Peroperative adenosine infusion reduces isoflurane concentrations during general anesthesia for shoulder surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand *40*, 792-797.

Sherrington, C. S. (1906). The Integrative Action of the Nervous System (New York, Scribner).

Shields, S. D., Eckert, W. A., 3rd, and Basbaum, A. I. (2003). Spared nerve injury model of neuropathic pain in the mouse: a behavioral and anatomic analysis. J Pain *4*, 465-470.

Shin, J., Cho, H., Hwang, S. W., Jung, J., Shin, C. Y., Lee, S. Y., Kim, S. H., Lee, M. G., Choi, Y. H., Kim, J., *et al.* (2002). Bradykinin-12-lipoxygenase-VR1 signaling pathway for inflammatory hyperalgesia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *99*, 10150-10155.

Shu, X., and Mendell, L. M. (1999). Nerve growth factor acutely sensitizes the response of adult rat sensory neurons to capsaicin. Neurosci Lett 274, 159-162.

Shukla, V., Zimmermann, H., Wang, L., Kettenmann, H., Raab, S., Hammer, K., Sevigny, J., Robson, S. C., and Braun, N. (2005). Functional expression of the ecto-ATPase NTPDase2 and of nucleotide receptors by neuronal progenitor cells in the adult murine hippocampus. J Neurosci Res *80*, 600-610.

Siemens, J., Zhou, S., Piskorowski, R., Nikai, T., Lumpkin, E. A., Basbaum, A. I., King, D., and Julius, D. (2006). Spider toxins activate the capsaicin receptor to produce inflammatory pain. Nature 444, 208-212.

Silverman, J. D., and Kruger, L. (1988a). Acid phosphatase as a selective marker for a class of small sensory ganglion cells in several mammals: spinal cord distribution, histochemical properties, and relation to fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase (FRAP) of rodents. Somatosens Res *5*, 219-246.

Silverman, J. D., and Kruger, L. (1988b). Lectin and neuropeptide labeling of separate populations of dorsal root ganglion neurons and associated "nociceptor" thin axons in rat testis and cornea whole-mount preparations. Somatosens Res *5*, 259-267.

Silverman, J. D., and Kruger, L. (1990). Selective neuronal glycoconjugate expression in sensory and autonomic ganglia: relation of lectin reactivity to peptide and enzyme markers. J Neurocytol *19*, 789-801.

Simpson, D. M., Haidich, A. B., Schifitto, G., Yiannoutsos, C. T., Geraci, A. P., McArthur, J. C., and Katzenstein, D. A. (2002). Severity of HIV-associated neuropathy is associated with plasma HIV-1 RNA levels. Aids *16*, 407-412.

Simpson, D. M., Katzenstein, D. A., Hughes, M. D., Hammer, S. M., Williamson, D. L., Jiang, Q., and Pi, J. T. (1998). Neuromuscular function in HIV infection: analysis of a placebo-controlled combination antiretroviral trial. AIDS Clinical Group 175/801 Study Team. Aids *12*, 2425-2432.

Sitkovsky, M. V., Lukashev, D., Apasov, S., Kojima, H., Koshiba, M., Caldwell, C., Ohta, A., and Thiel, M. (2004a). Physiological control of immune response and inflammatory tissue damage by hypoxia-inducible factors and adenosine A2A receptors. Annu Rev Immunol *22*, 657-682.

Sitkovsky, M. V., Lukashev, D., Apasov, S., Kojima, H., Koshiba, M., Caldwell, C., Ohta, A., Thiel, M., Erdmann, A. A., Gao, Z. G., *et al.* (2004b). Physiological control of immune response and inflammatory tissue damage by hypoxia-inducible factors and adenosine A2A receptors

Activation of Th1 and Tc1 cell adenosine A2A receptors directly inhibits IL-2 secretion in vitro and IL-2-driven expansion in vivo

A2A adenosine receptor induction inhibits IFN-gamma production in murine CD4+ T cells Role of G-protein-coupled adenosine receptors in downregulation of inflammation and protection from tissue damage

A2A adenosine receptor activation improves survival in mouse models of endotoxemia and sepsis

Activation of A2A adenosine receptor attenuates intestinal inflammation in animal models of inflammatory bowel disease

Adenosine: an endogenous regulator of innate immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 22, 657-682.

Sjolund, K. F., Sollevi, A., Segerdahl, M., and Lundeberg, T. (1997). Intrathecal adenosine analog administration reduces substance P in cerebrospinal fluid along with behavioral effects that suggest antinociception in rats. Anesth Analg *85*, 627-632.

Smith, T. M., and Kirley, T. L. (1999). Site-directed mutagenesis of a human brain ectoapyrase: evidence that the E-type ATPases are related to the actin/heat shock 70/sugar kinase superfamily. Biochemistry *38*, 321-328.

Snider, W. D., and McMahon, S. B. (1998). Tackling pain at the source: new ideas about nociceptors. Neuron 20, 629-632.

Sollevi, A., Belfrage, M., Lundeberg, T., Segerdahl, M., and Hansson, P. (1995). Systemic adenosine infusion: a new treatment modality to alleviate neuropathic pain. Pain *61*, 155-158.

Song, X. S., Huang, Z. J., and Song, X. J. (2009). Thiamine suppresses thermal hyperalgesia, inhibits hyperexcitability, and lessens alterations of sodium currents in injured, dorsal root ganglion neurons in rats. Anesthesiology *110*, 387-400.

Souslova, V., Cesare, P., Ding, Y., Akopian, A. N., Stanfa, L., Suzuki, R., Carpenter, K., Dickenson, A., Boyce, S., and Hill, R. (2000). Warm-coding deficits and aberrant inflammatory pain in mice lacking P2X3 receptors. Nature *407*, 1015 - 1017.

Sowa, N. A., Vadakkan, K. I., and Zylka, M. J. (2009). Recombinant mouse PAP Has pHdependent ectonucleotidase activity and acts through A(1)-adenosine receptors to mediate antinociception. PLoS ONE *4*, e4248.

SSA (2008). Mortality and causes of death in South Africa, 2006: Findings from death notification (Statistics South Africa).

Steen, K. H., and Reeh, P. W. (1993). Sustained graded pain and hyperalgesia from harmless experimental tissue acidosis in human skin. Neurosci Lett *154*, 113-116.

Stein, A. T., Ufret-Vincenty, C. A., Hua, L., Santana, L. F., and Gordon, S. E. (2006). Phosphoinositide 3-kinase binds to TRPV1 and mediates NGF-stimulated TRPV1 trafficking to the plasma membrane. J Gen Physiol *128*, 509-522.

Stenberg, D., Litonius, E., Halldner, L., Johansson, B., Fredholm, B. B., and Porkka-Heiskanen, T. (2003). Sleep and its homeostatic regulation in mice lacking the adenosine A1 receptor. J Sleep Res *12*, 283-290.

Stone, T. W. (1981). Physiological roles for adenosine and adenosine 5'-triphosphate in the nervous system. Neuroscience *6*, 523-555.

Story, G. M., Peier, A. M., Reeve, A. J., Eid, S. R., Mosbacher, J., Hricik, T. R., Earley, T. J., Hergarden, A. C., Andersson, D. A., Hwang, S. W., *et al.* (2003a). ANKTM1, a TRP-like Channel Expressed in Nociceptive Neurons, Is Activated by Cold Temperatures. Cell *112*, 819 - 829.

Story, G. M., Peier, A. M., Reeve, A. J., Eid, S. R., Mosbacher, J., Hricik, T. R., Earley, T. J., Hergarden, A. C., Andersson, D. A., Hwang, S. W., *et al.* (2003b). ANKTM1, a TRP-like channel expressed in nociceptive neurons, is activated by cold temperatures. Cell *112*, 819-829.

Story, G. M., Peier, A. M., Reeve, A. J., Eid, S. R., Mosbacher, J., Hricik, T. R., Earley, T. J., Hergarden, A. C., Andersson, D. A., Hwang, S. W., *et al.* (2003c). ANKTM1, a TRP-like Channel Expressed in Nociceptive Neurons, Is Activated by Cold Temperatures. *112*, 819-829.

Stout, J. G., and Kirley, T. L. (1996). Control of cell membrane ecto-ATPase by oligomerization state: intermolecular cross-linking modulates ATPase activity. Biochemistry *35*, 8289-8298.

Strotmann, R., Harteneck, C., Nunnenmacher, K., Schultz, G., and Plant, T. D. (2000). OTRPC4, a nonselective cation channel that confers sensitivity to extracellular osmolarity. Nat Cell Biol 2, 695-702.

Stucky, C. L., Dubin, A. E., Jeske, N. A., Malin, S. A., McKemy, D. D., and Story, G. M. (2009). Roles of transient receptor potential channels in pain. Brain Res Rev *60*, 2-23.

Stucky, C. L., Medler, K. A., and Molliver, D. C. (2004). The P2Y agonist UTP activates cutaneous afferent fibers. Pain *109*, 36-44.

Sugiura, T., Kondo, S., Kishimoto, S., Miyashita, T., Nakane, S., Kodaka, T., Suhara, Y., Takayama, H., and Waku, K. (2000). Evidence that 2-arachidonoylglycerol but not N-palmitoylethanolamine or anandamide is the physiological ligand for the cannabinoid CB2 receptor. Comparison of the agonistic activities of various cannabinoid receptor ligands in HL-60 cells. J Biol Chem 275, 605-612.

Suh, B. C., and Hille, B. (2005). Regulation of ion channels by phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate. Curr Opin Neurobiol *15*, 370-378.

Suh, B. C., and Hille, B. (2008). PIP2 is a necessary cofactor for ion channel function: how and why? Annu Rev Biophys *37*, 175-195.

Sullivan, G. W., Fang, G., Linden, J., and Scheld, W. M. (2004). A2A adenosine receptor activation improves survival in mouse models of endotoxemia and sepsis. J Infect Dis *189*, 1897-1904.

Suran, A. A. (1974). 5'-Nucleotidase and an acid phosphatase of spinal cord. Comparative histochemistry and specificity of the enzymes in mouse and cat spinal cords. Cytologic localization in mouse substantia gelatinosa. J Histochem Cytochem 22, 802-811.

Sutherland, S. P., Benson, C. J., Adelman, J. P., and McCleskey, E. W. (2001). Acid-sensing ion channel 3 matches the acid-gated current in cardiac ischemia-sensing neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 711-716.

Suzuki, M., Mizuno, A., Kodaira, K., and Imai, M. (2003). Impaired Pressure Sensation in Mice Lacking TRPV4. J Biol Chem 278, 22664-22668.

Sweeney, M. I., White, T. D., Jhamandas, K. H., and Sawynok, J. (1987a). Morphine releases endogenous adenosine from the spinal cord in vivo. Eur J Pharmacol *141*, 169-170.

Sweeney, M. I., White, T. D., and Sawynok, J. (1987b). Involvement of adenosine in the spinal antinociceptive effects of morphine and noradrenaline. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 243, 657-665.

Sykova, E., and Svoboda, J. (1990). Extracellular alkaline-acid-alkaline transients in the rat spinal cord evoked by peripheral stimulation. Brain Res *512*, 181-189.

Sykova, E., Svoboda, J., Chvatal, A., and Jendelova, P. (1988). Extracellular pH and stimulated neurons. Ciba Found Symp *139*, 220-235.

Sylven, C., Beermann, B., Edlund, A., Lewander, R., Jonzon, B., and Mogensen, L. (1988). Provocation of chest pain in patients with coronary insufficiency using the vasodilator adenosine. Eur Heart J *9 Suppl N*, 6-10.

Sylven, C., Edlund, A., Brandt, R., Beermann, B., and Jonzon, B. (1986). Angina pectorislike pains provoked by intravenous adenosine. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) *293*, 1027-1028.

Synnestvedt, K., Furuta, G. T., Comerford, K. M., Louis, N., Karhausen, J., Eltzschig, H. K., Hansen, K. R., Thompson, L. F., and Colgan, S. P. (2002). Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) regulation by hypoxia-inducible factor-1 mediates permeability changes in intestinal epithelia. J Clin Invest *110*, 993-1002.

Szentmiklosi, A. J., Ujfalusi, A., Cseppento, A., Nosztray, K., Kovacs, P., and Szabo, J. Z. (1995). Adenosine receptors mediate both contractile and relaxant effects of adenosine in main pulmonary artery of guinea pigs. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol *351*, 417-425.

Tagliati, M., Grinnell, J., Godbold, J., and Simpson, D. M. (1999). Peripheral nerve function in HIV infection: clinical, electrophysiologic, and laboratory findings. Arch Neurol *56*, 84-89.

Taiwo, Y. O., and Levine, J. D. (1990). Direct cutaneous hyperalgesia induced by adenosine. Neuroscience *38*, 757-762.

Taiwo, Y. O., and Levine, J. D. (1991). Further confirmation of the role of adenyl cyclase and of cAMP-dependent protein kinase in primary afferent hyperalgesia. Neuroscience *44*, 131-135.

Takahashi, T., and Momiyama, A. (1993). Different types of calcium channels mediate central synaptic transmission. Nature *366*, 156-158.

Takuwa, Y., Takuwa, N., and Sugimoto, N. (2002). The Edg family G protein-coupled receptors for lysophospholipids: their signaling properties and biological activities. J Biochem (Tokyo) *131*, 767-771.

Tanaka, M., Kishi, Y., Takanezawa, Y., Kakehi, Y., Aoki, J., and Arai, H. (2004). Prostatic acid phosphatase degrades lysophosphatidic acid in seminal plasma. FEBS Lett *571*, 197-204.

Tenneti, L., Gibbons, S. J., and Talamo, B. R. (1998). Expression and Trans-synaptic Regulation of P2x4 and P2z Receptors for Extracellular ATP in Parotid Acinar Cells. EFFECTS OF PARASYMPATHETIC DENERVATION. J Biol Chem 273, 26799-26808.

Tenser, R. B. (1985). Sequential changes of sensory neuron (fluoride-resistant) acid phosphatase in dorsal root ganglion neurons following neurectomy and rhizotomy. Brain Res *332*, 386-389.

Tenser, R. B., Viselli, A. L., and Savage, D. H. (1991). Reversible decrease of fluoride resistant acid phosphatase-positive neurons after herpes simplex virus infection. Neurosci Lett *130*, 85-88.

Thakkar, M. M., Winston, S., and McCarley, R. W. (2003). A1 receptor and adenosinergic homeostatic regulation of sleep-wakefulness: effects of antisense to the A1 receptor in the cholinergic basal forebrain. J Neurosci 23, 4278-4287.
Thompson, L. F., Eltzschig, H. K., Ibla, J. C., Van De Wiele, C. J., Resta, R., Morote-Garcia, J. C., and Colgan, S. P. (2004a). Crucial role for ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) in vascular leakage during hypoxia. J Exp Med 200, 1395-1405.

Thompson, L. F., Eltzschig, H. K., Ibla, J. C., Van De Wiele, C. J., Resta, R., Morote-Garcia, J. C., and Colgan, S. P. (2004b). Crucial Role for Ecto-5'-Nucleotidase (CD73) in Vascular Leakage during Hypoxia. J Exp Med *200*, 1395-1405.

Tigyi, G., Dyer, D. L., and Miledi, R. (1994). Lysophosphatidic acid possesses dual action in cell proliferation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *91*, 1908-1912.

Todaka, H., Taniguchi, J., Satoh, J., Mizuno, A., and Suzuki, M. (2004). Warm temperaturesensitive transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) plays an essential role in thermal hyperalgesia. J Biol Chem 279, 35133-35138.

Todorovic, S., and Anderson, E. G. (1990). 5-HT2 and 5-HT3 receptors mediate two distinct depolarizing responses in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. Brain Res *511*, 71-79.

Tokunaga, A., Saika, M., and Senba, E. (1998). 5-HT2A receptor subtype is involved in the thermal hyperalgesic mechanism of serotonin in the periphery. Pain *76*, 349-355.

Tominaga, M., Caterina, M. J., Malmberg, A. B., Rosen, T. A., Gilbert, H., Skinner, K., Raumann, B. E., Basbaum, A. I., and Julius, D. (1998). The cloned capsaicin receptor integrates multiple pain-producing stimuli. Neuron *21*, 531-543.

Tominaga, M., Wada, M., and Masu, M. (2001). Potentiation of capsaicin receptor activity by metabotropic ATP receptors as a possible mechanism for ATP-evoked pain and hyperalgesia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 6951-6956.

Toriyabe, M., Omote, K., Kawamata, T., and Namiki, A. (2004). Contribution of interaction between nitric oxide and cyclooxygenases to the production of prostaglandins in carrageenan-induced inflammation. Anesthesiology *101*, 983-990.

Torres, I. L., Buffon, A., Silveira, P. P., Duarte, M. Z., Bassani, M. G., Oliveira, S. S., Battastini, A. M., Sarkis, J. J., Dalmaz, C., and Ferreira, M. B. (2002). Effect of chronic and acute stress on ectonucleotidase activities in spinal cord. Physiol Behav 75, 1-5.

Tozaki-Saitoh, H., Tsuda, M., Miyata, H., Ueda, K., Kohsaka, S., and Inoue, K. (2008). P2Y12 receptors in spinal microglia are required for neuropathic pain after peripheral nerve injury. J Neurosci 28, 4949-4956.

Treede, R.-D., Meyer, R. A., and Campbell, J. N. (1998). Myelinated Mechanically Insensitive Afferents From Monkey Hairy Skin: Heat-Response Properties. J Neurophysiol *80*, 1082-1093.

Trevisani, M., Smart, D., Gunthorpe, M. J., Tognetto, M., Barbieri, M., Campi, B., Amadesi, S., Gray, J., Jerman, J. C., Brough, S. J., *et al.* (2002). Ethanol elicits and potentiates nociceptor responses via the vanilloid receptor-1. Nat Neurosci *5*, 546-551.

Tsuda, M., Inoue, K., and Salter, M. W. (2005). Neuropathic pain and spinal microglia: a big problem from molecules in "small" glia. Trends Neurosci 28, 101-107.

Tsuda, M., Koizumi, S., Kita, A., Shigemoto, Y., Ueno, S., and Inoue, K. (2000). Mechanical allodynia caused by intraplantar injection of P2X receptor agonist in rats: involvement of heteromeric P2X2/3 receptor signaling in capsaicin-insensitive primary afferent neurons. J Neurosci 20, RC90.

Tsuda, M., Kuboyama, K., Inoue, T., Nagata, K., Tozaki-Saitoh, H., and Inoue, K. (2009). Behavioral phenotypes of mice lacking purinergic P2X4 receptors in acute and chronic pain assays. Molecular Pain *5*, 28.

Tsuda, M., Mizokoshi, A., Shigemoto-Mogami, Y., Koizumi, S., and Inoue, K. (2004). Activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in spinal hyperactive microglia contributes to pain hypersensitivity following peripheral nerve injury. Glia *45*, 89-95.

Tsuda, M., Shigemoto-Mogami, Y., Koizumi, S., Mizokoshi, A., Kohsaka, S., Salter, M. W., and Inoue, K. (2003). P2X4 receptors induced in spinal microglia gate tactile allodynia after nerve injury. Nature *424*, 778-783.

Turner, J. T., and Camden, J. M. (1990). The influence of vasoactive intestinal peptide receptors in dispersed acini from rat submandibular gland on cyclic AMP production and mucin release. Arch Oral Biol *35*, 103-108.

UNAIDS (2008). Report on the global AIDS epidemic.

Urade, Y., Eguchi, N., Qu, W. M., Sakata, M., Huang, Z. L., Chen, J. F., Schwarzschild, M. A., Fink, J. S., and Hayaishi, O. (2003). Sleep regulation in adenosine A2A receptor-deficient mice. Neurology *61*, S94-96.

Vadakkan, K. I., Jia, Y. H., and Zhuo, M. (2005). A behavioral model of neuropathic pain induced by ligation of the common peroneal nerve in mice. J Pain *6*, 747-756.

Van Etten, R. L. (1982). Human prostatic acid phosphatase: a histidine phosphatase. Ann N Y Acad Sci *390*, 27-51.

Vanegas, H., and Schaible, H. (2000). Effects of antagonists to high-threshold calcium channels upon spinal mechanisms of pain, hyperalgesia and allodynia. Pain *85*, 9-18.

Varnai, P., and Balla, T. (1998). Visualization of phosphoinositides that bind pleckstrin homology domains: calcium- and agonist-induced dynamic changes and relationship to myo-[3H]inositol-labeled phosphoinositide pools. J Cell Biol *143*, 501-510.

Varnai, P., Thyagarajan, B., Rohacs, T., and Balla, T. (2006). Rapidly inducible changes in phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate levels influence multiple regulatory functions of the lipid in intact living cells. J Cell Biol *175*, 377-382.

Varnai, P., Toth, B., Toth, D. J., Hunyady, L., and Balla, T. (2007). Visualization and manipulation of plasma membrane-endoplasmic reticulum contact sites indicates the presence of additional molecular components within the STIM1-Orai1 Complex. J Biol Chem 282, 29678-29690.

Veeramani, S., Yuan, T. C., Chen, S. J., Lin, F. F., Petersen, J. E., Shaheduzzaman, S., Srivastava, S., MacDonald, R. G., and Lin, M. F. (2005). Cellular prostatic acid phosphatase: a protein tyrosine phosphatase involved in androgen-independent proliferation of prostate cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer *12*, 805-822.

Vellani, V., Mapplebeck, S., Moriondo, A., Davis, J. B., and McNaughton, P. A. (2001). Protein kinase C activation potentiates gating of the vanilloid receptor VR1 by capsaicin, protons, heat and anandamide. J Physiol *534*, 813-825.

Vesely, D. L. (1985). B complex vitamins activate rat guanylate cyclase and increase cyclic GMP levels. Eur J Clin Invest *15*, 258-262.

Vihko, P. (1978). Characterization of the principal human prostatic acid phosphatase isoenzyme, purified by affinity chromatography and isoelectric focusing. Part II. Clin Chem 24, 1783-1787.

Vihko, P. (1979). Human prostatic acid phosphatases: purification of a minor enzyme and comparisons of the enzymes. Invest Urol *16*, 349-352.

Vihko, P., Kurkela, R., Porvari, K., Herrala, A., Lindfors, A., Lindqvist, Y., and Schneider, G. (1993). Rat acid phosphatase: overexpression of active, secreted enzyme by recombinant baculovirus-infected insect cells, molecular properties, and crystallization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *90*, 799-803.

Vihko, P., Schroeder, F. H., Lukkarinen, O., and Vihko, R. (1982). Secretion into and elimination from blood circulation of prostate specific acid phosphatase, measured by radioimmunoassay. J Urol *128*, 202-204.

Vollmayer, P., Clair, T., Goding, J. W., Sano, K., Servos, J., and Zimmermann, H. (2003). Hydrolysis of diadenosine polyphosphates by nucleotide pyrophosphatases/phosphodiesterases. Eur J Biochem *270*, 2971-2978.

Volmer, J. B., Thompson, L. F., and Blackburn, M. R. (2006). Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73)mediated adenosine production is tissue protective in a model of bleomycin-induced lung injury. J Immunol *176*, 4449-4458.

Vorhoff, T., Zimmermann, H., Pelletier, J., Sevigny, J., and Braun, N. (2005). Cloning and characterization of the ecto-nucleotidase NTPDase3 from rat brain: Predicted secondary structure and relation to other members of the E-NTPDase family and actin. Purinergic Signal *1*, 259-270.

Vulchanova, L., Riedl, M. S., Shuster, S. J., Buell, G., Surprenant, A., North, R. A., and Elde, R. (1997). Immunohistochemical study of the P2X2 and P2X3 receptor subunits in rat and monkey sensory neurons and their central terminals. Neuropharmacology *36*, 1229-1242.

Vulchanova, L., Riedl, M. S., Shuster, S. J., Stone, L. S., Hargreaves, K. M., Buell, G., Surprenant, A., North, R. A., and Elde, R. (1998). P2X3 is expressed by DRG neurons that terminate in inner lamina II. Eur J Neurosci *10*, 3470-3478.

Waldmann, R., Champigny, G., Bassilana, F., Heurteaux, C., and Lazdunski, M. (1997). A proton-gated cation channel involved in acid-sensing. Nature *386*, 173-177.

Wang, H., Ehnert, C., Brenner, G. J., and Woolf, C. J. (2006). Bradykinin and peripheral sensitization. Biol Chem *387*, 11-14.

Wang, H., Rivero-Melian, C., Robertson, B., and Grant, G. (1994). Transganglionic transport and binding of the isolectin B4 from Griffonia simplicifolia I in rat primary sensory neurons. Neuroscience *62*, 539-551.

Wang, Y. Y., Chang, R. B., Waters, H. N., McKemy, D. D., and Liman, E. R. (2008). The nociceptor ion channel TRPA1 is potentiated and inactivated by permeating calcium ions. J Biol Chem 283, 32691-32703.

Wang, Z. B., Gan, Q., Rupert, R. L., Zeng, Y. M., and Song, X. J. (2005). Thiamine, pyridoxine, cyanocobalamin and their combination inhibit thermal, but not mechanical hyperalgesia in rats with primary sensory neuron injury. Pain *114*, 266-277.

Watters, M. R., Poff, P. W., Shiramizu, B. T., Holck, P. S., Fast, K. M., Shikuma, C. M., and Valcour, V. G. (2004). Symptomatic distal sensory polyneuropathy in HIV after age 50. Neurology *62*, 1378-1383.

Weissmuller, T., Eltzschig, H. K., and Colgan, S. P. (2005). Dynamic purine signaling and metabolism during neutrophil-endothelial interactions. Purinergic Signal *1*, 229-239.

Welch, J. M., Simon, S. A., and Reinhart, P. H. (2000). The activation mechanism of rat vanilloid receptor 1 by capsaicin involves the pore domain and differs from the activation by either acid or heat. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 13889-13894.

Wemmie, J. A., Zha, X. M., and Welsh, M. J. (2008). Acid-sensing ion channels (ASICs) and pH in synapse physiology. In Structural and functional organization of the synapse, J. W. Hell, and M. D. Ehlers, eds. (New York, Springer), pp. 661-681.

Westenbroek, R. E., Hoskins, L., and Catterall, W. A. (1998). Localization of Ca2+ channel subtypes on rat spinal motor neurons, interneurons, and nerve terminals. J Neurosci *18*, 6319-6330.

WHO (2008). Estimated numbers of people receiving and needing antiretroviral therapy, coverage percentages in WHO Member States (World Health Organization).

Wilson, D., Naidoo, S., Bekker, L.-G., Cotton, M., and Maartens, G. (2002). Drug Management. Adult Antiretroviral therapy. In Handbook of HIV medicine, G. Maartens, ed. (Cape Town, Oxford University Press South Africa), pp. 329-340.

Wirkner, K., Sperlagh, B., and Illes, P. (2007). P2X3 receptor involvement in pain states. Mol Neurobiol *36*, 165-183.

Woolf, C. J., and Ma, Q. (2007). Nociceptors--noxious stimulus detectors. Neuron 55, 353-364.

Wu, W. P., Hao, J. X., Halldner-Henriksson, L., Xu, X. J., Jacobson, M. A., Wiesenfeld-Hallin, Z., and Fredholm, B. B. (2002). Decreased inflammatory pain due to reduced carrageenan-induced inflammation in mice lacking adenosine A3 receptors. Neuroscience *114*, 523-527.

Wu, W. P., Hao, J. X., Halldner, L., Lovdahl, C., DeLander, G. E., Wiesenfeld-Hallin, Z., Fredholm, B. B., and Xu, X. J. (2005). Increased nociceptive response in mice lacking the adenosine A1 receptor. Pain *113*, 395-404.

Wulff, E. A., Wang, A. K., and Simpson, D. M. (2000). HIV-associated peripheral neuropathy: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and treatment. Drugs *59*, 1251-1260.

Wyatt, K. M., Dimmock, P. W., Jones, P. W., and Shaughn O'Brien, P. M. (1999). Efficacy of vitamin B-6 in the treatment of premenstrual syndrome: systematic review. Bmj *318*, 1375-1381.

Xing, H., Ling, J. X., Chen, M., Johnson, R. D., Tominaga, M., Wang, C. Y., and Gu, J. (2008). TRPM8 mechanism of autonomic nerve response to cold in respiratory airway. Mol Pain *4*, 22.

Xu, G. Y., and Huang, L. Y. (2002). Peripheral inflammation sensitizes P2X receptormediated responses in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. J Neurosci 22, 93-102.

Xu, H., Blair, N. T., and Clapham, D. E. (2005). Camphor activates and strongly desensitizes the transient receptor potential vanilloid subtype 1 channel in a vanilloid-independent mechanism. J Neurosci *25*, 8924-8937.

Xu, H., Delling, M., Jun, J. C., and Clapham, D. E. (2006). Oregano, thyme and clovederived flavors and skin sensitizers activate specific TRP channels. Nat Neurosci *9*, 628-635. Xu, J., Zhang, Q. X., Pilquil, C., Berthiaume, L. G., Waggoner, D. W., and Brindley, D. N. (2000). Lipid phosphate phosphatase-1 in the regulation of lysophosphatidate signaling. Ann N Y Acad Sci *905*, 81-90.

Yaksh, T. L. (2006). Calcium channels as therapeutic targets in neuropathic pain. J Pain 7, S13-30.

Yao, J., and Qin, F. (2009). Interaction with phosphoinositides confers adaptation onto the TRPV1 pain receptor. PLoS Biol 7, e46.

Yarchoan, R., Perno, C. F., Thomas, R. V., Klecker, R. W., Allain, J. P., Wills, R. J., McAtee, N., Fischl, M. A., Dubinsky, R., McNeely, M. C., and et al. (1988). Phase I studies of 2',3'-dideoxycytidine in severe human immunodeficiency virus infection as a single agent and alternating with zidovudine (AZT). Lancet *1*, 76-81.

Yegutkin, G. G. (2008). Nucleotide- and nucleoside-converting ectoenzymes: Important modulators of purinergic signalling cascade. Biochim Biophys Acta *1783*, 673-694.

Yegutkin, G. G., Henttinen, T., and Jalkanen, S. (2001). Extracellular ATP formation on vascular endothelial cells is mediated by ecto-nucleotide kinase activities via phosphotransfer reactions. Faseb J *15*, 251-260.

Yoon, M. H., Bae, H. B., and Choi, J. I. (2005). Antinociception of intrathecal adenosine receptor subtype agonists in rat formalin test. Anesth Analg *101*, 1417-1421.

Yoshida, T., Inoue, R., Morii, T., Takahashi, N., Yamamoto, S., Hara, Y., Tominaga, M., Shimizu, S., Sato, Y., and Mori, Y. (2006). Nitric oxide activates TRP channels by cysteine S-nitrosylation. Nat Chem Biol 2, 596-607.

Yxfeldt, A., Wallberg-Jonsson, S., Hultdin, J., and Rantapaa-Dahlqvist, S. (2003). Homocysteine in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in relation to inflammation and B-vitamin treatment. Scand J Rheumatol *32*, 205-210.

Zeng, W., Lee, M. G., and Muallem, S. (1997). Membrane-specific regulation of Clchannels by purinergic receptors in rat submandibular gland acinar and duct cells. J Biol Chem 272, 32956-32965. Zernecke, A., Bidzhekov, K., Ozuyaman, B., Fraemohs, L., Liehn, E. A., Luscher-Firzlaff, J. M., Luscher, B., Schrader, J., and Weber, C. (2006). CD73/ecto-5'-nucleotidase protects against vascular inflammation and neointima formation. Circulation *113*, 2120-2127.

Zhang, X., Huang, J., and McNaughton, P. A. (2005a). NGF rapidly increases membrane expression of TRPV1 heat-gated ion channels. Embo J 24, 4211-4223.

Zhang, Y., Conklin, D. R., Li, X., and Eisenach, J. C. (2005b). Intrathecal morphine reduces allodynia after peripheral nerve injury in rats via activation of a spinal A1 adenosine receptor. Anesthesiology *102*, 416-420.

Zhao, Q., Yang, M., Ting, A. T., and Logothetis, D. E. (2007). PIP(2) regulates the ionic current of P2X receptors and P2X(7) receptor-mediated cell death. Channels (Austin) *1*, 46-55.

Zhou, J., Chung, K., and Chung, J. M. (2001). Development of purinergic sensitivity in sensory neurons after peripheral nerve injury in the rat. Brain Res *915*, 161-169.

Zimmermann, H. (1992). 5'-Nucleotidase: molecular structure and functional aspects. Biochem J 285 (*Pt 2*), 345-365.

Zimmermann, H. (1996). Biochemistry, localization and functional roles of ectonucleotidases in the nervous system. Prog Neurobiol 49, 589-618.

Zimmermann, H. (2000). Extracellular metabolism of ATP and other nucleotides. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol *362*, 299-309.

Zimmermann, H. (2001a). Ecto-nucleotidases. In Purinergic and Pyrimidergic Signaling, M. P. Abbracchio, and M. Williams, eds. (Heidelberg, Springer Verlag), pp. 209-250.

Zimmermann, H. (2001b). Ectonucleotidases: Some recent developments and a note on nomenclature. Drug Dev Res 52, 44-56.

Zimmermann, H. (2006). Ectonucleotidases in the nervous system. Novartis Found Symp 276, 113-128; discussion 128-130, 233-117, 275-181.

Zimmermann, M. (1988). Possibilities for B-vitamins to modulate basic biological mechanisms involved in pain. In B-Vitamins in Pain, H. U. Gerbershagen, and M. Zimmermann, eds. (Frankfurt, pmi-Verlag GmbH), pp. 10-17.

Zucchini, S. (2008). Growth hormone use in the treatment of idiopathic short stature. Curr Opin Investig Drugs *9*, 396-401.

Zurborg, S., Yurgionas, B., Jira, J. A., Caspani, O., and Heppenstall, P. A. (2007). Direct activation of the ion channel TRPA1 by Ca(2+). Nat Neurosci.

Zwick, M., Davis, B. M., Woodbury, C. J., Burkett, J. N., Koerber, H. R., Simpson, J. F., and Albers, K. M. (2002). Glial Cell Line-Derived Neurotrophic Factor is a Survival Factor for Isolectin B4-Positive, but not Vanilloid Receptor 1-Positive, Neurons in the Mouse. J Neurosci 22, 4057-4065.

Zylka, M. J. (2005). Nonpeptidergic Circuits Feel Your Pain. 47, 771-772.

Zylka, M. J., Rice, F. L., and Anderson, D. J. (2005). Topographically distinct epidermal nociceptive circuits revealed by axonal tracers targeted to Mrgprd. Neuron *45*, 17-25.

Zylka, M. J., Sowa, N. A., Taylor-Blake, B., Twomey, M. A., Herrala, A., Voikar, V., and Vihko, P. (2008). Prostatic acid phosphatase is an ectonucleotidase and suppresses pain by generating adenosine. Neuron *60*, 111-122.